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INTERPRETING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ALTERNATIVE THEORETICAL 

PERSPECTIVES 

Lidija Romić1 

 

Abstract:  

This paper introduces the content of a company's Annual Report and shows how ratio analysis can be used to 

interpret financial statements. This interpretation covers profitability, liquidity (cash flow), gearing (borrowings), 

activity /efficiency and shareholder return. A case study demonstrates how the use of ratios can look 'behind the 

numbers' contained in an Annual Report. The paper concludes with several alternative theoretical frameworks on 

financial reporting. Financial statements are an important part of a company's Annual Report, which is required 

for all companies listed on the Stock Exchange. For companies not listed, the Companies Act requires the 

preparation of financial statements. The process of interpreting financial statements begins with a consideration of 

the wider context: economic conditions; changes in the industry (e.g. regulation, technology); and the competitive 

advantage (e.g. marketing, operations, distribution etc.) held by the business. Within this context, often gained 

through the financial press and trade periodicals, the Annual Report itself can be considered.  

 

Keywords:  ratio analysis, financial statements, profitability, cash flow, gearing, activity 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The Annual Report for a listed company typically contains: 

1. A financial summary — the key financial information. 

2. The chairman's or directors' report. This provides a useful summary of the key factors affecting the company's 

performance over the past year and its prospects for the future. It is important to read this information as it provides 

a background to the financial statements, in particular the company's products and major market segments. It is 

important to read between the lines' in this report, since the intention of the Annual Report is to paint a 'glossy' 

picture of the business. However, as competitors will also read the Annual Report, the company takes care not to 

disclose more than is necessary. 

3. The statutory reports (i.e. those required by the Companies Act) by the directors and auditors. These will help 

to identify any key issues that may be found in the accounts themselves. 

4. The financial statements: Profit and loss account, Balance Sheet and Cash Row statement. The consolidated 

figures should be used, as these are the total figures for the group of companies that comprise the whole business. 

5. Notes to the accounts, which provide detailed figures and explanations to the 

accounts. These often run to many pages.Y. 

    6. A five-year summary of key financial information (a Stock Exchange Yellow Book requirement). 

 The Accounting Standards Board recommends that listed companies include an operating and financial review 

that provides 'a framework for the directors to discuss and analyse the business's performance and the factors 

underlying its results and financial position, in order to assist users to assess for themselves the future potential of 

the business' (quoted in Blake, 1997). The operating and financial review would replace much of the information 

contained in the chairman's or directors' reports (item 2 above). 

The Profit and Loss account, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow statement can be studied using ratios. Ratios are 

typically two numbers, with one being expressed as a percentage of the other. Ratio analysis can be used to help 

interpret trends in performance year on year and by benchmark* to industry averages or to the performance of 

individual competitors. Ratio analysis can be used to interpret performance against five criteria: 

• the rate of profitability; 

• liquidity, i.e. cash flow 

• gearing, i.e. the proportion of  borrowings to shareholders' investment; 

• how efficiently assets are utilized; and 

• the returns to shareholders. 

 

RATIO ANALYSIS 

There are different definitions that can be used for each ratio. However, it is important that whatever ratios are 

used, they are meaningful to the business and applied consistently. The most common ratios follow. The 

calculations refer to the example Profit and Loss account and Balance Sheet. Ratios are nearly always expressed 

as a percentage (by multiplying the answer by 100). 

                                                 
1 University of Novi Sad, Serbia 
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Profitability 

 

Return on (shareholders') investment (ROI) 

net profit after tax 70           = 7 % 

   shareholders' funds 1000 

 

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 

operating profit before interest and. Tax                    100 = 7,7% 

shareholders' funds + long-term debt                     1,000+ 300 

Operating profit/sales 

operating profit before interest and tax             100       = 5% 

Sales                                  2,000 

Gross profit /sales 

                      gross profit                                  500        =25% 

Sales                                  2,000 

 

Each of the profitability ratios provides a different method of interpreting profitability. Satisfactory business 

performance requires an adequate return on A, shareholders' funds and total capital employed in the business (the 

total of the investment- by shareholders and lenders). Profit must also be achieved as a percentage of sales, which 

must itself grow year on year. The operating profit and gross profit margins emphasize different elements of 

business performance. 

 

Liquidity 

 

Working capital 

                                          current assets           500    = 143% 

                        current liabilities        350 

 

Acid test (or quick ratio) 

 

                                          current assets- inventory     500-200      = 86% 

     current liabilities              350 

 

 

Acid test (or quick ratio) 

current assets — inventory 500 — 200 

A business- that has an acid test of less than 100% may experience difficulty in paying its debts as they fall due. 

On the other hand, a company with too high. a working capital ratio may not be utilizing its assets effectively. 

 

Gearing 

Gearing ratio 

 

         Long-term debt          300         = 23,1% 

Shareholders’ funds + long term debt 1000 +300 
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Table 1. Risk and return effect of different debt/equity mix  

100% equity 50% equity 

50% debt 
10% equity 

90% debt 

Capital employed 100,000 100,000 100,000 

Equity 100,000 50,000 '10,000 

Debt 0 50,000 90,000 

Operating profit before interest and tax 20,000 20,000 20,000 

Interest at 10% on debt 0 5,000 9,000 

Profit after interest 20,000 15,000 11,000 

Tax at 30% 6,000 4,500 3,300 

Profit after tax 14,000 10,500 7,700 

Return on investment 14% 21% 77% 

 

Interest cover 

profit before interest and tax        100  = 6.25 times 

interest payable                  16 

The higher the gearing, the higher the risk of repaying debt and. interest. The lower the interest cover, the more 

pressure there is on profits to fund interest charges. However, because external funds are being used, the rate of 

profit earned by shareholders is higher where external funds are used. The relationship between risk and return is 

an important feature of interpreting business performance. Consider the example in Table 1. of risk and return for 

a business whose capital employed is derived from different mixes of debt and equity. 

While in the above example the return on capital employed is a constant 20% (an operating profit of £20,000 on 

capital employed of £100,000), the return on shareholders' funds increases as debt replaces equity. This 

improvement to the return to shareholders carries a risk, which increases as the proportion of profits taken by the 

interest charge increases (and is reflected in the interest cover ratio). If profits turn down, there are substantially 

more risks carried by the highly geared business. 

Activity/efficiency  

Asset turnover 

                        Sales                   2000         =121% 

     total assets           1150+500 

This is a measure of how efficiently assets are utilized to generate sales investment in assets has as its principal 

purpose the generation of sales. 

Three other efficiency ratios are those concerning debtors' collections, stock turnover and creditors' payments. 

 

Shareholder return 

For these ratios we need some additional information: 

Number of shares issued      100,000 

Market value of shares           £2.50 
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Dividend per share 

                       dividends paid          30,000    = £ 0,30 per share 

                      number of shares      100000     

 

Dividend payout ratio 

                                                 dividends paid          30,000    = 43% 

profit after tax          70,000 

Dividend yield 

dividends paid per share     0.30  =12% 

market value per share      2.50 

Earnings per share 

profit after tax              70,000 = £ 0,70 per share 

number of shares        100,000 

Price/earnings (P/E) ratio 

market value per share       2.50  = 3,57 times 

earnings per share         0.70 

The shareholder ratios are measures of returns to shareholders on their investment in the business. The dividend 

and earnings ratios reflect the annual return to shareholders, while the P/E ratio measures the number of years over 

which the investment in shares will be recovered through earnings. 

 

INTERPRETING FINANCIAL INFORMATION USING RATIOS 

 

The interpretation of any ratio depends on the industry. In particular, the  ratio needs to be interpreted as a trend 

over time, or by comparison to industry averages of competitor ratios. These comparisons help determine 

whether performance is improving and where improvement may be necessary. Based. on the understanding of 

the business context and competitive conditions, and the information provided by ratio analysis, users of 

financial statements can make judgements about the pattern of past performance and prospects for a company 

and its financial strength. 

Broadly speaking, businesses seek: 

• increasing rates of profit on shareholders' funds, capital employed and sales; 

• adequate liquidity (a ratio of current assets to liabilities of not less than 100%) to ensure that debts can be 

paid as they fall due, but not an excessive rate to suggest that funds are inefficiently used; 

• a level of debt commensurate with the business risk taken; 

• high efficiency as a result of maximizing sales from the business's investments; and 

• a satisfactory return on the investment made by shareholders. 

When considering the movement in a ratio over two or more years, it is important to look at possible causes for 

the movement. These can be gained by understanding that either the numerator (top number in the ratio) or 

denominator (bottom number in the ratio) or both can influence the change. 

Some of the possible explanations behind changes in ratios are described below. 

 

Profitability 

 

Improvements in the returns on shareholders' funds (R01) and capital employed (ROCE) may either be because 

profits have increased and/or because the capital used to generate those profits has altered. When businesses are 
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taken over by others, one way of improving ROI or ROCE is to increase profits by reducing costs (often as a result 

of economies of scale), but another is to maintain profits while reducing assets and repaying debt. 

Improvements in operating profitability as a proportion of sales (PBIT or EBIT) are the result of profitability 

growing at a faster rate than sales growth, a result either of a higher gross margin or lower expenses. Note that 

sales growth may result in a higher profit but not necessarily in a higher rate of profit as a percentage of sales. 

Improvement in the rate of gross profit may be the result of higher selling prices, lower cost of sales, or changes 

in the mix of product/services sold or different market segments in which they are sold, which may reflect 

differential profitability. 

Naturally, the opposite explanations hold true for deterioration in profitability. 

 

Liquidity 

Improvements in the working capital and acid test ratios are the result of changing the balance between current 

assets and current liabilities. As the working capital cycle showed, money changes form between debtors, stock, 

bank and creditors. Borrowing over the long term in order to fund current assets will imrove this ratio, as will 

profits that generate cash flow. By contrast, using liquid funds to repay long-term loans or incurring losses will 

reduce the working capital used to repay creditors. 

 

Gearing 

 

The gearing ratio reflects the balance between long-term debt and shareholders' equity. It changes as a result of 

changes in either shareholders' funds (more shares may be issued), raising new borrowings or repayments of debt. 

As debt increases in proportion to shareholders' funds, the gearing ratio will increase. 

Interest cover may increase as a result of higher profits or lower borrowings (and reduce as a result of lower profits 

or higher borrowings), but even with constant borrowings changes in the interest rate paid will also influence this 

ratio. 

 

Activity/efficiency 

 

Asset turnover improves either because sales increase or the total assets used reduce, a similar situation to that 

described above for ROCE. The efficiency with which debtors are collected, inventory is managed and creditors 

paid is also an important measure. 

 

Shareholder return 

 

Decisions made by directors influence both the dividend per share and the 

dividend payout ratio. Dividends are a decision made by directors on the basis of the proportion of profits they 

want to distribute and the capital needed to be retained in the business to fund growth. Often, shareholder value 

considerations will dictate the level of dividends, which businesses do not like to reduce on a per share basis. This 

is sometimes at the cost of retaining fewer profits and then having to borrow additional funds to support growth 

strategies. However, the number of shares issued also affects this ratio, as share issues will result in a lower 

dividend per share unless the total dividend is increased. 

As companies have little influence over their share price, which is a result of market expectations as much as past 

performance, dividend yield, while influenced by the dividend paid per share, is more readily influenced by 

changes in the market price of the shares. 

Earnings per share is influenced, as for profitability, by the profit but also (like dividends) by the number of shares 

issued. As for the dividend yield the price/earnings (P/E) ratio is often more a result of changes in the share price 

than in the profits reflected in the earnings per share. 

Explanations for changes in ratios are illustrated in the following case study. 

Case study: Ottakar's - interpreting financial statements 

 

Ottakar's has 74 bookshops and 900 employees. It is the second largest specialist bookseller in the UK after 

Waterstone's. The information in Tables 2 and 3 has been extracted from the company's annual report. 

The number of shares issued. was 20,121,000 in 2001 and 20,082,000 in 2000. Ratios for profitability are shown 

in Table 4. 

There was a strong sales growth between 2000 and 2001. Despite this growth, the gross margin remained constant 

and operating profit to sales increased. This is because the proportion of sales consumed by overheads (selling, 

distribution and administration costs) reduced from 36.6% [(22,707 + 3,986)172,9221 to 34.8% [(26,219 + 

3,797)/86,287]. Operating profit more than doubled (from £1,678 to £3,516) and profit after tax increased from 
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£463 to £1,792 (all figures are in £1000). As shareholders' funds increased by only 1.0% and capital employed by 

only 6%, the return on both measures of investment showed a strong improvement. 

Ratios for liquidity are shown in Table 5. While the working capital ratio is healthy, indicating that the company 

has adequate funds to pay its debts, the acid test reveals that after deducting inventory, the company has only about 

22% of assets to cover its current liabilities. This means that it is dependent on sales of books in stock to pay 

suppliers for those books. The efficiency measures (see below) support this. 

Table 2.Ottakar's Profit and Loss account 

  

in C000 2001 2000 

Turnover 86,287 72,922 

Cost of sales —52,755 —44,551 

Gross profit 33,532 28,371 

Selling and distribution costs —26,219 —22,707 

Administration expenses —3,797 —3,968 

Operating profit 3,516 1,678 

Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets 4 —336 

Profit before interest and taxation 3,520 1,342 

Other interest receivable and similar income 3 2 

Interest payable and similar charges —727 —562 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2,796 782 

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities —1,004 —319 

Profit for the financial period 1,792 463 

Dividend and appropriations —503 —302 

Retained profit for the period for equity shareholders 1,289 161 

Earnings per share 8.91p 2.31p 

 

Table 3.Ottakar's Balance Sheet 

  

in. C000 

Fixed assets 

2001 2000 

Intangible assets 793 838 

Tangible assets 1.7,692 17,187 

 

18,485 18,025 

Current assets 

  

Stocks 14,692 13,601 

Debtors' 2,798 2,612 

Cash at bank and in hand 370 
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17,860 16,213 

Creditors: 

  

Amounts falling due within one year'' —14,379 - -13,729 

Net current assets 3,481. 2,484 

Total assets less current liabilities 21,966 20,509 

Creditors: 
  

Amounts falling due after more than one year —7,920 7,948 

Provision for liabilities and charges --403 --207 

Net assets 13,643 12,354 

Capital and reserves 

  

Called-up share capital 1,006 1,006 

Share premium account 6,041 6,041 

Capital redemption reserve 512 512 

Profit and loss account 6,084 4,795 

Equity shareholders' funds 13,643 12,354 

 
I The notes disclose that these are predominantly prepayments, with trade debtors comprising only 

£301,000. 
2 The notes disclose that of the current liabilities, £10,027 are trade creditors and £3,117 accruals. 

For 2000, trade creditors were £8,695. 

 

Ratios for gearing are shown in Table 6. These ratios reflect the reduction in long-term debt and the increase in 

shareholders' funds. Although there has been an increase in interest expense, the increase in operating profit has 

doubled the interest cover. Borrowings are one-third of capital employed, which is fairly conservative, while the 

interest cover provides good security for lenders. 

The ratio for activity /efficiency is shown. in Table 7. Despite a higher asset base, the 18.3% sales increase resulted 

in an improved efficiency ratio. As reflected in the acid test ratio (Table 5), working capital is affected significantly 

by the low stock turn (3.6 means that on average books are held for 101 days before they are sold). It is also 

reflected in the average time it takes to pay creditors (over 

 

Table 4. Ottakar's profitability ratios 

    

 

     2001 

 

2000 

 

Return on shareholders' funds :1,792 

  

463 
 

13,643 

  

12,354 
    

    =3.7% 

Return on capital employed. 3,516 
  

1,678 

21,563 (13,643.1_. 7,920) 20,302 (12,354 + 7,948) 
 

=16.3% 
  

=8.3% 
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Operating profit/sales 3,516 
  

1,678 
 

86,287 

  

72,922 
 

=4.1% 
  

=2.3% 

Gross profit/sales 33,532 
  

28,371 
 

86,287 

  

72,922 
 

=38.9% 
  

=38.9% 

Sales growth 86,287 — 72,922 

   

 

72,922 

   

 
=18.3% 

   

 

 

Table 5. Ottakar's liquidity ratios 

    

  

2001 

  

2000 

 

Working capital 

  

17,860 

  

16,213 
   

14,379 

  

13,729 
   

=124.2% 
  

=118.1% 

Acid test 3,168 (17,860 14,692) 2,612 (16,213 -- 13,601) 
   

14,379 

  

13,729 
   

=22.0% 
  

=19.0% 

two months). However, the ratios show a slight improvement between 2000 and 2001 as current assets increased 

more than current liabilities, stock turn is higher and creditor payments quicker. Note that there are virtually no 

trade debtors as the bookshops are a retail business, consequently the debtor days measure is somewhat 

meaningless. 

The shareholder return ratios are shown in Table 8. The increase in profits between 2000 and 2001 resulted in 

increased earnings per share and a higher dividend payout in cash terms, although the percentage of profits paid 

out in dividends reduced. 

As was indicated earlier in this paper, two years is too short a period to draw any meaningful conclusions and we 

would need to look at the ratios over five years. 

Table 6. Ottakar's gearing ratios 

  

  

2001 

  

2000 

Gearing 

  

7,920 

 

7,948 
 

21,563 (13,643 + 7,920) 20,302 (7,948 ± 12,354) 
   

=36.7% 
 

=39.1% 

Interest cover 
  

3,520 
 

1,342 

                                                   727                                           562 

                                             =4.8 times                             =2.4 times 
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Table 7. Ottakar's activity/efficiency ratio 
  

2001 

  
2000 

 

Asset turnover 

  

86,287 

  

72,922 
 

36,345 (18,485 + 17,860) 34,238 (18,025 + 16,213) 
   

=237% 

  
=213% 

Stock turnover 

  

52,755 

  
44,551 

   

14,692 

  

13,601 

 

 

 

Creditors days 

    =3.6 turns 

=101 days (365/3.6) 

10,027 

=3.27 turns 

=112 days (365/3.27) 

8,695 

                                       145 (52,755/365)                   122 (44,551/365) 

 = 69 days                             =71 days 

 

Table 8. Ottakar's shareholder return ratios 

 

 

2001 2000 

Dividend per share 503,000 302,000 
 

20,121,000 20,082,000 
 

=2.5p per share =1.5p per share 

Dividend payout ratio 503 302 

 

1,792 463  
=28% =65% 

Earnings per share (disclosed in 8.91p 2.31p 

Profit and Loss account) 

  

 

to identify any trends properly. Table 9. shows some of the information from the five-year summary of 

performance in Ottakar's annual report. These figures show the sales growth over the five years much more clearly 

than do the two-year ratios, although the increase in profits has been much lower.  

Table.9. Ottakar's five-year summary of performance 

 

E.'000 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 

'Turnover 23,710 38,649 57,316 72,922 86,287 

Gross profit 9,100 14,988 22,343 28,371 33,532 

Operating profit 1,276 2,619 3,312 1,678 3,516 

Earnings per share 7.78p 10.61p 1.2.36p 2.31p 8.91p 
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Table 10.Ottakar's ratios based on five-year summary of performance 

 

in E,'000 1997 1998 1.999 2000 2001. 

Sales growth 

 

63% +48.3% +27.2% H-18.3% 

Gross margin 38.4% 38.8% 39.0% 38.9% 38.9% 

Operating profit/sales 5.4% 6.8% 5.8% 2.3% 4.1% 

 

It also shows that the 2000 year experienced a fall in profits that was outside the trend. By calculating the ratios in 

Table 10. we can see this more clearly. 

Although sales continue to increase, the rate of sales growth is slowing. The rate of gross profit to sales is very 

steady (an indication of the margin allowed by book publishers), while operating profits fluctuated (probably a 

reflection of costs incurred in opening new bookshops, since location, in common with most retail businesses, is 

a key aspect of success). Ottakar's annual report explains that the  market should experience an annual growth of 

4-5%, but that the larger chains should gain market share at the expense of their weaker competitors. 

It is important to remember that ratio analysis can be undertaken not only in relation to the manager's own 

organization, but also in relation to the financial statements of competitors, customers and suppliers.  

 

ALTERNATIVE THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

We now consider some alternative perspectives: social and environmental reporting, intellectual capital and 

institutional theory. We also introduce creative accounting and ethics. 

Social and environmental reporting 

 

The concern with stakeholders rather than shareholders began in the 1970s and is generally associated with the 

publication in 1975 of The Corporate Report, a publication by the Accounting Standards Steering Committee: 

Accounting academics began to question profit as the sole measure of business performance and suggested a wider 

social responsibility for business and social acconthinking Concepts of corporate social accounting and socially 

responsible accounting— most recently corporate social and environmental reporting (CSR) attempt tohighlight 

the impact of organizations on society. 

Jones (1995) suggested three reasons for this: 

1.A moral imperative that business organizations were insufficiently aware of the social consequences of their 

activities, 

2. External pressure from government and pressure groups and the demand by some institutional investors for 

ethical investments. This was linked to the role of accounting in demonstrating how well organizations were 

fulfilling their social contract, the implied contract between an organization and society. 

3. Internal change taking place within organizations as a result of education etc. 

 

However, there has been little support for broader social accounting because accountants and managers have 

generally seen themselves as the agents of owners. Social reporting could be seen as undermining the power of 

shareholders and the foundation of the capitalist economic system. There are also technical difficulties associated 

with social reporting, and a dominant belief among business leaders that government and not business had the 

responsibility to determine what was reported. 

During the 1980s and 1990s environmental accounting (see for example Gray of at., 1996) focused on 

responsibility for the natural environment and in particular on sustainability as a result of concerns about ozone 

depletion, the greenhouse effect and global warming. These concerns were associated with the growth of pressure 

groups such as Greenpeace and Friends of the Earth. Part of the appeal of environmental accounting was that issues 

of energy efficiency, recycling and reductions in packaging had cost-saving potential and therefore profits and 

social responsibility came to be seen as not necessarily mutually exclusive. 

Zadek (1998) argued that social and ethical accounting, auditing and reporting together provide one of the few 

practical mechanisms for companies to integrate new patterns of civil accountability and governance with a 

business success model focused on stakeholders and core non-financial as well as financial values. Socially 

responsible businesses: 

find the spaces in the pipeline between investors and consumers where some choice in behaviour is possible .. 

[and] a. far more ambitious agenda of shifting the basic boundaries by raising public awareness towards social and 

environmental agendas, and supporting the emergence of new forms of investors that take non-financial criteria 

into account. (p. 1439) 
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A further example of how the boundaries of accounting are set in arguably' inappropriate ways by the rational-

economic paradigm is in the exclusion of intellectual capital from financial statements. 

 

Intellectual capital 

 

Edvinsson and. Malone (1997) defined intellectual capital as 'the hidden dynamic factors that underlie the visible 

company' (p. 17 ). Stewart (1997) defined intellectual capital as 'formalized, captured and. leveraged knowledge' 

(p. 68). 

Intellectual capital is of particular interest to accountants in increasingly knowledge-based economies in which the 

limitations of traditional financial statements erode their value as a tool supporting meaningful decision-making 

(Guthrie, 2001). Three dimensions of intellectual capital have been identified in the literature: human (developing 

and leveraging individual knowledge and skills); organizational (internal. structures, systems and procedures); and 

customer (loyalty, brand, image etc.),IT he disclosure of information about intellectual capital as an extension to 

financial reporting has been proposed by various accounting academics. The most publicized example is the 

Skandia Navigator (see Edvinsson and Malone, 1997). 

While most businesses espouse a commitment to employees and the value of their knowledge, as well as to some 

form of social or environmental responsibility, this is often merely rhetoric, a facade to appease the interest groups 

of stakeholders. The institutional setting of organizations provides another perspective from which to view 

accounting and reporting. 

 

Institutional theory 

 

Institutional theory is valuable because it locates the organization within its historical and contextual setting. It is 

predicated on the need for legitimation and on isomorphic processes. Scott (1995) describes legitimation as the 

result of organizations being dependent, to a greater or lesser extent, on support from the environment for their 

survival and continued operation. Organizations need the support of governmental institutions where their 

operations are regulated (and. few organizations are not regulated. in some form or other). Organizations are also 

dependent on the acquisition of resources (labour, finance, technology etc.) for their purposes. If an organization 

is not legitimated, it may incur sanctions of a legal, economic or social nature. 

The second significant aspect of institutional power is the operation of isomorphism, the tendency for different 

organizations to adopt similar characteristics. DiMaggio and Powell (1983) identified three forms of isomorphism: 

coercive, as a result of political influence and the need to gain legitimacy; mimetic, following from standard 

responses to uncertainty; and normative, associated with professionalization. They held that isomorphic tendencies 

between organizations were a result of wider belief systems and cultural frames of reference. 'Processes of 

education, inter-organizational movement of personnel and professionalization emphasize these belief systems and 

cultural values at an institutional level, and facilitate the mimetic processes that result in organizations imitating 

each other. Isomorphic tendencies exist because 'organizations compete not just for resources and customers, but 

for political power and institutional legitimacy, for social as well as economic fitness' (Maggio and Powell, 1983, 

p. 150). 

These legitimating and isomorphic processes become taken for granted by organizations as they strive to satisfy 

the demands of external regulators, resource suppliers and professional groups. These taken-for-granted processes 

themselves become institutionalized in the systems and processes - including accounting and reporting - adopted 

by organizations. Meyer (1994) argued that accounting arises 'in response to the demands made by powerful 

elements in the environment on which organizations are dependent' (p. 122). 

Each of these theoretical perspectives provides a different view of the role of preparers and the needs of users of 

financial statements. This perspective also follows through to the users of management accounting information. 

 
Case study: Carrington Printers - an accounting critique 

 

Carrington Printers was a privately owned., 100-year-old printing company employing about 100 people and 

operating out of its own premises in a medium-sized town. Although the company was heavily indebted and had 

been operating with a small loss for the past three years, it had a fairly strong Balance Sheet and a good customer 

base spread over a wide geographic area. Carrington's simplified Balance Sheet is shown in Table 11. 

The nature of the printing industry at the time the accounts were prepared was that there was excess production 

capacity and over the previous year a price war had been fought between competitors in order to retain existing 

customers and. win new customers. The effect of this had been that selling prices (and consequently profit margins) 

had fallen throughout the industry. Carrington's plant and equipment were, in the main, quite old and not suited to 

some of the work that it was winning. Consequently, some work was being produced inefficiently, with a 

detrimental impact on profit margins. Before the end of the year the sales director had left the company and had 
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influenced many of Carrington's customers, with whom he had established a good relationship, to move to his new 

employer. Over several months, Carrington's sales began to drop significantly. 

Lost sales and deteriorating margins on some of the business affected cash flow. Printing companies typically 

carry a large stock of paper in a range of weights, sizes and colours, while customers often take up to 60 days to 

pay their accounts. Because payment of taxes and employees takes priority, suppliers are often the last group to be 

paid. The major suppliers are paper merchants, who stop supplies when their customers do not pay on time. The 

consequence of Carrington's cash flow difficulties was that suppliers limited the supply of paper that Carrington 

needed to satisfy customer orders. 

None of these events was reflected in the financial statements and the auditors, largely unaware of changing market 

conditions, had little understanding of the 

 

Table 11.Carrington Printers' 13al.anco Shoot 

Fixed assets 

 

Land and buildings at cost less depreciation 1,000,000 

Plant and equipment at cost less depreciation 450,000 

 

1,4:50,000 

Current assets 

 

I )ebtors 500,000 

Inventory 450,000 

 

950,000 

Less creditors due within one year 

 

Creditors . 850,000 

Bank overdraft 250,000 

 

1,100,000 

Net current liabilities —150,000 

Total assets less current liabilities 1,300,000 

Less creditors due after one year —750,000 

Total net assets 550,000 

Capital and reserves issued capital 

100,000 

Profit and loss account 450,000 

Shareholders' funds 550,000 

  

gradual detrimental impact on Carrington that had taken place at the time of the audit. Although aware of the cash 

flow tightening experienced by the company, the auditors signed the accounts, being satisfied that the business 

could be treated as a going concern. 

As a result of the problems identified above, Carrington approached its bankers for additional loans. However, the 

bankers declined, believing that existing loans had reached the maximum percentage of the asset values against 

which they were prepared to lend. The company attempted a sale and leaseback of its land and buildings (through 

which a purchaser pays a market price for the property, with Carrington becoming a tenant on a long-term lease). 

However, investors interested in the property were not satisfied that Carrington was a viable tenant and the property 

was unable to be sold on that basis. 
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Cash flow pressures continued and the shareholders were approached to contribute additional capital. They were 

unable to do so and six months after the Balance Sheet was produced the company collapsed, and was placed into 

receivership and subsequently liquidation by its bankers. 

 

The liquidators found, as is common in failed companies, that the values in the Balance Sheet were substantially 

higher than what the assets could be sold for. In particular: 

 - Land and buildings were sold for far less than an independent valuation had suggested, as the property would 

now be vacant. 

 -Plant and. machinery were almost worthless given their age and condition and the excess capacity                

 -Debtors were collected with substantial amounts being written off as bad debts. Customers often refuse to pay 

accounts giving spurious reasons and it is often not worthwhile for the liquidator to pursue collection action 

through the courts. 

 -Inventory was discovered to be largely worthless. Substantial stocks of paper were found to have been held for 

long periods with little likelihood. of ever being used and other printers were unwilling to pay more than a 

fraction of its cost. 

As the bankers had security over most of Carrington's assets, there were virtually no funds remaining after repaying 

bank loans to pay the unsecured creditors. This case raises some important issues about the value of audited 

financial statements: 

1. The importance of understanding the context of the business, that is how its market conditions and its mix of 

products or services are changing over time, and how well (or in this case badly) the business is able to adapt to 

these changes. 

2. The preparation of financial statements assumes a going concern, but the circumstances facing a business can 

change quickly and the Balance Sheet can become a meaningless document. 

3. The auditors rely on information from the directors about significant risks affecting the company.The directors 

did not intentionally deceive the auditors, but genuinely believed that the business could be turned around into 

profit through winning back customers. They also believed, that the large inventory would satisfy future customer 

orders. The directors also genuinely believed that the property could be sold in order to eliminate debt. This was 

unquestioned by the auditors. 

 

Creative accounting and ethics✓ 

 

Accounting choices, according to Francis, are moral choices: 

Accounting is important precisely to the extent the accountant can transform the world, can influence the lived 

experience of others in ways which cause that experience to differ from what it would be in the absence of 

accounting, or  the presence of an alternative kind of accounting. (quoted in. Cowthorpe and Blake, 1998, p. 3) 

Creative accounting practices have been justified by managers for reasons of income smoothing, to bring profits 

closer to forecasts; changing accounting policies to distract attention from poor performance; or maintaining or 

boosting share prices (Gowthorpe and Blake, 1.998). 

Despite the role of accounting standards and other regulations, creative accounting has always played a part in the 

efforts made by a few companies to present their performance in a better light. Griffiths (1986) commented on the 

power of financial analysts and investment advisers in the City (of London) and the aim of company directors to 

present the business as having steady growth in income and profits. This desire for a smoothing effect can be 

achieved by practices such as accruals, stock valuation, creating or reducing provisions, capitalizing or expensing 

costs and off-Balance Sheet financing (which was the main factor in Enron's downfall in the United States). While 

creative accounting has been frowned on, earnings management has not. Under earnings management, directors 

aim to satisfy the market expectations influenced by stock analysts. 

Smith (1992) described the techniques adopted by companies and. claimed that 'much of the apparent: growth in 

profits which had occurred in the 1980s was the result of accounting sleight of hand rather than genuine economic 

growth' (p. 4). However, although accounting standards continually improve, there are always loopholes that 

accountants seem to find as quickly as standards are produced. 

Richardson (1998) emphasized the role of accountants in organizations. They occupy special positions that 

privilege them to information that has the potential to reveal deviant top management behaviour, which can lead 

to social and emotional costs for innocent stakeholders and to corporate failures (such as those caused by Robert 

Maxwell and Polly Peck's Asil. Nadir). As these conflicts are unlikely to be resolved internally, the authors argue 

for the ability to 'blow the whistle'. However, as things stand, it is more likely that the accountant will simply leave 

the organization. The problem with whistleblowing, the authors comment, is that to some it is an act of subversion, 

while to others it is an act of citizenship. To the organization, it is an act of disloyalty. 
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CONCLUSION 

 

This paper has provided the tools for analysing financial information. While an analysis of the financial statements 

is useful, particularly for external interested parties (shareholders, bankers and financiers, the government etc.), 

the information is of limited use to the internal management of the business because: 

-it is aggregated to the corporate level, whereas managers require information at the business unit level; 

-it is aggregated to annual figures, whereas managers require timely information, at not less than monthly intervals; 

-it is aggregated to headline figures, whereas managers require information in much greater detail; 

-it does not provide a comparison of plan to actual figures to provide a gauge on progress towards achieving 

business goals.  
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THE STRATEGIC DETERMINANTS OF THE SPORT CLUB PERFORMANCE 

Igor Ivašković 1 

 

Abstract: 

This article aims to disclose the role of strategic factors in the context of a sport club performance. We used 73 

basketball clubs from four countries and tested the relationships between four segments of variables (grouped into: 

a) environmental factors’ set, b) strategic factors’ set, c) human resource management (HRM) factors’ set, and d) 

behavioral factors’ set) and two different aspects of organizational performance: 1) top-sport-financial and 2) 

recreational-non-financial performance. The conduction of multiple regression analyses resulted with disclosure 

of significant direct effect of the strategic factor on both aspects of the sport clubs performance. The results offer 

explanation how the strategic planning enhances the performance. Better results are achieved by the clubs that 

pursue specific organizational goals linked to only one aspect of performance. While the theoretical contribution 

reflects through the evaluation of the importance of different sets of organizational performance factors, from the 

practical perspective tis study discloses complementary organizational objectives and those organizational aims 

which are, from an aspect of sport club performance, in contradiction with each other. 

 

Keywords: strategy, organizational objectives, performance, sport clubs 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Determination of the strategic performance factors is non-profit sports clubs is a very complex process, due to the 

fact of wide spectrum of potential organizational purposes of such organizations (Ivašković, 2018). Unlike in the 

case of profit-oriented professional clubs (Barros and Santos, 2003; Bosca et al, 2009; Espitia-Escuer and Garcia-

Cebrian, 2006; Espitia-Escuer and Garcia-Cebrian, 2010), sport literature evidently lacks research in the field of 

non-profit sport clubs performance. Moreover, the vast majority of sport clubs’ performance studies was conducted 

in the field of football (Andreff, 2007; Guzman and Morrow, 2007; Haas, 2003a; Haas, 2003b; Haas, Kocher and 

Sutter, 2004; Barros and Garcia-del -Barrio, 2011) and much less in other sports fields. The latter however have 

been mostly carried out among North American sport clubs (Kikulis, Slack and Hinigins 1992; Slack and Hinings, 

1994; Stevens and Slack, 1998; Slack, 1997), while studies among European non-profit sports clubs are very rare. 

Also, the majority sport management scholars dealt with the win ratio as the only performance indicator, while 

couple of authors evaluated the market performance of sport clubs (Garcia-Sanchez, 2007). The purpose of this 

article, therefore, is to fill this gap in the literature by evaluating the importance of strategic performance factors 

of non-profit sports clubs from transitional European countries. The ambition of this paper is to fill this gap in 

scientific literature by analyzing the importance of the performance factors of sports clubs operating in a transition-

non-profit context, where sport organizations have numerous specifics (Ivašković, 2015, pp. 66-67). This type of 

research is not interesting only due to its methodological complexity, demanded by a specific nature of 

predominantly service organizations with very dynamic organizational processes, but is also very important for 

understanding the post-transitional context in ex-communist European countries. First, we develop and explain 

two aspects of the organizational performance, and then we explore the impact of various factors on both of them. 

In this setting we were especially interested in the role of strategic planning, where we tried to disclose pairs of 

organizational aims which could be in contradiction with each other from an aspect of an overall organizational 

performance. 

 

RESEARCH MODEL 

 

There are numerous potential factors which might influence the final organizational outcome. Of course, it is never 

possible to measure all of them at once. However, the theory of management has been enriched in recent decades 

with plethora of models that suggest how to deal with identification of performance factors. One of the most 

recognized Wright and McMahan’s (1992) five set model is in line with line with the thesis that an analysis of the 

performance in a particular industry has to begin with identification of factors from wider institutional context and 

then has to continue through strategic aspects towards business practices on day to day basis. We decided to follow 

that particular model of research, which was then modified for the particular study among the non-profit sport 

clubs in line with Ivašković's (2015, 70-75) recommendations. We therefore measured following four sets of 

variables:  

1) Strategic focus set - the key decisions of club’s management (hierarchy of organizational objectives, 

resolution of three strategic dilemmas etc.). 

2) Environmental set that represents the institutional framework within which the organizations operate.  
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3) Human resource management (HRM) practices and human capital set represent practices and a value 

of knowledge, skills, competencies and acquaintances of members of particular organization. 

4) Feelings and behavioral patterns set (we measured the degree of trust among club members, the team 

cohesion, work-engagement of athletes etc.). 

The strategic factors’ set takes the central position in this particular study. It consisted of 19 variables. First, we 

included three key strategic dilemmas: a) the issue of the cutting-costs ambition versus the desire for organizational 

growth, b) pursuing top sport results versus the ambition of the local environment and community development, 

and c) quick results and consequently greater risks versus the focus on risk reduction and work in the long run 

(Ivašković, 2019a). The way of resolving these dilemmas depends on the hierarchy of organizational goals. For 

the purpose of this research we followed the Kaplan's (2001) recommendation that the performance evaluation of 

non-profit organizations has to be multidimensional. The list of non-profit clubs goals was made with the help of 

12 managers with at least five years of experience on leadership positions in sport clubs. Each of them wrote down 

five purposes of sport clubs’ existence. Additionally, they also identified up to five objectives that, in their 

experience, clubs are actually pursuing. After that we combined similar organizational aims listed by different 

experts and obtained the final list as follows: 1) the municipality promotion, 2) the development of infrastructure 

in the local community, 3) the promotion of private sponsors, 4) increasing the number of spectators at home 

matches, 5) development of athletes for national selections, 6) generation of profit (surplus of incomes over 

expenses), 7) development of top athletes, 8) sport results of the first team, 9) budget growth, 10) increasing 

athletes’ market value, 11) reducing the costs, 12) increasing the number of organizational members, 13) 

involvement of the local population in the club’s activities, 14) encouraging the local population to do sports, and 

15) sport results of junior teams. Our respondents had to assess the importance of each of these 15 organizational 

goals for their club on a 7-point Likert scale, anchored at the extremes (1) “not important at all” and (7) “the most 

important of all listed goals.”  

Environmental set of variables examines how the organizational performance is influenced by the rank of 

competition on which a particular sports club competes (in national and international league competitions). The 

broader determinants of the environment depend on both; the amount of the club's annual budget for the particular 

season, as well as on the sources of funding and the ratio of public and private resources. Indirectly, the quality of 

the infrastructure and capacity of the home hall in which the club plays home games depend indirectly on the 

environment, since they are usually built according to the size of the population in the local community. Within 

the institutional environment stakeholders represent one of the key issues. The concept of stakeholders implies an 

endless list of potential interest groups and individuals which have to be defined on a case-by-case basis. For the 

purpose of this research, the list wa alsos drawn up with the help of 12 professionals, each with at least five years 

of professional experience working in management positions at non-profit basketball clubs. After explaining the 

concept of stakeholders and the stakeholder process, each member of this work group was asked to make a list of 

the most influential stakeholders or interested individuals in terms of their influence on the clubs’ strategy. The 

final list of 10 stakeholders was the result of grouping similar ones and deleting those groups or individuals that 

were listed several times: 1) volunteers (include all club members who are not employed in the club and do their 

work free of charge), 2) professionals (all club members who have an employment contract excluding athletes and 

coaches), 3) athletes and coaches, 4) private sponsors (organizations that provide funds to the club in exchange for 

advertising, and at the same time they are not predominantly state or municipally owned), 5) the state, 6) the 

municipal authorities, 7) the local community (residents that live in the municipality where the club is registered), 

8) media, 9) national sport federation and sport clubs in the same competitions, 10) the general public. In total, the 

impact of 18 variables was analyzed in this segment. We tried to obtain objective data as much as possible and the 

estimations given by members of each club managerial staff. For example, assessment of the stakeholders’ impact 

was made on a seven-point Likert scale (1 - "the group has no influence on the strategy"; 7 - "the group has the 

greatest influence among all stakeholders"). 

Sports clubs are predominantly service organizations, so human resource management (HRM) is of high 

importance in these organizations, which have numerous HRM specifics (Ivašković, 2018): 

• Athletes have a shorter working period, which accelerates the whole HRM and business cycles. 

• European sport clubs have a two-part organizational structure, namely a part related to administrative and 

managerial staff which does not differ essentially from other organizations, and a section that relates to athletes 

and has its own specifics. 

• Athletes’ market is very developed and contains numerous agencies that represent athletes’ interests. 

• Sport results and athletes’ values are easier to objectify due to easier measurement of past achievements. 

• HRM specific of European sport clubs is also the fact that those organizations might obtain athletes through 

their own education system. 
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• The duality of the organizational structure stems from the fact that many of the clubs have a professionalized 

part of the organization (this refers to the activities of a first team), while the part of the club that involves youth 

usually operates on amateur principles. 

A total of 65 HRM variables were included in this study, including the following: 

• The influence of organizational bodies and members, and stakeholders on the design of HRM process. 

• The average retention period of the management and administrative staff at the club. 

• The annual budget for professional basketball contracts and the market value of sports personnel. 

• The proportion of club staff with professional status (and the extent to which club members volunteer for the 

work of the organization) and the proportion of club budget devoted to the professional part of the club. 

• Sources of recruitment (local, national, international). 

• The degree of formalization of the HRM process. 

• The fluctuation in the club and the educational structure of the administrative and management staff. 

Finally, in the light of the literature in the field of sports management, the intangible factors that relate to human 

relations and to the degree of individual’s engagement in the pursuit of organizational goals are crucial to the 

success of sports clubs. In this context, we included 63 variables that relate to the behavior and feelings of members 

of observed clubs. Above all, we focused on the level of trust in the club (the relationships in the triangle of athlete 

- coach – top management), the level of team cohesiveness, and the level of work engagement that reflects the 

willingness of individuals to sacrifice their goals for the good of organization. Data from the third set of variables 

were obtained at three levels, namely from the managerial staff, coaches and athletes. Cohesiveness was measured 

using Carron, Widmeyer and Brawley's (1985) Group Environment Questionnaire; work engagement was 

measured using Schaufeli, Bakker and Salanova’s (2006) Utrecht scale, while trust was measured using Adams, 

Waldherr and Sartori's (2008) questionnaire, which measures trust using four dimensions (benevolence, integrity, 

predictability, and competence). 

 

SPORT CLUB PERFORMANCE 

The performance of non-profit sports clubs cannot be simply reduced to a financial and sports result. For the 

purpose of this research, the results of a study regarding the identification of different aspects of sports clubs’ 

performance were considered (Ivašković, 2019b). The factorization of performance evaluation regarding achieving 

15 different organizational goals, developed for the context of non-profit basketball clubs, show that two basic 

aspects of performance can be distinguished; namely financially-competitive and non-financial-recreational (Table 

1). 

Table 1. Results of factor analysis for importance of organizational aims 

Component Factor 

1 2 

Promotion of municipality -.546 ,699 

Increasing the number of club members -.643 .502 

Involvement of local population in the club’s activities -.808 .420 

Encouraging local population to do sports -.696 .612 

Development of infrastructure in local environment -.618 .424 

Sport results of junior teams  .603 

Attracting spectators to the matches .351 ,541 

Development of athletes for national selections .509 .668 

Development of top athletes .748 .388 

Reducing the costs .762 .347 

Private sponsor promotion .725  

Budget growth .713  

Sport results of first team .859  

Surplus of revenues over expenses .859  

Increasing athletes’ market value .857  

Note: The factors explain 66.88% of the variance. 

Source: Ivašković, 2019b, p. 162. 
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METHODOLOGY 

 

The data collection took place in 2014 and 2015 among basketball clubs from Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, 

Slovenia, and Serbia. At the time of the study in all four countries there were 249 basketball clubs engaged in 

national competitions on all quality levels. 73 of them participated in the study, which represents a response rate 

of 29.3%, and is according to the HRM literature sufficient to carry out the analysis (Pološki-Vokić, 2004; Becker 

and Huselid, 1998). Among the 73 participating clubs there were 27 first-division clubs, 31 second-division and 

15 lower-division clubs. Among the 27 clubs from the first national leagues, nine clubs also participated in the 

regional ABA (Adriatic Basketball Association) league and other international competitions. We collected data on 

three organizational levels, namely among athletes (559 athletes were included), head coaches (73), and clubs’ 

presidents (73). 

Due to the extensive nature of the survey, we decided to use the multivariate analyzes for data processing. More 

precisely, the sets of multiple regression analyzes with backward elimination as recommended by Pološki-Vokić 

(2003). Also, due to the fact that this particular case demands a wider perspective, we additionally performed sets 

of hierarchical multiple regressions, which enable evaluation of theoretical models that contain several sets of 

factors. Indeed, hierarchical multiple regression enables gradually adding particular sets of factors and 

consequently the evaluation of the direct effect each set has on the outcome (Aron and Aron, 1999; Cohen, 2001). 

In order to prepare data for multiple regressions, the correlation and factor analyses, as well as the Kruskal-Wallis 

and t-tests were performed. As the dependent variables two aspects of performance defined by Ivašković (2019b) 

were used, namely ‘financial and competitive’ and ‘non-financial and recreational’ performance. Each data 

processing started with correlation analysis (and t-test for dichotomous variables), after which all variables that 

did not statistically significantly correlate with performance variable were eliminated. The Kruskal-Wallis 

variance analysis test was then performed for the interval variables. Variables that did not reach the statistical 

significance level at the 0.05 threshold were excluded from further analysis. The individual sets were then 

analyzed. Factor analysis was performed for each (first for objective relational and then for interval variables of 

each set). First, we performed multiple regression analyzes with the dependent variable "competitive-financial" 

performance, and then repeated the procedure in the case of "recreational-non-financial" performance as the 

dependent variable. 

 

RESULTS 

 

The Model of Financial-Competitive Performance  

 

After correlation and Kruskal-Wallis variance analyses individual sets of variables were analyzed. For each set a 

factor analysis was carried out (first for objective relational and then for interval variables of a particular set). 

Finally, 13 factors were included in the final regression model with the perception of achieving competitive and 

financial goals as dependent variable. The hierarchical multiple regression had four phases. We gradually included 

factors from all four sets of variables, first “environment” (model 1), then “strategic focus” (model 2), “HRM and 

human capital” (model 3), and finally “behavior” (model 4). The obtained results are shown in the Table 2. 

Table 2. A summary of the hierarchical multiple regression analysis for the financial-competitive performance 

Model R R2 Adjusted R2 Changes 

Ch. R2 Ch. F Ch. sig. F 

1 0.810a 0.656 0.640 0.656 42.564 0.000 

2 0.967b 0.935 0.928 0.279 90.744 0.000 

3 0.971c 0.943 0.931 0.008 1.402 0.229 

4 0.976d 0.952 0.940 0.009 5.256 0.008 

 

All models were statistically significant at p < 0.001, and the final model 4 (F = 79.050; p = 0.000) explained 

94.0% of the variance in the top managers' perceptions of the club's financial-competitive performance. We can 

notice that environmental factors explain 65.6% of the variance, the strategic focus factors clarify additional 27.9% 

variance, while the factors from the HRM and human capital set contributed to clarifying negligible 0.8% of the 

variance of the dependent variable. The factors of "behavior" helped to explain slightly more, an additional 0.9%. 

The hierarchical multiple regression method showed that only four out of the 14 factors statistically significant 

affected financial-competitive performance at the level of 0.05, only two at 0.01, and only one at p < 0.001 (Table 

3). Accordingly we may conclude that the strategic focus of observed non-profit basketball clubs has the strongest 
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impact on this aspect of organizational performance, namely factors “strategic focus 1” (β = 0.846; p = 0.000) 

“strategic focus 3” (β = -0.109; p = 0.008). At the same time the HRM factors that were included in this study 

showed somewhat weaker impact. Only the set of relational HRM and human capital factor (β = 0.171; p = 0.015) 

and factor “behavior 1” set (β = -0.184; p = 0.035) showed statistically significant impact on this aspect of 

performance. 

Table 3. Coefficients of the final hierarchical multiple regression model for the financial-competitive performance  

Set of variables B β T p 

Constant 0.007  0.248 0.805 

Environment relational -0.084 -0.083 -1.333 0.188 

Environment interval 1 -0.084 -0.083 -0.994 0.325 

Environment interval 2 -0.012 -0.012 -0.306 0.761 

Strategic focus 1 0.838 0.846 10.040 0.000 

Strategic focus 2 0.063 0.063 1.304 0.198 

Strategic focus 3 -0.109 -0.109 -2.759 0.008 

HRM relational 0.222 0.171 2.510 0.015 

HRM interval 1 -0.152 -0.143 -1.413 0.163 

HRM interval 2 -0.085 -0.079 -1.572 0.122 

HRM interval 3 0.030 0.028 0.635 0.528 

HRM interval 5 -0.077 -0.071 -1.808 0.076 

Behavior 1 -0.189 -0.184 -2.159 0.035 

Behavior  2 -0.049 -0.048 -0.998 0.323 

Note: A dependent variable - the perception of financial-competitive performance. 

In order to increase the reliability and validity of the results obtained with hierarchical multiple regression, we also 

conducted the method of multiple regression with the so-called backward elimination of input variables 

recommended by Pološki-Vokić (2003). Through several regression analyses the input variables which did not 

show statistically significant (p > 0.05) impact on dependent variable were gradually eliminated. Finally the 

following regression model has been obtained: 

y = 0,011 + 0,903x1 - 0,065x2 - 0,074x3 - 0,104x4 

Meaning of the labels: 

y – financial-competitive performance;  

x1 – strategic focus 1; 

x2 – strategic focus 3; 

x3 – HRM interval 2; 

x4 – behavior 1. 

The linear multiple regression model obtained with the method of backward elimination was statistically 

significant at p < 0.001 (F = 257.196; p = 0.000) and explained 94% of the variance of the dependent variable (R2 

= 0.940, adjusted R2 = 0.936), which is relatively high for social studies. This test also showed that only four of 

the 13 input variables statistically significantly influence the measured perception of the clubs' financial and 

competitive performance. Interestingly, from the strategic focus and the behavior set the same factors were 

identified as with previous method, while from the HRM and human capital set different factor was identified to 

have significant impact. Once again, the strongest impact on the dependent variable had the factor “strategic focus 

1” (x1 → t = 24.425; p = 0.000; β = 0.912), while significantly weaker effects were shown by variables in the 

factors “strategic focus 3” (x2 → t = -2.063; p = 0.043; β = -0.065), “HRM interval 2” (x3 → t = -2.078; p = 0.042; 

β = -0.068) and “behavior 1” (x4 → t = -2.506; p = 0.015; β = -0.101). Therefore, the results according to this 

method also confirm that strategic focus factors are of key importance in terms of the impact on the financial-

competitive performance of non-profit basketball clubs. 
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The Model of Non-financial-recreational Performance 

 

The same procedure as for the previous model was conducted for the non-financial and recreational aspect of 

performance. Again the Kruskal-Wallis's variance analysis was performed. The variables that did not reach the 

statistical significance at the 0.05 threshold were excluded from the following analysis. In the next phase for each 

set a factor analysis was performed, first for relational and then for interval variables.  

The final regression model included nine factors. The Table 4 shows results of hierarchical multiple regression in 

which the sets of variables were gradually included in four steps, firstly the “environment” (model 1), followed by 

the “strategic focus” (model 2), then the “HRM and human capital” (model 3) and, finally, the “behavior” (model 

4). 

Table 4. Summary of hierarchical multiple regression analysis for non-financial-recreational performance 

Model R R2 Adjusted R2 Changes 

Ch. R2 Ch. F Ch. sig. F 

1 0.060a 0.004 -0.010 0.004 0.254 0.616 

2 0.696b 0.485 0.462 0.481 32.187 0.000 

3 0.795c 0.631 0.598 0.147 8.760 0.229 

4 0.800d 0.640 0.589 0.009 0.504 0.681 

 

Results show that the environmental factors explain less than 1% of the perception of the variance. At the same 

time, the strategic focus factors seem to play a much larger role, as they explain 48.5% of the variance of the 

dependent variable together with the environment. In contrast to the analysis of financial-competitive performance 

factors, in this case the HRM factors showed a significantly higher impact. Their addition to the regression model 

enabled the joint explanation of 63.1% of the variance of the dependent variable, while the behavior factors 

contributed to explaining only additional 0.9% of dependent variable's variance. Apart from the first model, all the 

others were statistically significant. The final model 4 (F = 12.442; p = 0.000) explained in total 64% of the 

variance of this aspect of performance, which is significantly less than in the case of financial-competitive 

performance model. Moreover, unlike in the case of hierarchical multiple regression for the latter, the same method 

has in this case showed that only two out of nine factors statistically significant (p < 0.05) influence the perception 

of non-financial-recreational performance of non-profit basketball clubs. This aspect of performance was 

influenced stronger by the variables in the factor “strategic focus 2” (β = 0.559; p = 0.000) and factor “HRM 

interval 1” (β = 0.423; p = 0.000). The results are shown in Table 5. 

Table 5. Coefficients of the final hierarchical multiple regression model for non-financial-recreational 

performance 

Factor B β t p 

Constant 0.027  0.351 0.726 

Environment 0.202 0.200 1.390 0.169 

Strategic focus1 0.037 0.037 0.330 0.743 

Strategic focus 2 0.556 0.559 4.696 0.000 

HRM relational 0.020 0.016 0.131 0.896 

HRM interval 1 0.435 0.423 4.195 0.000 

HRM interval 2 0.133 0.130 1.267 0.210 

Behavior 1 0.132 0.124 1.120 0.267 

Behavior 2 0.013 0.013 0.151 0.880 

Behavior 3 0.018 0.017 0.158 0.875 

Note: A dependent variable - the perception of non-financial-recreational performance. 

In order to increase the reliability and validity of results, a multi-regression with the so-called backward elimination 

of input variables was also used for this case. It resulted in the following regression model: 

y = 0,026 + 0,636x1 + 0,412x2 
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Meaning of the labels: 

y – non-financial-recreational performance;  

x1 – factor of strategic focus 2; 

x2 – HRM interval factor 1. 

The linear multiple regression model (F = 57.942; p = 0,000) explained 62.3% variance (R2 = 0.623; adjusted R2 

= 0.613). This confirms the previous finding that the observed factors in this study have greater influence on the 

financial-competitive performance than on non-financial-recreational. In the case of regression models for the 

perception of non-financial and recreational performance there were no significant differences between the results 

of hierarchical and multiple regressions with backwards elimination. The effects on the dependent variable were 

confirmed by the same factors from the nine included parameters (x1 → t = 8.658; p = 0.000; β = 0.639; x2 → t = 

5.436; p = 0.000; β = 0.401). This method showed once again that the strategic focus factors are the most important 

among all observed and have a direct impact on both aspects of performance. However, unlike in the model of 

financial-competitive performance, the HRM factors were found to have a somewhat greater impact on the non-

financial and recreational aspect. 

 

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

 

Three factors showed statistically significant influence on the financial-competitive performance of sport clubs by 

both methods. Namely: “strategic focus 1”, “strategic focus 3” and “interval behavior factor 1”. The factor 

“strategic focus 1” showed a strong positive influence, while variables from the factor “strategic focus 3” were 

found to have weak negative impact on particular aspect of performance. If we break down those factors, we can 

conclude the following regarding the financial-competitive performance of non-profit basketball clubs: 

a) Emphasizing the top sport results in club’s strategic documents at the expense of meeting the local community 

needs increases the organizational chances for better financial and competitive performance. This seems to be 

the key strategic issue for majority of sports clubs (Kern et al. 2012; Breitbarth and Harris 2008; Ivašković 

2015), since sooner or later organizational management has to decide whether the club is going strive for local 

athletes will try to attract better skilled personnel on international markets (Taylor, Doherty, and McGraw, 

2008, 28). Clubs from higher ranked competitions and with the ambition of top sport achievements invest their 

energy and resources exclusively in the latter, which implies a greater likelihood of a top sport results. In this 

respect, they are discouraged, especially during the economic recession periods, to invest in other spheres of 

organizational activities. The top sport result ambitions therefore diminish the concerns for the development of 

the local environment and community. 

b) Emphasizing cost-effectiveness at the expense of growth increases the chances for better financial and 

competitive performance. Cost effectiveness does not necessarily imply cost reductions, but rather an attempt 

to maximize the utilization of funds available to the organization. Basketball clubs with the ambition of 

achieving top sport results usually have an organizational structure which enables them to do so. Consequently, 

there is no excessive desire to increase organization; they rather strive for optimization of organizational 

processes that take place within the existing structure.  

The results of this study suggest the hierarchy of strategic goals significantly affects the financial-competitive 

performance of observed non-profit basketball clubs. The positive impact on this aspect of performance has the 

placement of following goals higher in the clubs' hierarchies of objectives: 1) budget growth, 2) generation of the 

surplus of revenues over expenses, 3) private sponsor promotion, 4) sport results of first team, 5) attracting 

spectators to home matches, 6) increasing athletes’ market value, 7) development of top basketball players, 8) 

development of athletes for national selections, 9) reducing the costs for club’s operations. On the other hand, it 

seems that focus on meeting the needs of the local environment at the expense of the top sport result, and 

emphasizing growth at the expense of cost-effectiveness diminish possibilities for success on the financial and 

sport competitive fields. Consequently, increasing the importance of following goals and integrating them into the 

organizational strategy reduces the club's potential to achieve top sport and better financial results: 1) promotion 

of the municipality, 2) involvement of the local population in club’s activities, 3) encouraging local population to 

do sport, and 4) development of sports infrastructure in the local environment. 

Both methods showed that beside the strategic focus factors the influence (albeit weak) on competitive and 

financial performance have also certain variables from the feelings and behavior set. Results show that the 

competitive and financial performance suffered a negative effect from: 1) athletes' perception of their teammates' 

benevolence, 2) head coach's perception of the athletes' benevolence, 3) head coach's perception of the club 

management's benevolence, 4) the perception of the head coach about the competence of the club's management, 

and 5) the head coach's trust in management. The latter is at first sight somewhat surprising result, which is 

however probably related with a less interferences by top management in the work of the head coach and coaching 
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staff. Thus, it is probably a consequence of professionalization and specialization processes which lead to better 

sport results. It is also somewhat surprising that the perceptions of athletes' benevolence by their teammates and 

even by head coach are in negative relation with competitive and financial performance. This however does not 

imply that we need bad relations within team for a good sport result. It rather indicates that in higher quality teams 

good relations and mutual trust within team do not derive from the perception of benevolence, but from other 

sources such as perception of competence etc. It is certainly a surprising finding that from the HRM set not a single 

factor showed statistically significant impact on competitive-financial performance. 

Fewer factors were identified to have a significant impact on the non-financial and recreational aspect of 

performance. Both methods, hierarchical multiple regression and multiple regression with backward elimination, 

yielded similar results and identified the same sets of factors, namely the factor of “strategic focus 2” and “HRM 

interval factor 1”. Managements that want to increase this aspect of organizational performance have to emphasize 

the importance of the following goals: 1) promotion of the municipality, 2) involvement of the local population in 

the club activities, 3) encouraging local population to do sports, 4) attracting spectators to the home matches, 5) 

development of athletes for national selections, 6) sport results of junior teams, 7) increasing the number of club 

members, and 8) the development of sports infrastructure in the local environment. Both multiple regression 

methods also confirmed that the non-financial-recreational performance is also affected by some HRM variables, 

namely: 1) the existence of formal rules in contract processes with athletes, 2) the existence of formal rules for 

performance evaluation, and 3) the influence of the head coach on the financial compensation. 

The results of both models evidently show that the final organizational outcome is influenced by all goals, which 

importance was measured in particular study (Table 6). Nine out of the 15 goals have a positive impact on only 

one aspect of performance, while they do not affect the other. Seven of these have only a positive impact on the 

financial-competitive aspect of performance; two (increasing the number of club members and sport results of 

junior teams) have positive impact on the non-financial and recreational aspect and do not harm financial-

competitive performance. The second group is represented by organizational goals that have an ambivalent 

influence on organizational performance. They positively affect the recreational and non-financial aspect of 

performance, but negatively affect the financial-competitive aspect. These are: 1) promotion of the municipality, 

2) involvement of local population in club’s activities, 3) encouraging local population to do sport, and 4) 

development of infrastructure in local environment. Managers should therefore be aware that some goals are 

incompatible with others. Thus, their integration into the organization's strategic plans might lead to so called 

“stuck in the middle” problem and could decrease the club's potential for success from both aspects of 

organizational performance. The third segment is formed of two goals, whose involvement in club strategic plans 

has a positive impact on both aspects of performance. These are attracting spectators to home matches and 

development of athletes for national selections. Integrating these goals into the organizational strategic plan should 

thus be beneficial for professional and amateur clubs, so their involvement in the strategic plans of is certainly 

recommendable. 

Table 6. The influence of organizational goals' importance on the performance of non-profit basketball clubs 

Goal Direct impact on performance 

Financial-competitive 

aspect 

Non-financial and 

recreational aspect 

Sponsors promotion positive neutral 

Generation of the surplus of revenues over expenses positive neutral 

Attracting spectators to home matches positive positive 

Development of top basketball players positive neutral 

Sport results of first team positive neutral 

Development of athletes for national selections positive positive 

Budget growth positive neutral 

Increasing athletes’ market value positive neutral 

Reducing the costs positive neutral 

Sport results of junior teams neutral positive 

Promotion of municipality negative positive 

Involvement of local population in club’s activities negative positive 

Encouraging local population to do sports negative positive 
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Increasing the number of club members neutral positive 

Development of infrastructure in local environment negative positive 

 

This study may be beneficial for the non-profit sport clubs' managers in the process of strategic planning. Indeed, 

the results of this study may be used as guidelines for defining clubs’ goals. Obviously the hierarchy of strategic 

goals in basketball clubs can significantly contribute to the organizational performance. Likewise, incorrect setting 

of priorities can reduce the chances of success. The study has therefore empirically confirmed the existence of 

direct causal relationships between the strategic focus and organizational performance. On the other hand, it 

confirms the assumptions regarding complexity of HRM - performance relationship (Purcell et al., 2003; Wright 

et al., 2005). The results indicate that the link between HRM and human capital on one side and the organizational 

performance on the other in the context of non-profit basketball clubs is probably indirect. Many factors indeed 

statistically correlate with organizational performance, but the regression analyses did not reveal the significant 

HRM impact on any of the two measured performance aspects. This is in line with the so called “black box” thesis; 

there is a space of unknown connections between HRM practices and their consequences on the organizational 

performance. Therefore, identification of intermediate factors between HRM and performance remains as one of 

the future key study areas in the field of management. 

Finally, the limitations of particular research should be mentioned. First of all, multiple regression methods which 

were used in this study are not always suitable for testing more complex causal relationships, since they measure 

only direct relationships between dependent and independent variables. At the same time, factor analyses and other 

statistical techniques were used in order to reduce the number of variables, which implies the possibility that we 

have omitted certain variables, which in fact have a direct impact on at least one of two measured aspects of 

performance. Of course, another limitation is the fact that we could not include all potential performance factors 

in the study. However, this study represents an important starting point for further studies on non-profit sport 

clubs’ organizational performance factors. 
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ASSESSING INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL OF A TECHNOLOGY PARK 

Ivana Fojs 1 and Kristina Detelj2 

 
Abstract:  

Technology parks are organizations that are supporting innovative entrepreneurial activity cooperating with 

knowledge-based institutions and using advanced technology. The main purpose of this paper is to identify the 

determinants of intellectual capital in technology parks. Through an analysis of current models for the assessment 

of intellectual capital, a preposition of a model for Croatian science and technology parks has been made. The 

main contribution of this paper is an intellectual capital measurement model which can be used in other existing 

science and technology parks, but also in research centres, entrepreneurial incubators and other entrepreneurship 

supporting institutions. Using the case study method, the paper identifies components of intellectual capital in a 

technology park, as well as the gaps between the level of development of each determinant. Data were collected 

through an interview with representatives of a technology park in Croatia. Results of this study can be used for 

strategic decision making. 

 

Keywords: intellectual capital, intellectual capital model, technology park, science park, entrepreneurship 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

With the emergence of the interest in the concepts of high technology and knowledge-based economy (eg. in 

Khanmirzaee et al., 2018; Martín-de Castro et al., 2019; Zakery & Saremi, 2020), intangible assets and knowledge, 

as the most important factors of intellectual capital, are becoming the main resource of the company. The rapid 

development of information and communication technology indicates the predominance of service providers based 

on new knowledge. Knowledge and intellectual capital management are becoming integral parts of strategic plans 

(Dayan et al., 2017) of companies, but also institutions, cities, regions and nations (Matos et al., 2019; Roos, 2017). 

Effective knowledge sharing leads to the improvement of business processes and development of innovations. 

Measuring intangible assets is more complex than measuring tangible assets, but it is inevitable in order to detect 

gaps, as well as to plan future investments in the form of improving the current level of intellectual capital. In this 

paper we focus on the connection between the intellectual capital and the technology parks. 

 

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND 

 

The theory of intellectual capital has been developed in three directions: the so-called Japanese school whose key 

authors are Itami, Nonaka and Takeuchi, then the theory of resources (Penrose and Barney) and finally the study 

of human capital as a fundamental determinant of intangible assets (Kolaković, 2002). Stewart (1991) and Sveiby 

(1997), were the first to define intellectual capital by the keyword knowledge, "intellectual capital is knowledge 

that exists in an organization that can be used to create a differential advantage," and emphasized the importance 

of intangible assets in creating competitive advantage. 

According to Edvinsson (1997), intellectual capital is non-financial capital that serves as complementary 

information to financial information. Edvinsson (1997) has divided intellectual capital into human capital and 

structural capital, and according to the European Commission (2001), intellectual capital is composed of human 

capital, which includes knowledge and skills of employees, structural capital referred to routines and procedures 

of the organization and relational capital, which includes external relations with customers and business partners. 

"Intellectual capital is determined by intangible resources that make it difficult to identify, measure, and evaluate." 

(Stewart 1991). In 1992, Kaplan and Norton developed a model for measuring intangible assets that served as the 

basis for future modified models of intellectual capital valuation. Edvinsson (1997) studied intellectual capital in 

the Swedish company Skandia, for the needs of which he devised the Skandia Navigator measurement model, 

which is the most commonly used intellectual capital assessment model today. Although intellectual capital is 

difficult to measure, it is undoubtedly a necessary resource for innovation, new markets, and enterprise 

technological development (Gately and Cunningham, 2014). 

"Science and technology parks are registered legal entities established to commercialize scientific results, 

encourage cooperation between scientists and businessmen, and in accordance with the provisions of the law 

governing scientific activity and higher education" (Law on the Improvement of Entrepreneurial Infrastructure, 

2018). Brunsko (1995) describes technology parks as strategic instruments of regional development because they 

represent a link between industry and universities. With the use of new technologies and innovative solutions, they 
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are accelerating the commercialization of scientific research. Zekić and Bukovac (2008) say that technology parks 

are incubators of innovation and entrepreneurship that enable the development of a modern economy, more 

efficient restructuring of industry, sustainable regional development, development of intellectual potential and 

reduction of unemployment. 

Intellectual Capital of a Technology Park 

 

The beginning of intellectual capital measurement was directed to the micro level and its reflection on the 

performance of a company. Later, the concept of intellectual capital was applied at the meso and macro level in 

order to assess the level of human, structural and relational capital of cities, regions, nations, research centres, 

technology parks and universities, and all units that accumulate knowledge. The results of the study by Ane et al. 

(2017) point to the positive impact of human and structural capital on entrepreneurial orientation and activity, 

which contributes to economic growth and competitiveness. Edvinsson, Stenfelt (1999) and Bontis (2002) are one 

of the pioneers of measuring intellectual capital at the macro level. The purpose of assessment of intellectual 

capital at meso and macro level research is to identify strengths and weaknesses of the observed entities and to 

take improvement actions. 

The importance of intellectual capital measurement above the micro level of the company is confirmed by the 

research of Lin and Edvinsson (2010), whose results indicate the connection between investment in intellectual 

capital and recovery from a financial crisis. More precisely, it was concluded that the macroeconomic situation 

can be improved by the development of human and renewable capital, as the main determinants of knowledge 

economy and national development in the future.  

Technology parks bring together three types of knowledge: high-tech knowledge derived from innovative 

companies, regional knowledge, and university knowledge through collaboration with higher education 

institutions. Technology parks create an environment that encourages technological innovation and enables 

development of a knowledge based economy, derived from innovative small and medium enterprises (Zekić and 

Bukovac).  

 

Existing Intellectual Capital Research of Technology Parks, Research Centers and related Institutions 

 

As intellectual capital is the foundation of SMEs competitive advantage and innovation, science parks represent 

“network opportunities'' (Khavandkar et al., 2016) for SMEs in a way that enables knowledge sharing, networking 

and better intellectual capital management. Science parks are networks that enable the circulation of intellectual 

capital, through intermediaries between the tenant companies and between the tenants and the park. It is important 

to observe which forms and levels of intellectual capital the tenants bring to the park, and which forms of 

intellectual capital they receive by staying in the park (Gibb, 2007).  

The relationship between the level of intellectual capital and the competitive advantage of creative industry parks 

was explored by Dong & Gao (2012). Their research in 18 creative parks (survey questionnaire and in-depth 

interviews) indicates that intellectual capital is the foundation of innovation, which is a prerequisite for the 

competitive advantage of parks. The authors recommend for creative industry parks and state institutions to 

improve the communication between creative talents, raise protection of intellectual property and improve the 

ability to retain talents through establishing a quality knowledge exchange system. Raising awareness of the 

importance of creative parks is important to enable investment in R&D and to create a learning and knowledge 

exchange atmosphere. 

Chu et al. (2006) provide a framework for reporting on the intellectual capital of the Industrial Technology 

Research Institute (ITRI), to identify the hidden value of ITRI. The research connects the components of 

intellectual capital with the value or performance of ITRI. According to the results, intellectual capital is relevant 

to the value creation process, so investments in intellectual capital components should not be considered as costs 

but rather as investments to gain added value. The level of intellectual capital should be the criterion for the amount 

of investment. 

The Zahedi and Papoli study (2018), which links knowledge management and intellectual capital of a knowledge-

based research center, found that knowledge sharing has no significant effect on human capital, and knowledge 

acquisition has no significant effect on structural capital. The greatest impact on the competitive advantage of a 

research center has the application of knowledge. Therefore, future strategies must be aimed to connect knowledge 

management process and intellectual capital to improve its current effect.  

The connection between a successful incubation process and the intellectual capital of a business incubator was 

investigated by Calza et al. (2014). The authors found a new dimension to consider in order to analyse and measure 

the level of intellectual capital of a business incubator, the one related to the incubation process. They suggest 
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comparing the level of intellectual capital of tenants during the incubation phases. The intellectual capital of tenants 

should be applied to the entire incubator during several phases of incubation. Business incubators need to design 

innovative and efficient incubation processes, adapted to tenants and their intellectual capital, because this is where 

the competence of incubators and incubated companies lays. 

Gately and Cunningham (2014) emphasize in a qualitative study the importance of relational capital for incubator 

tenant companies. According to the analysis of in-depth interviews and business plans of entrepreneurs in the 

incubator, some surveyed entrepreneurs rely on their own formal education and incubator as the main sources of 

networking, while some respondents stressed the importance of industrial networking and connecting with clients 

instead of relying on government institutions like the Chamber of Commerce. Authors conclude that knowledge 

networks are the key to supporting entrepreneurs who are tenants of incubators, and knowledge sharing is crucial 

not only within the incubator, but also outside of it, especially between incubators, high-tech knowledge based 

companies and higher education institutions. 

Investments in intellectual capital, according to Maltseva (2015), must become a priority of technology parks. The 

author proposes a structural and factor model for the evaluation of intellectual capital of a technology park, which 

needs to be continuously improved. It divides the structure of the technology park into nano level and micro level. 

The paper proposes three models of evaluation of intellectual capital of a technology park, first model is focused 

on access to knowledge that involves its accumulation and efficient use, second model is a value model that 

assesses the contribution of intellectual capital through individual stages, and the third model has a strategic 

method aiming the identification of key determinants of intellectual capital in order to achieve competitive 

advantage. In a paper from 2016, Maltseva combines possible methods of measuring the value of the intellectual 

capital of a technology park, dividing the methods depending on whether they are used at the tactical or strategic 

level. At the tactical level, the author proposes the use of value-added indicators of intellectual capital, and at the 

strategic level, indicators of the cost of intellectual capital are suggested. 

Davoudi et al. (2017) examined science and technology park entrepreneurs to assess the interrelationship between 

innovation, intellectual property, and organizational performance. The results show that intellectual property rights 

have a positive impact on organizational performance through open innovation, which provides guidance for 

technology park decision makers. 

A model for valuing the intangible assets of a research center was developed by Loyarte et al. (2018). The level of 

intellectual capital is important for the evaluation of research and development projects developed within research 

centers.  

The results of the study by Schiavone et al. (2014) proves the positive impact of habitation in a science park on 

the performance of companies related to the determinants of intellectual capital, that is, park tenants have a higher 

level of intellectual capital than similar companies outside the park. 

Brinkhoff and Kitzmann (2014) explore the role of urbanism in generating innovation through examples of 

technology parks. Their model shows the interdependence of the university, the public sector, the private sector 

and the public. They conclude that new knowledge-based urban areas need innovations in classic technology park 

models. 

Considering the results of previous related studies, the importance of technology parks is visible in the increase of 

intellectual capital level of a park in general, but also of tenant companies, through mediation, cooperation and 

networking. 

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

This study uses single in-depth case study on a Technology Park in the Republic of Croatia. A semi-structured in-

depth interview was conducted with the technology park director. 58 questions were divided into 6 sections. The 

introductory section had general questions about the interviewee and his role in the technology park. Second 

section was about intellectual capital in general. Next three sections were related to human, structural and relational 

capital. Questions in the last section included final questions on the perception of intellectual capital. The interview 

took 52 minutes. To decrease the risk of misinterpretation, authors decided to record the interview, instead of 

taking notes. Based on the recording of the interview, a transcript was made and it consists of 12 text pages. In 

order to distinguish relevant data from insignificant ones, data reduction was conducted. 

When using open-ended questions, it may happen that the respondent answers too broadly and does not hold to 

questions that are asked, that is why such parts of the interview need to be omitted. Therefore, recordings and 

complete transcripts of the interview are a suitable method for re-reading and noticing irrelevant data (Hyytiä, 

Karvik, 2020). Other methods for data analysis purposes such as comparison and classification method, as well as 
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thematic analysis were used. Coding technique was used to establish significant categories but also to identify 

patterns and relationship between answers. 

Questions were conducted based on similar qualitative papers which examined intellectual capital of science parks, 

incubated technology firms, universities, SMEs and social service non-profit organizations (Gibb, 2007; Kong and 

Ramia, 2010; Hyytiä, Karvik, 2020; Loyarte et al., 2018; Gately and Cunningham, 2014). 

To verify variability of data and assure the dependability, the triangulation method (Leburić, 2001) was also used 

in the research. Facts for the case study from the interview can further be corroborated (as suggested by the Yin, 

2003) by additional documentation that analyses the embeddedness of the park in the regional economy. In the 

Manual of Innovative Business Parks in the SEE Region (FIDIBE, 2010) the park is used as benchmark for good 

organizational and management structure as well as a good practice example for relying more on own revenues 

and lowering the significance of local subsidies. In the reports on Croatian entrepreneurial infrastructure it is 

always named as one of the good practice examples. In audited operating reports of local authorities, we can see 

that the park's operations are slowly growing (number of tenants, their employees, revenues of the park, profit, 

increasing number of EU and national development projects etc.) (RH DUR, 2014). It has been analysed in 

numerous students’ theses, some research papers (e.g. Hunjet et al., 2018) and local and national media always 

show positive image and good impact of the park and its tenants on the local economy. Yearly GEM report for 

Croatia (Alpeza et. al., 2020) names the park’s hackathon initiative as a good practice example. Hackathon 

"Versusvirus or Viral Action Against Virus" (17 - 19 April 2020) aimed at identifying the biggest challenges of 

entrepreneurs during the COVID pandemics and the contestants tried to find answers to these challenges. One of 

the main weaknesses of the park in this research was lack of available space, and conference space which was 

mitigated in February this year by opening additional space in the annex to the previous building. Today they have 

about 50 tenants, but their alumni tenants comprise more than 100 enterprises that exited the incubation and have 

left the park and most of them still collaborate with present tenants and the park itself (Vlada RH, 2021.). We even 

found the info on one former tenant’s webpage that they are proud former tenants (Orion, 2021). 

For the purpose of this study, a research question was proposed: In what forms is intellectual capital present in the 

technology park and is there a connection between the identified determinants of intellectual capital? The research 

also examined which form of intellectual capital is most important in a technology park. 

 

RESULTS 

 

The results are presented by interpretation of the interview answers, and the conclusions are supported by real 

quotes from the respondent. In addition to identifying the main factors of intellectual capital in the technology park 

and explaining their links, models of intellectual capital assessment in the technology park were designed, based 

on the obtained answers. 

 

Human Capital 

 

Human capital is most visible in the parks system of values, tenant competencies, growth and progress, education 

programs and platforms for the realization of tenants interests, recognition and application of good practices and 

knowledge exchange. The park seeks to ensure growth through a platform which adapts to individuals depending 

on their affinities and areas of interest, but within the park program. The learning by doing approach is applied in 

the park. However, employees are not always motivated for progress: “Sometimes I wish they might be a little 

more motivated than they are. Well, they are in some segment, but honestly they should be even more.” 

Tenant progress is necessary and encouraged, and it is most visible in the communication, presentation, negotiation 

skills of tenants and in general in entrepreneurial way of acting. From the perspective of companies, progress is 

visible in growth and networking. Tenants are in some aspects of skills (presentation, negotiation, communication) 

better than competitors. 

When asked how additional investment in tenants' knowledge and skills can have a positive effect on the park, the 

answer was that the positive effect is visible through development and innovation, with smart investment and 

application of good practices while maintaining originality. Innovative individuals will then grow and develop, 

and their originality will attract other companies. 

Growth enables the realization of entrepreneurial affinities of individuals, business stability, and later cooperation 

with other tenants: “As for companies, …, they have segments to which they turn to strategically, … but once they 

grow … they outsource this segment which they previously covered, and that outsourcing they do mostly and 

always target primarily companies which are in the Technology Park …. Synergistic effect.” In this answer, a 
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combination of human (tenant experience), relational (networking and company cooperation) and structural capital 

(sets of services arranged by segments, outsourcing) is visible. 

The importance of park’s experience is noticed: “So, if a company grows fast enough, it employs individuals who 

have some entrepreneurial affinities, so they also move towards self-employment, and companies founded by these 

people are actually the most stable and have the greatest chance of success. We have recognized that through 

these 15 years of business and it really works.” The knowledge, competencies and experience of tenants are 

connected with the innovations of the park, they enable dynamism, which affects park’s performance. 

“The last few companies which came to the Technology Park were just established in such a way that individuals 

who worked in some other companies were already preparing the ground for their companies and for 

entrepreneurship, because they examined clients and the market, …, so that the risk is minimized. We are not a 

classic start up incubator, but I would say that more stable companies are maturing in our park, here and there 

someone is born who is a little braver and maybe even younger, while embarking on these slightly riskier ventures, 

but there is no fear for them, after such an experience, they can always in some way move on and get on their 

feet.” 

Overall conclusion is that the human capital is crucial for a technology park: “It is crucial in fact, because these 

are all knowledge-based companies, there are very few companies that make some tangible products, now it is a 

new direction we are turning to, but knowledge is actually crucial because these are services and products based 

on that. … It [knowledge exchange] is actually the essence of the technology park's business”. 

 

Structural Capital 

 

The park is conducting a process of getting to know the company, that is potential tenants present a three-year plan 

with specific elements, and the technology park decides according to a set of criteria, whether the company is 

adequate for incubation or not: “Based on the presentations of three-year plans of potential tenants, the park 

assesses the affinity of the company and accordingly determines potential compatible partners who are also 

tenants of the park, after which they meet and network.” 

Service-based companies usually operate dynamically and adapt to customers. According to the park’s experience, 

the existence of a certain defined structure and process is important when the company grows up to 15 employees, 

because it facilitates the process of including new employees, but companies in this phase of growth are already 

on the way out of the technology park, because they have completed the incubation process. This is an example of 

a relationship between experience (human capital) and innovation (structural capital). The future business plan 

includes the construction of an infrastructure intended for scale up companies, in order to maintain cooperation 

even after the first phase of growth, after incubation. 

There is a work specialization in the park, there are segments covered by a particular employee, and there are also 

common areas, such as event organizing. The events are focused on new trends aimed at tenant companies. The 

event organization is carried out through cooperation with companies in the park as well as with former tenants, 

and their goal is to expand and maintain the community: “…, These are some formal-informal gatherings that are 

very important for maintaining the community, for it to be productive, for networking.” This is a visible connection 

of structural, relational and human capital through cooperation and networking, meeting new potential tenants, 

public reputation, but also the dissemination of good practices and acquired knowledge through park’s processes. 

Regarding routines and processes as determinants of intellectual capital, there are informal routines in terms of 

once a week socializing of employees and formal routines which include event organizing and the incubation 

process in the technology park. Although individual processes such as the incubation process are defined, the park 

is to some extent adapted to companies using many years of business experience, which is also a link between the 

determinants of structural and human capital. The processes of individual companies are defined by the tenants 

themselves, so the park is not included in that part. 

At a national level, the examined park is one of the first technology parks established in Croatia therefore they 

have their own set of users and even insufficient infrastructure according to demand, which makes them leaders in 

their expertise. At the European level, compared to the parks of the Eastern part of Europe, the park is more 

advanced, while the technology parks of the western part of Europe, despite similar problems they face, are more 

advanced primarily due to earlier business movements: “… we may be a little behind the west, we are trying to 

copy it from the west and see how they work, however, they started earlier so that they had dealt with all these 

problems they had earlier [than us], and what is typical is that everyone has the same set of problems. I talk to a 

lot of colleagues out there, they face the same problems as us, but like I said, they started earlier, so maybe they 

are ahead of us.”  
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In the near future, the park is trying to start new trends related to public-private partnerships and the integration of 

scale up companies into the system, thus encouraging other technology parks to follow. The link between 

structural, human and relational capital is visible in the adaptation of good practices and new knowledge from 

technology parks in other countries, through the creation of innovation in the business structure. 

The park is innovative thanks to its abilities and experience in recognizing good opportunities and adapting to its 

own climate: “Actually, that’s how most companies in the Technology Park work, but also in the region and if you 

look, it’s actually about recognizing opportunities, recognizing what someone else did one way, and you make it 

either better than that, or good enough to work for you.” 

Human capital in the form of experience and knowledge, relational capital in the form of communication with 

international entrepreneurial support institutions and adaptation of international practices to the environment and 

business of the park, contributed to structural capital, which is seen in process innovation: “… Experience and 

learning from your own and other’s mistakes is very important. … But that part taught us that we can recognize 

those things that have the ability to function and those that have less ability to function. … You can't accept every 

one of them [entrepreneurial ideas], … a win-win situation has to be found there.”. 

The development of implemented projects depends on the dynamics of published national tenders, and the 

implementation of international projects is available thanks to international networks and partnerships, which 

indicates the development of structural capital with the help of relational. Further business development is planned 

through public-private partnerships and greater involvement of the private sector, in order to speed up 

implementation and enable more financial resources, and is in line with the guidelines of the European Union for 

the period to 20303. 

The conclusion is that the structural capital of the observed park is at a satisfactory level, the incubation process is 

successful because the park cooperates with most former tenant companies, which are now at a higher level of 

development than they were during their stay in the park. From the perspective of the park director, there is room 

for improvement and he strives to achieve greater community involvement. Structure is important for the park 

because it attracts companies to come. Simplicity of communication and clarity of procedures are also important. 

 

Relational Capital 

 

The information exchange in the park takes place in a formal way through official communication channels, but 

also in informal gatherings of tenants, where the combination of human, through the exchange of knowledge, 

experience and good practices and relational capital (networking and cooperation) is visible again. 

According to the respondent, relational capital is very important for the technology park. The recommendations of 

good partners can add value and trust to the park, that can later be used for projects and other forms of cooperation. 

“Experience, market presence has enabled us to choose quality and reliable business partners. … We have some 

more consistent methods by which we assess whether a business partner is fit for us or not. I think that it brought 

experience, I would say some mistakes and good practices”, which again indicates the connection between human, 

structural and relational capital. 

A very good cooperation with business partners, but also with clients, i.e. tenants is visible: “… We have more or 

less daily communication with them [clients], we also have some satisfaction surveys that we had periodically, 

that they give us some feedback. It was always on us that we asked them to give us praise and criticism and we 

always left room for criticism, a place for some of their ideas, ... We implemented a lot of things [tenant suggestions 

and ideas]. … Feedback is very important.” 

Business relationships of the park are long lasting and clients are loyal: “Those companies that leave the 

Technology Park are still in good relations and intensive contacts and we have had a lot of cooperation with such 

companies, in terms of participation in our events, in terms of applications for some tenders, so we cooperate with 

them. Even now, I said this public-private partnership, it is a kind of giving back culture that we are now going to 

develop more intensively, meaning companies that have gained some value in the technology park, … they now 

know how to appreciate and value it after many years, it is that intangible capital, and now that they have grown, 

they have the possibility of co-financing, that is, financing some of our programs, [returning the service].” 

The cooperation with public institutions is sometimes difficult: “From communication with parks in the region, 

the same problems of entrepreneurial support institutions outside were observed. … Our role as such institutions, 

                                                 
3 European Commission (2019) Reflection Paper towards a sustainable Europe by 2030, Directorate-general for Communication, European 
Union 
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… is exactly that, to "reconcile" the public and private sectors, to find a common language, .... And then, building 

trust with both the public sector and the private sector, I would say that this is actually the most demanding part 

of this business. But we have experiences and some methods that we apply there, which could work more and 

more.”, but this is also an example where structural capital is visible through the role of relational capital, that is 

networks and cooperation can bring new projects and financial funds for innovation and process development. 

There is a frequent public perception that the park is responsible for the overall development of companies, which 

is impossible with 50 current companies and 100 alumni companies, the entrepreneur has the initiative, and the 

park is a support. Regardless, the overall perception of the park is good, which is visible according to existing 

news about the park in the media. The plan of the park for relational capital development is a greater presence in 

the media. New projects will include the presentation of good practices of tenant companies to increase public 

awareness of the park’s business. 

Good cooperation with faculty and students is a great value for the park: “… Students who come for internships 

are a very, very valuable intellectual resource for us… we have benefited a lot by being actively involved in student 

internships, and then we involve students in our active projects.” 

The park is well networked nationally and internationally: “… Intensive exchange of good and bad practices that 

is equally important… that reputation we have is our starting point for the future.” 

Important determinants of the development of relational capital of the park are adaptation to the community and 

inclusiveness, but also respect for the values of all participants. According to the respondent, relational capital is 

very important for the operation of the park. The community, which includes networks, relations, business 

relationships and mutual communication, is the greatest value of the park. 

 

Model of intellectual capital forms, their connection and conversion in a Technology park 

 

Earlier mentioned Brinkhoff and Kitzmann Quadruple model (2014) is showing the interrelationships between the 

four pillars: the private sector, universities and research center, public administration and society. The role of the 

university is to generate knowledge, the public sector is in charge of funding and public infrastructure, and the 

society creates new requirements that are followed by innovative and creative solutions. 

 

Figure 1: Quadruple helix model by Brinkhoff and Kitzmann (2014), according to  

Carayannis and Campbell 2009, Leydesdorff 2012 

Based on previous research and data collected from the interviewee for this study, a theoretical intellectual capital 

assessment model for Croatian science and technology parks has been made. 

According to the results of the interview, the designed model takes into account the technology park as a central 

element, surrounded by the main actors with whom it cooperates. The park together with the actors influences the 

creation of all types of capital from which the main outputs regarding park's business and cooperation arise. 
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Figure 2: Intellectual capital assessment model of a technology park, author’s work 

Transcript analysis and coding of relevant data resulted in the significant factors that have been identified as the 

main factors of intellectual capital of the technology park. According to the division into human, structural, and 

relational, they are shown in the schematic representation below. 

 

Figure 3: Identified factors of the intellectual capital of a technology park, author’s work 

Since there are many actors, inside and outside the park, who influence the park’s business and are connected to 

the park due to some kind of collaboration, they are shown in the model below. In addition to the actors, the outputs 

of the park that arise from cooperation with the actors, but also from their own progress, are also important. From 

the analysis of the interview, numerous connections of actors, outputs and the technology park itself were revealed, 

repetitive notions and transformations of one form of capital into another were also identified, and those 

relationships are shown in the model below.  

 

Figure 4: Connection between the technology park, related actors and their common determinants, author’s work 

For example, good practices are an output of human capital which is noticed when discussing tenants, employees, 

former tenants, and business partners. There is a clear relationship between human capital and relational capital in 

the form of good practices. 

These models are representing key determinants of technology park’s intellectual capital, which are connected to 

cooperating actors of a park as well as with outputs. The models can be starting points for measuring the impact 

of one or more identified intellectual capital variables on another variable, or the impact on technology park 

outputs. Since the connection of the described determinants and the conversion of different types of capital was 

confirmed by the interview, this model can be a basis for quantitative analysis. 
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CONCLUSION 

 

The role of a technology park is to advise and motivate tenants, but the success of these companies is not possible 

without their own involvement. Park is an intermediary that infiltrates new companies and connects them with 

existing ones, based on which the community develops. 

According to the results of the interview, intangible assets and tangible assets of a technology park are related, and 

each form of intellectual capital is connected to each other. All forms are important for the business of the park, 

and for parks’ innovation and performance, so it is necessary to invest in each form: “We should invest in human 

resources because through new programs (educational) …, we should invest in structural ones because I think it 

should simply be improved and simplified, and relational, it should be worked on, systematically, if we do not work 

on it [relations], then there are none [relations].” 

Human resources are the determinant most often mentioned in the technology park in the context of intellectual 

capital. Knowledge, competencies and experience of tenants are connected with the innovations of the park, they 

enable dynamism, but they are also related to the performance of the park. From the perspective of the technology 

park director, human capital is crucial for a technology park, while knowledge exchange is the most important 

determinant of human capital: "It [Knowledge exchange] is actually the essence of the technology park's business". 

The research provided an answer to the question of which form of intellectual capital is the most important in a 

technology park - human capital: experts, knowledge exchange; structural capital: incubation process; relational 

capital: community. “The greatest strength of human capital is that there is a good core of experts who are there, 

from whom you can learn how to do something and how not to. The greatest strength of structural capital is that 

there is a certain structure that attracts people to come here, but of course it can be improved, and the greatest 

strength of relational capital is the community, definitely … we always say that the community is the greatest value 

of the Technology Park, as soon as you mention the community, it automatically implies relationships and personal 

relationships and mutual communication." 

 

CONTRIBUTION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

There has been no existing research on the intellectual capital of a technology park in the Republic of Croatia. This 

study had identified the determinants of intellectual capital in a technology park, but also identified most important 

factors of intellectual capital. A model of intellectual capital in a technology park has been made and it includes 

all the determinants and their connections. The parts of intellectual capital that need improvement and progress 

have also been identified regarding tenant motivation, structural process innovation and community expansion. 

This study can, due to the identification of most important factors of intellectual capital, serve as a basis for other 

research on the intellectual capital of technology parks, research centers and related institutions. 

One of the directions for future research is to include a larger number of respondents, i.e. to expand the sample to 

the national or international regional level, in order to compare the technology parks of a country or a geographical 

region. Another direction of future research is to examine awareness and perception of intellectual capital from 

the perspective of technology park tenants with a quantitative research approach. From the respondents' answers, 

it was concluded that the determinants of human and relational capital have the greatest impact on the park's 

innovations and that all types of intellectual capital affect park's performance. Therefore, future research could 

assess the quantitative effect of intellectual capital variables on innovation and performance. 

 

REFERENCES 

 

1. Alpeza, M., Delić, A., Has, M., Koprivnjak, T., Mezulić Juric, P., Oberman, M., Perić, J., Šimić Banović, 

R. (2020). Izvješće o malim i srednjim poduzećima u Hrvatskoj. CEPOR. accesed (12. 5. 2021.) on: 

www.cepor.hr/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Izvjesce-2020-HR-web.pdf. 

2. Ane, L., Hanu, L., Siagian, S., Hamid, A.K. (2017) The Intellectual Capital Model Towards Optimizing 

the Performance of Informal Sector Entrepreneurs in The City of Medan 

3. Bontis, N. (2002) National Intellectual Capital Index: A United Nations initiative for the Arab region; 

Journal of intellectual Capital 5(1):13-39 

4. Brinkhoff, S. and Kitzmann, R. (2014) Urban dreams and economic realities – Areas of innovation 

between the demands of the knowledge society and the requirements of innovative industries, 31st IASP 

World Conference: Conference Proceedings, International Association of Science Parks and Areas of 

Innovation (IASP), Campanillas, Málaga, Spain, pp. 263-279 

5. Brunsko, Z. (1995) Tehnološki parkovi i njihova uloga u gospodarskom razvoju, Ekonomska misao i 

praksa, Dubrovnik IV (1995), BR. 2. (321-334) 



  

 

- 34 - 

 

6. Calza, F. Dezi, L., Schiavone, F., Simoni, M. (2014) The intellectual capital of business incubators 

Journal of Intellectual Capital Vol. 15 No. 4, 2014 pp. 597-610 

7. Chu, P.Y., Lin, Y. L., Hsiung, H. H., Liu, T. Y. (2006) Intellectual capital: An empirical study of ITRI 

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 73 (2006) 886–902 

8. Davoudi, S. M. M., Fartash, K., Zakirova, V. G., Belyalova, A. M., Kurbanov, R. A., Boiarchuk, A. V., 

Sizova, Z. M. (2017) Testing the Mediating Role of Open Innovation on the Relationship between 

Intellectual Property Rights and Organizational Performance: A Case of Science and Technology Park, 

EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education 2018 14(4):1359-1369 

9. Dayan, R., Heisig, P., & Matos, F. (2017). Knowledge management as a factor for the formulation and 

implementation of organization strategy. Journal of Knowledge Management, 21(2), 308–329. 

10. Dong, Q. & Gao, C. (2012) Knowledge Engineering, Intellectual Capital of Creative Industry Park Based 

on Multi-objective Decision-Making and Entropy Methods, Systems Engineering Procedia 3, 326 – 332 

11. Edvinsson, L. (1997) Developing Intellectual Capital at Skandia, Long Range Planning Vol.30 

12. Edvinsson, L. and Stenfelt, C. (1999) "Intellectual Capital of Nations — for Future Wealth Creation", 

Journal of Human Resource Costing & Accounting, Vol. 4 No. 1, pp. 21-33 

13. European Commission (2001) MEasuRing Intangibles To Understand and improve innovation 

Management (MERITUM) 

14. European Commission (2019) Reflection Paper towards a sustainable Europe by 2030, Directorate-

general for Communication, European Union 

15. FIDIBE (2010) Manual of Innovative Business Parks in the SEE Region. project Development of 

Innovative Business Parks to Foster Innovation and Entrepreneurship in the SEE Area. accesed (12. 5. 

2021.) on: http://www.southeast-europe.net/document.cmt?id=104. 

16. Gately, C. G., Cunningham, J. A. (2014) Building intellectual capital in incubated technology firms 

Journal of Intellectual Capital Vol. 15 No. 4, 2014 pp. 516-536 

17. Gibb, J. L. (2007) Optimising intellectual capital development: a case study of brokering in a science 

park, Int. J. Entrepreneurship and Innovation Management, Vol. 7, No. 6, 2007 491-505 

18. Hyytiä, P. and Karvik, E. (2020) Examining Strategic Planning and Use of Intellectual Capital through 

Spectacles, Master's Program in Management, Umea University 

19. Kaplan R. S., Norton D. P. (1992) The Balanced Scorecard - Measures That Drive Performance, Harvard 

Business Review 70, no. 1: 71–79. (Reprint #92105.) 

20. Khanmirzaee, S., Jafari, M., & Akhavan, P. (2018). A study on the role of science and technology parks 

in development of knowledge-based economy. World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and 

Sustainable Development, 14(1), 74–85. 

21. Khavandkar E., Theodorakopoulos N., Hart M., Preston J. (2016) Leading the Diffusion of Intellectual 

Capital Management Practices in Science Parks. In: Shipton H., Budhwar P., Sparrow P., Brown A. (eds) 

Human Resource Management, Innovation and Performance. Palgrave Macmillan, London 

22. Kolaković, M. (2002) Teorijske osnove koncepcije intelektualnog kapitala U: Znanje – temeljni 

ekonomski resurs, Sundać, D. (ur.), Ekonomski fakultet Sveučilišta u Rijeci, Rijeka, 125-138 

23. Kong, E. and Ramia, G. (2020) A qualitative analysis of intellectual capital in social service non-profit 

organisations: A theory–practice divide, Journal of Management & Organization, Vol. 16 (5) 656-676 

24. Leburić, A. (2001) Integracija kvalitativnih i kvantitativnih aspekata: perspektive empirijskih istraživanja 

otoka, Sociologija sela 38 (2001) ¼ (151/154): 189-210 

25. Lin, C. Y. Y. i Edvinsson, L. (2010) What National Intellectual Capital indices can tell about the global 

economic crisis of 2007–2009, Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management, 8(2), str. 253–266. 

26. Loyarte, E., Garcia-Olaizola, I., Marcos, G., Moral, M., Gurrutxaga, N., Florez-Esnal, J., Azua, I. (2018) 

Model for calculating the intellectual capital of research centres, Journal of Intellectual Capital, Emerald 

Publishing Limited 1469-1930 

27. Maltseva, A. (2015) Intellectual capital of technology park structure: structural and factorial model, 

Proceedings of 12th International Conference on Business Management 

28. Maltseva, A. (2016) Scientific approaches to the assessment of intellectual capital of technology park 

structures, International Journal of Applied Engineering Research ISSN 0973-4562 Volume 11, Number 

4 (2016) pp 2921-2926 

29. Martín-de Castro, G., Díez-Vial, I., Delgado-Verde, M. (2019). Intellectual capital and the firm: 

Evolution and research trends. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 20(4), 555–580. 



  

 

- 35 - 

 

30. Matos, F., Vairinhos, V., Durst, S., & Dameri, R. P. (2019). Intellectual Capital and Innovation for 

Sustainable Smart Cities: The Case of N-Tuple of Helices. In Intellectual Capital Management as a 

Driver of Sustainability (pp. 49–66). Springer. 

31. Nemet, B. (2012). Tehnološki parkovi – svjetska praksa i Hrvatska. accesed (12. 5. 2021.) on: 

http://inovatori.hr/wp-content/uploads/sites/225/2015/01/Tehnoloski-parkovi-svjetska-praksa-i-

Hrvatska.pdf 

32. Orion (2021). Orion – O nama. accesed (13. 5. 2021.) on: https://www.orion-web.hr/hr/o-nama.html. 

33. RH DUR (2014). Izvješće o obavljenoj reviziji: Postizanje rezultata i ostvarivanje ciljeva poslovanja 

trgovačkih društava u vlasništvu jedinica lokalne i područne (regionalne) samouprave na području 

Varaždinske županije. Republika Hrvatska, Državni ured za reviziju. accessed (12. 5. 2021.) na: 

https://www.revizija.hr/UserDocsImages/izvjescanovo/Revizije%20%202014/REVIZIJE_UCINKOVI

TOSTI/REZULTATI_I_CILJEVI_U_TRGOVACKIM_DRUSTVIMA/POJEDINACNA_IZVJESCA,_

PO_ZUPANIJAMA//VARAZDINSKA.pdf 

34. Roos, G. (2017). Knowledge management, intellectual capital, structural holes, economic complexity and 

national prosperity. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 18(4), 745–770.  

35. Schiavone, F., Meles, A., Verdoliva, V., Del Giudice, M. (2014) Does location in a science park really 

matter for firms’ intellectual capital performance? Journal of Intellectual Capital Vol. 15 No. 4, 2014 pp. 

497-515 

36. Stewart, T. A. (1991) Brainpower: How intellectual capital is becoming America's most valuable asset. 

Fortune. 3 June: 44–60 

37. Sveiby, K. E. (1997) The Intangible Assets Monitor. Journal of Human Resource Costing and 

Accounting, Volume 2: 73-97 

38. Vlada RH (2021.) Premijer Plenković obišao Tehnološki park Varaždin., Croatian government. accesed 

(12. 5. 2021.) on: https://vlada.gov.hr/vijesti/premijer-plenkovic-obisao-tehnoloski-park-varazdin/31725. 

39. Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage. 

40. Zahedi, M. R., Papoli, S. (2018) Studying the Relationship between the Knowledge Management 

Processes and Intellectual Capital in a Knowledge-Based Research Center, International Journal of 

Research in Business Studies and Management Volume 5, Issue 12, 2018, PP 01-19 

41. Zakery, A., & Saremi, M. S. (2020). Knowledge and intellectual capital in internationalizing SMEs, case 

study in technology-based health companies. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 22(2), 219–242.  

42. Zakon o unapređenju poduzetničke infrastrukture (2018) Zagreb: Narodne novine d.d., 4. NN 57/18 

43. Zekić, Z. and Bukovac, B. (2008) Tehnološki parkovi – agensi poduzetničkoga razvoja hrvatskog 

gospodarstva, Ekonomska misao i praksa, (1), 105-116 

 

 

 



  

 

- 36 - 

 

HOW DO SOUTH AFRICAN CONSUMERS PERCEIVE THE SKECHERS BRAND? 

Cashandra Mara1 and Michelle Coetzee 2 

 

Abstract: 

Branding is a complex combination of features, with which brand owners can send powerful messages and create 

financial success. However, brands can age, lose their appeal and ability to generate profits, unless the brand owner 

rejuvenates it. Skechers seems to have little appeal to young South African consumers, perhaps because the brand 

appears expensive or uncool. Natural observation and qualitative interviews with shoppers were completed in two 

Skechers branches. Also, by surveying 60 randomly selected South Africans, we confirmed the brand’s aging 

identity and image of being conservative or mature. We recommend more market research to explore strategies to 

rejuvenate the brand. 

 

Keywords: brand, consumer behavior, rejuvenation, South Africa 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

No brand is exempt from aging, and it is said to be aging when consumers stop paying attention to it (Saeed & 

Siddiqui, 2016). In that sense, even well-established or old brands may continue to appear young. It is when 

consumers start considering a brand as “less exciting” or “old”, that they start forgetting the brand, the brand starts 

losing market share and decline is then imminent (Repace & Gertner, 2014). Consumers may still value a brand, 

although they may not always continue to acquire it (Chovanová, Korshunov & Babčanová, 2015). It is interesting 

to understand the stance management takes towards an aging brand, whether they are aware of the aging process 

and if they consciously consider reviving the brand, but it is of greater importance to establish the consumer's 

perception of the brand's age, and whether that impacts their buying decisions (Repace & Gertner, 2014).    

Branding constitutes those deliberate efforts on the part of the owner of a product or service to distinguish its 

identity from that of its rivals (Haig, 2011). It sends signals to consumers of previous experiences, or creates desire 

for possible future experiences that result in consumers paying attention to the brand (Repace & Gertner, 2014).  

Without branding, a product or service may fail, but with optimum branding, the brand owner can send powerful 

messages to consumers and rivals alike (Chovanová, Korshunov & Babčanová, 2015). 

Skechers USA sells footwear and performance footwear for men, women, and children (Reuters, 2019). A quick 

search of the internet revealed that many users perceive the brand as being ‘uncool’. On a forum asking whether 

Skechers are cool, only three of the 43 replies voted for Skechers being cool, with quite a number of the respondents 

being somewhat abusive towards the brand (The Data Lounge, 2017). Similarly, Sahoo (2017) suggests that 

Skechers has an aged identity. Not knowing whether the users are based in South Africa, it is therefore worthy to 

empirically investigate the true perception of the brand among South African users, and providing such information 

to the brand owner, with which they may be in a better position to make a strategic decision about the brand for 

the South African consumer. A problem statement that can be derived from this, may be formulated as follows:   

 

Problem investigated 

The perception of South African consumers about the Skechers brand is unclear and the matter of how South 

African consumers perceive the Skechers brand is therefore a sensible question to research. To answer this research 

question, a primary and several secondary objectives need to be formulated. The research objectives will guide the 

choice of research method, instrument, participant selection, data collection and analysis (Welman, Kruger and 

Mitchell, 2011).     

 

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES 

 

Primary Objective: 

To investigate the current local consumer perceptions of the Skechers brand. 

 

Secondary Objectives: 

• To determine whether the brand has an aged identity.  

• To determine if there are any areas in which the brand can improve. 

• To provide the company with relevant market research that may help improve its perception among 

consumers. 

• To make recommendations to managers that may improve the profitability of the stores. 

 

                                                 
1 University of Johannesburg, South Africa 
2 Lisof College Pretoria, South Africa 
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CONTRIBUTION 

 

The contribution of this article will be twofold. It will firstly contribute theoretically to the existing body of 

knowledge on branding, product life cycles and consumer behaviour related to branding. Secondly, this article 

contributes practically to the fields mentioned, by reporting on empirical findings from observations and surveys 

conducted. These contributions are made by unpacking the research questions, studying existing literature, 

empirically investigating it in the context of footwear retail and reporting on the findings to answer the research 

questions.      

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

The literature review is discussed under the following sub-headings: Theories underpinning the concepts of 

branding, brand rejuvenation and product life cycle, as well as an overview of Skechers, the topic of this article. 

The discussion of the concepts and theories underpinning this study can be graphically illustrated as in Figure 1.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Conceptual framework of the study. Source: Authors 

 

Theoretical framework 

 

The theoretical foundation for this study is Simon’s bounded rationality theory (1955). Simon (1955), proposes 

that bounded rationality implies our tendency to construct our preferences at the time that we are given a choice, 

but our choices are dependent on our thinking capacity and available information. This makes us partially rational, 

which is in contrast with economic models, such as rational choice theory, which postulates that average humans 

are rational in their preferences (Mitchell-Harding & Schenkel, 2017). We propose that consumers’ perception of 

a brand’s age may anchor their expectations and preferences.  

In addition to bounded rationality theory, we studied a plethora of branding and marketing theory articles found 

on Ebscohost. Some suggest that branding theory research needs to advance to the next level, driven by 

developments in branding innovation and social media (Melewar & Nguyen, 2014), and others (Swaminathan, 

Sorescu, Steenkamp, Gibson O’Guinn & Schmitt, 2020) agree that previously held models, theories and 

assumptions are no longer relevant. Melewar and Nguyen (2014) suggest that, while not a theory, brand likeability 

should enjoy more emphasis as a differentiating concept and possibly a theory, in future research. In this regard, 

the issues raised are centered on the use of celebrities to create positive association and likability and association 

of a celebrity with a particular brand may lead to brand likability. Brand likeability is currently under-researched 

and not many studies have been done on what makes a brand likeable (Melewar & Nguyen, 2014).    

Similarly, Swaminathan et al. (2020) refer to three theoretical perspectives, being the firm, consumer and societal 

perspectives, and suggest that branding boundaries are blurred due to hyper-connectivity, which may present both 

challenges and opportunities to brands. The firm perspective entails that a brand is an asset to be recorded on a 

balance sheet, which can have financial and strategic benefits to the company. Kapferer (2012) and Choi (2013), 
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agree, and state that in this light, strategic or geographic brand expansion, investiture or divestiture, may challenge 

brand perceptions. The consumer perspective entails online connections and social networking has shifted the 

balance of knowledge such that consumers, influenced by peers, now may have more brand knowledge than the 

brand owners (Swaminathan et al., 2020). Such a shift, if not management well, may result in the loss of control 

over the brand or brand identity. Finally, the societal perspective entails that brands have become vehicles of social 

change, consciousness and brand communities that can be synergised by hyper connectivity. The above 

perspectives and the current blurring of brand boundaries signal that the theoretical framework for branding may 

need to broaden in the near future (Melewar & Nguyen, 2014).     

         

Branding 

 

A brand sends out certain signals that allow consumers to recognise products they have used previously, would 

continue using or stop using, or to identify a product they may want to test out in the future (Chovanová et al., 

2015). Brand image in the mind of consumers helps them distinguishing between products and impacts their 

purchase decisions, and whether they identify with the brand (Sivakumar & Feng, 2019). Ultimately, there is a 

vast quantity of information contained in a brand, such as association with its owner, a promise of reliability, 

quality and even superiority (Kapferer, 2012; Foltean, 2019). Such information at the disposal of brand managers 

enables their decisions around their marketing communication strategies, such as positioning or repositioning the 

brand, and ultimately influencing consumer behaviour (Sivakumar & Feng, 2019).  

Branding as a marketing concept is used to position a product and to create awareness among consumers (Foltean, 

2019). Brands are considered as intangible assets on companies’ balance sheets and companies will continue to 

maximize the benefits from a brand's name, such as profitability and competitive advantage, for as long as possible 

(Kapferer, 2012; Prymon, 2016). It is therefore common for a brand owner to introduce product improvements or 

additions to the range of products to increase such awareness (Foltean, 2019). However, consumers with high 

levels of brand commitment may respond less favourably to such product improvements (Sivakumar & Feng, 

2019). It therefore becomes a balancing act between retaining brand loyal customers and attempting to attract other 

targeted customers through brand expansion or rejuvenation (Foltean, 2019). Dealing with the complexity of 

heterogeneous customer demands is further exacerbated by the strategic decision to introduce large or small 

product improvements, or change the pace of introducing improvements or new products (Sivakumar & Feng, 

2019).  

According to Prymon, (2016), brands must face the possibility of ‘death’ if it is not managed correctly and 

appropriately in today’s competing market. Companies pay little attention to the brand life cycle, which can be 

defined as a brand moving through four different stages, the same four stages that are described in the product life 

cycle of introduction, growth, maturity, and decline, which will be discussed next (Kapferer, 2012). 

   

Brand/product life cycle 

 

Brand equity is defined as the value perception held by customers and the perception may change over time (Kotler 

& Keller, 2012). Companies that use branding effectively, can create brand equity, have customers who are brand 

loyal and increase profitability (Choi, 2013). Toward the end of its life cycle, a brand may be associated with other 

related or unrelated products to prevent certain decline (Prymon, 2016). At the critical stage of decline in the 

product life cycle (PLC) a strong brand may help to extend the life of the product, generate further income and 

reach new target markets (Kapferer, 2012).   

The brand lifecycle moves along the same four stages that characterise the product life cycle of introduction, 

growth, maturity, and decline (Kapferer, 2012). According to Kapferer (2012), the brand life cycle is not mentioned 

in most books about branding, and brand maturity may be one possible reason. A brand will especially head for 

decline if it is known for only selling one product, and it has become common for brands to relaunch their activity, 

even after years of sales being at a minimum (Kapferer, 2012). This process is referred to as brand rejuvenation 

(Kapferer, 2012). Kapferer (2012) differentiates between different concepts of a product relaunch, a product 

reinvention, a product facelift and finally, brand revitalisation or rejuvenation.   

 

Brand rejuvenation 

 

Brand rejuvenation can be defined as a company setting out to recreate a position in which the brand creates profit, 

after a period of decline in sales. Such a strategy is sometimes needed to prevent a brand from ageing and 

inevitably, phasing out over time (Kapferer, 2012). Several major brands, such as Burberry and Volkswagen, made 

successful comebacks after a period of decline in sales (Kotler & Keller, 2012). Tommy Hilfiger and British 

Airways conversely, failed to rejuvenate successfully (Haig, 2011). Ultimately efficient branding is imperative for 

success (Choi, 2013), however, even with the best marketing teams, the greatest of brands can still age (Haig, 

2011; Prymon, 2016) or make innocent mistakes (Hope, 2017). Brand rejuvenation is a strategy that is 
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implemented to prevent a brand from ageing and phasing out over time (Kapferer, 2012). By implementing such 

strategies, comebacks are possible. 

It is during the time of imminent decline that rejuvenation and orientation toward the customer is most prevalent 

(Bivainiene, 2010). Prymon (2016) warns against customer orientation, by cutting prices to compete with rivals, 

as this may lead to brand deterioration. Brand owners should reach out to customers to analyse their behaviour, 

preferences and opinions (Kapferer, 2012), particularly when considering the consumer perspective, which states 

that consumers and their peers may possess valuable knowledge about a brand (Swaminathan et al., 2020). During 

this time the brand’s image is vital, as it creates lasting attachment and brand loyalty (Bivainiene, 2010).    

 

Skechers 

 

Founded in 1992 by CEO Robert Greenberg, Skechers entered the footwear market with utility-style boots and 

shoes for skating, aimed at a niche market of young consumers (Express Trainers, 2019). Since then, Skechers 

USA has been selling footwear and performance footwear for men, women, and children. In certain countries 

Skechers also sells clothes, accessories and eyewear (Reuters, 2019). Recent research suggests that the company 

has experienced much volatility, such as false claims that was very damaging to the brand (Munarriz, 2018; Lin, 

2018). For example, Skechers launched a footwear product named Shape-Ups with the false claim that it will help 

tone muscles and lead to weight loss (Puzzanghera, 2012). The brand used celebrities such as Kim Kardashian to 

endorse the product and the shoes proved to be very popular with customers, possible due to the promise of weight 

loss (Stewart, 2015; Lin, 2018). Their deceptive marketing claims led to a fine of $40 million in the USA and a 

subsequent decline in the value of the company stock, from $43.85 in 2010 to $17.85 in 2012 (Puzzanghera, 2012). 

Skechers was forced to refund their customers (Federal Trade Commission, 2012). Ironically, the shoes were 

popular; not because of the claims that it will help customers to lose weight, but because of the relative comfort 

provided.  

In time however, the company recovered from the brand’s misfortune and in 2015 it became the number two 

sneaker brand in the USA (Powell, 2015). Alas, the newfound fortune was short-lived and within a year, the stock 

price fell by 24% on the back of a warning that there is more trouble ahead for the brand (Egan, 2016). The brand's 

growth was slowing down quicker than expected, and over a twelve month period between 2015 and 2016, the 

company's stock fell with a further 42%, during a general decline in stock prices due to the protracted recession in 

the USA (Egan, 2016; Davis, 2019).  

Around this period, Skechers South Africa was also experiencing some changes. The company ended its 

relationship with a trusted distributor, Footwear Trading and appointed Brand Folio to take over their distribution 

centre (Sports Trader, 2016).  Skechers South Africa continues to have big plans for the brand, after having 

established its new distribution centre. One of the strategies named by Skechers’ new distribution manager was to 

aim for a larger target market, one which includes the youth (du Toit, 2019). This move confirmed the company’s 

strategy of rejuvenating the brand (Kapferer, 2012; du Toit, 2019) and to stimulate growth (Kapferer, 2012). 

The Skechers brand is in the mature phase of the PLC, which may be the reason that a strategic decision was made 

to relate the brand to other products, such as clothing and accessories (Reuters, 2019). This strategy worked well 

for Harley Davidson who authorized the use of its brand with clothing and jewelry. This brand is mature and the 

harvesting strategy paid off, but it requires control of the manufacturing quality, distribution and protection of the 

brand’s appeal (Prymon, 2016). In the end, companies should not lose sight of the fact that a brand consists of 

more than just an image or the manipulation of an image, but an actual product that creates value (Kapferer, 2012; 

Prymon, 2016).  

    

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 

 

As scholars of business and social sciences, we share the views of scientists such as Gringeri, Barusch and 

Cambron (2013) and Creswell (2013) that reality and knowledge are co-constructed by researchers and those 

participating in their research. As social constructivists, we were interested in understanding patterns and variation 

in the opinions of the participants observed and surveyed (Jansen, 2010) and therefore, this study uses a qualitative 

approach to gather data to understand customers, their perceptions, motives and behaviours regarding the Sketchers 

brand (Bryman, Bell, Hirschsohn, Dos Santos, Du Toit, Masenge, van Aardt & Wagner, 2018). Data was collected 

by combining two primary methods, being natural observation and qualitative surveys. According to Abutalibov 

and Guliyev (2012) observation is at times the only logical way to gather data, as opposed to asking people 

questions, which might lead to ambiguous information. We therefore made use of observation as the primary 

method of obtaining data, and used the observation data to populate the questions for a qualitative survey, sent out 

to conveniently selected participants (Jansen, 2010). Qualitative surveying does not seek to count, for instance the 

number of respondents with identical characteristics but rather the variation in opinions (Jansen, 2010). The 

qualitative survey used for this study was designed using Survey Monkey, a website that specialises in creating 

online surveys (Survey Monkey, 2019).  
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The sample of observed cases was collected from consumers who entered two Skechers stores, at two separated 

geographical locations, called Mall C and Mall M, where the second author is employed. Following the suggestions 

of Welman et al., (2011) she gathered real life information through meticulous observations and summaries related 

to the research questions. The data collected through the summarised field notes was complemented with an online 

survey. After a pilot study the final survey was adapted and sent out for completion via a weblink, to randomly 

selected males and females from all socio-economic backgrounds, between the ages of 20-70. The response rate 

was 100% and since certain disciplines require a response rate of at least 80% to be representative (Fincham, 2008) 

we considered this response rate as more than acceptable. Furthermore, as qualitative researchers, we did not set 

out to collect volumes of data, but rather focused on a variety of opinions (Jansen, 2010). The survey consisted of 

eight questions, the first two enquiring about demographic aspects and the remainder enquiring about the brand 

perceptions of a random group of respondents, not necessarily Skechers users. Data analysis was a twofold process, 

consisting of manual thematic analysis of observation data and extracting the survey data from the Survey Monkey 

website, which was then recorded on Microsoft Excel. Excel was then used to compile pie charts and other output 

for use in this study. The individual survey answers were sorted through manually.  

 

DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS 

 

The demographic data collected in the observation mirrored that of the survey, in the sense that more females than 

males entered the stores, and responded to the survey. The observations took place over a 113 day period in 2019. 

Shoppers were agreeable to grant short interviews while field notes were recorded, however, preferred not to be 

audio or video recorded. Audio and video recordings can be intrusive on the customers’ privacy, and we did not 

insist (Welman et al., 2011).   

Conversely, the findings obtained from the natural observation and the surveys were in many cases contradictory. 

The natural observation that took place in the stores provided more insight into the brand than the surveys did. 

This is because the natural observation takes place in real-time and is a better representation of reality (Brown, 

2011). This research method was decided on as permission was granted for the second author to be in store as part 

of an internship and it was the most natural way to record the activities in the store without external influences. 

The findings and data analysis investigated the local consumer perception about the brand. As the observation 

showed, 20% of the respondents believed that the brand was ‘mature’, whereas 22,4% believed the brand was 

‘conservative’. The results further showed that the brand was mostly bought by people between the ages of 40 and 

60. An older target market is usually associated with aged brand identity (Kapferer, 2012). An older target market 

in combination with the respondents from the survey believing the brand to be ‘mature’ is a negative indication 

for the brand from an aged brand perspective. This is the opposite intent of the brand, according to Patel (2019). 

Only 3% of the respondents believed that Skechers is the best sneaker there is, whereas 39% and 23% believe it 

to be Nike and Adidas respectively. 

The results of the observation and survey can be summarised as in Table 1 below: 

 

Table 1: summary of incidences observed in stores  

Sales numbers per age category

Age group 20-30 30-40 40-50 50-60 60-70 Total 

Mall M 5 8 27 20 8 68

Mall C 0 16 20 16 12 64

Total sales 5 24 47 36 20 132

% of total sales 4% 18% 36% 27% 15%
 

 

As is evident from Table 1 above, the highest percentage of total sales observed in two stores of a three month 

period, showed that the age groups of 40-50 years and 50-60 years were the most likely to buy this brand. However, 

as illustrated in Figure 2 below, survey results contradicted the observed results, in the sense that most participants 

believed that people aged 20-30 are the most likely to buy the Skechers brand. 
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Figure 2: survey participant perceptions of sales according to age group  

 

Comparing the data from the survey and the natural observation shows the age bracket that can be expected to buy 

the brand. This in turn determines the age of the brand and how the brand is perceived by the public. Figure 3 and 

Figure 4 illustrate the target market for the previously reported observed information of shoppers, combining the 

sales of two malls, Mall C and Mall M. 

 

 
Figure 3: Target market according to age at Mall C. 

 

Figure 3 above shows that the target market, according to age, that buys from the Skechers branch in Mall C, are 

people between the ages of 40 and 60 years, meaning that 56% of Skechers customers are older than 40 and 

younger than 60. The results for the branch at Mall M are different, as evidenced in Figure 4 below. According to 

the data gathered through observation, people who buy at the Skechers branch at Mall M range from the age of 30 

upwards. The age bracket 30 to 40 makes up about 7% of the sales for the brand, whereas 32% of the brand’s sales 

are for people who fall in the 40 to 50 age bracket and 38% of the brand’s sales fall in the 50 to 60 age bracket. 

No one below 30 years made any purchases from this branch for the period of 113 hours that the second author 

was observing. 

12%

46%
24%

13%
3%2%

Sales according to age groups

1O- 20 20-30 30-40 40-50 50-60 60-70

13%

16%

28%

28%

15%

20-30 30-40 40-50 50-60 60-70



  

 

- 42 - 

 

 
Figure 4: Target market according to age for Mall M 

 

The results obtained from natural observation and the surveys do not correlate consistently. This may be because 

the respondents of the survey are not necessarily customers of the brand, thus they do not hold knowledge about 

the brand. As Kapferer (2012) stated, an older target market is usually associated with aged brand identity and that 

is why this study focused so much time on the demographics of the store. The mature market is an indication that 

Skechers has an aging brand identity, the opposite intent of the brand, according to Patel (2019). The main findings 

were that Skechers does not have a static brand identity, that the store’s biggest customers are between the ages of 

40 and 60 and that the brand’s international popularity does not necessarily influence its brand identity within 

South Africa. The findings also show that consumers are attracted to the children’s section, although people rarely 

buy from that section. 

Managerial implications and recommendations 

The primary objective of this study was to investigate the current local consumer perceptions of the Skechers 

brand. We found some indication that the brand seems to be ageing or have an aged identity, which satisfies 

Secondary objective 1. We recommend that current marketing strategies are reassessed to establish where the 

brand is lacking in visibility, popularity and performance. More market research is required to understand the 

possibilities of brand rejuvenation for the South African market, as it is a delicate process. This satisfies our 

Secondary objective 2. For this the most ideal mediums need to be identified to reach the relevant target markets 

so that proper advertising can take place. If the brand aims to sells to a younger target market, they need to consider 

the disposable income of a younger target market, since there were many comments about the brand being 

expensive. Management can easily gain ideas about how to improve the brand by spending more time in stores. 

Rebranding is an expensive exercise and could be risky if not executed well, but to change the image of the brand, 

funds need to be allocated so that rebranding would be possible. 

We have provided valuable information with which the company can plan a strategy to improve its brand 

perception among especially younger consumers, satisfying Secondary objective 3 and 4.The data from this study 

does not suggest that the research is exhaustive. Although this study shows some insight, the sample sizes for the 

surveys are too small to be an actual indication of the perception surrounding the brand. Further research for this 

brand in this area is suggested as a way forward and the researcher suggests the brand does thorough marketing 

research. Other aspects Skechers need to consider more is the field of fashion branding (Choi, 2013) Brand failure 

has been studied in academia by several authors such as Haig (2011), Prymon, (2016), Kapferer (2012), Abdi 

(2012), Saeed and Siddiqui (2016) and Villegas (2019). Brands will continue to fail (Haig, 2011) due to aspects 

such as brand amnesia or brand ego. None of these studies relating to the mentioned topics have been researched 

in a South African context. 

Research rigour 

This research was limited by a few factors, which require mentioning. A limitation to an observational study is its 

incapability of exploring the cause of the behaviour and the improbability to establish if an observation is a true 

reflection of what normally occurs (Welman et al., 2011). To overcome this, surveys were added as a research 

method to triangulate the data and improve the ability of the researchers to answer the research questions. Having 

more information available improves the reliability of the study (Saunders, Lewis & Thornhill, 2015; Bryman et 

al., 2018). This study was a research paper of a post-graduate college student, and therefore time and financial 

resources need to be considered as factors in the execution of the study.  
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CONCLUSION 

 

This document is a combination of the actual experience gained and research conducted within two Skechers 

stores, the surveys sent out and the literature review. The literature review focused on four main topics which is 

branding, the brand life cycle, brand rejuvenation and the Skechers brand. From assessing the outcomes of the 

study in relation to the literature review, it is possible to conclude that the brand Skechers does somewhat have an 

ageing identity and that the people purchasing the brand belong to an older demographic. If the brand owners want 

to target a younger demographic, marketing strategies need to be considered to rejuvenate the brand. Brand 

rejuvenation is a process that needs careful consideration and implementation. 
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ANTI-CRISIS MEASURES IN BULGARIA TO IMPROVE ACCESS TO FINANCE FOR 

SMES DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

Silvia Trifonova 1 and Iliana Andronova 2 

 

Abstract: 

This paper aims to systematize, group and study the anti-crisis economic measures in Bulgaria for financing of 

small and medium enterprises (SMEs) during the COVID-19 pandemic. During the second lockdown (fourth 

quarter of 2020), the state undertakes comprehensive economic measures. In this study the measures to facilitate 

access to finance are systematized into 4 groups as follows: (1) moratoria on loan repayments; (2) preferential 

lending measures; (3) equity investment; (4) measures to further facilitate access to finance for SMEs. The paper 

ends with a summary of the findings of the study. 

 

Keywords: SMEs, access to finance, COVID-19 pandemic 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

In the dynamic situation of COVID-19 and the social and economic chaos it has caused, the national governments 

are working to strike a balance between the health crisis and its economic consequences. Even before COVID-19 

pandemic, the Bulgarian government is highly aware of the importance of micro, small and medium sized 

enterprises (SMEs) as powerful tool for economic growth and recovery in Bulgaria.  

SMEs create 65% of the gross value added and 75% of the jobs in the country, which is about 10 percentage points 

more than the EU-average (Ministry of the Economy of the Republic of Bulgaria, 2020). But the average 

productivity of Bulgarian SMEs is still significantly lower than the EU average. According to the results of the 

“Survey on the access to finance of enterprises (SAFE)”, in 2020 Bulgaria was in 25th place among all 27 EU 

Member States in terms of the importance of the indicator “Access to finance for the normal functioning of 

business” (European Commission, 2020, p. 1). The general economic outlook in Bulgaria during the COVID-19 

crisis has a particularly negative impact on SMEs’ access to finance – a serious slowdown in banks’ lending 

activity to private sector, a significant reduction in the number of employees in SMEs, a drastic decline in their 

turnover, a dramatic decline in owners’ funds or self-financing of SMEs, reduction of working capital.  

The purpose of this paper is to systematize, group and study the anti-crisis economic measures taken in Bulgaria 

for facilitating access to finance in context of COVID-19 pandemic. These measures are systematized into four 

groups: moratoria on loan repayments; preferential lending measures; equity investment; measures to further 

facilitate access to finance for SMEs. The research methods used in the paper are theoretical and methodological 

analysis, systematic analysis, comparative approach, descriptive analysis and critical analysis. Finally, the paper 

ends with a summary of the findings of the study. 

 

MORATORIA ON LOAN REPAYMENTS 

 

The loan moratorium is considered as an anti-crisis measure, as by its nature it provides indirect access to financing 

by deferring due payments. On April 3, 2020, the Governing Council of the Bulgarian National Bank (BNB, 2020a) 

decided to comply with the European Banking Authority (EBA)’s Guidelines on legislative and non-legislative 

moratoria on loan repayments applied in the light of the COVID-19 crisis (EBA/GL/2020/02). BNB points out: 

“The moratoria on bank loan repayments can be an effective tool in the event of short-term liquidity difficulties 

for bank customers. Many companies and citizens would experience such difficulties if their work was restricted 

or suspended as a result of the measures against COVID-19. This, in turn, may adversely affect credit institutions, 

insofar as under the current regulatory framework, deferred or terminated loan repayments lead to additional costs 

and capital requirements for banks. Therefore, the EBA guidelines introduce a temporary principle that loan 

moratoria do not lead to reclassification of exposures in the form of restructuring or default, provided that the 

measures are based on national law and are agreed and implemented at the banking sector level” (BNB, 2020a). 

Pursuant to EBA/GL/2020/02, the moratoria provide changes to the repayment plan through deferral of repayments 

for limited period of time; no other credit terms should be changed (EBA, 2020a). 

Banks need to announce the loan reliefs on their website, in the bank offices and in another appropriate manner. 

The approved private moratoria provide an opportunity for changes in the schedule for repayment of the principal 

and/or interest, without changing other parameters of the loan agreement. Liabilities may be rescheduled for a 

period of up to 6 months ending on 31.12.2020. The deferred liabilities must have been serviced regularly or with 

a delay of no more than 90 days by 1.3.2020. Customers must explicitly state to their serving bank that they wish 

to take advantage of the benefits offered. Three standardized mechanisms are envisaged: 1) deferral of principal 
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and interest repayments for up to 6 months; 2) deferral of principal repayments for up to 6 months; 3) mechanism 

applicable to revolving products. The relevant mechanism is chosen by mutual agreement between banks and their 

customers.  

On December 11, 2020, BNB approved the Association of Banks in Bulgaria (ABB)’s request to extend the private 

moratoria on loan repayments until 31.3.2021. The changes are the following (BNB, 2020b): a) extension of the 

period for receiving and approving loan liability deferral requests from the banks’ customers – until 23.3.2021; b) 

extension of the deadline for deferring loan liabilities of the banks’ customers – until December 31, 2021, but not 

longer than 9 months; c) introduction of a requirement for the loan liabilities subject to the moratoria that they 

must be standard or overdue by less than 90 days as of the date of the deferral request; d) the possibility is provided 

for loan liabilities that were requested for deferral prior to 30.9.2020 to be re-deferred, with a total deferral duration 

of not more than 9 months. BNB also adopted a decision for banks that shall provide, within 10 business days, 

operational plans for assessing the potential default by their borrowers with moratoria, after its expiry (BNB, 

2020b). The requirements for such operational plans are introduced by EBA/GL/2020/15. 

The main objective of BNB was to maintain lending activity and to relieve enterprises and households. The results 

confirm that this effect has been achieved. Only for the first month – April 2020, a significant number (10,233) 

deferral requests were submitted by enterprises, with gross carrying amount of Bulgarian levs (BGN) 4,872,397 

thousand (EUR 2,491,217 thousand), and 7,298 requests were approved, amounting to BGN 2,663,612 thousand.  

As of end-October 2020 Bulgarian enterprises submitted 13,237 deferral requests with gross carrying amount of 

BGN 7,543,122 thousand (EUR 3,856,737 thousand). Of these, 11,934 claims amounting to BGN 6,778,936 

thousand were approved (BNB, 2020c). At the end of October 2020, loans to enterprises and households increased 

on annual basis by 2.5% and 7.3% (Radev, D., 2020, p. 1). At the same time, the approved requests for deferral of 

payments under private moratoria reached 14,120 at its peak in August 2020, with gross carrying amount of 

deferred loan repayments of over BGN 7.8 billion (around EUR 3.9 billion).  

As of end-March 2021 Bulgarian enterprises submitted 14,408 deferral requests, of which 13,303 are approved. 

The gross carrying amount of deferred loan repayments overcame BGN 7 billion (around EUR 3.6 billion) (Figures 

1 and 2). This was a significant financial relief for the affected enterprises. This also applies to Bulgarian 

households. 

The latest statistical data are presented in Table 1. The cumulative data on deferral requests by Bulgarian 

enterprises are presented in Figure 1 and those on deferral requests by Bulgarian households – in Figure 2. 

 

Table 1: Summary information on the Procedure for deferral and settlement of liabilities payable to banks and their 

subsidiaries – financial institutions as of March 31, 2021 

 

 

 

Position  

Number of borrowers Gross carrying amount – in thousand 

BGN 

Submitted 

deferral requests 

Approved deferral 

requests 

Submitted 

deferral requests 

Approved deferral 

requests 

Enterprises  14 408 13 303 7 470 438 7 048 981 

Households  117 168 97 546 2 230 513 1 934 125 

Total  131 576 110 849 9 700 951 8 983 106 

Source: BNB, authors’ calculations 
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Figure 1: Deferral requests by Bulgarian enterprises for the period 1.4.2020 – 1.3.2021 

 

 
Source: BNB, authors’ calculations 

 

Figure 2: Deferral requests by Bulgarian households for the period 1.4.2020 – 1.3.2021 

 

 
Source: BNB, authors’ calculations 

 

The empirical analysis shows a slight upward linear trend of the gross carrying amount of deferred repayments of 

loans by enterprises under private moratoria in the period 1.4.2020 - 1.3.2021. This upward trend is more 

noticeable for households. 

Outside the scope of the moratoria on loan repayments, banks have the opportunity to renegotiate loans 

individually. In these cases, the existing common prudential framework requires banks to reclassify exposures as 

restructured or in default in a timely and adequate manner (Radev, D., 2020, p. 2). The actions of the banks in this 

regard will also be taken into account in the supervisory process as important input information in the supervisory 

review and assessment by BNB. 

Apart from the private moratoria, during the second and third partial lockdowns in Bulgaria respectively in the fall 

of 2020 and in the spring of 2021, the anti-crisis economic measures become more comprehensive. 

 

PREFERENTIAL LENDING MEASURES 

 

Preferential lending measures provide opportunities for SMEs in helping to improve their access to finance. 
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Program of the Bulgarian Development Bank JSC for liquidity support through portfolio guarantees for 

micro and SMEs affected by the declared emergency and COVID-19 outbreak 

 

In May 2020, the Council of Ministers (by Decision № 310/2020) approved and assigned Bulgarian Development 

Bank (BDB) with the implementation of the “Program for liquidity support through portfolio guarantees for micro 

and SMEs affected by the declared emergency and COVID-19 outbreak” (BDB, 2021). This government measure 

has been approved by the European Commission and must meet the conditions set out in the State aid Temporary 

Framework measures for supporting the economy in COVID-19 outbreak. This framework was adopted 

on 19.3.2020. It enables EU Member States to use the full flexibility foreseen under State aid rules. 

In October 2020 the government approves program amendments by adopting Decision № 797/2020. The eligibility 

criteria of the program regarding the status of enterprises are changed – large enterprises are included. Large 

enterprises are companies of over 250 employees and an annual turnover of over BGN 97.5 million (EUR 49.85 

million), or an asset value of over BGN 84 million (EUR 42,948). Associations and companies under the 

Obligations and Contracts Act are not eligible for financing. The provided loans are up to BGN 1 million (EUR 

511.3 million) for SMEs and up to BGN 2 million (EUR 1.022 million) for large enterprises.  

This program protects employment. Given the extended scope, its name is changed –“Portfolio Guarantee Program 

to support the liquidity of enterprises affected by the emergency situation and the epidemic of COVID-19” (BIA, 

2020a). BDB provide guarantees in favour of partner commercial banks, which, in turn, form portfolios of loans 

to micro, SMEs and large enterprises affected by the COVID-19 outbreak and ensure the liquidity of borrowers. 

Loans in scope of the program require lower collateral coverage (BDB provides guarantee coverage of 80%) and 

reduction of the interest by 0.8%. The program is implemented by the biggest banks on the market.  

Under this program, BDB extends loans for new working capital and investment financing to SMEs up to BGN 

300,000 (EUR 153,387), with a grace period (principal and interest) of up to 36 months (BIA, 2020b). The 

implementation of the program is secured financially by BGN 500 million (around EUR 255 million) through an 

increase in the capital of BDB. The program is open to all sectors. It is applied for the whole territory of Bulgaria. 

The program is eligible for companies that meet at least one of the following criteria (BDB, 2021): 1) Companies 

registered a decrease in turnover after the first quarter of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019; 2) Delayed 

receivables from customers/payables to suppliers, after 1.3.2020; 3) Terminated import deliveries – after 1.1.2020, 

or cancelled export contracts; 4) Cases of sick and self-isolated employees, total reduction in the number of 

employees, closed production facilities, premises and offices; 5) Other circumstances caused by the difficulties 

experienced due to COVID-19. 

The coverage of the guarantees provided by BDB is able to include both existing loans already and new loans in 

the form of new working capital and investment funding. The guarantee is with maturity of 6 years. The 

commercial banks provide borrowers with grace periods for payment as follows (BDB, 2021): 1) Up to 6 months 

for existing loans (for principal up to 6 months, for interest up to 3 months); 2) Up to 36 months for 

principal/interest for newly granted loans.  

The interest conditions are determined according to the rules of the partner banks and they will reduce their 

standard interest rate by 0.8% before providing the funding. Because of the payment guarantee provided by BDB 

for 80% of the loan principals, the banks reduce their collateral requirements by 50%. Borrowers must pay to BDB 

a guarantee fee in amount determined by the EC in the applicable State Aid Temporary Framework (European 

Commission, 2021a, 2021b). 

As of 26.2.2021, portfolio guarantees have been agreed with 9 banks and amount to BGN 795 million (around 

406.5 million). The loans confirmed by BDB are over 1,330 with a total amount of BGN 174,562,362 (around 

EUR 89.2 million). The progress of the program for the last 14 days amounts to nearly BGN 10 million (EUR 5.1 

million). 

 

Guarantees from the Fund of Funds, providing loans for SMEs  

 

Order № 3 of 22.7.2015 of the Council of Ministers sets up a sole-owner joint-stock company with government 

interest called Fund Manager of Financial Instruments in Bulgaria (Fund of Funds). It is responsible for the 

implementation of financial instruments which are part of the support to Bulgaria from the European Structural 

and Investment Funds (ESIFs) through the operational programmes (OPs). 

The main activity of the Fund of Funds is structuring and management of financial instruments co-financed by the 

ESIFs. It manages funds in the amount of BGN 1.2 billion (around EUR 0.6 billion) under five OPs.  

The Fund of Funds has developed and structured different types of financial instruments according to their nature 

and aim – debt instruments and equity and quasi-equity instruments for OPs for which the company has a mandate 

(Fund of Funds, 2021a):  

(1) OP “Human Resources Development” – 2 financial instruments: Risk-sharing micro-finance 

(micro-lending) facility which is the first product launched on the market and First loss 

portfolio guarantees;  
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(2) OP “Innovation and Competitiveness” (OPIC) – 3 equity instruments for the 

Seed/Acceleration and Start-Up Fund (I, II and III), the Venture Capital Fund, the 

Mezzanine/Growth Fund and a new guarantee product to support SMEs affected by the 

COVID-19 crisis – First loss portfolio guarantees COVID-19;  

(3) OP “Regions in Growth” – debt instrument Urban Development Fund, incl. loans with built-

in guarantees – Nord, South and Sofia Urban Development Funds; 

(4) OP “Environment” – 2 financial products: loans and guarantees to operators and sewage 

systems and lending to the waste sector;  

(5) OP “Rural Development” – loans to businesses in rural areas. 

In response to the economic shocks following the pandemic, in 2020 Fund of Funds was aimed at renegotiating 

the conditions for eligibility of financial instruments and the realization on the market of a new guarantee product 

under OPIC – First loss portfolio guarantees COVID-19. This new guarantee product provides relief in collateral 

for SME loans in the amount of up to BGN 3 million (EUR 1.53 million). The total budget of this product is BGN 

158 million (around EUR 80.8 million). The funds have been redirected from the financial instrument “Financing 

of small business” and the transformed financial instrument “First loss portfolio guarantees for energy efficiency 

and innovation”. The purpose of the instrument is to facilitate companies’ access to loans for continued operations, 

including to meet liquidity needs and/or to overcome financial difficulties due to COVID-19 crisis (Fund Manager 

of Financial Instruments in Bulgaria JSC, 2020, p. ii). 

The guarantee product provides coverage of the credit risk of individual loans up to 80%, financed with public 

resources and implemented by Fund of Funds and 9 banks – financial intermediaries. This guarantee product 

provides extraordinary additional flexibility to companies in response to the unprecedented health crisis. 

 

Micro-loans for investment and working capital financing of self-employed and SMEs 

 

Fund of Funds offers a program with total budget of BGN 24 million (EUR 12.27 million) for providing micro-

loans for investment financing and new working capital needs. This is an existing program of Fund of Funds. The 

maximum amount is up to BGN 50,000 (around EUR 25,560), and the maturity is up to 10 years. What is specific 

is the long grace period – up to 24 months, low interest rates (below market rates) and significant collateral relief, 

even sometimes lack of need for security. Priority is given to enterprises created by vulnerable groups of people 

(people with disabilities, people up to 29 years, and unemployed for more than 6 months), and companies with no 

financial history. The purpose of this tool is to maintain employment by supporting small private businesses, incl. 

self-employed. The measure is available through First Investment Bank and two financial intermediaries 

(Dimitrov, Petrov & Co., Bulgarian Law Firm, 2020). 

 

New working capital and multi-purpose loans for medium-sized enterprises (portfolio guarantees from the 

European Investment Fund/JEREMIE), with the possibility of refinancing liabilities incurred not more 

than 60 days ago 

 

The budget of the product is BGN 160 million (EUR 81.8 million). It provides an opportunity through a network 

of banks to create a portfolio of new loans amounting to BGN 500 million (around EUR 255 million), reaching 

BGN 880 million (around EUR 449 million). Positive is the possibility to refinance liabilities incurred no more 

than 60 days ago. The maximum amount of guarantee/loan is up to BGN 3.6 million (around EUR 1.84 million) 

(Dimitrov, Petrov& Co., Bulgarian Law Firm, 2020). 

The Joint European Resources for Micro to Medium Enterprises (JEREMIE) initiative, set up in 2007 by the 

European Commission in co-operation with the EIB Group and other financial institutions to enhance cohesion 

across EU aims to facilitate access to finance for SMEs (EIF, 2021a). JEREMIE is a predecessor to the current 

ESIF-backed programmes managed by the European Investment Fund (EIF) under the 2014-2020 programming 

period. The EIF supports micro and SMEs by working with a wide range of funds, banks, guarantees and 

microfinance institutions across Europe (EIF, 2021b). 

JeremIE offers EU Member States the opportunity, through their national or regional managing authorities, to use 

part of the EU Structural Funds to finance SMEs with equity, loans or guarantees through a revolving holding fund 

acting as a core fund (fixed asset). JeremIE does not award any grants to SMEs. 

Enterprises wishing to use the program JeremIE for new working capital and multi-purpose loans, incl. for 

refinancing, need to apply to a chosen financial intermediary applying the scheme. JeremIE’s financial 

intermediaries are: United Bulgarian Bank (since February 2018 has taken over CIBank), Raiffeisenbank, 

UniCredit Bulbank, ProCredit Bank, Deutsche Leasing Bulgaria, Societe General Expressbank, Eurobank 

Bulgaria, DSK Bank, Piraeus Bank Bulgaria. 
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EQUITY INVESTMENT 

 

With regard to access to equity financing, Fund of Funds has created a measure for financing with a maximum 

amount of up to EUR 800,000 in form of equity and quasi-equity investments provided by four existing venture 

capital funds. The final beneficiaries are SMEs, with focus on start-ups and fast-growing companies active in key 

areas such as innovation, digitalization, bio- and nanotechnology, mechatronics, robotics, clean and information 

technology, pharmacy, fin-tech and more. The aim is to support innovative companies with high added value and 

the potential to help the economy recover quickly after the crisis. The total budget of the program is BGN 150 

million (around EUR 76.7 million).  

 

MEASURES TO FURTHER FACILITATE ACCESS TO FINANCE FOR SMES 

 

Specific measures that can be taken in order to increase the intensity of access to finance are examined by 

Andronova (2020). Based on a descriptive analysis and identified key problems for SMEs, the main risks to banks’ 

access to finance for SMEs and some suggestions for solving them are revealed: 

• Reducing the requirement for a minimum amount of own participation in projects/investment loans. 

At the moment the requirement is for 20 - 25% depending on the rating/scoring of the company. In 

the case of bridge financing (when it comes to financing projects that have won OPs), this 

requirement can be reduced to 10%, for example, or even less, so that beneficiaries can more easily 

meet the costs set under the grant agreement. To further minimize the risk of lack of sufficient amount 

of the entrepreneur’s commitment to the bank, guarantee mechanisms can be used, which are 

specially agreed for this purpose. 

• Financial risk, low operating profit and unsatisfactory levels of debt coverage, are risks that cannot 

be minimized through changes in the products that banks offer. Тhe option is to use a mechanism for 

risk-sharing between the creditor bank and the operational programme. If the full amount is provided 

in advance by the operational programme without the need to issue a bank guarantee to secure the 

payment, costs will be saved for the beneficiary. In addition, control over the spending of funds will 

be in the hands of the bank.  

• Low level of financial autonomy refers more to financial risks. It is possible to use guarantee 

instruments that include such a component. 

• The question of collateral arises in all types of loans, regardless of whether they are supported or not 

by guarantee instrument. Efforts during the current 2021-2027 programming period could be aimed 

at increasing the amount of the guaranteed principal on the loans. 

• Bad credit history – this motive should not be leading in case a regular credit history of the company 

or its owners/managers is proved in the last 6 months of 2020. Previous negative experience can be 

interpreted bilaterally – both as an incorrect payer and as a company with a bad experience on which 

to stand to improve its performance in its future business intentions. 

If the products/guarantee mechanisms are modeled according to the amount of loans requested, the mitigating 

conditions for the products/guarantee schemes are as follows: 

• In the amount of up to BGN 50,000 (EUR 25,564) – own participation and financial risk – level of 

indebtedness, liquidity ratio and operating profit; 

• In the amount of BGN 50,000 (EUR 25,564) to BGN 200,000 (EUR 102,258) – for these loans, in 

addition to the above reasons, the collateral is also included. The level of guarantee of the principal 

can be linked to the rating/scoring category of the client or the level of certain financial ratios; 

• In the amount of over BGN 200,000 (EUR 102,258) – again the same reasons, with the greatest 

weight being the financial risk. Motives such as high business and sectoral risk are emerging, which 

should be minimized through guarantee instruments if they concern priority sectors. 

In addition to the above-mentioned anti-crisis economic measures the National Recovery and Resilience Plan 

facilitates economic and social recovery from the crisis caused by COVID-19 pandemic. Bulgarian government 

has implemented a set of measures and reforms that will not only restore the potential for economic growth, but 

are also expected to lead to sustainable development lead to sustainable development. The Plan lays the 

foundations for a green and digital transformation of the economy, in the context of the ambitious goals of the 

European Green Deal. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

In 2020, SMEs faced a severe and unforeseen challenge. The analysis showed that in Bulgaria a number of anti-

crisis measures have been taken to support SMEs and to ensure access to finance. The key measures to address the 

economic consequences of COVID-19, which the analysis focuses on, are: the moratoria on loan repayments, 

preferential lending measures, the equity investments and the measures for further facilitating access to business 
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financing. However, it is clear that it is very difficult to find a balance between the severity of anti-epidemic 

measures and freedom in the economy. The government continues to actively support SMEs in 2021, when the 

third worst wave of the covid-19 crisis occurred in March. This support is the result of a clear understanding that 

fast financing is important for Bulgarian companies, as the support is provided in compliance with the regulations. 

The financial support provided by the state to SMEs, together with the funds redirected from the OPIC in favour 

of closed businesses due to the pandemic, brings our country closer to good European examples in terms of 

financial support relative to GDP. 

Our expectations are that the various anti-crisis measures taken in Bulgaria will make it possible to compensate 

SMEs, at least in part, for the adverse economic consequences of the pandemic. However, the fulfillment of these 

expectations can hardly be expected earlier than the second half of 2021 or 2022. 
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INCREASED OPPORTUNITY TO TRAVEL AS A MOTIVATOR FOR PURSUING A TEFL 

TEACHING CAREER IN CHINA  

Gabriella Berman1 and Adele Potgieter 2  

 

Abstract: 

Background. Individuals are placing a high worth on memorable, authentic experiences in a quest for pleasure and 

sensation and the phenomenon of increased worth being placed on experiences is especially relevant in the tourism 

industry. While the tourism industry in the country comprises of many niche tourism sectors, one which has 

recently emerged and become popular in China is TEFL tourism. A major motivator for potential TEFL teachers 

to teach abroad, such as in China, is the increased opportunity for the individual to travel. 

Research aims. The research aim of this study was to investigate the role of increased opportunity to travel as a 

motivator for pursuing a TEFL teaching career in china. 

Methodology. This study made use of a positivistic research paradigm and a descriptive research design. The 

sampling procedure utilised in this study was non-probability sampling and the technique used was convenience 

sampling. The target population comprised TEFL teachers who were teaching in China, with the final sample 

consisting of 379 respondents. To collect data, the method utilised was and online survey and the specific 

measuring instrument was a web-based self-administered questionnaire, distributed via a link on Facebook, 

WeChat, LinkedIn and Reddit groups that are specifically for TEFL teachers in China, and once the data was 

collected, both descriptive and inferential statistics were utilised to analyse and interpret the data.  

Findings. From the empirical data collected in this study, it was found that in general, respondents felt that the 

increased tourism opportunity had a positive influence on their overall experience of TEFL teaching in China 

 

Keywords: TEFL tourism; Travel; TEFL Teaching; China; Experience. 

 

INTRODUCTION  

  

In an age where people are inundated with material goods and economic offerings, individuals are placing a high 

worth on memorable, authentic experiences in a quest for pleasure and sensation Ketter (2018), Wagner (2015) 

and Zhong, Busser and Baloglu (2017). The phenomenon of increased worth being placed on experiences is 

especially relevant in the tourism industry, as declared by Kirillova, Letho and Cai (2017).  

  

GLOBAL TOURISM TRENDS  

 

The tourism industry has shown tremendous growth since the 1950’s, with an increase from 25 million global 

tourist arrivals in 1950 to 1.4 billion in 2018, a 56-fold increase (Roser 2017). In 2019, global tourist arrivals 

increased to 1.5 billion, which is a 4% increase from 2018 (UNWTO 2020; World Travel and Tourism Council 

2020). The increase shown in tourist arrivals between 2018 and 2019 equates to a 9.2 billion US dollar contribution 

to the global GDP, which was forecasted to grow by another 4% in 2020 (Statista 2019). However, as reported by 

Ali and Cobanoglu (2020), the latest statistics released indicate that due to the COVID-19 global pandemic, the 

global tourism industry may shrink by over 50%.  Lock (2020) proclaims that the global COVID-19 pandemic is 

not only a threat to the tourism industry for the foreseeable future, but for years to come (Travel Daily News 2020). 

This is due to the stringent travel restrictions put in place in an attempt to flatten the rate of infection and spread 

of COVID-19.  Lock (2020) further states that these restrictions will cause an estimated 17% decrease in the 

contribution of the travel and tourism industry towards the global GDP in 2020. Faus (2020) adds that a ripple 

effect of the decline of the tourism industry is the predicted loss of 50 million jobs around the world.    

One of the most predominant tourism industries globally belongs to China, with a record of 142 million inbound 

trips, 134 million outbound trips and 5.5 billion domestic trips in 2019 (Baatarsuren 2020; Thomala 2020). While 

the tourism industry in the country comprises of many niche tourism sectors, one which has recently emerged and 

become popular in China, according to Stainton (2018), is TEFL tourism.  

  

TEFL TOURISM IN CHINA  

 

Teaching English as a Foreign Language (TEFL) is defined by Bentley (2020a), Teach Away (2020a), Konig et al 

(2016), along with Yim and Ahn (2018), as the act of a native English-speaking teacher (NEST), teaching English 

to non-native English-speakers (NNES’s). The TEFL division of the teaching industry has seen an exponential 

growth globally since 2010, with a current estimated market value of $200 billion in 2020, with an estimated 500 
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000 foreign TEFL teachers working in China (Argo 2018; Maxwell 2019: The TEFL Academy 2020; Quinn 2019). 

While TEFL tourism has grown globally, one country which is known to have one of the highest demands for 

TEFL teachers is China (Bridge TEFL 2019; i-to-i 2020a; Jin & Jin 2020:1098; Kubik 2018; Smith 2020).  

TEFL tourism in China has arisen due to the needs of the education system in the country. As discussed by Li, Zhu 

and Lo (2019), China has a teaching force of 16.7 million teachers, all teaching different topics to different grades 

of learners. However, as Li et al (2019) and Xuehui (2018) further explain, even with such a large workforce, there 

is still a huge deficit of teachers, which has led to challenges with quality of the education provided to students. In 

an attempt to eliminate the deficit in teachers required, China explored the possible avenue of making use of 

substitute teachers, such as TEFL or ESL teachers (Xuehui 2018), and due to the success thereof, the industry grew 

rapidly (Gamlam 2016).   

Stainton (2018) elaborates in stating that TEFL tourism constitutes both educational and tourism factors and, as a 

result of the rapid growth in demand to learn the English language, an increasing demand for native 

Englishspeaking teachers (NESTs). This is magnified by the statistic of the demand for 100, 000 new teachers in 

2018, with 20, 000 new TEFL jobs being listed monthly (Francis 2018). Furthermore, Stainton (2019), as well as 

Stainton (2018), explains that the motivation for individuals to pursue a TEFL experience can be linked to the 

phenomenon of gap years, which is explained as a period of experiential learning, normally for a year, which is 

taken by youth after secondary school or before starting a career (Gap Year Association 2020).  Thomala (2020) 

attributes the choice of China as a destination for a gap year to the array of historic monuments and relics, the 

diverse culture observable and the economic hotspots. Baatarsuren (2020) additionally attributes the destination’s 

popularity to the vast amount of different landscapes and cultures one can experience in one country.  Bao, Chen 

and Jin (2018) opine that the unique political environment should also be considered an attraction. While Taleb-

Agha (2019) agrees with Bao et al (2018), it is highlighted that driving factors, which are specific to TEFL teachers, 

behind the motivation for selecting China as a destination for their experience, relate to the relatively high salaries 

and attractive added benefits, including free accommodation, airfare provisions, mandarin classes, as well as the 

rich culture boasted by the country. However, Xu and Reed (2016) argue that one factor which is acting as a 

deterrent for aspiring TEFL teachers to select China as the destination for their experience, is the level of pollution.   

While all these motivations may be true, Hello Teacher (2020), OpportunityChina (2020), Suba (2017), Thomas 

(2019) and Tiessen (2012) all insist that a major motivator for potential TEFL teachers to teach abroad, such as in 

China, is the increased opportunity for the individual to travel.  

  

INCREASED OPPORTUNITY TO TRAVEL  

  

As established by Christoff (2018), youth are willing to pay for experiences. Christoff (2018) supports Blanco, 

Fitzgerald, Jordan and Egido (2016), who recognise that since 2009, youth travel has seen immense development, 

and as found by Mohn (2018) and Rifai (2020), youth travel constitutes one of the fastest growth rates in the 

international tourism industry. Teaching English in a foreign country presents youth with the perfect opportunity 

to travel, through both living in a new country, as well as having the financial means to travel to other destinations 

at their leisure during their duration of employment (i-to-i 2020c). A notable benefit in pursuing a career as a TEFL 

teacher are the paid national Chinese holidays. A list of these holidays is presented in Table 1.  

  

Table 1: National Chinese Holidays  

Name of Holiday  Date of Holiday  

New Year  1ST January  

Chinese New Year  Three days in January or February - Dependent on the lunar calendar  

Qingming Festival  5th April  

May Day  1st May  

Dragon Boat Festival  One day in June – Dependent on the lunar calendar  

Mid-Autumn Festival  One day in September or October – Dependent on the lunar calendar  

National Day  1st October  

Source: Own construction based on Fercility (2020); Mitchell (2020)  

  

TEFL teachers, as with other forms of teaching, follow the school year and in China this means that there are two 

major school holidays, namely summer holiday (July and August) and winter holiday (January and February) 

(Fercility 2020; OpportunityChina 2017c). While these two holidays are generally not paid, many schools offer 

the TEFL teachers the option to continue working with their same monthly salary in the school’s holiday program; 

however, teachers often use these holidays as an opportunity to travel and experience more of China 

(OpportunityChina 2017c).    
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China is viewed as a prime location for aspiring TEFL teachers, with one reason being the efficiency and cost 

friendly access to travel (Carragher 2019a). While applicants from countries such as America, where international 

travel is affordable and accessible, will still enjoy the opportunity to travel (Kraska 2016), this is especially true 

for applicants from African countries, where international travel is deemed to be difficult (Steyn 2017).This can 

be attributed to the central location of China as well as to the advanced modes of transport which are available 

(ito-i 2020d). From the literature on the increased opportunity to travel, the following hypotheses was constructed.  

H1   There is a significant relationship between increased opportunity to travel and the overall experience of 

foreign TEFL teachers who are teaching in China.  

    

METHOD  

  

This study made use of a positivistic research paradigm and descriptive research design. The sampling procedure 

utilised was non-probability sampling and the specific technique used was convenience sampling. The sample used 

to collect the primary data for this study constituted 379 TEFL teachers who were teaching in China at the time of 

the study (response rate - 80.2%). To collect the primary data, a web-based self-administered questionnaire was 

used, which consisted of two 5-point Likert scale questions, relating to the increased opportunity to travel as well 

as on how positive or negative the respondent felt their overall experience of teaching TEFL in China was (1 

indicating “very negative” and 5 indicating “very positive”). A link to the questionnaire was posted on social media 

platforms, such as Facebook, WeChat, LinkedIn and Reddit groups that are specifically for TEFL teachers in 

China. The questionnaire was constructed from previously tested items, thereby ensuring content validity.   

The data collected was captured in an excel spreadsheet and then further edited and coded. For reporting purposes, 

answers of 1 (very negative) and 2 (negative) were grouped and answers of 4 (positive) and 5 (very positive) were 

grouped. An answer of 3 (neutral) indicated that the factor had no influence on the respondents’ overall experience 

of teaching TEFL in China. Both descriptive and inferential statistics were utilised to analyse and interpret the 

data, done through the use of SATISTICA. For the purpose of this study, ANOVA was conducted to compare the 

mean factor scores differences between groups of respondents to determine if statistically significant differences 

in opinions occurred. Hereafter, Tukey Post Hoc Test was calculated to identify where the significant difference 

occurred. Tukey tests was considered to have a statistically significant difference on p<0.05 and p < 0.10.  

Construct validity of the questionnaire was ensured though the use of Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA). 

Cronbach alpha coefficients along with inter-item relatedness were calculated for each of the remaining variables 

to measure their internal reliability. The factors constituting increased tourism opportunity presented a Cronbach 

alpha value of 0.83 and an average inter-item correlation of 0.44, indicating that there was consistency in the 

values. As a result of all the Cronbach Alpha value calculated for this study being above the cut-off rate of 0.7, the 

conclusion can be made, that the measuring instrument was reliable and valid (Nunnally 1978).  

  

RESULTS  

  

Of the 379 respondents, most were male (54%) and between the ages of 25 – 34 years (42%). A further 23% of 

respondents were between the ages of 35 – 44 years and 19% were between the ages of 18 – 24 years.  

From the data collected it was determined that 1% of respondents originated from African countries, 26% 

originated from American countries, 14% originated from European countries, 2% originated from Canadian 

provinces, 1% originated from Australasia. The remaining 26% of respondents originated from other countries, 

predominantly locations in Southern Asia, such as Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, India, Bangladesh, Philippines, 

Vietnam and Indonesia.  

Of the 379 respondents, 25% indicated that they work and reside in Beijing, 24% in Shanghai, 8% in Shenzhen, 

6% in Xi’an, 6% in Guangzhou, 4% in Hangzhou, 3% in Nanjing, 3% in Chengdu and 2% in Ningbo. The 

remaining 19% of respondents indicated that they work and reside in other cities, which included Asian cities and 

remote or online teaching.   

The majority of respondents (35%), indicated that they had 1 year or less experience as a TEFL teacher, and more 

than half of the respondents (73%) indicated that they had a bachelor’s degree or a higher degree in some field. 

Finally, 90% of respondents indicated that they had a 120-hour TEFL certificate, or some variation thereof.   

  

DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS 

 

On average, respondents felt that the increased tourism opportunity had a positive influence on their overall 

experience of TEFL teaching in China. The majority of respondents felt that living in China, the efficiency of 

travel and cost of travel all positively influenced their overall experience of teaching TEFL in China. These 
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findings lend support to the claim that TEFL presents youth with the perfect opportunity to travel, through both 

living in a new country, as well as having the financial means to travel to other destinations at their leisure during 

their duration of employment (i-to-i, 2020c). Furthermore, the statement by Carragher (2019a) that China is a 

sought-after destination for TEFL teachers due to the efficiency and cost friendly access to travel, attributed to the 

centrality of the country as well as the advanced modes of transport available (i-to-i 2020d), is also validated 

through the conclusion of this study relating to TEFL teachers in China having the opportunity to travel.  

Lastly, it was established that a large majority of respondents (83%) felt that their overall experience of being a  

TEFL teacher in China was positive.  

  

INFERENETIAL STATISTICS  

  

Inferential statistics were used to test the hypothesis of this study as well as the correlation of items. For the purpose 

of this study, Spearman’s correlation coefficient was utilised to identify correlations between the increased 

opportunity to travel and the overall experience of TEFL teaching in China. The correlation between the 

independent variable and dependent variable of this study are presented in Table 2.  

  

Table 2. Correlations between the variables of the study  

Variable  
Overall 

Experience  

Opportunity to 

Travel  

Overall Experience  1.00  .44*  

Opportunity to Travel    1.00  

* Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).  

For practical significance of the correlation;  

If correlation coefficient is  

<0.30: Weak correlation  

0.30-0.49: Moderate correlation  

0.50+: Strong correlation  

 

Source: own description based on research results.  

  

From Table 2, it can be seen that a moderate correlation of 0.44 exists between the increased tourism opportunity 

and the overall experience, supporting Hypothesis H1.  

In order to determine statistically significant differences between groups of respondents, ANOVAs were calculated 

and where significant differences were identified, Tukey Post Hoc Test was calculated. ANOVAs were calculated 

in order to determine the significant differences between country of origin and the number of years’ experience 

teaching TEFL.  

As determined by one-way ANOVA, there were statistically significant (p < 0.05) differences between group 

means for the opportunity to travel (F(5,373) = 3.38, p = 0.01) between country of origin. The results of the Tukey 

test calculated for the increased opportunity to travel and country of origin of the respondents indicates a 

statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) between African countries and American countries where p=0.00. As 

seen in the findings of this study, African respondents felt that the increased opportunity to travel had a more 

positive influence on their overall experience than indicated by American respondents. This could be due to the 

fact that international travel is deemed difficult from Africa (Steyn 2017), whereas international travel from 

America is seen as affordable and accessible (Kraska 2016), therefore African respondents may be more excited 

about the increased opportunity to travel that the experience of teaching TEFL in China presents than American 

respondents.   

Additionally, there were statistically significant (p < 0.05) differences between group means for the increased 

opportunity to travel (F(4,374) = 2.46, p = 0.05) between the number of years’ experience teaching TEFL as 

determined by one-way ANOVA. The results of the Tukey test calculated for the increased opportunity to travel 

and the number of years of experience teaching TEFL indicates a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) 

between respondents with 3 years of experience and those with 5 years or more experience, where p = 0.03. The 

statistically significant difference in answers between respondents who have 3 years of experience and those who 

have 5 years or more experience could be caused by the motivation for teaching TEFL. Many youths make use of 

the opportunity to teach TEFL in China as a gap year (Christoff 2018; Gap Year Association 2020; i-to-i 2020c; 

Stainton 2018; Stainton 2019), and will therefore want to explore the country, while respondents who have been 

teaching TEFL for a longer period of time are most likely pursuing TEFL as a career.  
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  

  

From the above literature on the increased opportunity to travel as a motivator for pursuing a TEFL teaching job 

in China, along with the specific finings of this study, the following recommendations have been made to both 

institutions who hire TEFL teachers as well as to aspiring TEFL teachers.   

Institutions can offer orientation programs to their foreign TEFL teachers, which could include sightseeing and 

recommendations on where to travel in their free time. Additionally, the institution could also include information 

on how to travel from China efficiently, including information on how to utilise local transport. Finally, a program 

could be developed for TEFL teachers, where the institutions who hire expatriate TEFL teachers partner with 

certain tourism sites that are popular, and offer to promote the site to their TEFL teachers in return for discounts 

for their TEFL teachers. This could be offered as a non-monetary benefit, thereby making the contract offer more 

competitive in the market.  

The potential TEFL teacher should establish what exactly their motivation for pursuing a TEFL job is, after which 

they can select and apply for jobs which will suit their identified motivation. Should the TEFL teacher be driven 

by the increased opportunity to travel, then they should conduct research on the different locations where they can 

teach TEFL in China, and base their decision on the centrality of the location as well as the cost effectiveness and 

efficiency of travel from the location. Additionally, it is advisable that if the main motivation for the applicant 

pursuing a career as a TEFL teacher in China is travel, they should try to apply to institutions that have branches 

in different areas or cities. Through securing a job at such an institution, the applicant could possibly apply to 

transfer between branches, allowing them to broaden their travel prospects. Finally, if the individual wants to travel 

further, it could be an option to teach via online or remote learning, thereby eliminating the need to be solidly 

based in one location and held to a fixed work schedule.   

  

SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS STUDY  

 

It was also established that there is only a very limited amount of research done on TEFL (Abdallah 2011; Jume 

2010; Keqiang 1986; Tok  2010). Therefore, the study addressed the lack of previous research on the overall 

experience of TEFL teachers in China with relation to the increased opportunity to travel as a motivator. 

Furthermore, this study adds to the field of tourism, specifically relating to TEFL tourism, through the use of a 

relatively large sample combined with advanced statistical analysis techniques. Finally, this study stimulates 

thinking and influences decision making amongst individuals wanting to experience teaching English in China, as 

well as those institutions who hire TEFL teachers. Following the above discussions, it is clear that the results of 

the study provide relevant, practical implementable recommendations for organisations regarding the experience 

of TEFL teaching in China.   

  

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE AREAS OF STUDY  

  

As this study focused specifically on TEFL teachers who work and reside within China, the limitation of this study 

is that the results cannot be generalised for TEFL teachers teaching outside of China. Therefore, it would be of 

interest to conduct a similar study on the experience of TEFL teaching in different countries, such as China versus 

Czech Republic or Russia. A further restriction is that the primary data of this study was collected during a global 

pandemic, and the results may therefore vary should the study be repeated at a time when there is no global 

pandemic.  
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METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR MEASURING HEALTH INFORMATION 

TECHNOLOGY IMPLEMENTATION BENEFITS 

Marina Trkman1 

 

Abstract: 

Digitalization of healthcare is of crucial importance. Both software vendors and medical services providers have 

a strong motivation to (over)invest in this field. However, IT innovation should not be brought to healthcare 

processes as just a cosmetic improvement but should bring measurable benefits. Thus we propose new 

methodological considerations for measuring the benefits associated with health information technology 

implementations. The primary goal of the proposed methodology is to increase transparency in the measurement 

of pre-defined benefits associated with the implementation of new technology in hospital processes. We 

demonstrate the use of this methodology in a case study evaluating the effects of implementation of electronic 

prescribing application in an English hospital. We conducted several interviews with a lead pharmacist, clinical 

pharmacists, technicians, and nurses. We conducted 306 hours of observation on the ward. We analysed the log 

files associated with the observed patients. We used the process mining tool Disco to understand the process based 

on real patient data. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The provision of quality hospital services depends on the efficient execution of processes (Rojas et al., 2016). 

Healthcare processes are a series of activities aimed to diagnose, treat and prevent diseases in order to improve a 

patient’s health (Rojas et al., 2016). Healthcare processes can be complex models due to variations of their 

operationalisation, which can be the result of resources used or of employees’ non-compliance with hospital 

policies (Mans et al., 2015).  

Process mining focuses on extracting knowledge from data generated and stored in the databases of hospital 

information systems (Van Der Aalst, 2011). An event log can be viewed as a set of traces, each containing all the 

activities executed for a particular process instance. However, the parts of a process that are not digitalised do not 

have any associated log data. When evaluating the performance of a hospital process, this is a problem since some 

relevant data for the analysis are missing. Some process activities are done manually, which means the data is not 

stored electronically (Homayounfar, 2012). Since data for evaluating performance can come from more than one 

source (Rojas et al., 2016), additional data can be gathered by observation. There is a lack of case studies that 

involve observation in the literature of process mining. 

When hospitals plan to improve the quality of their processes by adding a new application to their existing 

information system, they need to justify the investment by demonstrating the application’s expected benefits. One 

way to do that is by collecting performance data before and after implementation. This requires the careful planning 

of two data collections periods. Our paper presents methodological considerations for measuring the benefits 

newly implemented health information technology. The primary goal of the proposed methodology is to 

demonstrate a strategy hospitals can use to perform such an evaluation. 

We validated the methodology through a case study of an English hospital. Measurements were taken of 

performance on the acute and chronic ward for liver diseases by observing patient discharge process. Our 

preliminary analysis consists of the following main findings: when reporting efficiency results, it is crucial to 

communicate how the process is defined – the context of the timestamps being used. Our study contributes to the 

growing literature on analyses of hospital process efficiency.  

The paper continues as follows: in the background section, we discuss process mining in the healthcare setting, 

and proposed method section follows. In the research methodology section, we demonstrate the use of the 

methodology in a case study and uncover preliminary results. The discussion and conclusion sections outline our 

main findings and implications for future work. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The purpose of process mining is to increase an organisation’s performance (Rebuge and Ferreira, 2012) by 

extracting knowledge from data generated and stored in corporate information systems to analyse the efficiency 

and effectiveness of processes (Rojas et al., 2016). In the healthcare domain, process mining has been used 

extensively (Rojas et al., 2016). There are three main types of process mining: process discovery, conformance 

checking, and enhancement (Rojas et al., 2016). Process discovery is about extracting process models from event 

log data; conformance checking refers to monitoring deviations by comparing a given model with the event log; 

and enhancement refers to extending or improving an existing process model using the data generated during the 

actual process. 
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Homayounfar (2012) described the challenges of process mining in hospital information systems. First, the 

heterogeneity patient treatments results in highly complex health care processes. Second, hospital departments are 

highly specialised, making many healthcare processes multi-disciplinary. Third, ad-hoc actions happen often. 

Fourth, process activities that are done manually are not stored in any application’s log files, and therefore, data 

on them are missing. Fifth, data are held redundantly in different applications. In our paper, we focus on the fourth 

challenge, using observation to collect the missing data.  

The process of discharging patients from hospital wards is complex, requiring the coordination of multiple groups 

including physicians, nurses, ancillary service staff, patients, patients' families, and, in some settings, the 

finance/billing department (Abuzied et al., 2021). The discharge process starts when the clinical team approves 

the termination of an inpatient course of care (Hisham et al., 2020). Generally, the process involves the preparation 

of the Discharge Summary and bill settlement, after which, the patient can leave the hospital (Hisham et al., 2020). 

Delays in discharging patients are a long-standing challenge for hospitals (Maloney et al., 2007). When medication 

prescriptions for inpatients are done on paper, medication errors can occur. Consequently, many hospitals have 

implemented electronic prescribing applications to assure patient safety (Utami and Nadjib, 2019). 

Hospitals can explore process mining techniques when they plan to implement a new application to support 

selected processes. In this paper, we present a method for measuring the benefits of a new application in an existing 

hospital’s information system using a process mining tool by first measuring the hospital’s existing patient 

discharge process. Since the method is still in the initial implementation process, we provide a description of our 

work and limited results. We executed Steps 1-4 fully and Step 5 only partly. 

 

PROPOSED METHOD 

 

The proposed method’s goal is to suggest a strategy for measuring the benefits of a new application while focusing 

on efficiency measures of hospital processes. The proposed method consists of the following steps:  

 

Step 1: Define hospital processes 

 The new application can affect one or more hospital processes. The application will affect all activities of 

some processes and only some activities for others. It is important to understand which activities will be 

affected by the new application. 

Step 2: Define the processes’ outcomes and research questions 

 Researchers need to list the items representing effectiveness and/or efficiency of the process/activity and 

specifically detail how they plan to measure those items. They then need to formulate research questions 

related to the items being measured. 

Step 3: Describe the resources used to support the process 

 Researchers need to understand what means are needed for the outcome to be achieved. 

Step 4: Use an explicit protocol to collect data 

The protocol should include predetermined analysis plans. The analysts should write (and preferably 

publish) how they intend to analyse their data before the start of the experiment. This eliminates the 

temptation to retroactively define the one path that leads to significance and post-rationalise why that path 

made the most sense (Leek et al., 2017).  

Step 5: Interpret the process mining results 

 Use process mining tools and hospital representative with domain knowledge to interpret the data. 

 

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY: A CASE STUDY 

 

A hospital in England wanted to improve the quality of its patient discharge process. The hospital was using paper 

Drug Charts for both prescribing and managing the administration of patient medications. Discharge summaries, 

however, were created electronically. Consequently, prescribers (located at the wards) needed to transcribe a lot 

of patient information from paper Drug Chart to the electronic Discharge Summary, which was time consuming 

and increased the likelihood of medication errors. Clinical pharmacists (located in the hospital pharmacy) played 

a crucial role in detecting and resolving medication errors to protect patient safety.  

Our study focuses on the patient discharge process. We collected data through interviews, observation and log 

files. We interviewed nurses at an acute and chronic ward for liver diseases and clinical pharmacists in the 

hospital’s pharmacy. We spent two months making observations on the ward and in the pharmacy, focusing on 

patients who were discharged 
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Step 1 

In Step 1, we defined the patient discharge process model and relevant milestones for the evaluation. The patient 

discharge process starts at the ward’s morning round. The clinical team visits all patients; however, only a few are 

clinically fit to go home on any given day. The junior doctor is in charge of creating and signing off on the patient’s 

Discharge Summary. As the Discharge Summary has many sections, some sections are sometimes filled in before 

the day of discharge. Typically, a junior doctor leaves the clinical team during the round to finish the electronic 

Discharge Summary as early as possible. This process involves transcribing multiple areas of information from 

the patient’s Drug Chart. When the Discharge Summary is finished, the junior doctor or nurse sends the paper 

Drug Chart to the pharmacy in one of two ways: sending it by vacuum pods or giving it to a hospital runner, 

personnel whose main job is to transport documents/medicines between hospital units. In the pharmacy, the clerk 

acknowledges receipt of the paper Drug Chart by changing its status in the hospital’s application. The pharmacy 

clerk then gives the paper Drug Chart to a clinical pharmacist who screens the Drug Chart and Discharge Summary 

to identify and correct any medication errors. When finished, the pharmacists prints five copies of the Discharge 

Summary and gives the copies to the pharmacy technician team, who then dispense medications. The clinical 

pharmacist also gives a copy of the paper Drug Chart to the technician who sends it back to the ward as soon as 

possible, so it is available for patient’s next medication administration. Typically, a runner takes the Drug Charts 

to the ward. In the meanwhile, the pharmacy technician team prepares and packages the discharge medications 

and places the package on a shelf for a runner to pick up deliver to the ward. To speed up deliveries, nurses can 

run to the pharmacy and pick up the package themselves.  

Use of the new e-prescribing application will eliminate the two periods of transport between the ward and the 

pharmacy. It is also expected to decrease the time needed for junior doctors to edit the electronic Discharge 

Summary because they will be able to easily copy inpatient prescriptions to the Discharge Summary. Discharge 

medications will still be dispensed to patients using hospital’s existing medication management system, which (for 

the time being) will not be integrated with the new application. 

 

Step 2 

To reduce patient discharge times, doctors sometime begin writing their patients’ before the patients’ discharge 

day. The study is focused on an 

swering the following question: “Is patient discharge time affected by whether or not the Discharge Summary is 

partially completed before the day of discharge? We defined patient discharge time in several ways. Interestingly, 

each stakeholder in the patient discharge process can perceive patient discharge time differently.  

We use different timestamps as means of categorising patient discharge times. For example, for patients, discharge 

time starts with the notification that they are medically fit to leave the hospital (A in Table 1) and ends when they 

receive their discharge medications, Discharge Summary and further instructions (B in Table 1). For nurses, the 

process can be a bit different. After patients have been given their medications and documentation, they may still 

occupy beds until, for example, their transport arrives. After each patient leaves, the nurse prepares the bed for a 

new patient and sets the bed’s status to vacant (D in Table 1). The administrative start and end point of patient 

discharge can also be defined differently. For a patient to be discharged a Discharge Summary document must be 

completed. For administrative patient discharge time, we set the first time the document is edited as the start time 

(C in Table 1) and the time when the patient receives the discharge medication and documentation as the end time 

(B in Table 1). In Table 2, we propose specific definitions of patient discharge time. 

There is clearly no wrong or right definition of patient discharge time. The choice of timestamps depends on what 

we are interested in evaluating. If the objective is to measure patient satisfaction, we propose using the definition 

of patient discharge determined from the patient perspective (DT_patient in Table 2). The timestamps used to mark 

the start and endpoint for each definition need to be explicit to allow clear interpretation of the results. 

 

Table 1. Variables  

Timestamp/ 

variable 

Variable’s description Source of data 

A Timestamp when prescriber informed patient that he/she was medically fit to 

leave the hospital 

Observation 

on ward 

B Timestamp when nurse discharged the patient by giving him/her discharge 

medications and Discharge Summary 

Observation 

on ward 

C Timestamp when the first edit is made in any section of the Discharge 

Summary.  

Log files 

D Timestamp when a nurse changes the status of the discharged patient’s bed to 

vacant. 

Log files 
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Table 2. Different calculations of patient discharge time 

Calculation 

code 

Calculation description Calculation 

DT_patient Discharge time as perceived by the patient =B-A 

DT_admin Administrative patient discharge time =B-C 

DT_nurse Discharge time as perceived by nurse =D-A 

 

Step 3 

It is important to recognise characteristics of the environment under evaluation. Ward Mayflower has 23 beds and 

hosts patients with chronic and acute liver problems. On 99% of the days in the evaluation period, all beds in the 

ward were occupied. In total, the staff on the ward took care of 170 inpatients; in addition, there were 65 day-care 

patients on the ward and 73 inpatients placed on other wards. The last two patient groups were not included in the 

observations. Human resources associated with the ward are shown in Table 3. 

 

The following IT resources impact the patient discharge process:  

- An application supports the creation/sign off of the Discharge Summary by a junior doctor and the 

screening/printing of the document by a clinical pharmacist. 

- An application facilitates tracking the patient at different stages of discharge. Some statuses are given by 

nurses (e.g. bed vacant), and some are given by pharmacy staff. 

Table 3. Human resources on ward Mayflower in May and June 2018 

Location Resource Description of human resources in May and June 2018 

Ward 

Mayflower 

Prescribers There were two clinical teams, the acute and chronic teams, which performed 

morning rounds each day from Monday through Friday. At least two members 

of the acute team were present every day: a senior prescriber and a junior 

doctor. Both chronic team members were present only on Mondays and 

Wednesdays. On the other days, only a junior doctor attended.  

 Nurses Typically, three nurses and one head nurse were on duty at the ward. They 

worked in rotating 12-hour shifts, with a different nursing team on the ward 

each day.  

Hospital 

pharmacy 

Clinical 

pharmacists 

Typical working hours dedicated for screening were from 10:00 until 12:00; 

and from 16:00 until 17:00. We observed a team of two to six clinical 

pharmacist. 

 Pharmacy 

technicians 

Typical working hours dedicated for dispensing were from 8:00 until 20:00. 

We observed a team of three to ten individuals in the medication dispensing 

room. 

 Runners  Runners transported documents and medications between the wards and 

pharmacy the. At Mayflower ward, they were present three times per day, at 

approximately 10:00, 14:00 and 16:00.  

 

 

Step 4 

The audit evaluation protocol was approved in April 2018 by the hospital’s “Audit, assurance & effectiveness 

team”. To obtain data related to variables A and B, a researcher conducted observations at the ward over 36 

working days, Monday to Friday, in May and June of 2018. The researcher attended morning rounds and followed 

the two clinical teams. However, the researcher did not observe private interactions between the clinical team and 

the patient. The researcher made a timestamp note when the team left the bedside of each patient to be discharged 

that day, which was used as data for variable A. In the afternoons, the researcher sat in the hallway and observed 
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the nurses as they delivered discharge documentation and medications to patients. When the nurse left each patient, 

the researcher noted a timestamp for variable B. The hospital’s IT department collected data for variables C and 

D through retrospective searches of the log files for each observed patients in October 2018. 

 

Step 5 

We used the process mining application Disco by Fluxicon to gain an initial understanding of the data selected. 

Figure 1 shows all 106 patient discharge flows. The four milestones/variables occurred in five different sequences. 

Variation ABCD was executed with only 2 patients (1.89%), while ACDB with 3 (2.83%), CADB with 4 (3.77%), 

ACBD with 38 (35.85%), and finally CABD with 59 patients (55.66%). Based on this analysis, we created two 

groups of discharged patients: one of patients for whom the process started with variable C (Cxxx) and the other 

of those whose process started with variable A (Axxx). Figures 1 and 2 show that 63 patient discharges, labelled 

DT_patient, started with editing of the Discharge Summary (Cxxx). The patient discharge process most frequently 

started with editing of the Discharge Summary (C), followed by the patient being informed of their discharge (A), 

the patient leaving (B) and finally, the bed being registered as vacant (D). In contrast, the process started for the 

other group of 43 patients started with the patient being informed of their discharge (Axxx). We expect early 

editing of Discharge Summary to a positively affect discharge times. 

  

Figure 1: Frequencies Figure 2: Performance 

 

 

Table 4 reports average discharge times for the three different discharge time definitions: DT_patient, DT_admin 

and DT_nurse. For each of the three definitions, we made two additional groups to divided patients according to 

when the first edit to their Discharge Summary was made. Consequently, we have groups Axxx, Cxxx and the 

average.  

The average discharge time perceived by patients was 4 hours and 51 minutes. Average discharge time, as 

perceived by patient, was 46 minutes shorter for patients whose Discharge Summaries were first edited before the 

day of discharge (Cxxx) than for those whose Discharge Summaries were first edited on the day of discharge 

(Axxx). The former group of patients experienced a delay for 1 hour and 7 minutes. Therefore, from the patients’ 

perspective, early editing of the Discharge Summary had a positive impact on discharge time. 
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Table 4: Average discharge times 

 

Group N DT_ patient DT_ admin DT_nurse 

Axxx 43 5h 58min 4h 20min 6h 44min 

Cxxx 63 4h 05min 2days 20h 38min 5h 41min 

Average 106 4h 51min 1day 18h 33min 6h 07min 

 

The average administrative discharge time was 1 day, 18 hours and 33 minutes. The time is longer by this measure 

because the Discharge Summary’s first edit can be made days before discharge; theoretically, it could be made on 

the day of admission to the hospital. Since the first edit could be made at any time, the increased administrative 

discharged time associated with early editing of the Discharge Summary is unlikely to reflect an actual increase in 

administrative time spent on the discharge. 

The average discharge time for the 106 discharged patients as perceived by nurses was 6 hours and 7 minutes. 

Early editing of the Discharge Summary reduce the average time by 26 minutes, while starting editing it on the 

discharge day increased the time by 37 minutes. Therefore, from nurse’s point of view, it is beneficial for the junior 

doctor to begin the Discharge Summary before the day of discharge. 

 

DISCUSSION 

  

This paper demonstrates preliminary results of using the methodology for measuring the benefits of implementing 

a new application. We used process mining technique to analyse the efficiency of a healthcare process based on 

timestamp variables. We demonstrate Steps 1 to 4 in total, while Step 5 only partly by focusing on the analysis of 

as-is patient discharge process. The missing analysis of the to-be version of the process was not possible because 

the project using the methodology is still in progress. This paper reports the following lessons learned to date:  

 

1) The choice of start and end timestamp of a patient discharge time is crucial when interpreting the results. 

Each stakeholder in a hospital process, such as doctors, nurses and administration personnel, can perceive 

the start and the endpoint of a process in a different way. In our case study, we demonstrated how three 

different definitions of start and endpoint of a process give noticeably different results.  

2) The method raises the importance of the previously prepared protocol for data collection, which needs to 

be executed twice: firstly, on the hospital information system without the new application (as-is process), 

and secondly, on the hospital information system with the new application (to-be process). Note that the 

process with the new application is expected to be executed differently, so the timestamps need to be 

chosen carefully since they need to be measurable in both versions of the process. With the statistical 

analysis of the two measurements of the same outcome indicator, we hope to find significantly different 

results to show that the use of a new application is beneficial for the hospital.  

3) Our method can be used for measuring the efficiency of the as-is process alone. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Process mining helps with understanding how the process is executed while observing real patient data. Disco 

gives the overview and makes it easier to spot anomalies related to non-compliance to the hospital’s policies. In 

our paper, we raise the importance of having an explicit and detailed data collection protocol description to better 

understand to what extent the results can be generalised to the results of other wards while having in mind ward’s 

available resources. We prepared a protocol for data collection to be executed twice at the same ward while having 

no other changes on the list of ward’s resources but the new application. In our case study, we presented 

preliminary results of the first data collection related to the analysis of the patient discharge efficiency performance 

for the period of time before the implementation of new application (as-is process). Future analysis can be extended 

by adding new timestamps available in electronic health records’ log files which would enable more detailed 

analyses of activities within the discharge process. 
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QUANTIFYING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE FOOD INDUSTRY IN HUNGARY 

Timothy Yaw Acheampong 1 and Peace Osaerame Ogbebor2 

 

Abstract: 

The COVID-19 pandemic has wreaked havoc on all sectors of the global and local economies. It has been widely 

reported that the food industry has been one of most affected sectors of the economy. However, empirical studies 

are yet to quantify the extent of the impact of the industry and also how the various sub-sectors of the industry 

have been affected. Focusing on Hungary as a case study, this paper seeks to empirically quantify the extent of the 

pandemic’s impact on the food industry by answering the following question: How has the COVID-19 pandemic 

impacted businesses in the food industry? To answer this question the study employs descriptives, correlation 

analysis and paired samples t-test to analyse quarterly turnover data of 27 businesses sectors of the food industry 

for the period 2016 to 2020. The study finds no significant difference in the mean quarterly turnover of businesses 

during the first year of the pandemic and the previous year (t= -0.0344; df=107; p=0.731). However, a trend 

analysis revealed that over the past 5 years only the first year of the COVID-19 witnessed quarter-on-quarter 

reductions in turnover of enterprises in the food industry. The worse affected businesses were enterprises involved 

in the retail sale of beverages in specialized stores, event catering, restaurants and mobile food service activities. 

Our findings suggest that while the pandemic adversely affected some enterprises in the food industry, others 

flourished during the first year of the pandemic. 

 

Keywords: COVID-19 pandemic, food industry, turnover, food security, Hungary 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The food industry is arguably the single most important sector of the global economy. This is because, the food 

industry ensures that people have access to food, which is a human right as well as an essential basic need that all 

human beings require for survival (HLPE, 2020; Ryan & Deci, 2017). In recognition of this fact, the ILO et al. 

(2020) emphasised that guaranteeing the safety, better incomes, and protection of all agri-food workers in the food 

value chain from the primary producers to those involved in food processing, transport and retail, including street 

food vendors in every economy was very critical for saving lives and achieving food security during the COVID 

pandemic. Without the food industry, the human right to food and the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG4) to 

end hunger and ensure that all people have access to safe, nutritious and sufficient food all year round by 2030 

(UN, 2017; HLPE, 2020; FAO et al., 2020) would not be possible. Meanwhile, the COVID-19 pandemic which 

had claimed over 3.7 million lives globally as at 8th June 2020 (WHO, 2021), has also impacted the global economy 

affecting businesses in all sectors including the food industry thereby posing a threat to food security. 

According to FAO (2020), food markets faced many months of uncertainty as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The COVID-19 caused a global economic recession in 2020 with the IMF estimates indicating that the global 

economy contracted by 3.5 percent in 2020 (IMF, 2021). While most markets and sectors faced a major global 

economic downturn FAO (2020) that the agri-food sector was likely to display more resilience to the crisis 

compared to other sectors. Meanwhile, some studies also suggest that at the global level some aspects of the food 

industry such as restaurants and food services were among the hardest by the COVID-19 pandemic since 

businesses in this sector were forced to close down their face-to-face services to the public as part of measures to 

prevent the spread of the coronavirus (ILO, 2021). While it is obvious that the various locked down measures 

adopted to limit the spread of the pandemic has affected every sector of the economy including the food industry 

in one way or another, empirical studies are yet to quantify the extent of the impact. Using Hungary as a case 

study, this study seeks to answer the following questions: How has the COVID-19 pandemic impacted businesses 

in the food industry? Which sub-sectors of the Food Industry were most affected? 

To answer the research questions the study utilises trend analysis and paired samples t-test to analyse quarterly 

turnover data of businesses in 27 sub-sectors of the food industry for the last 5 years (2016-2020). The next section 

discusses the scope of the food industry and highlights some key features of the food industry in Hungary. This is 

followed by the data and statistical methods used in this study. The study concludes with key findings and 

recommendations. 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

The food industry is an indispensable component of every society and economy. The food industry has been 

defined as companies that produce, process, manufacture, sell, and serve foods, beverages, and dietary supplements 

(Nestle, 2013; Malagie, et al. 1998). According to Nestle (2013), the concept of the food industry encompasses 
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the entire collection of enterprises involved in the production and consumption of food and beverages. These 

enterprises include producers and processors of food crops and animals (agribusiness); companies that make and 

sell fertilizer, pesticides, seeds, and feed; those that provide machinery, labor, real estate, and financial services to 

farmers; and others that transport, store, distribute, export, process, and market foods after they leave the farm 

(Nestle, 2013; Malagie, et al. 1998). In addition, the food service sector which includes food carts, vending 

machines, restaurants, bars, fast-food outlets, schools, hospitals, prisons, and workplaces and associated suppliers 

of equipment and serving materials are all considered to be part of the food industry. 

In his book Food Politics Nestle (2013) points out that the food industry plays a major role in what people eat, the 

number of times people eat, the quantity of food people eats, and the places where people eat. Although, Nestle 

accuses the food industry of promoting unhealthy eating habits among the populace, the industry still plays a very 

critical role in the realisation of the human right to food and the global agenda to achieve food security by 2030 as 

promised by the SDGs. The FAO defines food security as a situation that exists when all people, at all times, have 

physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food 

preferences for an active and healthy life (FAO, 2001; HLPE, 2020). Without the food industry, there would be 

insufficient food for people to access. 

Figure 1: Players of the food industry 

 
Source: Authors’ construct 

 

Impact of shocks on the food industry 

Economic shocks have been found to have adverse effects on the food industry. The last time the world witnessed 

a shock that has caused as deep of recession as the COVID-19 pandemic was during the global financial crisis in 

2008–9, which was closely followed by another recession in 2011-12 (Jones & Sloman, 2017). Plunkett (2010) 

points out that the global financial crisis created vast new challenges for all parts of the food industry. As a result 

of the crisis, restaurant sales in developed countries dipped considerably as consumers cut back on discretionary 

purchases, resisted the consumption of luxury foods, and return to simpler, made-at-home meals. Plunkett further 

notes that many American restaurant firms were taken to bankruptcy whiles food supermarket chains also had to 

modify their merchandising to meet the needs of cost-conscious shoppers (Plunkett, 2010).  

Prior to the global financial crisis, Plunkett (2010) notes that the global agriculture sector enjoyed an intense five-

year boom in farm commodity prices until that turned to a bust in mid-2008 putting a serious damper on commodity 

prices and markets tumbled. It is possible that the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the food industry could 

have more dire consequences than the global financial crisis. For instance, FAO (2020) and HLPE (2020) have 

observed that food chains across the world were disrupted due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Across Europe and 

other parts of the world, consumers also engaged in panic buying, restaurants had to close to the public, whiles the 

preferences of some consumers shifted to canned foods due to uncertainty. All these changes impacted the food 

industry in one way or another especially considering that in recent times processed and packaged food industries 

have become much more globalized. 

In production economics theory, it is generally assumed that the primary objective of every firm is to maximise 

profits (Rasmussen, 2012). Therefore, empirical studies have used various measures related to profitability to 

assess the performance of firms. In the European Union, all member countries are required to main regular data 

on the performance of firms in accordance with the European Commission Regulation (EC) No 588/2001 of 26 

March 2001 implementing Council Regulation (EC) No 1165/98 (HCSO, 2007). The 3 main indicators used by 

EU countries for measuring the performance of firms are turnover, the volume of sales, and the volume of 

production (Eurostat, 2021). Prior to the EC Regulation No 588/2001, the Short Term Statistics Regulation 

(Council Regulation (EC) No 1165/98 of 19 May 1998) had already introduced a requirement for EU member 
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countries including Hungary to provide statistics on the turnover of services on a quarterly basis (Eurostat, 2008). 

The turnover of firms is defined as the sales value of all products, goods, materials and services, including price 

subsidies, registration and energy taxes, as well as excise duties, excluding value added tax (HCSO, 2007). 

According to the HCSO, the purchase value of goods and services resold, as well as indirect services are included 

in the calculation of turnover. 

Hungarian food industry 

Hungary is a landlocked country located in the Carpathian Basin in Central Europe. The country officially joined 

the European Union on May 1, 2004. Hungary is among 8 of the current 27 member countries of the EU that are 

yet to adopt the Euro as the official currency. The official currency of Hungary is the Hungarian Forint (HUF). As 

at 8th June, 2021 the country had officially recorded 806,008 and 29,770coronavirus cases and deaths respectively 

(WHO, 2021). After officially recording its first 2 cases on the 4th of March 2020, the government of Hungary 

introduced a special legal order state of danger on March 11, 2020 starting with bans on flights from Korea, China, 

Iran and Italy. Since then, the government has taken a wide range of measures to contain the COVID-19 outbreak 

which has impacted various sectors of the country's economy including agriculture and the food industry. 

Hungary’s agriculture sector has been increasing steadily since 2010 recording the fastest growth within the 

European Union between 2010 and 2018, from HUF 1,686 billion to HUF 2,720 billion at current prices (NAK, 

2019). In 2018, the production value of the food sector exceeded HUF 3,217 billion and provided for about 9.8 

million Hungarian consumers (NAK 2019). About 60% of food production is consumed locally while 40% is 

exported. In 2019, agriculture and the food industry accounted for a significant part of the economic growth surplus 

in Hungary with significant increases in Hungarian wages playing a major role leading to an expansion in 

consumption (FIT, 2020). Hungary is primarily a raw material producing country, with the two major pillars of 

the domestic agro-food economy being plant cultivation and animal husbandry, producing commodities like wheat, 

maize, rice, sunflower and other seeds, animal meat, milk, fruits and vegetables.  

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

Since the objective of the study was to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on businesses in the 

food industry, we focused on the performance of all the enterprises in the sector during the first year of the 

pandemic and the last 5 years prior to the pandemic (2016-2020). The turnover variable was adopted as the measure 

of firm performance since this is a standard measure in the EU and also the turnover gives an indication of the 

profitability of a firm for the reference period. We used quarterly turnover data measured in million HUF, 

seasonally and calendar effects adjusted for enterprises with more than 4 employees in the food industry. The 

enterprises were categorised into 27 sub-sectors within the food industry (See Appendix 1). The data was obtained 

from the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (HCSO, 2021). The Stringency Index obtained from Hale et al. 

(2021) was also used to capture the various lockdown measures adopted by the government. 

The data were analysed using various statistical techniques including descriptive statistics, Pearsons Product 

Moment Correlation analysis, and Paired Samples t-test. Each of the techniques was used to answer various aspects 

of the research questions. For instance, year-on-year as well as quarter-on-quarter changes in turnover of 

businesses were computed using the following equation: 

                                                                 ∆𝑇 =
100(𝑇2−𝑇1)

𝑇1
                                                                    (1) 

Where ∆T represents the change in turnover of businesses; T1 represents the turnover in the base period (previous 

year and previous quarter respectively); In the quarter-on-quarter analysis, T2 is the turnover for the current time 

period whereas in the year-on-year analysis T2 represents the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic (2020). These 

analyses were done to determine if there were any changes in turnover before and during the first year of the 

pandemic. These analyses were further disaggregated by the 27 sub-sectors of the food industry in order to 

determine if some sectors were more affected than others. In addition to investigating the changes, the t-tests were 

done to determine if there were any statistically significant changes in turnover before and during the first year of 

the pandemic. The correlation analysis was also used to investigate whether there was a relationship between the 

turnover of the enterprises and lockdown measures (Stringency index). The results of the various analyses are 

presented in the next section. 
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RESULTS 

 

Results of the paired samples t-test showed that there was no statistically significant difference in the mean 

quarterly turnover of businesses in the food industry in 2020 when compared the previous year before the onset of 

the COVID-19 pandemic (t= -0.0344; df=107; p=0.731). On a year-on-year basis the industry only experienced 

0.8% increase in turnover. 

Table 1: Paired samples t-test result 

Year Mean Turnover (Million HUF) df t Sig. (2-tailed) 

2019 62,272,789.09 107 -0.344 0.731 

2020 62,770,098.80       

Source: Authors’ calculations 

A trend analysis showed that, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the turnover of businesses in the Hungarian food 

industry trended upwards gradually on a quarterly basis. However, the trend in 2020 was unstable. There was a 

sharp decline in turnover during the second quarter of 2020. This was the only time the food industry recorded a 

quarter-on-quarter reduction in turnover over the 5 years that were analysed. This period coincided with the first 

wave of the pandemic when the country went into lockdown. However, in the third quarter, the turnover increased 

sharply when the lockdown measures were temporarily lifted but it declined again in the 4th quarter during the 

second wave of the pandemic when the country went into lockdown again (See Figure 2). 

Figure 2: Trend of turnover of enterprises in the Hungarian Food Industry 2016-2020 

 

Source: Authors’ calculations 

Pearsons Product Moment Correlation analysis results also indicate that there was no significant relationship 

between the lockdown measures and the quarterly turnover of the enterprises in the food industry. However, 

analysis of the year-on-year changes in turnover for the enterprises in the 27 sectors of the food industry revealed 

that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was asymmetrical within the industry. Whereas some enterprises 

experienced a recession during the first year of the pandemic, others also experienced a boom. For example, 

enterprises in the retail sale of beverages in specialised stores were the most adversely affected in the food industry 

during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic recording a year-on-year turnover loss of about 50% followed by 

enterprises involved in event catering activities and then restaurants and mobile food service activities (See Figure 

3). 
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Figure 3: Worse affected sectors within the food industry during the first year of COVID-19 

 
Source: Authors’ construct 

 

Whiles some enterprises in the food industry experienced a decline during the first year of the pandemic, 

enterprises involved in the processing and preserving of seafood recorded over 100% increases in turnover when 

compared to the previous year. Wholesalers of dairy products, eggs, edible oils, and fats as well as manufacturers 

of vegetables and animal oils were among those enterprises in the industry that experience turnover gains (See 

Figure 4) 

Figure 4: Enterprises that witness annual increase in turnover during first year of COVID-19 

 
Source: Authors’ construct 
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CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

The study finds that there was no significant difference in the mean quarterly turnover of businesses in the food 

industry during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic when compared to the previous year. However, over the 

past 5 years, it is only during 2020 the industry recorded quarter-on-quarter reductions in turnover. Our findings 

suggest that while some businesses were adversely affected by the pandemic others flourished during the first year 

of the pandemic as the impact of the pandemic was asymmetrical within the food industry. For example, the worse 

affected businesses were enterprises involved in the retail sale of beverages in specialized stores, event catering 

services, restaurants and mobile food service activities which recorded year-on-year turnover reductions of 51%, 

43% and 26% respectively. In the short term this this trend was like to drive up the prices of goods and services in 

the affected sectors since businesses typical pass on the cost burden on to consumers when they experience losses 

and this has implications for the achievement of food security. On the other hand, business involved in processing 

and preserving of fish, crustaceans and molluscs had a year-on-year gain of 125%. In spite of the adverse impacts 

of the COVID-19 pandemic on some enterprises within the food industry, the situation could have been worse if 

it had not been for government interventions such as the National Food Economy Crisis Management Program - 

Decree 25/2020, the establishment of a fund to support for enterprises in hard-hit economic sectors such as tourism 

and hospitality and Hungarian companies. This study focused only on the first year of the pandemic, it would be 

interesting to know how the sectors have performed since. In depth studies could also investigate the unique 

characteristics of each sector that determine their responsiveness and susceptibilities to shocks such as the COVID-

19 pandemic. 
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APPENDICES 

 

Appendix 1: List of 27 Sub-sectors of food industry analysed based on HCSO classifications 

 

 
 

 

 

 

No Sub-sectors of Food Industry

1 Processing and preserving of meat and production of meat products

2 Processing and preserving of fish, crustaceans and molluscs

3 Processing and preserving of fruit and vegetables

4 Manufacture of vegetable and animal oils and fats

5 Manufacture of dairy products

6 Manufacture of grain mill products, starches and starch products

7 Manufacture of bakery and farinaceous products

8 Manufacture of other food products

9 Manufacture of soft drinks; production of mineral waters and other bottled waters

10 Wholesale of fruit and vegetables

11 Wholesale of meat and meat products

12 Wholesale of dairy products, eggs and edible oils and fats

13 Wholesale of beverages

14 Wholesale of sugar and chocolate and sugar confectionery

15 Wholesale of coffee, tea, cocoa and spices

16 Wholesale of other food, including fish, crustaceans and molluscs

17 Non-specialised wholesale of food, beverages and tobacco

18 Retail sale of fruit and vegetables in specialised stores

19 Retail sale of meat and meat products in specialised stores

20 Retail sale of fish, crustaceans and molluscs in specialised stores

21 Retail sale of bread, cakes, flour confectionery and sugar confectionery in specialised stores

22 Retail sale of beverages in specialised stores

23 Other retail sale of food in specialised stores

24 Restaurants and mobile food service activities

25 Event catering activities

26 Other food service activities

27 Beverage serving activities

https://www.un.org/en/udhrbook/pdf/udhr_booklet_en_web.pdf
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Appendix 2: Results of Correlation Analysis between turnover of enterprises and COVID response measures 

 

 
Source: Author’s calculations 
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"BUSINESS PROGRAMMING" – CRITICAL FACTORS FROM ZERO TO PORTABLE 

GUI PROGRAMMING IN FOUR HOURS  

Rony G. Flatscher1 and Günter Müller 2 

 

Abstract: 

Teaching programming from scratch in a single semester such that in the end BA students become able to create 

GUI programs that run on Windows, MacOS, and Linux on their own appears to be impossible at first. However, 

over the course of twenty years such an endeavor has become successful at the WU, with 25,000 students one of 

the largest business administration Universities in Europe. The teaching load for the students is 200 hours (8 ECTS, 

European Credit Transfer System) of which 60 hours (4 hours per week, 15 weeks a semester) have to be attended 

in class. One critical success factor thereby is the programming language, another the goals that get defined for 

each installment of the syllabus, and finally, the pedagogical principles that have to be applied. This submission 

will give a bird eye’s view of these critical success factors such that they can be reasoned and discussed. 

 

Keywords: Software Engineering Education, End-user Software Engineering, Teaching goals, Teaching load, 

Pedagogical principles, Critical success factors, ooRexx, dynamic programming language, object-oriented, 

message based, open-source, multi-platform, Windows COM/OLE, MS Internet Explorer programming, MS Excel 

programming, Java bridge, camouflaging Java as ooRexx, GUI programming, socket programming, OpenOffice 

programming, LibreOffice programming, XML parsing SAX, XML parsing DOM, JavaFX. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Teaching fundamentals of programming at a Business and Economics university is aimed at empowering the 

students to become able to create programs that interact with end-user business tools like office packages. This 

way they acquire unique skills that enable them to perform in professional life. 

In 2021 the main operating system to address is MS Windows due to its market share in business organizations. 

However, for various reasons it would be beneficial, if skills would be taught that not only could be applied to 

Windows, but also to MacOS and Linux, thereby establishing the needed knowledge to create operating system 

independent programs.  

This article will present work that has been ongoing for more than 20 years to come up with two lectures that are 

successfully used to teach the fundamental programming skills to business administration students without any 

prior programming knowledge in a single semester.  

The article first introduces the formal structure of these two courses, the number of ECTS (“European Credit 

Transfer System”) and how they are deployed in a semester. The format will be discussed and some implications 

for the students and the lecturer. Subsequently the perceived success factors, programming language and teaching 

principles, get briefly presented 

 

FORMAL COURSE STRUCTURE 

 

Each of the two courses, entitled “Business Programming 1” and “Business Programming 2”, will have a teaching 

load of four “European Credit Transfer System (ECTS)” points. In Austria one ECTS translates to 25 net hours 

for the student. So for each of the two courses there is a teaching load of 100 hours available of which 

approximately 25 to 30 hours are “contact hours” in class. A four ECTS course therefore translates to a weekly 

two hours course and most of the work has to be conducted in form of homework assignments. In order to ease 

enrolling both courses for the students within one semester, each course is blocked for half a semester which means 

that the weekly contact hours are four hours instead of two hours. The second course will immediately start after 

the first one ends, using the same weekday and time as the first course, which makes sure that all students are able 

to continue with the second course as it does not interfere or overlap with other courses the students might be 

enrolled to. 

The students get homework assignments and have to complete them right before the next installment of the course, 

concluding it with a little programming project assignment to be presented in the final installment. 

It is very difficult for students to keep up their concentration during the four hours of weekly lectures, as they 

passively sit in the class room. The first break occurs after one and a half hour and lasts for 30 minutes (“time for 

two coffees”), followed by up to two additional short breaks of five minutes in the last two hours of an installment. 

This makes sure that the students can recuperate and that their circular flow reactivates them3. 

                                                 
1 University of Vienna, Austria 
2 University of Freiburg, Germany 
3 By contrast the lecturer usually moves constantly such that his concentration level and circular flow is kept at a high level at all times. 
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The weekly four contact hours of lecturing is meant as teaching as many new concepts as possible, explaining and 

demonstrating each of them in form of short nutshell examples and their output in detail, such that the students are 

able to fully understand them and relate to them to their homework assignments.  

Nevertheless, the wealth of information per installment is extremely high, such that it is to be expected that the 

students will forget some of the concepts, so it is very important that the slides are as self-explanatory as possible 

and that the students are forced to go through the slides on their own thereby repeating the new taught concepts. 

Sometimes it may be the case that students feel overwhelmed and overburdened and lose their conviction that they 

would be able to master the concepts well enough to pass the course. To avoid drop outs a simple trick is applied: 

no student will be on her or his own, rather they have to conduct their homework assignments in groups of two 

students. This was drawn as an experiment from the military rule, that soldiers who have to keep watch in the dark 

must not be left alone, because otherwise single soldiers become frightened and quite often would leave their posts 

unauthorized, which does not occur if keeping the watch is done in groups of at least two soldiers. The same seems 

to apply to these courses, students practically never drop out if organized in groups of two. 

 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS  

 

This section stresses some factors that have been perceived to be critical to the success of these two lectures in the 

course of constantly improving them from semester to semester over the past 20 years. 

 

Use an Easy to Learn Programming Language 

 

The most important success factor (# 1) is the choice of the programming language being used for an introductory 

programming courses. Such a programming language needs to be easy to learn and have therefore a simple syntax, 

yet implement the most important programming concepts, such that the students can learn to apply them quickly 

by experiment. Compiled languages usually have an exhaustive set of syntax rules (including case sensitiveness) 

that the compiler needs to check at compilation time to make sure that as many possible programming errors of 

humans can be caught. By contrast, interpreted, dynamically typed programming languages that are caseless have 

usually a reduced set of syntax rules and as a result can be learned much quicker.  

In the course of more than 30 years a couple of different languages were used, among them VB (Visual Basic) 

Script which has astonishingly complex syntax rules, causing a lot of time to be consumed while teaching. Using 

in one semester the IBM language REXX (Cowlishaw 1990) which was explicitly designed to be “human 

   -- a loop 
do i=1 to 99               -- loop 99 times 
   if i=1 then iterate     -- next loop, skip remaining body 
   if i=4 then leave       -- leave loop prematurely 
   say "hello #" i         -- says "hello # 2" and "hello # 3" 
end 
 
   -- demo arithmetics 
say "i="i "1/i="1/i        -- says "i=4 1/i=0.25" 
 
   -- demo sending a message to a string 
say "hi, there!"~reverse   -- says "!ereht ,ih" 
 
   -- demo use of a class 
say ".demo:" .demo         -- says ".demo: The DEMO class" 
o=.demo~new                -- create an instance 
say "o:" o                 -- says "o: a DEMO" 
o~name="BEE 2021"          -- assign value to attribute 
say "o~name:"    o~name    -- says "o~name: BEE 2021" 
say "o~reverse:" o~reverse -- says "o~reverse: 1202 EEB" 
 
   -- demo defining a class 
::class demo               -- defines the class DEMO 
::attribute name           -- defines an attribute NAME 
::method reverse           -- defines a  method REVERSE 
  return self~name~reverse -- returns the name reversed 

Figure 5: An ooRexx program 
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centered” and got ported from the mainframes to the PC world turned out to improve the success rates for the 

Business administration students to learn and apply programming considerably faster compared to COBOL, Pascal 

and VB Script. In addition, IBM had created an object-oriented successor “Object REXX” which later got open 

sourced by the non-profit special interest group “Rexx Language Association” in 2005 under the name “ooRexx”, 

“open object Rexx” (Flatscher 2013a).  

The REXX design principles did not change for ooRexx, such that it remained a “human-centered” language, 

which also has been kept small in the number of language constructs, built-in functions and built-in classes. One 

interesting aspect is its “message based” architecture drawn from Smalltalk: conceptually one codes in ooRexx by 

sending messages to objects which in turn resolves a method by the same name and invokes it, supplying any 

message arguments, and returns the result of the method to the sender. The notion thereby is that objects are like 

living things with which one communicates, which can be easily understood by the students. ooRexx employs an 

explicit message operator (the tilde) which is placed right next to the receiver object, followed by the message 

name and optionally a parenthesized argument list. 

Figure 1 depicts an example ooRexx program that demonstrates that its keyword instructions and message-based 

architecture can be easily understood, as they almost read like English pseudo code. 

The Windows version of ooRexx supports the building block technology COM (“Component Object Model”) and 

OLE (“Object Linking and Embedding”) built on it. The Windows COM/OLE classes can be addressed via the 

ooRexx proxy class OLEObject. Instances of OLEObject are proxy Windows objects to which programmers just 

send messages by the name of the Windows methods that need to be invoked on the Windows side, very much 

like the students already got used to with learning ooRexx.4  

Flatscher (2001, 2003, 2006a, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2014, 2015, 2018, 2019) developed a Java bridge for 

ooRexx (“BSF4ooRexx”) such that the message-based property of ooRexx can be applied in interacting with Java 

which effectively turns Java into a message-based, dynamically typed language from the perspective of ooRexx 

programmers! This makes it possible to teach students without any prior Java knowledge to exploit Java classes 

and interact with Java objects because they can treat Java as if it was the ooRexx message-based and dynamically 

typed language! They already know of classes and methods, and relating Java fields with ooRexx attributes is quite 

simple as well for them.  

 

Pareto Principle 

 

Teaching students without prior programming skills object-oriented programming and empowering them in the 

end to create applications in a platform independent manner in one semester using two courses seems to be 

impossible. However, if one analyzes what concepts are of fundamental importance and must be taught it follows 

that there are many interesting concepts that may not be as important and could be left out, thereby saving a lot of 

teaching time. The Pareto principle in this context (critical success factor # 2) would then allow to teach students 

80% of the most important concepts in 20% of the time compared to teaching 100% (the remaining 20% would 

impose an effort of 80% which may be justified in the case where a certain programming language needs to be 

taught in all details). 

 

Humboldt’s Ideal  

 

Teaching is sometimes an art where picking the concepts and creating pedagogical paths that ease digesting and 

understanding them. One can never be sure whether a lecture unit is already perfect or could still get improved. In 

addition new scientific developments may cause the adding of new concepts to existing lectures, which pose the 

same basic question: are the pedagogical concepts and materials good enough to be taught to the students in a 

manner, that allows them to quickly and efficiently learn them? Applying constantly the Humboldt’s ideal (critical 

success factor # 3), observing how the students manage new concepts, observing what problems they get and why, 

and if necessary, create new paths to ease the understanding of those new concepts5 and retest them in the next 

installment of a course, will over time allow to constantly improve the course contents.  

 

No Student Is Left Alone 

 

Another critical success factor is creating groups of two students (critical success factor # 4) who together have to 

carry out their homework assignments and the final project together. In the case that there are students with prior 

programming skills, then mix them such that each gets a student as his or her team member who cannot program 

                                                 
4 The implementation of the OLE support takes advantage of the unknown mechanism which allows a Rexx class to intercept unknown 

messages (messages for which no method could be found in the ooRexx class hierarchy) and forward them appropriately marshalled to 
Windows instead. 
5 The Java bridge BSF4ooRexx has been developed applying the Humboldt’s ideal over a course of almost 20 years, which in the end has 

created the surprising effect that students became able to interact with Java without any need of learning the Java programming language itself. 
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at all. In this case the student with the prior programming knowledge will take on the role of a “buddy tutor” at 

least initially as long as known concepts get taught. One psychological effect of building groups of two is the 

desire of group members not to desert the companion and as a result stay enrolled in the class even if a student 

feels overcharged at times. 

Also note that increasing the group beyond two students may increase the phenomenon of “submarine” students 

who do not participate in the group’s work at all, but rather abuse the solidarity of the other students in the group 

who do not reveal such loafers, if the local culture scorns betrayal. 

 

Searching the Internet 

 

In today’s world solving programming problems usually is most efficiently done by searching the Internet first 

(critical success factor # 5). It can be expected that many coding problems have been posted and solved on the 

Internet already such that looking for solutions there first most likely saves a lot of time and effort on the 

programmer’s side. In addition, students may take advantage of tutorials in all media forms, from Internet articles 

to Youtube online videos, becoming able to learn about new concepts on their own.  

 

Nutshell Examples with Output 

 

Making it as easy as possible for students to learn a programming language, nutshell examples (critical success 

factor # 6) are of paramount importance. “Nutshells” are very short programs that stress a single concept and can 

be executed as is. Supplying the output of such nutshells allows the students to relate to the effects (“seeing is 

better than believing”) without personally executing them. 

 

Weekly Coding Assignments 

 

The students have to create two short programs6 that each employ one of the new concepts learned in class (critical 

success factor # 7). For beginners this can be already quite challenging, causing a lot of effort (timewise, but also 

intellectually) which at the same time serves as constant training. The assignments have to be carried out in groups 

together, such that one student becomes able to help the other in case of problems.  

 

Concluding Project Assignment 

 

During the courses the students become able to master the concepts of each installment from date to date, however, 

they usually do not realize how much knowledge and how many skills they have acquired during the course. To 

make them realize this, a concluding project assignment takes place (critical success factor # 8): the students have 

to come up with three project ideas in the penultimate installment, where they need to interact with three Windows 

programs (or Java class libraries in the second course). One of the three project ideas gets picked and the group 

has to code that project for the last installment where the chosen project gets presented and the solution gets 

demonstrated. The result of this last assignment is usually that the students become excited and motivated as they 

have experienced that their efforts have yielded problem solution skills that were unforeseen for them at the 

beginning of the course. 

 

BRIEF DESCRIPTIONS OF BUSINESS PROGRAMMING 1 AND BUSINESS PROGRAMMING 2 

 

This section describes very briefly the concepts that get taught in each of the two consecutive, blocked courses. 

This will allow the reader to assess the large scope that can be taught successfully if the critical success factors get 

applied to each lecture and each installment. 

 

Business Programming 1 (BP1) 

 

The purpose is to teach the students the fundamentals of object oriented programming and have them apply their 

acquired skills to programming the Windows shell and Windows applications using OLE. The syllabus for the 

spring semester 2021 is given in Flatscher 2021a, the slides going with this class in Flatscher 2021b.
7
  

                                                 
6 Demanding short programs is important because in the case of students with prior programming knowledge the danger arises that they create 

large, complex programs that frustrate the newcomers who barely can understand them due to missing out the necessary out-of-class acquired 
knowledge of such “monster” programs. In addition even competitions who is able to create the most impressive program were observed 

among groups with prior programming skills over time, frustrating the newcomers even more. 
7 The forerunner syllabus got documented more than 20 years ago (Flatscher 1999). 
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1) Installment # 1, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to relate the students to the programming language ooRexx, its history, its “human-centered” design 

which eases learning it. The content is taught slowly step by step introducing the programming concepts of 

statement, block comment, line comment, symbol, variables, block, comparisons (yielding Boolean values), 

branch, loop.  

2) Installment # 2, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to make the students understand the need and concept of routines. This incurs the concepts jump 

label, internal routines, scopes, functions with return values, built-in-functions, external functions (from function 

libraries) and associative arrays (“stem” variables). 

3) Installment # 3, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to introduce the students to conditions (exceptions) and condition handlers, routine directive, 

requires directive, fetching arguments by reference.  

4) Installment # 4, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to introduce the students to the fundamental object-oriented programming concepts, ADT (abstract 

data type), class (synonym: type), attribute, method, message, cascading messages, creating instances (synonym: 

values, objects), multithreading, garbage collector. Note, the multithreading concept is not taught in a manner that 

the students could apply it at this point in time, rather it is meant to make them aware that such a concept exists, 

what it means, learning thereby that ooRexx would implement inter-object and intra-object multithreading.  

5) Installment # 5, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to introduce the students to the concepts class hierarchy, inheritance, multiple inheritance, 

fundamental classes, collection classes and iterator class. This includes many nutshell examples that demonstrate 

the different introduced classes such that the students become able to create programs on their own for their 

homework assignments, thereby experimenting with some of these classes. 

6) Installment # 6, 4 Hours  

This installment introduces the students first to the history of the fundamental Windows programming 

infrastructures COM (component object model) and OLE (object linking and embedding), GUID, UUID, the 

Windows registry, registry hives, CLSID, ProgId, Monikers, such that they can develop a bird eye’s view of the 

OLE programming model. This is followed by introducing the ooRexx OLEObject class which serves as the proxy 

class for Windows COM classes (Flatscher 2004). The acquired theoretical knowledge is immediately applied to 

the ooRexx OLE sample nutshell examples coming with the Windows version of ooRexx, which they need to 

study one by one and then create two small OLEObject programs on their own in their homework assignment. 

Among them are samples for interacting with MS Access, MS Excel and MS Word from ooRexx via OLE. 

7) Installment # 7, 4 Hours 

The students learn the fundamental concepts of SGML markup languages (element, attribute, content model) 

demonstrated with HTML (hypertext markup language), CSS (cascading style sheets), MS DHTML (“dynamic 

HTML”), MS Internet Explorer and interacting with and controlling it via OLE, navigating to web sites, fetching 

the documents and parsing them.  

To ease transcribing ooRexx OLE programs to VB (Visual Basic) Script and VB Script examples on the Internet 

to ooRexx the VB Script programming language gets introduced and compared to ooRexx. Nutshell examples 

show how the different concepts map to the other language, and in detail explain VB Scripts arguments by name 

as that notation is being used by macro recorders quite extensively. 

 

Business Programming 2 (BP2) 

 

The purpose is to teach the students operating system independent programming by exploiting Java which gets 

camouflaged as ooRexx with the help of the BSF4ooRexx Java bridge. The students will learn socket 

programming, GUI programming, OpenOffice/LibreOffice programming, XML parsing and JavaFX GUI 

programming for the most complex GUI needs in a portable manner. The syllabus for the spring semester 2021 is 

given in Flatscher 2021c, the slides going with this class in Flatscher 2021d.  
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1) Installment # 1, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to relate the students to the programming language Java, its history, its concepts and equivalence 

to ooRexx. The concepts taught are types, primitive types, classes, methods, fields, visibility, Javadocs, the 

BSF4ooRexx Java bridge, need of boxing primitive types, Java arrays, boxing ooRexx objects as Java objects.  

2) Installment # 2, 4 Hours 

This installment consists of two different contents: creating simple GUIs with the classes in the Java package 

java.awt, teaching the concepts of (event driven) callbacks and implementing Java interface classes with ooRexx 

classes, nutshells using ooRexx code exclusively (Flatscher 2013b). Acquiring this knowledge is fascinating and 

“fun” for the students as often can be seen by their homework assignment code.  

The second part introduces socket programming starting out with the concepts developed for telephony originally 

(switchboard, plugs, patch cords) and then turning to the concepts Internet address, socket, server socket. This part 

concludes with the introduction of SSL (secure socket layer) and a nutshell demonstrating it as well. 

3) Installment # 3, 4 Hours  

This installment introduces the history of OpenOffice and LibreOffice, its UNO (universal network object) 

architecture, its type system, its Java based scripting framework that allows the BSF4ooRexx Java bridge to be put 

to use and even make ooRexx available as a macro language for these open source, platform independent office 

packages (Flatscher 2005a, 2005b, 2006b). The students learn how to program the word processor module 

(“swriter”), the spreadsheet module (“scalc”) and the presentation module (“simpress”) such that their ooRexx 

programs run unchanged on Windows, MacOS and Linux from within or outside of these office packages. 

4) Installment # 4, 4 Hours 

In a business world that marks up many vital text data with XML it becomes important to be able to process XML 

files. The students learn the fundamentals of XML markup languages and the two most important techniques for 

processing XML marked up data: SAX (simple API for XML) and DOM (document object model). The nutshell 

examples for SAX (Flatscher 2013c) and DOM (Flatscher 2013d) both achieve the same results, such that the 

students can easily assess the programming differences among the two techniques.  

5) Installment # 5, 4 Hours 

The purpose is to teach the students the Java scripting framework architecture (Java package “javax.script”) which 

Java programs may use to host and execute scripts/macros. They get introduced to the BSF4ooRexx 

RexxScriptEngine implementation, which allows ooRexx to be deployed via the Java scripting framework by 

merely denoting “rexx” as the desired scripting language.  

6) Installment # 6, 4 Hours 

The students learn the fundamentals of JavaFX, JavaFX properties, FXML, the JavaFX SceneEditor, and the 

architecture that one needs to adhere to (Flatscher 2017). As JavaFX supports the Java scripting framework it 

becomes possible to implement controllers for FXML files in ooRexx, and in the end even create stand-alone 

ooRexx programs that take advantage of all of what JavaFX offers without a need to write any Java code. 

7) Installment # 7, 4 Hours 

This installment will teach the setting up of Java environments if external Java class libraries (and starting with 

Java 9 external Java modules) need to be made available to Java. Optionally, if interest is warranted by students 

the concepts of .Net get taught as BSF4ooRexx, exploiting a Java bridge to .Net, makes it fully available to the 

ooRexx programmer very much like OLEObject the OLE interface. 

 

ROUNDUP AND OUTLOOK 

 

This article aims to communicate the critical success factors that play a role for teaching platform independent, 

object-oriented programming to Business administration students at WU in one semester. The changes with regard 

to previous teaching methods have been shown and a descriptive evaluation performed during class . This has been 

done by assessing the teaching load, the knowledge and the skills they acquired. Graduates of these courses may 

come back for Bachelor theses that deal with creating information systems that help their parental companies or 

companies they actually work for. In any case the result is that Business administration students appreciate the 

skills and personal experiences that will empower them to guide software engineering project groups 
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INFLUENCE OF INDUSTRY-SPECIFIC EMPLOYEE PERSONAL BRANDING AND 

HIERARCHICAL POSITION ON THE MANAGEMENT OF CORPORATE REPUTATION 

Adele Potgieter1 and Marianne Doubell2  

 

Abstract: 

In any organisation, employees are fundamental to the establishment of  a reputable corporate reputation. As a 

result, managers should prioritise the attraction and retention of skilled employees whose personal brand is aligned 

to the corporate reputation of the organisation. Employees’ personal brand influences how they are viewed by 

others and could therefore have a direct impact on the corporate reputation of an organisation. Managers should 

also be aware of variances in personal branding related to specific industries and the hierarchical position an 

employee occupies. 

Purpose: This study focussed on empirically evaluating possible employee personal brand differences based on 

two factors, namely hierarchical position in the organisation, and the industry sector. The study further examined  

in which industries employees are more likely to be influenced by a strong corporate reputation. 

Results: This study was quantitative in nature and employed an exploratory approach, as more information was 

required regarding the phenomenon of personal branding.  The data collection tool employed was a computer-

aided self-administered web-based questionnaire. The results of 312 respondents from eight different industries 

indicated that.the most statistically significant difference in personal brand based on hierarchical position was 

between consultants and administration staff. For industry specific differences, elements of a personal brand such 

as the importance to be recognised by someone, uniqueness, being a specialist, always ensuring that the corporate 

image is portrayed, and a personal identity was most significant between the Banking and Insurance industry and 

the Manufacturing and Retail industries. 

Conclusion: Organisations that ignore the personal brand of a potential or current employee runs the risk of 

misalignment between the values, morals, and personality of the organisation and that of the individual. This 

misalignment could potentially lead to a high staff turnover, poor client service, an influence on the corporate 

identity and image and ultimately impact negatively on the corporate brand and reputation.  

 

Keywords: Employee personal branding; Industry variances; Hierarchical positions; Corporate reputation. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

In order to establish a reputable corporate reputation, management of an organisation should have a sound 

knowledge of the essential criteria for building a corporate reputation.  In many instances, managers see corporate 

reputation merely as a reflection of experiences of various stakeholders and underestimate the crucial part that all 

employees play in creating these experiences.  

Reputation-related relationships between organisations and employees have mainly been based on two schools of 

thought in the literature: Firstly, that corporate reputation affects how employees behave and perform (Budur & 

Demir 2019; Binz, Ferguson, Pieper, & Astrachan, 2017;González-Rodríguez, Martín-Samper, Köseoglu & 

Okumus 2019), and secondly, that employee behavior drives corporate reputation (Harris & De Schaarschmidt & 

Walsh 2018; Hasan & Yun 2017;Shirin & Kleyn 2017).  

Existing literatures on the influence of employees on reputation management have added valuable knowledge to 

understanding the influence of employees on reputation management, but also opened new research avenues. 

Whereas previous empirical studies have focussed on how employees can contribute to the establishment of 

corporate reputation, studies regarding the personal branding of employees have largely focussed on strategic 

personal branding (Khedler, 2014; Philbrick & Cleveland, 2015; Potgieter & Doubell, 2018; Rangarajan, Gelb, & 

Vandaveer, 2017) and the importance of personal branding in social media (Blaer, Frost, & Laing 2020; Johnson, 

2017; Karaduman 2013; VIȚELAR, 2019). However, empirical research that aim to associate an employee’s 

personal brand with corporate reputation is very limited (Potgieter & Doubell, 2020; Rangarajan, Gelb & 

Vandaveer, 2017) and mainly focusses on the influence of Chief Executive Officers’s (CEO’s) personal branding 

and corporate reputations (Bendisch, Larsen, & Trueman 2013; Cottan-Nir & Lehman-Wilzig, 2018; Fetscherin, 

2015).  

The aim of this study is to provide insight into how employees across various industries and hierarchical levels in 

organisations perceive their own personal brands as employees. In addition, there are differences in how various 

industries perceive the importance of their employees. Boukis, Kaminakis, Papastathopoulos, Punjaisri & Balmer 

(2019) and Van Nguyen, Lu, Hill, & Conduit (2019) agree with Punjaisri and Wilson (2011) that emotional and 

functional values of service brands are delivered through personal interaction between the employee and the 
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customer, and argue that service brand success can only be appreciated if the employees are participatory in 

demonstrating positive attitudes and behaviour towards the organisation. 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

The following paragraphs provide a brief overview of the variables of the study namely corporate reputation 

management, personal branding, industry specific branding and hierarchical position in the organisation. 

 

Corporate reputation management 

 

Reddiar, Kleyn and Abbratt (2012) posit that the foundation of a corporate reputation is nestled in the 

organisation’s leadership and people. It can therefore be said that the reputation associated with an individual in 

the organisation is a perceived extension of the organisation’s corporate reputation. Employees are essential to the 

success of corporate reputation management and management needs to understand their role in delivering it. When 

management allows employees to focus their efforts on areas where their personal beliefs and values dovetail to 

that of the organisation, the organisation stands to benefit from the energy of powerful brand ambassadors 

(Khodadad Hosseini, Mirzaei, & Hematinezhad, 2017; Pearce, 2015). 

Social Identity Theory postulates that, individuals attempt to sustain or increase their own self-esteem through 

identifying with a specific group of people with whom they share the same values and attributes (Hogg, 2020; 

Scheepers, & Ellemers, 2019). Internal and external stakeholders identify with an organisation alike, based on its 

core values and identity, it is therefore essential for organisations to employ people whose values, strengths, morals 

and personal traits align with that of the organisation. 

 

Personal branding 

 

The establishment of a personal brand is important for the employee, but equally important for the organisation 

that becomes the employer. During the building of a personal brand, individuals align their values, strengths and 

weaknesses, morals, and personal traits to establish how they will react in certain situations. This information is 

‘packaged’ and labelled as a personal brand (Kucharska, 2019; Rampersad, 2015; Vallas, & Christin, 2018). 

Philbrick & Cleveland (2015:182) apply the definition of personal branding in the work environment as “the 

combination of personal attributes, values, drivers, strengths, and passions you draw from that differentiates your 

unique promise of value from your peers, and helps those assessing you to determine if they should hire you or do 

business with you”. Any misalignment between the employees’ brand package content and the organisation’s 

brand values, objectives, policies, culture, can result in the employee behaving differently to the expectations of 

the organisation.  

The emotional connections that stakeholders make with employees are moulded through formal and informal 

interactions with customers when delivering the brand promise of an organisation (Bitbol-Saba & Dambrin, 2019; 

Nolan & Garavan, 2019). The importance of first impressions made by customers, is crucial to organisations. First 

impressions are, however, not restricted to conclusions about lasting dispositions, but also include an evaluative 

component as a result of the positive or negative values assigned to an individual’s characteristics (Kuzmanovic, 

Bente, Von Cramon, Schilbach, Tittgemeyer, & Vogeley, 2012; Kucharska, 2019). Kuzmanovic et al. (2012) 

declare that ideologies, knowledge, and an organisation’s values are not only created and transferred through what 

people write and say, but also through their behaviour, their gestures, how they look and what they wear, indirectly 

referring to the personal branding of an individual. 

The degree to which the personal communication and appearance of the employee is in line with the identity of 

the organisation’s brand is referred to as brand-congruent behaviour (Boukis, et al, 2017; Van Nguyen, et al, 2019). 

How employees, therefore, portray themselves, visually, verbally, and non-verbally through various mediums 

(including social media), has the potential to influence how customers and other stakeholders perceive the 

organisation and create the brand image and brand reputation. The initial contact made with the individual may in 

many cases leave a greater impression on the customers and other stakeholders than the brand the organisation 

wishes to communicate (Lecoeuvre, Turner, & Kuppelwieser, 2021; Thomas, Louise, & Vipinkumar, 2018) Yet, 

it would seem as if the personal brand required for employees in various industries and various positions within 

the industries might be categorised.  

 

Industry-specific branding 

 

Various industries require different personal characteristics of employees. Within the finance industry, trust and 

honesty are valued extremely highly as personal characteristics that stakeholders require from individuals. Forbes 

Finance Council (2017) as well as Peskin (n.d) assert that individuals who stretch the truth in their personal brand, 

might in fact harm their image as trust, authenticity, credibility, honesty, attention to detail and compliance to rules 
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and regulations are highly valued attributes in the finance industry. Phibbs (2020) claim that within the retail 

industry, clients value characteristics of employees that include trust, thorough understanding of their client’s 

needs and wants and the focus on service delivery rather than focus on the individual deciding factors in purchase 

behaviour. Customers tend to follow good salespeople and managers when they move between organisations as a 

result of displaying these kinds of behaviour.  

Delves (2014) provided some insight into personal branding of employees in the Public sector and claim that it is 

more important to understand where the employee fits in in the broader organisation, than to determine how their 

style and work ethic differ from that of their colleagues. Delves (2014) recommends that employees in this sector 

should ensure that their personal brand aligns with the brand image of the organisation and if they want to be seen 

as creative, employees should not dress like a banker, affirming that within the finance industry employees are not 

expected to be creative, but rather to focus on attention and detail as eluded to by Peskin (n.d). Blaer, Frost and 

Laing (2020) state that it is difficult for employees in the hotel and food industry to build an authentic personal 

brand that will be preferred, as stakeholders (travellers and clients) in most cases respond to the destination or 

franchise brand rather than the individual brand of the employee. 

 

Hierarchical position in the organisation 

 

In the modern-day high-pressure work situations, the onus is on executives and CEO’s to inspire employees to 

action, demonstrate authenticity, get accurate, powerful messages across to all stakeholders and lead initiatives 

from ideation to implementation (Getui, 2018). It is therefore not surprising that Weber Shandwick, leading global 

public relations firm, estimates that in today's digital economy, 44% of a company's market value is attributed to 

CEO reputation. Managers in the study of Rangarajan, Gelb and Vandaveer (2017) indicated that their personal 

brands were based on cross cultural awareness, strong strategic thinking and that the main aim of their personal 

brands were to be distinctive and memorable.  

Coleman and Company (2021) assert that skills and personal brand characteristics of administrative staff ideally 

include the ability to support more than one individual, the ability to handle multiple projects seamlessly and 

gracefully, the ability to provide outstanding service and to multitask between projects, and adaptability. The focus 

of administrative staff’s personal brands would therefore not necessarily be influential, but rather be unique to 

requirements for a supportive role. 

 

METHODS  

 

This study was quantitative in nature and employed an exploratory approach, as more information was required 

regarding the phenomenon of personal branding. The study was conducted at 40 organisations in the Top500 

companies (Top500) in South Africa and included all five companies within the eight industries in the Top500 

companies.  

The data collection method utilised was a survey. The data collection tool employed was a computer-aided self-

administered web-based questionnaire. The questionnaire included ordinal and nominal scaled questions to 

ascertain the degree to which respondents of the various companies agreed or disagreed with a series of statements. 

Five point Likert-type questions were utilised where the respondents’ answers ranged from 1 = strongly disagree 

to 5 = strongly agree. Section A contained the demographic details of the respondents. Section B contained 

previously tested items pertaining to personal branding developed by Lőhndorf and Diamantopoulos (2014); 

Strizhakova, Coulter and Price in Bearden, Netemeyer and Haws (2011) and Webb, Green and Brashear (2000) in 

Bearden, et al, (2011). Section C consisted of items regarding the importance of corporate reputation adapted from 

Ponzi, Fombrun & Gardberg, 2011; and Hannington (2004). 

Data was subjected to factor analysis using Principal Axis Factoring and orthogonal Varimax rotation. All KMO 

values for the variables are well above 0.7, indicating that the data is sufficient for EFA. Using the Eigenvalue cut 

off of 1.0, two factors explained 48.2% of the cumulative variance for employee’s personal branding. The first 

factor was renamed Uniqueness and included the elements of an authentic brand which included authenticity, 

consistency, relevance, visibility, authority, specialisation, integrity, goodwill, persistence, and personality. The 

second factor was renamed Goodwill and the items related to the values and various communication methods used 

by the individual. One factor explained 50.6 percent of the cumulative variance for corporate reputation. Post hoc 

tests (Tukey HDS test) were performed to identify significant differences between groups as ANOVA only 

indicates whether there are significant differences between three or more group means. Cohen’s d values were 

calculated to establish whether any practically significant differences between the various groups exist. 

 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

 

The following paragraphs discuss the descriptive and inferential statistical results of the study.  
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Descriptive statistics 

 

A total number of 312 usable questionnaires were utilised in this study. Results indicated that 17.9% of respondents 

have matric, 26% have a certificate or diploma, 23.4% have an honours or post-graduation diploma, 8.3% have a 

master’s degree, 1.3 % a doctoral degree and 2.2% some other qualification.  

Figure 1 indicates the various industries the respondents belonged to. 

Figure 1. Industries in which respondents were employed 

 

The following abbreviations are used in the discussion for the various industries: 

FI = Finance and Insurance Industry; Bank = Banking; Government = Government and Public Administration; 

Industry; Hotel = Hotel and Food Industry; Manuf = Manufacturing Industry, and Retail = Retail Industry.  

The majority of the respondents were employed in Hotel, followed closely by Bank, Government, Retail and 

Finance. Figure 2 indicates the various positions that respondents occupy in their respective organisations. 

Figure 2 Hierarchical positions in organisations 
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A large majority of respondents hold senior managerial positions, followed by administration staff, support staff 

and junior management; 3.8% indicated other positions and only 2.2 % of the respondents were self-employed.  

The items in the questionnaire regarding employee’s personal branding is divided into two sections. The first 

section contains items relating to the elements of personal branding which included relevance, visibility, the ability 

to speak with authority about a topic, distinctiveness or specialisation, integrity, persistence and personality and 

was named Uniqueness in the questionnaire. The second section on employee’s personal branding included items 

relating to the elements of an authentic personal brand and elements such as  personal communication mediums, 

goodwill towards their employer , personal appearance, attitude towards corporate dressing, their values in relation 

to that of the organisation, and the importance of their own reputation,  and was named Goodwill. The results of 

the descriptive statistics indicated the following: 

Uniqueness: The empirical finding that respondents pay attention to their personal appearance, supports the work 

of Boukis et al (2017) and Van Nguyen et al. (2019) that declare that successful personal branding brings about 

the management and control of perceptions that are used to evaluate an individual by influencing how other people 

see, understand, and think about a person).  

The respondent’s personal values match the values of their organisation’s corporate brand. This finding of the 

empirical study concurs with the definition of personal of Kucharska, (2019); Rampersad, (2015) and Vallas, & 

Christin, (2018) which state that personal branding is meaningful perceptions about the values and qualities of an 

individual where individuals align their values, strengths, weaknesses, morals and personal traits to establish how 

they will react in certain situations. This finding further emphasises that any misalignment of this ‘package’ of the 

individual and that of the organisation can result in the employee behaving differently to the expectations of the 

organisation and impacts on the formation of the identity of the organisation, the perceived image of the employee 

and the organisation.  

Respondents see themselves as specialists in a specific area and acknowledge that although their friends often seek 

advice from them, they continually work on improving themselves. These findings concur with identified 

individual elements of personal branding set in the method section. Respondents indicated that the employer of 

choice is important as it is a reflection of who individuals want to be associated with, as it influences their social 

status and reflects on their personalities.  

Goodwill: Respondents in the study acknowledge that they make statements regarding their organisations on social 

media and agree that they generally speak favourably about their organisations as it reflects on their personal 

interest. These findings support the claims by Blaer et al. (2020); Johnson, (2017) and VIȚELAR (2019) that many 

organisations encourage the use of a LinkedIn profile and other social media platforms to enhance the public image 

of the workplace to demonstrate ideal employee behaviour whilst simultaneously providing an instrument for 

employee monitoring  

The majority of respondents confirmed that they pay attention that their personal appearance is in line with the 

corporate brand, however nearly half of the respondents claimed that they do not want to wear corporate branded 

clothes. Respondents, in general, believe that their values match the values of the organisation and that their 

success equals the organisation’s success. Respondents are unsure whether their reputation or the organisation’s 

reputation matters the most. 

 

Inferential statistics 

 

Exploratory factor analysis was conducted to select a subset of variables from a larger set, based on which original 

variables have the highest correlation with the principal component factors. Additional Tukey test were conducted 

to establish whether the personal brand of employees in the various age groups would differ as the literature 

indicates that each individual’s personal brand differs. The results if the Tukey test for employee’s personal 

branding (PB1, uniqueness) and the various age groups is indicated in Table 1.  
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Table 1 Tukey test PB1 (Uniqueness) and the various age groups  

Tukey HSD test: Variable: PB1 (Uniqueness)   

  {1} {2} {3} {4} 

25 or younger {1}   0.81 (L) 
1.07 
(L) 

1.03 
(L) 

26-40 years {2} *0.00       

41-55 years {3} *0.00 0.27     

56+ years {4} *0.00 0.61 1.00   

Statistically significant at p<0.5 indicated  
by *         

 

The results indicate differences between all the groups. Statistically significant (p<0.05) relationships are indicated 

by an * There is large practical significance indicated by Cohen’s d between all the groups and these results 

emphasise that the personal brand of no individual in any age group is ever the same. Table 2 indicates the results 

of the Tukey test conducted between PB1 (Uniqueness) and the various industries.  

 

Table 2. PB1 (Uniqueness and the various industries) 

Tukey HSD test: Variable: PB1 (Uniqueness)         

  {1} {2} {3} {4} {5} {6} 

Finance & Insurance {1}       0.69 (M) 0.85 (L) 0.85 (L) 

Banking sector {2} 0.97   0.46 (S) 0.92 (L) 1.04 (L) 1.07 (L) 

Gov & Public Administration {3} 0.44 0.06**     0.41 (S)   

Hotel & Food services {4} 0.09** 0.01* 0.97       

Manufacturing {5} 0.00* 0.00* 0.09* 0.39     

Retail   {6} 0.01* 0.00* 0.45 0.88 0.97   

Statistically significant differences p<0.05 = *         

Statistically significant differences p<0.10 = **         

 

Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) (indicated by *) were evident between various groups. The largest 

statistical difference is observed between the employees in the Banking industry compared to the manufacturing 

and retail industries. Large practical significances, determined by Cohen’s D values and indicated by an L, were 

observed between the respondents in the Banking and Hotel and Food services; Banking and Manufacturing; 

Banking and Retail as well as Finance and Insurance and Retail.  

It is clear from Table 2 that the largest practical significance regarding Uniqueness was found between employees 

from the Banking Industry and the Hotel and Food, Manufacturing and Retail industries. These findings concur 

with the comments of Peskin (n.d), Forbes Finance Council (2017), Delves (2014) as well as Blaer et al (2020) 

that employees in different industries would focus more on certain elements of their personal brand that are 

required by the specific industry. The results of the t-test PB2 (Goodwill) and the various industries are presented 

in Table 3. 

 

Table 3 PB2 (Goodwill) and various industries 

Tukey HSD test; Variable: PB2 (Goodwill)         

  {1} {2} {3} {4} {5} {6} 

Finance & Insurance {1}     0.62 (M)   0.90 (L) 0.97 (L) 

Banking sector {2} 0.85   0.39 (S)   0.54 (M)   

Gov & Public Administration {3} 0.01* 0.09**         

Hotel & Food services {4} 0.79 1.00 0.10   0.78 (M)   

Manufacturing {5} 0.00* 0.04* 1.00 0.04*     

Retail   {6} 0.01* 0.16 1.00 0.19 0.99   

Statistically significant differences p<0.05 = *         

Statistically significant differences p<0.10 = **         



  

 

- 89 - 

 

The results indicate that Finance and insurance differ the most from Government and Public Administration and 

Retail with regards to the goodwill section of personal branding. Statistically significant (p<005) differences 

between the groups is indicated by * Finance and Manufacturing and Retail have the largest practical difference 

based on the Cohen’s D test. The results of the Tukey test PB1 (Uniqueness) and the various hierarchical positions 

in an organisation is displayed in Table 4. 

 

Table 4 PB1 (Uniqueness) and the various hierarchical positions in an organisation 

Tukey HSD test; Variable: PB1 

(Uniqueness)           

  {1} {2} {3} {4} {5} {6} {7} 

Consultant {1}     0.99 (L) 1.06 (L)       

Self-employed {2} 1.00             

Administration staff {3} 0.00* 0.25     

0.66 

(M) 0.92 (L)   

Support staff {4} 0.00* 0.34 1.00   

0.66 

(M) 0.93 (L)   

Jr management {5} 0.89 1.00 0.01* 0.01*       

Snr management {6} 1.00 1.00 0.00* 0.00* 0.88     

Other    {7} 1.00 1.00 0.15 0.24 1.00 1.00   

Statistically significant differences p<0.05 = *         

 

Table 4 indicates the greatest statistically significant difference of p<0.5 (indicated by*) between consultants and 

administration staff as well as Senior management and administration staff and support staff. The largest practical 

significant differences occurred between consultants and administration staff and support staff and between senior 

management and administration and support staff. 

The results indicated that for most consultants and management staff it is important that their social status be 

reflected by the organisation that they work for. This finding is congruent with the work of Rangarajan et al, (2017) 

that their personal brands are focussed on being distinctive and memorable. Management and consultants generally 

also attend more functions where their social status is reflected and are required to uphold the image of the 

organisation. Corporate dress codes and personal reputation of executives are often important as it reflect corporate 

and individual success and corporate reputations, confirming the work of Cottan-Nir & Lehman-Wilzig (2018) as 

well as Fetscherin, (2015). Van der Westhuizen (2020) probably provides the best explanation for when 

stakeholders start to notice the personal brand of an individual by stating that as an individual’s personal brand 

develops, people will start thinking about the person on an emotional level (as a brand), not simply an intellectual 

level (as a job title). 

Many administration and support staff admitted that they focus more on the actual content of their jobs and believe 

that their social status is reflected by it. These results are congruent with the work of Coleman and company (2021) 

regarding administration staff and the assumption that was made that the focus of administration staff’s personal 

brands would not necessary be to be seen as influential, but rather to be unique in a supportive role. Administration 

and support staff in addition indicated that they prefer to wear corporate branded clothes whilst consultants and 

management prefer to showcase their individual style and appearance.  

The results of the Tukey on corporate reputation and the various industries are indicated in Table 5. 

 

Table 5.Tukey on corporate reputation and the various industries 

Tukey HSD test: Variable: Corp_ 

Reputation              

  {1} {2} {3} {4} {5} {6} 

Finance & Insurance{1}     1.12 (L)   1.01 (L) 0.89 (L) 

Banking sector {2} 0.98   0.92 (L)   0.67 (M)   

Government & Public 

Administration {3} 0.00* 0.00*   0.83 (L)   0.63 (M) 

Hotel & Food services {4} 0.19 0.54 0.00*       

Manufacturing {5} 0.01* 0.01* 0.12 0.35     

Retail {6} 0.04* 0.17 0.00* 0.97 0.86   

Statistically significant differences 

p<0.05 = *             

Statistical significances (p<0.05) between industries is indicated *. The largest differences occurred between 

Finance and Insurance and Government; Banking and Government Finance and Hotel. 
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As demonstrated by the Cohen’s d result, the largest practical differences regarding corporate reputation existed 

between the following groups: Finance and Insurance Industry and Government and Public administration, 

Manufacturing and Retail industries. There was also a large practical significance between the Bank and Hotel and 

Food industries and Government and Public Administration Industry.  

It can be concluded that a strong corporate reputation influences the stakeholders in Finance and Insurance 

industries more than the other industries as stakeholders need assurance that their finances and insurance are well 

looked after by reputable organisations. Stakeholders also care more about the reputation of the Bank Industry 

than Government and Public Administration, as customers do not really have a choice regarding the products and 

services they utilise in the Government and Public Administration sectors, as is the case in Banking and Retail.  

 

CONCLUSION AND MANAGEMENT RECOMMENDATION 

 

Organisations that ignore the personal brand of a potential or current employee runs the risk of misalignment 

between the values, morals, personality of the organisation and the individual. This misalignment could potentially 

lead to a high staff turnover, poor client service, an influence on the corporate identity and image and ultimately 

impact negatively on the corporate brand and reputation.  

As the values, mission and vision of the organisation resonate with that of the prospective and current employees, 

these topics s should be clearly explained in the induction program of new employees, together with the brand 

promise of the organisation that the employees are expected to deliver. Current employees should be reminded on 

a regular basis of the brand promise. 

It is therefore recommended that each organisation should embark on a formal Corporate Reputation Management 

Program (CRMP). This should form part of the strategic planning sessions of senior management and should not 

be left to the device of junior employees. 
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THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL MARKETING STRATEGIES OF PRIVATE 

TERTIARY EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS (PTEIS) IN AN EMERGING MARKET  

Hein Prinsloo1 , Theuns Pelser 2  and F Jecheche 3 

 
Abstract: 

The main purpose of this research was to determine if internal marketing (IM) activities are fulfilling their intended 

purpose of creating customer centred employees. Such IM activities are designed to enhance employee productive 

behaviour (EPB). The target population of this study consisted of academic staff from the Private tertiary education 

institutions (PTEIs) in Gaborone, Botswana. The questionnaires were hand delivered to a sample size of 140 

respondents. The descriptive research method as well as the quantitative research approach was used in this study. 

Data was collected through a structured questionnaire, and analysed to compute factor analysis. The findings of 

this study show that the majority of the employees (96%) understood that the IM strategies motivate employees 

and was most importantly influenced the purposes of IM strategies. Two factors explained the ways management 

designed IM strategies: Management’s focus on the organizational goals and disregard for employees. The results 

of this study show that most of the employees (88%) believed that management unilaterally design IM strategies. 

Leadership and management of tertiary education institutions could apply the recommendations proposed by this 

study to create customer centred employees. In addition, recognizing the need for marketing faculty to make 

marketing knowledge creation and dissemination more relevant to education institutions. To accomplish this goal, 

more academic research can be targeted toward internal marketing for tertiary education institutions. 

 

Keywords: Internal marketing (IM); employee productive behaviour (EPB); private tertiary education institutions 

(PTEIs); service delivery. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Emerging markets are increasingly becoming integrated into the global economy and it is important to remember 

the sheer size and diversity of developing economies. Botswana, a landlocked country with a population of just 

over 2 million and bordered by South Africa to the south and southeast, Namibia to the west and north and 

Zimbabwe to the northeast, is one of the fastest-growing economies in the world.  

Botswana has 37 tertiary education institutions 24 of which are public and 13 are private. Many private tertiary 

education institutions (PTEIs) thrive through customer satisfaction and quality service delivery. Failure to deliver 

services to the expected customer satisfaction breeds a myriad of problems. PTEIs are facing serious competition 

from an increased number of competitors, reduced government spending on PTEIs, and the general decrease in 

the desire for tertiary education by potential students. As a result of these problems PTEIs are forced to apply 

appropriate internal marketing (IM) strategies. 

IM studies indicate it is highly correlated with creating employee satisfaction, loyalty and job satisfaction 

(Kanyurhi & Akonkwa, 2016). It seems PTEIs in Botswana are faced with a myriad of challenges including labour 

turnover, student strikes and transfers, constant intervention by regulatory authorities. Some of the challenges may 

be attributed to poor service delivery. IM is mandated to create customer centred employees who provide efficient 

and effective services to internal and external customers (Altarifi, 2014). 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Internal marketing is a business notion that has significantly evolved over years. It was first used by Berry and 

Parasuraman (1991), who ascribed the relevance of IM to service organisations, where employees were regarded 

as internal customers who are pivotal in delivering satisfaction to external customers. In its early stages IM was 

exclusively subscribed to service organisations, but nowadays it is embraced by all business sectors. IM is the 

activity of selling a business to its employees under the assertion and belief that extremely contented workers assist 

in creating a market-oriented and customer-centered corporation (Al-Hawary, Al-Qudah, Abutayeh, Abutayeh & 

Al-Zyadat, 2013). Internal marketing (IM) is a broad area of service marketing that advocates that employees are 

internal customers to the business. It strives to increase employee satisfaction.  

According to Nath and Mahajan (2008), IM produces employee productive energy and enthusiasm that is needed 

for external marketing. According to Sanchez-Hernandez and Grayson (2012) the successful implementation of 

IM practices is the starting point for external marketing preparation. Therefore, IM is a prerequisite for successful 

external marketing. According to Kotler, Keller, Ang, Tan and Leong (2017), marketing to the external customer 

entails the implementation of the relevant products, prices, places and promotions. When reaching out to the 
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external market, organisations prepare a marketing mix respective of target markets. Therefore, external marketing 

is about organisational efforts to serve customers. 

Kotler et al. (2017) argues that the quality of service and amount of sales and profits are increased by genuine 

customer-conscious employees, effective recruitment procedures, efficient reward systems and supportive 

management style in organisations. IM emphasises that staff training, motivation, empowerment and team work 

powerfully contribute to organizational performance and employee loyalty particularly in the achievement of 

customer satisfaction (Wilson, Zeithaml, Bitner & Gremler, 2012). Al-Hawary et al. (2013) indicate that IM 

promotes the involvement and empowerment of employees as well as client loyalty.  

Kotler et al. (2017) defines IM as an element of holistic marketing tasked with recruitment, selection, training, 

development and motivating employees to provide a good service to customers. Therefore, in order to create an 

excellent service culture a company should view its employees as internal customers, meet service standard 

expectations, and provide them with training and development. This will create employee satisfaction, involvement 

and commitment, and prioritise service delivery. According to Siddiqi and Zahoor (2016), IM has direct influence 

on job satisfaction. As a result, organisations undertake IM with the purpose of positively influencing employee 

job satisfaction. Job satisfaction in turn results in employee commitment (Siddiqi & Zahoor, 2016). 

According to Al-Hawary et al. (2013), IM involves the following activities: motivation, communication, 

empowerment, training and development. In addition, Chang & Chang (2007) specified five main elements of IM 

as: training, administrative support, internal and external communication, administrative support and human 

resources management and development. Wilson et al., (2012) identified the following key activities of IM: 

employee motivation and satisfaction, customer orientation and customer satisfaction, inter-functional co-

ordination and integration, and implementation of specific corporate or functional strategies. Shaw (2011) 

identified the following major components of IM: hiring, training and motivation of employees. Shaw further 

indicates that all marketing functions must be combined and be synchronized in relation to customer requirements.   

This research seeks to determine if the IM strategies adopted by private tertiary institutions in an emerging market 

like Botswana, are serving their intended purpose of creating customer centred employees who serve external 

customers with pride and ownership.  

In light of the mentioned guiding question, the following sub-research questions are asked by this study: 

• Are there any IM strategies in private tertiary institutions in Gaborone? 

• What are the specific purposes of IM strategies in PTEIs in Gaborone? 

• How do management create these IM strategies in PTEIs in Gaborone? 

• How do employees view the IM strategies in PTEIs in Gaborone? 

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

This study has adopted a philosophical post positivist approach because it aimed at identifying the effects of 

internal marketing strategies in creating customer conscious employees in private tertiary education institutions in 

Gaborone. In this research, explanatory research was used where the purpose is to identify any causal links between 

IM strategies effect on customer contact employees, to determine the IM strategies, to determine the specific 

purposes of the IM strategies, to determine how management design, the IM strategies and to determine how 

employees, view IM strategies in PTEIs in Gaborone. The population under study consisted of 430 academic staff 

from both new and old private colleges and universities in Gaborone. A single stage sampling procedure was used 

in this study to access names of the respondents of this study. The sample consisting of 140 respondents were 

conveniently selected using Fowler’s (2009:75) approach at a confidence level of 95% and margin of error of 0.05 

and at 50/50 the sample contained required characteristics (see Figure 1). Furthermore, a non-probability sampling 

technique of purposive sampling was used on academic staff of PTEIs in Gaborone to select the participants. 
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Figure 1. Sample and Population Size 

 

 

Data was collected using a self-administered questionnaire to employees of private tertiary education institutions 

in Botswana. The questionnaire was hand delivered to academic employees of PTEI randomly. The questionnaire 

consisted of two sections; Section A, requires respondents demographic data such as age and occupation; Section 

B addresses variables such as remuneration, communication and training.  

 

RESULTS 

 

A total of 140 questionnaires were distributed and 138 were returned giving a response rate of 98.6%. In this 

research the questionnaire had three multiple Likert question sections and the Cronbach’s alpha coefficient of 

0.861 shows that the questionnaire was internally consistent and reliable.  

 

Demographic Information 

 

Most of the respondents (63%) were males whilst the remainder (37%) was females. The majority (55%) of the 

employees were from the faculty of Commerce and Business whilst the second largest group (31.8%) were from 

Education. Others (10.9%) were from Applied Science; very few (1.5%) from Arts and Humanities; and the least 

(0.7%) from the faculty of Health. Data shows that 45.7% of the respondents had been employed in their 

organizations for 0 – 5 years; 36.2% for 6 – 10 years; 16.7% for 11 – 15 years; and 1.5% for 16 – 20 years.  The 

majority of the respondents (49.3%) originated from Africa as follows: Botswana (29.7%), Zimbabwe (27%), 

South Africa (10.1%), Nigeria (7%), Zambia (4%), Ghana (3%), Kenya (4%), Lesotho (1%), Congo (1%), 

Tanzania (2%) and Swaziland (0.3%). Whereas 10.9% originated from India. 73.9% of the respondents had 

graduated with a masters’ degree; 15.4% with a PhD; 7.7% a bachelor’s degree; and 3.1% with a technical 

qualification. The majority of the respondents (89.3%) had a masters’ degree qualification.  

 

FACTOR ANALYSIS 

 

Employees’ Perceptions of IM Strategies 

 

Most of the employees (96%) claimed to have a clear understanding of their job requirements during hiring and 

training. Also, the employees (75%) agreed that they had a clearly defined career path, whilst some of the 

employees (25%) disagreed with that. The results therefore indicate that the majority of employees had a clearly 

defined career path. In addition, almost half of the employees (54%) indicated that they had enabling resources to 

meet job requirements whilst 45% did not agree with that. Furthermore, most of the employees (64%) indicated 

that they had sufficient knowledge of rewards system whilst others (36%) did not agree with that. The majority of 

the employees (98%) agreed that they knew how rewards motivated employees, whilst only (2%) did not agree. 

Almost half of the respondents (51%) indicated that employees understood measurement methods of performance 

whilst the remainder (49%) did not agree with that.  In addition, most of employees (72%) indicated that the 

mission of their organisation was clearly articulated, whilst 28% disagreed.  
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However, most of the employees (81%) disagreed that the support they receive from management was adequate, 

whilst 20% agreed. This suggests that most of the employees did not understand the adequacy of the support they 

received from their management. Furthermore, a large majority of the employees (85%) confirmed thatthey 

understood that management had provided a safe working environment, whilst 15% did not agree. Eighty-eight 

percent of the respondents disagreed that the employees understood that there was trust between management and 

employees whilst only 12% agreed. These results show that to a greater extent most employees disagreed with the 

response that there was trust between management and employees. 

The results show that 76% of the employees disagreed that employees received timely information from 

management whilst 23% agreed with that. This suggests that majority of the employees did not receive timely 

information from management. In addition, 86% of the employees indicated that they did not have easy access to 

information and 13% thought otherwise. Results show that 83% of the employees disagreed with the fact that they 

were treated equally, whilst 16% agreed with that. In addition, 79% of the employees indicated that they worked 

as a team, whilst 20% disagreed. However, 81% disagreed that they resolved their differences quickly, and 18% 

agreed that all employees had their differences resolved quickly.  Furthermore, 77% of the respondents indicated 

that they valued work done by other employees, whilst 22.5% disagreed.  

 

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics of the employees on the perceptions on IM strategies with respect to hiring 

and training. The highest mean of 3.36 suggests that “All employees have a clear understanding of the job 

requirements” is the most important than other variables that influences hiring and firing. This suggests that only 

one factor contributes towards the employees’ perceptions on IM strategies in terms of hiring and firing. 

 

Table 1. Descriptive statistics: Hiring and training 

Descriptive Statistics 

Variables Mean Std. Deviation Analysis N 

All employees have a clear understanding of the job 

requirements 

3.3577 .57825 137 

All employees have a clearly defined career path 3.0730 .82814 137 

All employees have enabling resources to meet job 

requirements 

2.4818 1.00075 137 

All employees have sufficient knowledge  of reward system 2.6642 .62164 137 

 

Table 2 shows the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity on the 

perceptions on IM strategies with respect to hiring and training. The KMO measures the sampling sufficiency. For 

a satisfactory factor analysis to proceed, the KMO value of 0.5 is barely accepted Chetty & Goel (2015). In general, 

KMO value of 0.5 is hardly accepted, 0.7 to 0.8 is acceptable and above 0.9 is excellent (Chetty & Datt, 2015:15; 

Abdullah & Siddique, 2017:27). In Table 2, the KMO measure 0.732. The strength of variables’ relationship is 

indicated by the Bartlett’s test. A significance level less than 0.05 is good enough to reject the null hypothesis 

Chetty & Goel (2015). In Table 2, the significance level of Bartlett’s test indicates a value of (0.000) and is less 

than 0.05 therefore the null hypothesis is rejected.  

 

Table 2. KMO and Bartlett's Test: Hiring and training 

KMO and Bartlett's Test 

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy. .732 

Bartlett's Test of Sphericity 

Approx. Chi-Square 222.852 

Df 6 

Sig. .000 

 

Table 3 shows how much of the variance in the variables has been accounted for by the extracted factors.  Over 

78% of the variance in “All employees have a clearly defined career path” is accounted for, and 38% of the variance 

in “All employees have sufficient knowledge of reward system” is also accounted for. 

 

Table 3. Communalities: Hiring and training 

Communalities 

Variables Initial Extraction 

All employees have a clear understanding of the job requirements 1.000 .700 

All employees have a clearly defined career path 1.000 .785 

All employees have enabling resources to meet job requirements 1.000 .725 

All employees have sufficient knowledge  of reward system 1.000 .380 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 
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Table 4 shows all the factors extractable from the analysis along with their eigen values. The eigenvalue table is 

subdivided into three sections, namely, initial eigen values, extracted sums of squared loadings and rotation of 

sums of squared loadings. Extracted sums of squared loadings are significant in performing analysis and 

interpretation. Thus, the first factor accounts for 64.744% of the variance and the remaining factors are not 

significant. This means that only one factor contributes towards the employees’ perceptions on IM strategies in 

terms hiring and firing.  

 

Table 4. Total variance explained: Hiring and training 

Total Variance Explained 

Component Initial Eigenvalues Extraction sums of squared loadings 

Total % of Variance Cumulative % Total % of Variance Cumulative % 

1 2.590 64.744 64.744 2.590 64.744 64.744 

2 .786 19.647 84.392    

3 .379 9.483 93.874    

4 .245 6.126 100.000    

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

 

Table 5 shows the descriptive statistics of the employees on the perceptions on IM strategies with respect to 

motivation and rewards. The highest mean of 3.59 shown in Table 5 shows that “All employees know that rewards 

motivate” is the most important variable that influences motivation and rewards. 

 

Table 5. Descriptive statistics: Motivation and rewards 

 

Table 6 shows the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity on the 

perceptions on IM strategies with respect to motivation and rewards. Table 6 shows that the KMO measure of 0.53 

is closer to 0.5 and is barely accepted. From Table 6, the Bartlett’s Test of Sphericity is significant (0.000) and 

below 0.05. This means that the null hypothesis is rejected meaning that the correlation matrix is not an identity 

matrix. 

 

Table 6. KMO and Bartlett's test: Motivation and rewards 

KMO and Bartlett's Test 

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy. .534 

Bartlett's Test of Sphericity 

Approx. Chi-Square 104.476 

Df 3 

Sig. .000 

 

Table 7 shows the extracted communalities using the extraction method. Over 82% of the variance in “All 

employees know that rewards are systematic with performance” is accounted for, while 41% of the variance in 

“All employees understand measurement methods of performance” is also accounted for. 

 

Table 7. Communalities: Motivation and rewards 

Communalities 

Variables Initial Extraction 

All employees know that rewards motivate 1.000 .658 

All employees know that rewards are systematic with performance 1.000 .822 

All employees understand measurement methods of performance 1.000 .414 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

 

Descriptive Statistics 

Variables Mean Std. Deviation Analysis N 

All employees know that rewards motivate 3.5870 .53666 138 

All employees know that rewards are systematic with 

performance 

3.3696 .67355 138 

All employees understand measurement methods of 

performance 

2.5652 .71436 138 
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Table 8 shows the total variance explained considering motivation and rewards. The first factor accounts for 

63.107% of the variance and the remaining factors are not significant. This means that there is only one factor 

which contributes towards the employees’ perceptions on IM strategies considering motivation and rewards. 

 

Table 8. Total variance explained: Motivation and rewards 

Total Variance Explained 

Component Initial Eigen values Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings 

Total % of Variance Cumulative % Total % of Variance Cumulative % 

1 1.893 63.107 63.107 1.893 63.107 63.107 

2 .803 26.774 89.880    

3 .304 10.120 100.000    

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

 

Due to space limitations, only the rotated component matrixes will be discussed for the other variables from here 

on: 

 

Employees Perceptions on IM strategies: Management Support 

 

Table 9 shows that the following are substantially loaded on Factor (Component) 1: All employees understand that 

their work contributes to the achievement of the organisation’s aspirations; all employees understand that the vision 

is clearly articulated; all employees understand that the mission is clearly articulated; and all employees understand 

that management has provided a safe working environment. On the other hand, the following are substantially 

loaded on Factor 2: All employees understand that management support is adequate to carry out tasks; and all 

employees understand that there is trust between management and employees. These factors can be used as 

variables for further analysis. 

 

Table 9. Rotated Component matrix: Management support 

Rotated Component Matrixa 

Variables Component 

1 2 

All employees understand that their work contributes to the achievement of 

aspiration of the organisation 

.640 -.268 

All employees understand that the vision is clearly articulated .874 .279 

All employees understand that the mission is clearly articulated .885 .176 

All employees understand that management support is adequate to carry out 

tasks 

.189 .852 

All employees understand that management has provided a safe working 

environment 

.586 -.018 

All employees understand that there is trust between management and 

employees 

-.100 .880 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.a 

a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations. 

 

Employees Perceptions on IM Strategies: Communication 

 

Table 10 shows the rotated component matrix of the extracted components considering communication. The 

following are substantially loaded on Factor (Component) 1: All employees receive timely information from 

management; all employees have easy access to information; and all employees receive feedback on time. On the 

other hand, the following are substantially loaded on Factor 2: All employees regularly carry out meetings with 

management; and all employees are aware of their responsibilities. 
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Table 10. Rotated component matrix: Communication 

Rotated Component Matrixa 

Variables Component 

1 2 

All employees receive timely information from management .800 .245 

All employees have easy access to information .744 -.007 

All employees regularly carry out meetings with management .361 .676 

All employees receive feedback on time .802 -.070 

All employees are aware of their responsibilities -.193 .832 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.a 

a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations. 

 

Employees Perceptions on IM strategies: Horizontal Integration 

 

Table 11 shows the rotated component matrix of the extracted components considering horizontal integration. “All 

employees are treated equally”; and “All have their differences resolved quickly” are substantially loaded on Factor 

(Component) 1. On the other hand, “All employees work as a team” and “All employees work done by other 

employees” are substantially loaded on Factor 2.  

Table 11. Rotated component matrix: Horizontal integration 

Rotated Component Matrixa 

Variables Component 

1 2 

All employees are treated equally .831 .021 

All employees work as a team -.012 .850 

All employees have their differences resolved quickly .821 .155 

All employees value work done by other employees .198 .810 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.a 

a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations. 

 

Purposes of IM Strategies 

 

Ninety-six percent of the employees agreed that they understood that IM strategies motivated employees, whilst 

4% disagreed with that. This suggests that the majority of employees were motivated by IM activities. Ninety four 

percent (94%) of the employees indicated that they understood that IM strategies increased job satisfaction, whilst 

6% did not agree with that. Ninety five percent (95%) indicated that they understood that IM strategies lead to 

organisational commitment, whilst 4% disagreed. Furthermore, 81% of the employees agreed that IM strategies 

improved employees’ relationships whilst 19% disagreed. Ninety one percent (91%) of the employees agreed that 

they understood that IM strategies increased productivity, whilst 9% disagreed with that. Furthermore, 81% of the 

employees indicated that they understood that IM strategies created loyal employees, whilst 17% disagreed. 

Seventy-six percent (76%) of the employees agreed that they understood that IM strategies created an employee 

based culture, whilst 23% disagreed. This suggests that IM strategies created an employee based culture. 

Table 12 shows the component matrix of the extracted component considering internal marketing purposes and of 

the seven variables only one factor was extracted. 

 

Table 12. Component matrix: IM purposes 

Component Matrixa 

Variables Component 

1 

All employees understand that IM strategies motivate employees .598 

All employees understand that IM strategies increase job satisfaction .841 

All employees understand that IM strategies leads to organisational commitment .795 

All employees understand that IM strategies improve employee's relationships .828 

All employees understand that IM strategies increase productivity .814 

All employees understand that IM strategies create loyal employees .811 

All employees understand that IM strategies creates an employee based culture .786 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

a. 1 components extracted. 
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Management Ways of Designing IM Strategies 

 

Seventy-three percent of the employees agreed that when designing IM strategies management considered the 

goals of the organization, whilst 26% disagreed. Eighty-eight percent (88%) disagreed to the fact that when 

designing IM strategies management consulted employees, whilst 12% agreed. This to a large extent suggests that 

management rarely consults employees when designing IM strategies. Eighty-eight percent (88%) of the 

employees indicated that when designing IM strategies management decides on their own, whilst 11% disagreed. 

This show that majority of the employees believed that management decided on IM strategies on their own. 

  

Table 13 demonstrate that the following are substantially loaded on Factor (Component) 1: “All employees say 

management should consult employees when designing IM strategies”; and "All employees say management 

should decide on their own”. Furthermore, the following are substantially loaded on Factor (Component) 2: “All 

employees say management should consider the goals of the organization when designing IM strategies” and “All 

employees say management should the company's orientation towards employees”.  

 

Table 13 . Rotated component matrix: Management ways of designing IM strategies 

Rotated Component Matrixa 

Variables Component 

1 2 

When designing IM strategies, all employees say management consider the 

goals of the organization 

.057 .796 

When designing IM strategies, all employees say management consult 

employees 

.898 .110 

When designing IM strategies, all employees say management decide on 

their own 

-.898 -.111 

When designing IM strategies, all employees say management consider 

company's orientation towards employees 

.135 .748 

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. 

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.a 

a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations. 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

The findings show that successful hiring of employees is influenced by the standards of internal service. This 

confirms ELSamen and Alshurideh, (2012) observation that successful hiring of employees is highly dependent 

upon the internal standards of the organisation. The employees believed that understanding of job requirements 

was essential for one to be hired or fired from a given job. They also believed that IM strategies should obtain and 

retain the best workers who produced the best results for the organization (Eriksson, Hilmersson & Sjölander, 

2009). 

Motivation and rewards bring about competition as employees know that their work is supervised and paid for 

accordingly, and this brings about high standards of service (Eriksson et al., 2009). This aligns with the findings 

of this study where employees believed that they knew how rewards motivate. The findings also confirm ELSamen 

and Alshurideh’s (2012) observation that there is a positive association between worker motivation and reward 

and beliefs on standards of service. Results also showed that the employees understood that their work contributed 

to the achievement of the instututions aspirations and that it influenced management support. 

Effective internal communication has been found to be good for the success of an organization. ELSamen and 

Alshurideh (2012) indicate that good communication within an organization can be used by the management for 

smooth operations with better employee stability levels, and it helps to develop employee trust, respect and loyalty. 

However, employees in this study believed that communication is wanting because they received untimely 

information and did not have easy access to the information. 

Asif (2015) indicates that senior administration determines the major course of action on given organizational 

matters. Similarly, the findings of this study show that employees believed that the management decides on their 

own when designing IM strategies. IM involves the use of internal marketing tasks meant to motivate and integrate 

employees towards the efficient application of organizational strategies (Anosike & Ahmed, 2009:163). 

However, the findings of this study show that majority of the employees believed that IM strategies motivated 

employees and that horizontal integration could be explained in terms of their conduct. In addition, (Eriksson et 

al., 2009:126) indicate that the purpose of IM is to motivate the workers to attain high level standards of service 

taking the workers as internal customers.  

Research shows that management’s commitment to IM influences employee cooperation and builds the right 

employee productive behavior (Shaw, 2011:4). The findings of this study show that employees value each other 
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in the organization and that management support is important. Eriksson et al. (2009:126) indicate that IM is used 

by the management as a tool to bring about change in an organization. This corresponds to the findings of this 

research, which show that the employees believed that they were employed to fulfill the purposes of the IM 

strategies according to the desires of the management to meet organisational goals.  

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The IM strategies adopted by private tertiary institutions in Gaborone as an emerging market, are not effectively 

fulfilling their intended purpose of creating customer satisfaction. The study found that some challenges between 

the employees and the management need to be addressed for efficient service delivery and working relationships. 
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THE FACTORS INFLUENCING EASE OF DOING BUSINESS WITH DIGITAL TRADE IN 

COUNTRIES WITH STRICT EXCHANGE CONTROLS 

LJ Janse van Rensburg1 

 

Abstract:   

This paper considers the effect of exchange controls and other policy aspects on the ease of doing business within 

the digital trade category. In 1998 the International Monetary Fund identified that strict exchange and capital 

controls can complicate and add friction to international trade for developing countries (Tamirisa, 1998). Since the 

advent of the Internet in the 1990’s digital business models have revolutionized commerce and provided many 

opportunities for small business entrepreneurs in developed nations to trade internationally. This contributed to 

the rise and rapid growth of digital business models, and a new product category, namely intangible products. 

However, only recently had it been argued that the definition of products is revised to include intangible products 

(Hofacker and Goldsmith, 2020). Intangible products, such as information products and software has the advantage 

that it can be instantly delivered to the customer without supply chain friction after purchase as it is not confined 

to physical borders. Intangible products provide for the simplest means to enter foreign markets, provided that 

exchange controls do not limit trade. This paper makes use of a desk review to explore the various factors that 

influence the ease of doing business locally and internationally within the digital trade category. The researcher 

argues that entrepreneurs situated in countries with strict exchange controls may be limited to trade, both locally 

and internationally and may find it unaffordable or may simply be excluded from profiting and earning foreign 

exchange from foreign markets while facing competition from foreign markets. The researcher finally recommends 

that exchange controls in restricted economies be modernized and an enabling and fair digital trade environment 

be created to reduce friction in offering digital products to international clients. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Digital trade is defined as commerce in “products and services delivered via the internet” (Williamson et al., 2013). 

Economists at the U.S. Economic Statistics Administration describe ICT service exports as, “services that can be 

delivered almost instantaneously online at a relatively small cost” (Nicholson, 2016). This is unique from ICT 

goods, which require ‘physical delivery’. The Fourth Industrial Revolution, enabled by the preceding 

communication and information economy. Technology had significantly reduced the friction to communicate and 

connect with people and businesses internationally. Following this connectedness is the enabling of commerce 

between individuals and businesses that were formerly reserved to large corporates. Economists and trade 

proponents have too often ignored the very real impacts of the opening of borders and other traditional industries 

to global markets.  

However, we mustn't blindly apply historical lessons to industries of the future without consideration of the 

evidence. The internet industry in the U.S. enjoys a massive competitive advantage and is a driving force of the 

U.S. economy. Consequently, it produces a strong, positive trade balance for the U.S. and helps other industries 

thrive. America is the global internet and digital content leader and this leadership help create jobs (A Look at 

American Digital Exports, 2019). Save for the U.S. and other developed nations, it is very difficult to measure the 

size of the digital economy and therefore its value accurately, due to a lack of a universally accepted definition 

(United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2019, p. 49), and that digital goods can be produced 

outside of the ICT sector (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2019, p. 58) such as outsourcing 

of business operations and services being delivered remotely. The composition of these services is hard to measure 

from existing economic data (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2019, p. 65). It was however 

found that nearly half of digitally delivered services amounted to half of the global service exports with India, 

Canada, Europe and the U.S. experiencing that digitally delivered services amounting to the biggest share of their 

exported services (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2019, p. 66). 

In the U.S. small businesses and entrepreneurs use the internet to sell and export across the globe with little friction. 

Consequently, Internet-connected small businesses are three times as likely to export and create jobs, grow four 

times more quickly, and earn twice as much revenue per employee. An analysis of U.S. trade data indicates a 

strong positive correlation between digital trade and the economic welfare of a nation. The figures also show a 

positive correlation of digital imports and exports indicating the two are likely complementary, while higher tariff 

rates reduce digital trade, as expected (A Look at American Digital Exports, 2019). U.S. economic data indicates 

that the digital economy contributed more to economic growth than its share of GDP, which means that the digital 

economy is expanding rapidly (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2019, p. 69). 

In contrast, despite increased digitization within the majority of developing nations the share of the digital 

economy’s value-added in terms of GDP has declined (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 

2019, p. 52). While the department of trade and industry’s integrated national export strategy aims to develop 
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South Africa’s international competitiveness, the strategy identified various policies to be revised (Govender, 

2015), yet neglects to address policies related to financial transactions, especially exchange controls and banking 

regulations to reduce international financial trade friction. 

In an attempt to understand this phenomenon, it is necessary to analyse the inflows and outflows of financial 

transactions relating to non-tangible products. In the absence of disaggregated digital economic data within South 

Africa, digital remittance data is used in an attempt to demonstrate the flow of cross-border financial transactions 

relating to non-physical goods transactions (such as migrant labour). However, even remittance data is not 

accurate. In South Africa, remittance transactions are predicted to increase over time from a value of 240 million 

USD in 2021 to 384 million USD by 2025 (Digital Remittances - South Africa, 2021), with an outflow of nearly 3 

times the inflows (The Market for Remittance Services in Southern Africa, 2018, p. 5). Whereas digital and mobile 

payments in South Africa is predicted to increase from 13 million USD in 2021 to nearly 20 million USD by 2025 

(Digital Payments - South Africa, 2021). 

The analysis of intangible products and services cross-border financial transactions could be important as it 

establishing businesses that do not rely on supply chain friction and challenges are less risky and faster to establish. 

Additionally, as far as the author can estimate, the digital economy appears to be a growing economy and an 

economy that can enable rapid economic growth or decline if not managed properly. While the mandate of central 

banks in developing nations is to restrict the outward flow of capital from the economy, the growth of the digital 

economy, which includes blockchain technology, might result in the opposite effects. Due to the absence of digital 

trade data, even after contacting the South African Reserve Bank, it is clear that this important metric is 

unmonitored by the central bank and thus would limit the strategic and risk understanding of monetary policy 

within the 4th Industry. 

This paper, therefore, argues that policy focus on access to international markets without reducing foreign financial 

transaction friction indicates a critical flaw in the department of trade and industry’s integrated national export 

strategy of 2015. Within this paper, the author forms the proposition that an unintended consequence of exchange 

regulations have emerged as a result of innovations originating from developed nations to facilitate payments 

internationally. Small businesses in countries with strict exchange controls are unable to make use of these 

innovations and are therefore barred from entering the global economy. This results in local businesses based in 

such countries facing international competition, without the ability to compete internationally themselves. The 

consequence of this may also widen the trade deficit of such nations with regards to information products, software 

and any service-related trade. Exchange regulations may provide further context to this phenomena. 

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

This paper utilised a qualitative desk review with a focus on applicable literature from double blind peer reviewed 

journals on exchange regulations, local policy regulations and systemic influences on international trade. The 

author also included governmental published data and reports from the U.S. as well as South Africa. Attempting 

to discover disaggregated South African data to compare the balance of trade data for digital trade the the U.S. 

was impossible since the South African Reserve Bank do not separate digital trade data in separate categories. The 

author therefore had to depend on literature on exchange regulations within this desk review. The data was then 

contextually organised, in order to identify gaps. Where gaps was found, the process was repeated to find data that 

may address a certain gap. Once all gaps was addressed, the critical issues that may address the phenomena had 

been analysed which produced the discussion session. 

 

EXCHANGE REGULATIONS 

 

Emerging economies appears to impose exchange regulations to combat six-core fears: fear of asset price bubbles, 

the fear of capital flight, fear of appreciation, fear of large inflows, fear of the loss of monetary autonomy, and fear 

of hot-money (short-term) flows (Baumann and Gallagher, 2013, p. 4). Many of these fears may remain present in 

the South African economy as exchange controls had been in existence since 1961. Since 1994, exchange controls 

were relaxed somewhat, but many remains. The primary aim of these remaining controls is to protect the currency 

from large outflows of capital stemming from economic and/or political risks (Gidlow, 2005, p. 9). Yet South 

Africa was one of very few countries in the world with a sophisticated domestic financial system that retained 

exchange controls (Gidlow, 2005, p. 11), while strong domestic financial institutions is a prerequisite for exchange 

liberalisation (Theron, 1998, p. 25). Thus at the time in 1995 when the first exchange liberalisation in South Africa 

took place, South Africa’s financial institutions were ready. However, various studies have concluded that 

liberalization can be detrimental to economic growth if no appropriate fundamentals are set to stabilize the 

domestic economy (Tswamuno, Pardee and Wunnava, 2007, p. 80). 

Exchange liberalisation experiences of three Latin American countries, Chile, Uruguay and Argentina, where 

reforms were initiated during the late 1970s and early 1980s may have influenced South Africa’s retention of 

exchange controls, for more than 25 years after the end of Apartheid. These Latin American countries encountered 
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problems during exchange liberalisation and had to reinstate some controls (Theron, 1998). Their liberalisation 

episode ended with massive unemployment, capital flight, generalised loan defaults, a banking crisis and a 

shrinking economy. Consequently, between 1982 and 1983, the real effective exchange rate of Latin American 

countries collapsed by nearly 78 per cent (Fisher and Reisen, 1993, p. 46). From these experiences, it might be 

understanding that South Africa would be conservative to relax exchange regulations significantly. 

The economic modelling of a panel of emerging economies conducted by Zheng, Spiegel and Zhang (2020, p. 33) 

found significant evidence that liberating exchange controls can impact income inequality inspired by 

entrepreneurial action. Theron (1998, p. 25) advised that it would be important for South Africa to rather take 

notice of the lessons learnt by countries such as Turkey and Mexico, in the process for introducing liberalised 

exchange controls. This is because the rules within a liberalised exchange control environment would be different. 

Thus any wrong actions or actions at the wrong time are not very easily rectified as would be the case within a 

regulated environment. Additionally, it is recommended that developing countries should adopt a careful and 

properly timed approach for a lifting of controls for non-resident investors and that liberalization should be 

cautiously coordinated with reforms that are aimed at strengthening and stabilizing the domestic real 

macroeconomy to ensure its effectiveness and responsiveness to international competition (Theron, 1998; Gidlow, 

2005; Tswamuno, Pardee and Wunnava, 2007). South Africa first abolished exchange controls on non-residents 

in March 1995 and thereafter some relaxations of exchange controls on residents were introduced. Authorities 

indicated that they aimed to progressively abolish exchange controls, without any specific timetable for the 

removal of these controls (Gidlow, 2005, p. 3). 

An analysis by Glick and Hutchison  (2005) of panel data from 69 countries indicated that restricting capital did 

not bring the desired results. Wheras Eichengreen and Leblang (2003), who analysed a panel of 47 countries, 

concluded that capital controls impaired economic growth in periods of stability, but eased the effects of global 

economic criseses. These papers did not separate the effects of capital controls on outflows from in flows. The 

focus of this paper is to isolate the effect of controls on capital inflows in the South African case. Controls on 

capital inflows are introduced as a policy measure for managing excessive short-term inflows into developing 

markets. Substantial inflows can appreciate the local currency, cause volatility and suddent reversals of external 

financing which can be harmful (Carvalho and Garcia, 2008; Zheng, Spiegel and Zhang, 2020). A whole different 

set of policy considerations are raised by the continuing flow of capital to developing countries. These inflows can 

lead to a substantial real appreciation of the exchange rate, as explained above. This can raise a country's 

vulnerability to a sudden reversal of investor sentiment, especially where the majority of capital inflows are of a 

short-term nature.  If these capital inflows lead to increases in net investment and increased international 

competitiveness, then a slight appreciation of the currency poses no problem. (Theron, 1998, p. 26). Capital inflows 

control results in significantly reduced capital inflows and the probability of a capital surge. It also result in an 

undervalued exchange rate and decrease the share of loans denominated in foreign currency. Moreover, restrictions 

on capital outflows decrease the volume of capital outflows in advanced countries. This then reduces the 

probability of a capital flight in these advanced nations. However the effectiveness of capital controls is highly 

heterogeneous either across countries and across asset classes. For example, credit growth seems to respond only 

to capital controls on other investments and only in advanced economies (Nispi Landi and Schiavone, 2021). The 

author therefore questions the effectiveness of capital inflow controls, and the effect it has on SMEs wishing to 

compete internationally. 

However various issues undermines exchange control regulations that remained in force by countries such as South 

Africa that over time may have reversed any effect these regulations may have had. For example, foreign banks 

essentially had more freedom in operating in the rand-dollar market compared to local banks (Gidlow, 2005, p. 8). 

Technological innovations and the internet poses a threat as it undermines exchange controls. By 1999 the South 

African Reserve Bank realised that the integration of the South African economy into the world financial markets 

was inevitable and would force greater use of electronic communication. It further concluded that the emergence 

of the internet would enable electronic trade (e-commerce), borderless financial transactions (e-payments) and 

electronic money transactions (e-money). This had made the retention of exchange controls on current account or 

capital transactions virtually impossible (Stals, 1999, p. 12; Gidlow, 2005, p. 18). 

In contrast, most studies associated an economy’s openness to trade and liberal exchange controls with improved 

economic growth; therefore the coefficient for trade openness was expected to be positive (Tswamuno, Pardee and 

Wunnava, 2007, p. 79). Blockchain provides the means for currencies to be borderless and decentralised. The 

nature of crypto-currencies means that regulators of a single jurisdiction would have a limited effect on the 

operation of the currency itself. Thus the focus would be on companies providing crypto-based services instead. 

Since crypto-currencies such as Bitcoin is borderless, it would be difficult for regulators to prevent companies 

from taking advantage of regulatory arbitrage, by setting up in jurisdictions with fewer restrictions (Peters, Panayi 

and Chapelle, 2015). 

Businesses engaging in transactions that are restricted by exchange controls experiences additional costs. These 

consts were identified as a combination of taxes, compliance, and circumvention. Businesses weigh the costs of 

circumvention up with the costs of compliance and taxes and will choose the route which is the least expensive 
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(Arend, Sarooghi and Burkemper, 2015). Additionally technological advances such as the internet followed by 

blockchain seem to reduce the effectiveness of exchange controls and in contrast may even harm economies with 

exchange controls by having the opposite financial effect by isolating their Small Businesses from partaking and 

profiting from frictionless global trade, making them less competitive. 

 

AFRICA’S READINESS TO THE GLOBAL DIGITAL ECONOMY 

 

Various factors such as sanctions, exchange controls, broadband access and governmental policy can excluded 

economies from the global e-market. African governmental policies largely lack support for SMEs. Other elements 

that negatively affect African SME global e-market engagement is their development and technology adoption 

level. Africans also experience complex regulatory environments that increases the costs for doing business locally 

especially globally. These complexities are due to a lack of e-commerce standards and lack of e-trading legislation, 

exchange controls, and policies that makes compliance for SMEs costly. This e-commerce is a real challenge for 

African SMEs (Mahembe, 2011; Elsmani, Rahim and Mohammed, 2017, p. 61; Ghonyan, 2020). 

Internal barriers to international trade differ in emerging economies according to the culture, politics, and 

technology adoption rate and background of their leaders. African SMEs often do not adopt e-commerce due to 

technological infrastructure costs. Compatibility of the SMEs to adopt e-commerce is dependant on the 

appropriateness of technological infrastructure and systems, culture, value and work practices that already exist in 

the firm (Ghobakhloo et al., 2011), and that the firm can realistically deploy. African SMEs are limited in how 

they can deploy e-commerce due to these internal barriers. Moving to the entrepreneurial dimension, or mindset, 

of African SMEs owners, it was found that they have misconception regarding the benefits of e-commerce, which 

makes them reluctant to explore feasible options. Additional to these factors, the external factors that makes the 

local and international e-commerce market for African SMEs more complex, naturally deter them further from 

exploring feasible solutions. It is therefore argued that this lack of support from their governments and local 

institutions reduces the international competitiveness of African SMEs (Elsmani, Rahim and Mohammed, 2017, 

p. 62).  

The foundation of any sustainable entrepreneurship in Africa depends on the continuous empowerment of SMEs 

and young entrepreneurs. Since SMEs and the freedom to engage in entrepreneurial activity provides for a means 

to financial independence and increased standard of living as well as reduced unemployment rates, African 

governments should develop supportive policies that reduces costs of doing business that are aligned with the 

global market (Elsmani, Rahim and Mohammed, 2017, p. 63). 

Unfortunately, SME’s in South Africa experiences many barriers to enter the digital economy. Some of these 

barriers can be classified as security and privacy; lack of compatibility of financial systems that may hinder cross 

borders trading (Walczuch, Van Braven and Lundgren, 2000); lack of compatibility between cross border 

governmental and trade policies; the legal environment especially enforcing contracts, taxation and intellectual 

property such as copyright and trademarks as well as exchange controls (Timmers, 2000; Ndayizigamiye and 

Khoase, 2018, p. 54). 

It was found by Ndayizigamiye and Khoase (2018, p. 63) in their study that the most limiting factor for SME’s to 

enter the global digital economy was the ability to utilise payment gateways that are easy to implement and that 

allows cross border transactions. 

 

PAYMENT GATEWAYS 

 

Payment gateways had become the backbone of the digital economy. Central banks, payment gateways, banks, 

credit card issuers and hosting services are just some of the stakeholders that enable payments in the digital 

economy between parties (Bagai, 2017). However cross-border transactions remain challenging when exchange 

controls restrict trade. 

Seamless payment application programming interface (API) integration is important to reduce e-commerce 

adoption under SMEs as it reduces implementation costs. Additionally payment gateways have an effect on the 

user experience, which consequently influences sales conversion rates. For example, one-click Amazon ordering 

and the seamless Uber process for booking and paying for a car ride are examples of a payment process that is 

well integrated with the purchase experience that results in the best conversion rates for the companies. Payment 

APIs designed as a platform for integration into complex transaction flows, yet simplifies or provide for a seemless 

and userfriendly experience for the user would provide value beyond simply moving money (Bagai, 2017, p. 43). 

Therefore regulations that requires complex checkout experiences for compliance to local legislations may provide 

limitations on how local and foreign payment gateways innovate user checkout experiences. Additionally identity 

check steps forced during checkout such as 3D Secure initiatives resulted in a 10-12% decline in conversion rates, 

whereas others claim that they experience a decreas in sales conversions of upto 45% (Nicholls, 2013; Staab, 

2013). South Africa is one of only a few countries that require 3D Secure implementation by regulation (Adyen, 

no date), while the U.S. not requiring their merchants to implement 3D Secure. This therefore may result in further 
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inequality between SME’s in the U.S. and South Africa. Additionally for South African merchants to accept 

international credit cards, local payment gateways require a good trade history as well as additional motivation to 

be provided, wheras U.S. merchants can accept international payments by default. 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

Digital trade is where no physical product needs to be shipped as part of the transaction, but simply information, 

software or a service. The U.S. unsurprisingly appears to be a dominant player in this category, and only recently 

attempted to measure the balance of trade between foreign partners. From the limited available statistics, the 

growth prosects of digital trade seems very optimistic, and even during COVID-19 experienced significant growth. 

Countries from around the world purchased solutions to help them and their employees to pivit to virtual working 

spaces. Systems such as Microsoft Teams and Zoom were critical. Services such as the cloud and software as a 

service solutions have transitioned hard products to digital products that can be digitally delivered (downloaded) 

in an instant. Within the context of the 4th Industry it is to be expected that these trends will intensify to the 

detriment of emerging markets. Any prospect to apply exchange controls to restrict the use of such technology 

will be more harmful than good for an economy as it will simply render SMEs less competitive than their foreign 

counterparts. 

In South Africa internal regulations such as exchange controls, and compulsory 3D Secure requirements for all 

online transactions causes significant friction for merchants to compete with their international counterparts. 

Locally available payment gateways are unable to offer new merchants the ability to accept international payments 

without additional motivation and a trade history, whereas U.S. merchants are able to do so without any additional 

criteria, and without 3D Secure requirements being forced upon them. These additional complications may seem 

trivial, but from an SME’s perspective it may make e-commerce more risky and costly to implement. Local 

payment gateways may also not offer integration with sophisticated systems that U.S. merchants have access to 

through which to offer digital content. This therefore places world class systems out of reach for local merchants. 

Consequently local SME’s appear to focus mainly on the local South African market, whereas international SME’s 

can compete in the South African market without being forced to utilise 3D Secure, with sophisticated systems 

and with a lot less friction to setup their businesses. 

From this discussion the author concludes that the two factors; forced 3D Secure and exchange controls, although 

from a monetary and security perspective have good intentions, the unintended consequences are that it ties both 

the hands of South African SMEs behind their backs, making them spectators to how international competitors are 

freely operating the same South African market without any friction, but a different set of rules. Unfortunately, 

due to the unavailability of balance of trade data for digital trade, it is impossible for economists, the government 

and policy makers to identify the impact of their policies on local SME’s, and how unlevel the playing field are 

for them. Not only do this have a negative impact on employment, it also reduces potential taxes as local SMEs 

are restricted to trade friction free in foreign markets the same way that foreign SMEs compete in the local market. 

The contribution of this paper from a policy point of view is that unintended consequences of policy needs to be 

evaluated after policy decisions and implementation took place. However without the necessary data, this would 

be impossible. Therefore it is critical that the South African Reserve Bank update the balance of payments 

categorisation to accommodate digital trade as a different category, and perhaps report this as a prominent statistic. 

Additionally, no merchant should be forced to utilise 3D secure during checkout. Instead, other options should be 

explored for merchants who knows their clients better. Fraud risk with digital products are different to merchants, 

since merchants can refund the purchase and cancel access to the digital product. U.S. gateways and banks seems 

to understand this principle, wheras local gateways and banks may ignore this aspect. 

For South Africa to fully utilise the 4th Industry and its opportunities and not primarily experience the negative 

consequences thereof, it may be necessary to provide a supporting and fair trading environment for South African 

SME’s to compete globally. 
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AMBIDEXTERITY, DYNAMIC CAPABILITIES, AND DISRUPTIVE INNOVATION IN 

REGULATED ELECTRICITY MARKETS 

Kubeshnie Bhugwandin 1 , Teresa Carmichael 2  and Chris van der Hoven 3 

 

Abstract: 

This study examines the literature on response strategies to disruptive innovations in regulated electricity markets. 

The relationship between disruptive innovation and the resource-based view is explored through the lenses of 

ambidexterity and dynamic capabilities to provide possible responses for state-owned electric utilities to threats 

and opportunities arising from such innovations.  

This research contributes by presenting various strategic options for managers to operate in evolving electricity 

markets successfully. These recommendations can assist electric utility managers, national energy regulators and 

policymakers in better decision making.  

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The term disruptive innovation was coined by Christensen (1997) evolving from a descriptive framework on 

responses to technology change, to a theory of innovation and growth (Christensen, Bartman, & Van Bever, 2016) 

and later to include competitive responses (Christensen & Dillon, 2020). Electric utilities face threats to their 

current business due to a wave of disruptive innovations co-occurring from several directions; technology and 

policy development, social and cultural preferences, scientific investigation and business (Kattirtzi, Ketsopoulou, 

& Watson, 2021). In addition, operating in a regulated market creates unique constraints on management choices 

and responses to disruptive innovations (Teece, Peteraf, & Leih, 2016). 

 

REGULATED ELECTRICITY MARKET CHARACTERISTICS 

 

Regulated markets are those in which the state typically controls supply and demand, market participation, network 

access or prices charged (Mazer, 2007). Regulated electricity markets are characterised by monopolistic, vertically 

integrated, state-owned electric utilities overseeing the entire value chain of power generation to power delivery 

and retail. At the same time, state commissions set customer prices and ensure that utilities remain reasonably 

profitable (Pérez-Arriaga, Rudnick, & Abbad, 2018).  

For more than 100 years, the electric utility business was dominated by fossil fuels for power generation until 

disruptive innovations emerged (Rahimi & Mokhtari, 2018), mainly linked to customer dynamics and climate 

change policy commitments by governments (Kattirtzi et al., 2021). The driving force was to adopt low carbon 

technologies and reduce excessive or wasteful energy use and emissions (International Energy Agency, 2021). 

Increasing populations and economic growth amplify global energy demand, while technological advances 

simultaneously increase energy efficiency and drive costs for renewable energy and energy storage technologies 

(Baker, Maciel, Justin, Seshadri, & Gee, 2014). This results in fossil fuel technologies becoming economically 

non-viable for electricity generation (Newell & Raimi, 2020). A surge in rooftop solar photovoltaic installations 

leads to a wave of innovations in energy markets that manifest as disruptive competition and challenges for electric 

utilities. New operating and business models are emerging in the electricity sector (World Energy Council, 2020); 

new platforms to coordinate distributed system operations, prosumers, monetisation of power system flexibility 

through energy storage, demand response technologies, and creation of energy service companies to provide 

consumers with behind-the-meter services and products. 

Consumers have evolved to prosumers by self-generating electricity at prices on par with or cheaper than 

purchasing from monopolistic utilities. Due to the rapidly decreasing costs of distributed renewable electricity 

generation systems and energy storage systems, traditional centralised power systems are no longer necessary for 

universal access to affordable modern energy services (Glachant, 2019). The future of state-owned electric utilities 

is uncertain because the self-generated electricity does not contribute to the utility's revenue and may induce a 

utility death spiral (Schwarz, Auzepy, & Knoeri, 2020).  

All member countries of the OECD have deregulated their electricity markets to varying extents, due to pressures 

from disruptive innovations, clean energy policy requirements, ageing infrastructure, shortages of state funding 

and debt burdens (Eberhard & Catrina Godinho, 2017; Marino, Parrotta, & Valletta, 2019). These reforms include 

ownership changes, restructuring of the generation, transmission, distribution and retail services to free up 

marketplaces with increased private participation, supplier choice and prices set at marginal cost. However, 

reforms have not been embraced in developing countries (Eberhard, 2019; Foster & Rana, 2019) as there is little 
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evidence that such reforms have reduced inefficiencies in state-owned utilities (Nepal & Jamasb, 2015; Shin & 

Managi, 2017).  

A failure to respond to trends will impact competitiveness, permitting new entrants to serve consumers' 
needs by challenging the profitability and sustainability of monopolistic state-owned electric utilities.  

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

Literature on disruptive innovations, dynamic capabilities, and ambidexterity was reviewed to identify strategic 

options for utility managers to operate successfully in evolving regulated electricity markets. 

 

DISRUPTIVE INNOVATION THEORY 

 

Literature proposes two primary schools of thought about mechanisms influencing innovation processes. The first 

school focuses on customer and market dynamics, arguing that incumbents feel threatened only when innovations 

introduce new performance attributes (Christensen, McDonald, Altman, & Palmer, 2018). The second school is 

based on explanations around competencies, skills and knowledge, claiming that incumbents fail when 

competence-destroying innovations render their existing knowledge base obsolete (Sorguli et al., 2021; Tushman 

& Anderson, 1986). Thus, for example, a fundamental feature of the emerging revolution in the electricity industry 

is the disruption of established energy systems, technologies, markets and business models (Kattirtzi et al., 2021). 

Initially, Christensen’s theory explained why incumbents failed when threatened by disruptive technologies but 

later broadened the theory's applicability to include services and business model innovations (Christensen & 

Raynor, 2003) and efficiency innovations (Denning, 2016). Efficiency innovations have the ability to eliminate 

incumbents by creating cost savings for consumers and enhancing energy use efficiencies. Thus, the disruptive 

innovation theory evolved from a statement about incumbent failure in the face of disruptive innovations, to causal 

mechanisms of disruption and, currently, to include competitive responses (Christensen et al., 2018). 

In Table 1, Christensen (1997) initially recommended that the best response to disruptive innovations was to create 

an autonomous commercial organisation with a new business model, and the profit requirements of the entity 

should increase relative to the size of the emerging market. Organisations become leaders by commercialising 

disruptive technologies and developing plans for learning and discovering emerging or new markets rather than 

existing project focuss. In addition, Christensen and Raynor (2003) urged senior executives to act proactively by 

sensing market changes at the low end of existing and non-consumption markets, then establishing autonomous 

units with independent cost structures, processes and values. Thus, responders should launch several new 

businesses (including acquisitions) in high-growth markets while the firm was still healthy rather than defending 

against threats. Later Christensen in Denning (2016) affirmed that continuous innovation or business model 

evolution are effective approaches to disruptive threats and opportunities. While Bughin (2017) and Muema 

(2020)’s recommendations are similar to Christensen's, other authors have discussed additional responses as 

follows; Charitou and Markides (2003) presented five types of responses viz: 1) focus on and invest in the 

traditional business, 2) ignore the innovation, 3) attack by disrupting the disruptor, 4) adopting the innovation and 

5) embracing the innovation abandoning the old business. Markides (2006) suggested leaving the development of 

disruptive innovations to entrants and advised that incumbents should buy or partner with disruptors instead of 

attacking back. The work of Jin and Shin (2020) on responses to business model innovations and Zhang, Kolte, 

Kettinger, and Yoo (2018) on the sharing economy are consistent with these five types of responses. King and 

Baatartogtokh (2015) recommended calculating the value of winning, leveraging exiting capabilities for 

profitability and collaborating with new entrants. However, Gans (2016) anticipated a new response strategy 

considering cost-effectiveness; he suggested investing aggressively in the latest technology, and acquiring 

entrants’ business or products or waiting and responding only when it is certain that the emerging technology is 

disruptive. Yeh and Walter (2017) indicated choices of engaging in service innovation or planning an exit from 

the market. Based on the case study of Ericson, authors Khanagha, Ramezan Zadeh, Mihalache, and Volberda 

(2018) advised that in heterogeneous markets, a response should include the protection of the company's relations 

with key customers and allow strategic flexibility. 

 

Table 1. Evolution of Disruptive Innovation and response strategies 1997 to 2020 

Disruptive Innovation Definition Response Strategy 

When performance and oversupply 

occur and a disruptive technology 

attacks a mainstream market, the 

technology often succeeds because 

of improved functionality, 

simplicity, price, reliability 

convenience." 

• Create an autonomous unit with a new 

business model 

• Grow the profit requirements of the 

new unit as the emerging market size 

increases 

(Christensen, 1997) 

• Joint ventures and partnerships 
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Disruptive Innovation Definition Response Strategy 

Christensen (1997, p. 192). • Integration based on brand, 

management, operations and equity 

Gulati and Garino (1999)   

Disruptive innovations don't 

attempt to bring better products to 

established customers in existing 

markets. Instead, they disrupt and 

redefine that trajectory by 

introducing products and services 

that are not as "good’' as those 

currently available. However, these 

technologies are more 

straightforward, more convenient, 

and less expensive, appealing to 

new or less demanding customers."  

Once the disruptive product gains a 

foothold in new or low-end 

markets, the improvement cycle 

begins." 

Christensen and Raynor (2003, p. 

34).  

• Create autonomous units with new 

structures, processes and values 

• Proactively sense changes in the low 

end and non-consumption markets 

• Launch several new growth businesses 

whilst the firm is still healthy 

Christensen and Raynor (2003) 

• Focus and invest in the traditional 

business 

• Ignore the innovation 

• Attack back (disrupt the disruptor) 

• Embrace the innovation and abandon 

the traditional business 

Charitou and Markides (2003) 

• Leave the development of disruptive 

innovations to entrants 

• Incumbents should buy or partner with 

the disruptors 

Markides (2006) 

"Disruptive innovations are initially 

considered inferior by most of an 

incumbent's customers, and they are 

not willing to switch merely 

because it is less expensive. 

Instead, they wait until its quality 

rises, then they adopt the new 

product and happily accept its 

lower price." 

Christensen, Raynor, and 

McDonald (2015, p. 6). 

• Calculate the value of winning 

• Leverage existing capabilities  

• Collaborate with other companies 

King and Baatartogtokh (2015) 

Disruptive innovation is a theory of 

competitive response. It tells you 

how incumbents are likely to 

respond to such innovations and 

how disruptors react to the 

incumbent's response. For example, 

the introduction of a sustaining 

innovation will result in an 

increased attack, a counter-

disruptive response may result in 

being ignored or fleeing. 

Denning (2016, p. 11). 

• Undertake business model or 

continuous innovation that creates 

value for the customer 

• Efficiency innovations 

Denning (2016) 

• Beat them by investing in the new 

technology 

• Join them by acquiring their business 

and products 

• Wait them out and react when it is 

certain that the emerging technology 

will be disruptive 

Gans (2016) 

• Planned exit from the market 

• Service innovations 

Yeh and Walter (2017)  

• Protect firm's relations with key 

customers 

• Allow strategic flexibility in the firm 

(Khanagha et al., 2018) 

• Strengthen existing business model 

• Invest in the disruptor, learn and 

modify the existing business  
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Disruptive Innovation Definition Response Strategy 

• Partner with a disruptor from another 

platform industry to attract more 

customers 

• Incorporate different levels of a 

platform model into traditional 

business 

• Expand the current business model and 

directly compete with disruptors 

(Zhang et al., 2018) 

"Disruptive innovation is when a 

technology-enabled product or 

service powered takes root in 

simple applications at the low end 

of a market typically by being less 

expensive and more accessible. The 

technology then displaces 

established competitors. Disruptive 

innovations are not breakthrough 

innovations or "ambitious upstarts" 

that dramatically alter how business 

is done but, rather, consist of 

products and services that are 

simple, accessible, and affordable. 

These products and services often 

appear modest at their outset but 

over time have the potential to 

transform an industry"  

"Christensen and Dillon (2020). 

• Engage in business model innovation 

(Jin & Shin, 2020) 

 

DYNAMIC CAPABILITIES AND THE RESOURCE-BASED THEORY 

 

In rapidly changing electricity markets, the resource-based view (RBV) can be utilised to provide possible 

solutions to how firms can respond to threats and opportunities. The RBV approach assumes that resources are 

heterogeneous across organisations and that this heterogeneity can be sustained over time (Barney, 1995). The 

RBV was extended into dynamic capabilities due to criticisms over its inability to explain the sources that enable 

sustained competitive advantage (Teece, Pisano, & Shuen, 1997) and account for how resources changed long-

term (Ambrosini & Bowman, 2009). The dynamic capability framework is anchored in the assumption that 

resources that are simultaneously valuable, rare, inimitable and non-substitutable (VRIN) are a source of 

competitive advantage (Teece et al. 1997). Literature on dynamic capabilities is divided between two leading 

schools of thought emanating from the seminal papers of Teece et al. (1997) and Eisenhardt and Martin (2000).  

The former described dynamic capability in terms of a firm's ability to integrate, build, and reconfigure internal 

and external competencies to address rapidly changing environments; however, Eisenhardt and Martin (2000) 

debated dynamic capability in terms of a firm's processes. Although there are limitations to both schools of thought, 

this study seeks to offer possible solutions to disruptive innovations in regulated electricity markets via the 

ability/capability knowledge school.  

Over the years, the Teece school of thought has defined dynamic capabilities in turbulent business environments 

as higher-level activities, allowing organisations to direct their day-to-day activities towards exploiting existing 

competencies. They reiterate that strong dynamic capabilities and strategy grounded by VRIN resources are the 

sources for sustained competitive advantage (Teece, 2007, 2014; Teece et al., 1997). Teece categorised three 

micro-foundations of dynamic capability, viz. sensing, seizing and transforming activities which can be used to 

manage threats and opportunities. Helfat and Martin (2015) contributed to understanding dynamic capabilities by 

arguing that firms with agile managers can respond better to environmental changes through better cognition, and 

social and human capital. 

The dynamic capability perspective has been criticised for confusion around the construct, absence of a clear 

definition and associated structural components (Pisano, 2017; Yassien & Jordan, 2015). Later the concept was 

refined to suggest that uncertainty may be more relevant than the speed of change in the business environment. 

Teece (2018a, 2018b) expanded his definition to include the necessity of VRIN resources and a sound business 

model in strategic approaches. Sabahi and Parast (2020) found that innovation can strengthen knowledge sharing, 

agility and flexibility within a firm, and these capabilities can fortify resilience to disruptive innovations. Teece 
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(2020) added that dynamic capabilities can be enhanced through open innovation processes, increasing the firm's 

ability to sense and seize new opportunities and leverage external resources to fill capacity.  

 

AMBIDEXTERITY 

 

Ambidexterity is an extension of the dynamic capability framework, which posits that in turbulent business 

environments, firms need to simultaneously exploit existing internal competencies and assets, as well as explore 

new external opportunities (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013). It follows that firms in dynamic electricity markets can 

compete by exploiting existing resources to meet today's needs and proactively explore new opportunities to 

respond quickly to market changes emanating from disruptive innovations. Empirical evidence generally confirms 

that organisational ambidexterity leads to enhanced short-term performance and increases long-term survival rates 

in fast-changing business environments (Junni, Sarala, Taras, & Tarba, 2013). This is because ambidextrous firms 

are better than others at responding to disruptive business models and innovations (Birkinshaw, Zimmermann, & 

Raisch, 2016). Initially, Duncan (1976) argued the need for firms to change structures sequentially to explore new 

opportunities via innovation. March (1991) later claimed that the most crucial adaptive challenge confronting 

organisations is balancing exploitation and exploration to avoid losing market share. However, exploration and 

exploitation make conflicting demands on organisations, such as competition for scarce resources, different 

capability requirements, structures, processes and culture (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013). Therefore, the theory 

expanded to explain that organisational ambidexterity can be managed by merging mechanistic systems such as 

well-defined hierarchical relations, responsibilities and job descriptions with organic designs requiring less 

formalised and more specialised tasks with more lateral coordination mechanisms. Subsequently, the 

ambidexterity theory has been conceptualised as a multilevel phenomenon from perspectives of the whole 

organisation in terms of context, structure, planning, reward systems and decision-making processes to lower 

levels, i.e., managers, teams and individuals. 

The structural separation approach has remained popular, which involves creating parallele autonomous units with 

their own people, structure, processes and cultures (Donada, Mothe, & Alegre, 2021; Tushman & O'Reilly, 1996). 

Other approaches include 1) temporal separation, which allows a firm to switch between exploration  and 

exploitation, 2) inter-organisational specialisation which allows a firm to participate in joint ventures, alliances, 

and acquisitions to complement the dual activities, 3) contextual ambidexterity which permits choices about 

dividing time between exploitation and exploration, simultaneously allowing for sensing of opportunities and 

threats and seizing opportunities , 4) reciprocal ambidexterity which is a combination of temporal, structural and 

contextual forms of ambidexterity combined with assessing capabilities within individual units to simultaneously 

exploit, explore or harness individuals from separate interdependent units, and 5) dynamic capability as a form of 

ambidexterity based on a complex set of capabilities and decisions that enables a firm to sense opportunities and 

threats, seize opportunities and reconfigure the firm's resources. 

The Boston Consulting Group (Reeves, Haanæs, Hollingsworth, & Scognamiglio Pasini, 2013) presented a model 

where firms choose an ambidexterity approach based on the diversity of strategic styles required to compete in 

diverse environments successfully. In this model,  

• separation is recommended for firms facing different contexts but which are generally stable  

• the switching approach is appropriate when a firm changes its strategic style as its environment changes  

• a self-organising approach is employed where a company needs to use multiple strategies concurrently 

while techniques are evolving, and  

• the ecosystem approach is suggested when a firm needs to orchestrate a diverse ecosystem of external 

parties to source the styles it requires to compete.  

Separation and switching approaches create limitations for information flow and resources whilst self-organising 

and external ecosystem approaches could suffer from cost duplication. 

Although there is some consensus in the literature that organisational ambidexterity is required for responding to 

disruptive innovations in turbulent business environments, there has been criticism that it is challenging to 

implement (Lis, Józefowicz, Tomanek, & Gulak-Lipka, 2018). In addition, the disparate explanations of 

ambidexterity in theories such as those relating to absorptive capacity, dynamic capabilities and organisational 

learning may have led to ambiguity in the theoretical foundation of the ambidexterity theory. Over time the usage 

of organisational ambidexterity has extended to areas such as strategy, new product development, intellectual 

capital development, and outcomes achievement, raising concerns about the diluted theoretical precision and 

empirical accuracy (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013; Stettner & Lavie, 2014).  

 

POSSIBLE SOLUTIONS DRAWN FROM THE THEORIES ILLUSTRATED 

 

Disruptive innovation, resource-based theory, dynamic capabilities and ambidexterity can be utilised to provide 

possible solutions to disruption in regulated electricity markets. All three theories posit how to respond in rapidly 
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changing business environments to survive and maintain competitive advantage.  Over time (see Table 1), 

disruptive innovation theory definitions have evolved along with emerging alternative responses.  

The dynamic capability theory recommends a strategy that anticipates competitive action and defends intellectual 

property. As electricity markets reform, new suppliers for the generation and retail of electricity emerge. Among 

the competitors are strong electric utilities, oil and gas giants, and reputable car manufacturers who have strategies 

to transition to clean energy companies by increasing market share in new territories. The dynamic capability 

theory suggests engaging activities in sensing, seizing and transforming the firm to manage threats and 

opportunities (Teece, 2014). Sensing threats and opportunities can be achieved by observing, anticipating, road 

mapping opportunities, experimenting, exploring, scanning and monitoring the external environment. The seizing 

of opportunities can be accomplished by committing resources, designing new business models and refining 

existing business models for various innovations (Teece, 2018). For example, green hydrogen as a fuel source is 

an emerging opportunity. It would require a different business model to the existing electric utility business, which 

uses fossil fuels to generate electricity and distribute it via the grid. Electric utilities would need to commit 

resources to explore and take advantage of this opportunity. In addition, the dynamic capability theory suggests 

that the firm should be transformed to realign to the new business model through the reconfiguration of structures, 

capabilities and culture (Teece, 2018). Reskilling resources could enhance existing capabilities, whilst new 

capabilities that are required can be built over time or brought in via mergers, acquisitions and partnerships.  

The ambidexterity theory recommends various structural, temporal, and contextural separation approaches for 

firms to thrive in turbulent business environments. The electricity industry is a diverse business environment that 

is fast-changing, and state-owned electric utilities are required to orchestrate diverse ecosystems of external actors 

and stakeholders to source the multiple strategic styles they simultaneously require. Rather than trying to deploy 

all strategy styles internally, state-owned electric utilities can choose to shape and coordinate an ecosystem that 

exercises the strategy styles it may require (Reeves et al., 2013). This could be achieved by creating and monetising 

common platforms that are beneficial to all participants in the ecosystem. Examples include platforms for the 

trading of electricity and collaborations related to network externalities. 

 

CONCLUSION  

 

This study showed that the disruptive innovation and resource-based theories through ambidexterity and dynamic 

capabilities help provide possible solutions to how state-owned electric utilities could respond to threats and 

opportunities from disruptive innovations in regulated electricity markets. In addition, this study has highlighted 

various options that managers may not have been aware of, which can be adapted for use by incumbents operating 

in regulated markets. 
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DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION AND THE ENHANCEMENT OF STRATEGY 

DEVELOPMENT IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN MANUFACTURING SECTOR 

Theuns Pelser 1 , Garth Gaffley 2 and Hein Prinsloo 3 

 

Abstract: 

The aim of this study was to gain insight into the transformative skills of business leaders in the manufacturing 

sector in South Africa, linked to their abilities to drive their business’s digital transformation process. Technology 

to lead digital transformation requires skills and resources, which are often not understood by leadership. Cloud 

computing has facilitated machine learning and artificial intelligence in activities where human comprehension is 

limited, using algorithms for analytics requiring size and scale to provide data for decision making and it has 

enabled disruptive technologies that have changed the face of industry sectors. The findings formed the basis of a 

model developed to assist chief executive officers (CEOs) to implement digital transformation successfully. The 

CEO is responsible for the digital transformation of the business and must understand that data management is the 

most important asset in the digital era. The collection, storage, analysis, reporting, and usage of data is key to 

competing in the digital economy, which requires the appointment of the chief information officer (CIO) whose 

main responsibility is the management of data and who should report directly to the CEO. Reporting to the CIO 

would be data engineers, scientists and analysts who work with data, their key roles focus on building algorithms 

from machine learning, developing predictive models from data and simulation models to test if technologies used 

to drive digital migration are effective and efficient.  

 

Keywords: Digital transformation, technology, business leadership, data management, digital migration, digital 

capability, strategy development, CIO, South Africa. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

South Africa’s globally competitive manufacturing sector is not performing well and lags behind its other African 

trading partners, growing at a rate of 4.5% per annum (Cronje, 2018). According Nam (2019), the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) growth forecast for South Africa for 2019/2020 was between 1.4% and 1.7%. Statistics 

South Africa (2020) advise that the South African economy is in recession, having returned two negative growth 

rates in the third and fourth quarters of 2019. Jan Cronje, in an article published on 27th March 2020 by News 24 

announced that Moody’s Investors Services had downgraded the South African investment index to ‘junk status’ 

following downgrades by the agencies Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings Inc. in 2017. This 

announcement coincided with the government’s COVID-19 lockdown in South Africa. The South African 

manufacturing sector is a key contributor to the country’s gross domestic product (GDP), contributing 14% in 

2018 (Cronje, 2018) and thus needs to transform digitally to remain competitive. It further facilitates the growth 

of other sectors by achieving specific outcomes such as employment creation and economic empowerment, 

essential to the economy. 

In a 2017 study of their customer base, Microsoft South Africa showed that 48% of South African businesses had 

embarked on a digital transformation journey, 44% had set a 12-month timeline to do so, while 8% had made no 

progress at all in this arena, indicating a low maturity level of digital transformation evident in these organisations 

(Hoosen, 2017).  

 

RESEARCH PROBLEM AND RESEARCH OBJECTIVES 

 

The research question which this study aimed to answer is: "What is the content required to develop a digital 

transformation model in the South African manufacturing sector where business leadership could be grappling 

with the rate of unprecedented technological change in the digital economy, how can one strategise for it, and 

effectively integrate and manage its implementation to create competitive advantage and success for these 

businesses in the future?"  

The linked research objectives are: 

• To determine the importance of data to the manufacturing sector  

• To understand the societal influence of the digital economy and level of digital capability 

• To determine the strategy and threat of digital disruption that limits investment and risk 

• To investigate business leaders' human limitations and the lack of human capital investment 
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Strategy as a concept is defined by Grant (2016) as originating from the Greek word, "Strategia" which means, 

from the office of the general and interprets the strategic position of the organisation, where strategy is the plan 

for deploying resources to establish a favourable position. Binedell (2015) aligns strategy with warfare where 

"Strategos" is the art of the general, CEO or business leader. According to Binedell (2015), the recent South 

African dynamic can be equated to Toffler's (1980) assertion in his book the "The Third Wave" where he predicted 

the future would come in unusual shapes and forms that would impact humans on various levels – personal, family, 

social, and organisational. These predictions included the impact of new technologies which would facilitate the 

rise of new industries in information technology (IT), with changes in industrial output and production facilitated 

by data processing and computers.  

Binedell (2015) believes disruption in the digital economy is changing the rules daily, which the South African 

economy is experiencing at an unprecedented pace through economic, psychological, and sociological change. He 

advises that South African business leaders work to understand these dynamics and that the most important 

strategic insight is to encourage innovation, entrepreneurship, and creativity in their organisations.  

To facilitate digital transformation a digital strategy model is needed, such as the one developed by Ross, 

Sebastian, Beath, Mocker, Moloney and Fonstad (2016) and Sebastian, Ross, Beath, Mocker, Moloney and 

Fonstad (2017) which offers strategic choice either through digitised solutions that transform the business model, 

or through the customer engagement that transforms the go to market, enabled through the operational backbone 

that facilitates operational excellence. This is further complemented by a digital services backbone which enhances 

market capabilities through micro services, connectivity, and sophisticated analytics (Table 1). In terms of a 

traditional strategy development process, Kaplan and Norton (2008) had developed a four-dimensional 

measurement model, the balanced scorecard, comprising financial, customer, internal business process, learning 

and growth segments (Table 1). Synergy between the balanced scorecard parameters and those of the digital 

strategy basics model are linked (Table 1). 

 

Table 1. Elements of showing alignment and synergy between the digital strategy basics, balanced scorecard, 

and leading digitisation  

Digital basics 

strategy model 

(Ross, et al. 

2016;   

Sebastian et al., 

2017) 

Digital basics support 

activity 

Balanced  

scorecard 

(Kaplan & 

Norton, 

2008) 

Balanced 

scorecard support 

activity 

Leading 

digitisation 4 

core areas 

(Meffert & 

Swaminathan, 

2018)  

Operational 

backbone 

Facilitates operational 

excellence 

Internal business 

process & IT 

Systems & IT 

development  

Customer 

insights  

Customer 

engagement 

Transforms go to market Customer strategy  Strategy 

development 

Good customer 

relationship  

 

Digitised 

solutions 

Transforms business 

model 

Learning and 

growth  

Learning culture & 

organisation 

The installed 

base  

Digital services 

backbone 

Market capabilities, 

micro services, 

connectivity, 

sophisticated analytics 

Finance Management 

control system, 

dashboards  

Emotional ties  

 

Source: Ross et al. (2016), Sebastian et al. (2017), Kaplan and Norton (2008), Meffert and Swaminathan (2018) 

 

Bordignon (2017) provides an overview of key technological trends impacting the future timeline (Figure 1). It 

shows the x-axis as the level of technological progress and breakthrough with the y-axis being the technology 

adoption curve. Levels 1 and 2 (1994 – 2020) are past and current, the introduction of the internet giving rise to 

the Third Industrial Revolution in 1994 and cloud technology generally accepted as introducing the Fourth 

Industrial Revolution. Level 3 (2020) is about exponential breakthrough within the current situation, level 4 (2020–

2025) requires risk-taking and experimentation with future technologies and level 5 (2025 onwards) is the futuristic 

endeavour not within the ambit of this study. 
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Figure 1. Horizons of technological change in the digital enterprise levels 

 
Source: Bordignon (2017) 

 

The similarity between the technological time horizons (Figure 1) with that of Sebastian et al. (2017) and Ross et 

al. (2016) (Table 1), shows that businesses capable of competing successfully in the digital economy must be 

platformed to enable seamless connection of humans with machines and data, ensuring secure ecosystem flows 

enabled through the operational backbone and digital services backbone brought about through the technologies 

of level 3. The migration of technologies, from level 3 to 4 are paired (Bordingnon, 2017) and include: artificial 

intelligence (AI) and machine learning with robotics; virtual and augmented reality, VR and AR; nanotechnology 

and 3D and 4D printing; and cybersecurity and blockchain. Technologically proficient CEOs can support selection 

of the correct paired technology to suit the requirements of their digital journey, to encourage risk taking and 

innovation, and to change their organisational culture to incorporate a data and model-driven mind-set to 

effectively compete in the digital economy (Kaldero, 2018).  

 

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND DESIGN  

 

The literature review underpinned the independent and dependent variables for this study (Table 2) and framed the 

platform on which the quantitative research design and methodology was planned. Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill  

(2016) describe the purpose of a research study as explorative, descriptive, or explanatory. The descriptive purpose 

was best suited to explore the research question which was analysed quantitatively, applying statistical evaluation.  

Axiologically, the researchers maintain objectivity by remaining independent of the data through the method of 

data collection by an electronic questionnaire survey, analysed and presented numerically using statistical 

interpretation.  
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Table 2. The study variables relating to the research question 

Independent variables Dependent variables 

 

Data as an asset   Management of data through technology. Managerial 

competence to lead a digitally transformed business  

Level of digital capability  Managerial capability to lead a digitally transformed 

business, cyber-attack protection, digital disruption threats, 

assessment of risk, level of investment in technology and 

people 

Data management by chief information 

officer (CIO) 

Organisational design to incorporate a CIO responsible for 

all data and technology to manage data 

Strategy development Digital strategy as a component of overall business strategy, 

strategy planning cycles, investment in technology to 

facilitate digital transformation  

Human capital  Human capital investment, skill development and 

requirements, organisational culture change, managing the 

generational divide  

Source: Authors research aim, purpose, and objectives  

 

Cluster sampling was followed with individuals selected from a representative database of manufacturing 

organisations in South Africa. A target sample of 5 201 businesses in the South African manufacturing sector was 

sourced from the Interact Direct database of 29 May 2019. From this, a representative cluster sample of 2 064 

manufacturing businesses was selected. A professional statistician advised that the cluster sample, which returned 

a 7.1% response rate, satisfied the minimum statistical requirements for validity of the sample.  

A structured web-based questionnaire survey powered by Google Forms was developed and required respondents 

to choose from a limited number of responses, predetermined by the researchers.  

 

FINDINGS 

 

For data analysis and interpretation, the following statistical tests were selectively applied to the research variables 

(Table 2): descriptive statistics; one-sample t-test; the univariate chi-square goodness-of-fit test; Pearson's measure 

(r); Spearman's rank order correlation designated by (ᵖ); ANOVA (analysis of variances); Factor analysis; and a 

binomial test. 

 

Respondent demographic details 

 

These were divided into details on the respondent and the business with descriptive statistics for the respondents 

showing; 63% were at CEO and 17.4% at financial director level; 62.3% had more than 10 years' service and age 

profiles ranged from 19.5% between 20 to 40 years to 80.5% over 40 years, indicating a stable and experienced 

sample. The business detail showed 79% of the businesses were over 20 years old with varying numbers of 

employees, turnovers ranged from 26.1% between R10m and R50m; 11.6% between R51m and R150m; 15.2% 

between R151m and R500m; 10.1% between R501m and R1b and 21.7% over R1b. The businesses were split 

equally between business to business (B2B) and business to consumer (B2C) interfacing.  

 

Data management with data as an asset in the business 

 

The importance of data as an asset in the business showed through applying a one-sample t-test (Table 3) 

significant agreement that data is an important asset in the business; data is synchronised and accessible as a single 

point of reference where IT configures data in a suitable format for analytical purposes; there is collection of 

unstructured and structured data with good governance and ethical practices; there is neither significant agreement 

nor disagreement that despite combining structured and unstructured data there is no significant effort made in 

collecting unstructured data, (M=3.68).  

Results from a factor analysis (Table 4) showed that the data was suitable for successful extraction (Keiser-Meier-

Olkin = 0.688). Furthermore, the significant result of Bartlett's test, p<.05, indicated that the correlations between 

items were not too low for successful factor extraction. In this analysis, two factors accounted for 69.3% of the 

variance in the data and therefore constructs 1.1 and 1.8 were excluded from the analysis. 
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Table 3. One-sample t-test data management variables 

Data management variable  N Mean 
Std.  

Deviation 
T df P-value 

1.1 The CEO and senior management of your 

business considers data to be an important asset 

to your business 

138 5.19 1.293 15.338 137 <.0005 

1.2 All business data (e.g. data on personnel, 

financial reports, marketing information, sales 

performance, etc.) is synchronised and 

accessible at a single location 

138 4.07 1.564 4.299 137 <.0005 

1.3 Our business has a data warehouse or cloud 

storage location from where all data across the 

entire business is stored and can be accessed 

138 4.02 1.681 3.647 137 <.0005 

1.4 IT provides data storage and availability in 

the format required by the functions 
138 4.46 1.172 9.657 137 <.0005 

1.5 IT configures the data in a format suitable 

for analytical purposes 
138 3.9 1.426 3.283 137 0.001 

1.6 Our business collects both structured data 

(e.g. data about financial indicators; data about 

manufacturing, etc.) and unstructured data (e.g. 

data from e-mails, Facebook, Twitter, social 

media marketing, and websites, etc.) 

138 3.68 1.475 1.443 137 0.151 

1.7 Our business combines structured and 

unstructured data 
138 3.84 1.374 2.913 137 0.004 

1.8 Good data governance regulations and 

ethical practices are always followed in the 

management of data in our business 

138 4.73 1.187 12.19 137 <.0005 

 

Two factors emerged (Table 4) from the remaining constructs, the 'first data handling', α=0.779 and second 'data 

type', α=0.834, with both having a Cronbach’s coefficient >.7 indicating reliability. An additional one-sample t-

test on these two factor groups showed data management was being exercised with 'data handling', p<.0005, used 

more than 'data type', p=.022. Spearman's correlation was used to test for the significance of relationships between 

demographic aspects of the business, (age, turnover and number of employees) with the data management 

constructs or groups (data handling and data type), no significant correlation was identified.  

 

Table 4. Promax rotation on data management constructs 

Item 

Factor loadings 

% of  

Variance  

Cronbach's 

alpha 
Data 

handling 

Factor 1 

Data type 

Factor 2 

1.5 IT configures the data in a format suitable 

for analytical purposes 
0.738  

46.50 0.779 

1.2 All business data is synchronised and 

accessible at a single location 
0.707  

1.3 Our business has a data warehouse or cloud 

storage location from where all data across the 

entire business is stored and can be accessed 

0.692  

1.4 IT provides data storage and availability in 

the format required by the functions 
0.621  

1.6 Our business collects both structured data 

and unstructured data  
 0.902 

22.81 0.834 
1.7 Our business combines structured and 

unstructured data 
 0.792 

Total % variance explained   69.31  

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) 0.688   

Bartlett's test: p-value <.0005   

 

ANOVA tested the effect of the type of business sector on data management. The results (Table 5) showed a 

significant difference across the manufacturing sectors with ‘data handling’ conducted more in the metals and 
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machinery, automotive and transport equipment sectors, F (6,131) =3.317; p=.005, than in the wood, 

paper/packaging and publishing sector F (6,131) =1.743; p=.116.  

 

Table 5. ANOVA Factor grouping tested between manufacturing sectors  

Digital  

capability 

construct 

Manufacturing sector N Mean 
Std. 

Deviation 
Df F p-value 

Connectivity 

impact 

Metals & machinery 36 4.8148 0.88172 

6; 131 0.781 0.586 

Food & Beverage 25 5.0267 0.73232 

Chemical/Pharmaceutical 24 4.75 1.11316 

Wood/paper/packaging & 

publishing 
10 4.4333 1.20749 

Transport equipment 13 5.0256 0.55213 

Electronics 10 4.7 1.1701 

Other 20 5 0.74927 

Digital  

Practice 

Metals & machinery 36 3.8889 0.89332 

6; 131 4.93 <.0005 

Food & Beverage 25 4.23 0.90692 

Chemical/Pharmaceutical 24 3.9583 1.03122 

Wood/paper/packaging & 

publishing 
10 2.675 1.03448 

Transport equipment 13 4.4615 0.75585 

Electronics 10 3.975 0.94612 

Other 20 3.5125 0.84866 

 

Haffke, Kalgovas, and Benlian (2016) advocate a CIO be responsible for data management. A binomial test shows 

that a significant 87 (63%) of the respondents indicated that their business did not have a person responsible for 

data management or digital transformation, p=.003. Of the 51 (37%) that had a CIO, in turn, a significant 37 (73%) 

of these reported to the CEO, p=.002. The result of a one-sample t-test showed significant agreement (M=4.35), 

p<.0005, that those with a CIO did configure data in the required format for the functions. When asked if their 

businesses had a data flow model, applying a binomial test, 84 (61%) did not have and 53 (39%) did; of those that 

did have a data flow model, the results of a one-sample t-test showed significant agreement that the data flow 

model was communicated to all employees, p<.0005.  

 

Digital capability of business leadership and the business  

 

A one-sample t-test was applied to the seven constructs and showed significant agreement that: Senior management 

understood the importance of the web and its ability to connect all in society; there was investment in technological 

systems to collect data; ethical practices were followed in managing and publishing data; social media and e-

commerce platforms connect the business with society; and, there is an impact on the business brand promise if 

social media is used by customers to express discontent. There was significant disagreement that the business had 

invested in internal communication systems such as Slack, Asana and Trello to improve internal communication, 

M = 2.66. Factor analysis with Promax rotation (Table 6) applied to the seven constructs showed two groupings:  
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Table 6. Promax rotation on digital capability constructs 

  Factor loadings  

% Variance 
Cronbach's 

alpha 
Digital capability constructs Connectivity 

impact 

Factor 1 

Digital  

practice 

Factor 2   

1.6 The business understands how 

social media and e-commerce 

platforms connect the business with 

society 

0.888   

44.2 0.786 
1.7 The business understands the 

impact that social media has on the 

business brand promise (e.g. If a 

brand promise is not met, customers 

will turn to social media to express 

discontent, which will negatively 

affect the business) 

0.783   

1.5 The business has a digital 

strategy in place to incorporate 

digital strategies into the business 

strategy where possible 

  0.744 

19.804 0.725 
1.3 The business has invested in 

communication systems such as 

Slack, Asana and Trello, etc. to 

improve internal communication 

  0.709 

1.2 Senior management have 

invested in technological systems to 

collect data 

  0.577 

Total % variance explained     64.004   

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) 0.729    

Bartlett's test: p-value <.0005     

 

Results from the factor analysis showed that the data was suitable for reliable and successful extraction (Keiser-

Meier-Olkin = 0.729). Bartlett's test, p<.0005 indicated that the correlations between items were not too low for 

successful extraction. In the analysis, two-factor groupings accounted for 64.004% of the variance in the data, and 

therefore, two constructs were dropped. These are 1.1, senior management being aware of the importance of the 

connectivity with society through the internet and world wide web and 1.4, the business ensuring that ethical 

practices in dealing with data are always in place. The analysis shows two factor groupings; Factor 1, 'connectivity 

impact' and Factor 2, 'digital practice' with the data suitable for reliable extraction and Cronbach’s alpha >.7 for 

both; Factor 1, α=0.766, 'connectivity impact' deals with the connectivity of participating in the worldwide web 

with e-commerce and social media platforms that connect business with society; Factor 2, α=0.725, 'digital 

practice' deals with investment in technology to collect and analyse data, having a digital strategy as part of overall 

strategy in place and investing in internal communication systems. A Spearman's correlation was used to determine 

linearity between the factor groupings of the digital capability constructs and demographic variables of age, 

turnover, and number of employees of the business (Table 7). There was a negative correlation between the age of 

the business and understanding the impact of connectivity on the business, through web presence, the internet and 

social media, r= -.244, p=.004. The more perceived impact is associated with younger firms; there was a significant 

positive correlation between annual turnover and the application of digital practices in the business, r= .217, 

p=.004. More agreement with the presence of digital practices was associated with firms with a higher annual 

turnover. ANOVA results on the same manufacturing sectors as in Table 5 show that there was neither agreement 

nor disagreement for connectivity impact in the manufacturing sector, while for digital practices disagreement was 

detected in the wood/paper, packaging and publishing sector, F (6,131) =4.93; p<.0005.  
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Table 7. Spearman's coefficient of linearity applied to the digital constructs making up factor groupings 1 and 2 

Spearman's 

rho 
Detail  

Connectivity 

impact 

Digital 

practice 

2. How 

old is the  

business? 

4. How many  

people are  

employed in your 

business? 

5. What is the  

annual 

turnover of 

your  

business? 

Connectivity 

impact 

Correlation 

Coefficient 
1 .369** -.244** -0.022 -0.084 

Sig.  

(2-tailed) 
. 0 0.004 0.798 0.326 

N 138 138 138 138 138 

Digital  

Practice 

Correlation 

Coefficient 
.369** 1 0.136 0.163 .217* 

Sig.  

(2-tailed) 
0 . 0.113 0.056 0.011 

N 138 138 138 138 138 

2. How old 

is the  

business? 

Correlation 

Coefficient 
-.244** 0.136 1 .320** .384** 

Sig.  

(2-tailed) 
0.004 0.113 . 0 0 

N 138 138 138 138 138 

4. How 

many people 

are 

employed in 

your 

business? 

Correlation 

Coefficient 
-0.022 0.163 .320** 1 .864** 

Sig.  

(2-tailed) 
0.798 0.056 0 . 0 

N 138 138 138 138 138 

5. What is 

the annual 

turnover of 

your 

business? 

Correlation 

Coefficient 
-0.084 .217* .384** .864** 1 

Sig.  

(2-tailed) 
0.326 0.011 0 0 . 

N 138 138 138 138 138 

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). 

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). 

 

A binomial test on the functions responsible for the digital transformation process in the business are: A significant 

percentage responded 'yes', showing that the CEOs and C-suite lead the digital strategy, N=118 (85.5%), p<.0005; 

as advocated by Gale and Aarons (2018) and Siebel (2017); followed by finance, N=99 (72%), p<.0005; IT, N=83 

(60%), p=.021; production, manufacturing, sales,  and marketing, were not significant as the respondents answered 

almost equally between 'yes' and 'no'. The remaining functions have limited involvement. A binomial test applied 

to the use of technological tools and paired technologies employed showed the highest frequency of application 

being customer engagement through interactive website alignment, N=63 (45.7%), p=.349, had an almost equal 

split in responses 'yes' or 'no' showing neither agreement nor disagreement. Application (apps) development, N=49 

(36%), p=.001, and the Internet of Things (IoT), N=44 (32%), p<.0005, showed agreement that they are the leading 

technological tools employed in the manufacturing sector in South Africa. Of concern is that 24.6% of the sample 

reportedly had no technological tools in place; with varying levels for the use of one or more technology tool.  

 

Strategy  

 

One of most significant findings of the research arose when respondents were asked to rate their businesses against 

a fully transformed business in their sector on an agreement or linear scale ranging from 1, being poor, to 10, being 

excellent. The overall finding was 4.47 out of 10 or 47.7% were on a digital transformation journey, (which is 

significantly lower than halfway 5.5, p<.005), this is a low score for the manufacturing sector in South Africa. 

ANOVA review of the rating across manufacturing sectors showed no significant correlation between sectors. Chi-

squared goodness of fit test was applied to the frequency of strategy development shows, a significant 70 (50.7%) 

of the respondents indicated that their business embarks on a strategy development process at least once a year, χ2 

(3) = 53.478, p<.0005. A significant 70 (50.7%) of the respondents also indicated that their business expects a 

return on digital initiatives in between one to three years, χ2 (3) = 55.101, p<.0005. A one-sample t-test was applied 

to investigating strategy development constructs around risk, security, innovation culture and structure showed a 
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high level of agreement among all constructs except for a structure where employees can learn from each other on 

digital disruption facilitated by cloud computing; the results showed no further agreement and a factor analysis did 

not yield two reliable factors. 

 

Human capital skill requirements 

 

Human capital investigates: the investment in human capital to retain and improve skills; cultural change to 

facilitate risk-taking; and how to create a culture for digital learning. A binomial test on the type of business 

thinking – traditional regimented corporate or entrepreneurial – showed no significant agreement nor disagreement 

as statistically these were reported in equal numbers. With regards to traditional regimented thinking, the day to 

day affairs of the business showed there was significantly more focus than in the ‘big picture’ thinking, more 

aligned with digital transformation and innovation.  

 

Age profile and skill recruited 

 

There was significant agreement that the younger age groups were recruited into the business, the 30 to 35-year 

old age group was highest N=85 (57.4%), followed by the 20 to 29-year age group, N=39 (11.4%). These age 

groups are significant in that digital skills are more prolific in the younger age profiles. There was significant 

agreement that engineering, N=59 (42.8%), and sales skills N=38 (27.5%) was recruited most into the businesses, 

followed by logistics, accounting, research, and development skills. A one-sample t-test showed two constructs 

were in disagreement: there was a noticeable divide across managerial levels regarding the implications and need 

for digital transformation, M=3.66, p=.148, and the business investment in the training of staff to enhance their 

digital capability, M=3.61, p=.347. Spearman's correlation used to test for significant relationships with 

demographic aspects of the business, age, turnover and number of employees and the human capital constructs 

showed no significant correlation between these. An ANOVA test to show the effect of the type of business sector 

on human capital constructs on the same industry sectors as in Table 4, showed more agreement in understanding 

the difference between a digital strategy and digital marketing strategy in the electronics sector over the 

chemical/pharmaceutical and wood/paper and publishing sectors. In using cross-functional teams for digital 

projects there is more agreement with food and beverage, electronics, transport equipment and automotive 

components over the wood/paper and publishing sector. 

 

DISCUSSION DEVELOPING A DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION MODEL 

 

The challenge in developing a digital transformation model is to have it current as an objective within the overall 

business strategy. The steps are as follows: 

Step 1 – Set the digital benchmark through identifying the digital gap, 47.7% from the research or 

independently calculated.   

Step 2 – Select independent variables pertinent to the digital strategy (Table 2). 

Step 3 – Define the dependent variables or constructs (Table 2) and apply an impact and urgency analysis to 

all variables in Step 2 and 3. 

Step 4 – Prioritise, weight, and rank the digital assets from the impact and urgency analysis (scale to be 

developed).  

Step 5 – List the prioritised digital assets, by function using a digital planning map (to be developed), set a 

financial plan, develop, and allocate detailed budgets for implementation. 

Step 6 – Select cross-functional teams, assign responsibilities against key performance areas (KPIs) and return 

on investment (ROI) requirements. 

Step 7 – Execute and review (Steps 1 to 6), set timelines, review dates, and update digital strategy every 6 

weeks to 12 weeks and incorporate them into the overall business strategy. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The study recognised components for a proposed digital asset leverage model, such that data management was 

divided into data handling and data type. It showed that data handling was used more than data type in the transport 

and automotive equipment, metals, and machinery sectors than in the wood/paper and publishing sector. It is 

essential to appoint a CIO to manage all aspects of data and provide the essential data inputs, analytics, algorithms, 

and simulation models for the CEO to successfully lead the business’s digital transformation. The CIO needs to 

provide data and communicate the data flow model to ensure all in the business understand the process. The most 

significant study finding was that the level of digital transformation in South African manufacturing sector was 

47.7%. This aligns with the research findings of the Microsoft study in 2017 which showed 48.8% of their customer 

base, albeit across all sectors, had undertaken some form of digital transformation.  
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ARE PEOPLE WILLING TO CONTRIBUTE VOLUNTARILY TO PUBLIC GOODS? 

RESULTS FROM BEHAVIORAL GAME 

Eva Sirakovová1 and Anetta Čaplánová2  

Abstract: 

In the paper, we discuss the possibilities of alternative provision of public goods using the voluntary contributions 

from individuals. We use the data from the behavioral public goods game based on the model of voluntary 

contribution mechanism. We examine how people's decisions about voluntary contributions to public goods 

change, when environment changes. The participants of the game were divided into small (5 persons) and large 

(10 persons) groups. During the game participants were asked to invest experimental money to different types of 

accounts, i.e. private account, group account 1 and group account 2. In the game, we also examine the impact of 

provision point on voluntary contributions. Based on the analysis of the data from this behavioral game, we found 

that the provision point is effective only if the participants are members of a large group. When the participants 

are members of a small group and also of a large group the provision point is not effective. The income of 

participants was also considered, we found that participants with higher experimental income were less willing to 

voluntarily contribute to financing of a public good. Further results from the analysis we discuss in detail in the 

paper. 

 

Keywords: behavioral economics, voluntary contribution mechanism, public goods game, online experiment 

 

INTRODACTION 

 

The increasing popularity of behavioral and experimental economics has brought a shift away from mainstream 

economics in many areas. The concept of public goods is no exception. Based on the conclusion of numerous 

economic experiments in this area, we can say that under certain conditions, people are willing to participate 

voluntary in the financing of public goods, and thus there are people who do not become a free rider, even if they 

have conditions to do so. Among the alternative mechanisms of providing public goods, we focus on voluntary 

contribution mechanism in this paper. We examine the mechanism of public goods, using our own online 

behavioral game.  

From our behavioral game, we obtained a data on how people behave when we change game conditions. We were 

particularly interested in how many people decided not to become a free rider. Our aim was also to find out, how 

an individual’s decision to contribute to public goods affects, for example, the amount of an individual’s income, 

the size of group or provision point.  

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

One of the alternative mechanisms for the provision of public goods is the private provision of public goods. Olson 

(1965) describes the basic principles of group behavior as well as the influence of group size on people’s behavioral 

changes. He concluded that economics incentives are not the only incentives for people, but also the desire to gain 

prestige, respect, friendship and their social and psychological aspect have a great influence on people’s behavior 

and decisions in groups.  

In other studies, in the field of private provision of public goods, for example, Bergstrom et al. (1986), Corners 

and Sandler (1984,1985) or Andreoni (1988) is a model of private provision to public goods based on the so-called 

public goods game (or voluntary contribution mechanism). In the public goods game, the participants usually 

invest experimental money into two type of accounts – private account and group account. The group account 

represents the public good.  Robeldo (2000) described three main assumptions of public goods game: 

- The participants in the game (individuals) are interested in the overall supply of the public good and their 

own consumption of the private good. 

- The total supply of public goods is given by the sum of the contributions of individuals (the contribution 

of different persons is perfect substitutes) 

- All individuals assume that the contributions of others are independent of their own contributions (the 

Nash equilibrium condition)  

 

One of the first experiment with public goods game ran Marwell and Ames (1979, 1980). They experimentally 

tested the validity of the theory of pure public goods and the free rider problem in the provision of public goods. 

They worked with the hypothesis that large groups should provide fewer public goods than small groups, as well 

as, assuming that a larger proportion of free riders should be in the larger groups compared with the smaller groups. 

Perhaps the most important finding of this study is that the number of free riders did not occur as expected. For 

                                                 
1 University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovakia 
2 University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovakia 
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small groups (four participants in a group), they found that approximately 57% of the experimental money went 

to the group account.  

The free rider hypothesis has long been an important part of public goods game experiments. Although the number 

of free riders varies across experiments, it is possible to observe three common observations, which are often 

repeated. First, there is no significant incidence of free riders in single-shot games. Second, if subjects play a 

repeated game, the number of free riders increase with each repetition. This phenomenon can be observed when 

subjects know the length of the game (Isaac, Walker, Thomas, 1984), but also when they do not know it (Isaac, 

McCue and Plott, 1985). Third, the number of free riders often increase after multiple round, but the so-called 

“pure free riding”, it means when no one would contribute to a public good, it rarely shows.  

An experimental examination of the contributions of individuals in voluntary contribution mechanism game with 

different levels of income (wealth) can be found in the research of Backley and Croson (2006). The results of their 

research show that they are inconsistent with any self-interest model, altruism model, or inequality model. Low-

income participants contributed about the same absolute amount (and thus higher percentage of their income) on 

public goods than higher-income individuals. Hofmeyr et al. (2007) also did not find statistically significant 

differences between the nominal contributions of high-income and low-income participants.  

One of the popular modifications of the voluntary contribution mechanism is the provision point (or threshold). 

The provision point is the minimum amount that must be invested in a group account. Only of this minimum limit 

is reached the public good will be provided. Rondeau and List (2008) observed a very strong impact of the 

threshold in a series of laboratory and field experiments. They found that the participants in the experiment 

contributed scientifically more to the group account in rounds in which the provision point was added. Bagnoli 

and Lipman (1992) or McBride (2004) observed the convergence of individual’s contribution toward the amount 

of the provision point.  

Reciprocity and commitment also have a significant impact on individual’s decisions. These factors have also been 

investigated in experiment with public goods. Kurzban et al. (2001) confirmed that subjects were willing to 

contribute to the public goods at or slightly above the level of the lowest contributor in the group. The findings of 

the research also showed that players had an aversion to inequality, which significantly determined the contribution 

to public goods.  

Another experiment showed the consistency of the findings with other experiments that worked with the 

reciprocity effect in the voluntary contribution mechanism. The subjects of experiments tried to compare their 

contribution with other members of their group, and at the same time there was a convergence of contributions 

towards the minimum contributor of their members of the group. The analysis of people’s behavior in groups with 

an emphasis on social comparison is an important factor in motivating people to contribute voluntary to the 

financing of public goods (Croson et al. 2005).  

 

METHODOLOGY 

The online behavioral game we designed has the one introductory round and four rounds where participants played 

a public goods game. Each round was preceded by detailed instructions for the participants. The instructions also 

provided an illustrative example of how player’s payoffs are calculated. Our behavioral game was run twice with 

different types of subjects. In the first experiment there were participants who applied by the online form published 

on the faculty website. The participants of the first experiment were not all financially rewarded, only those, who 

were the members of the so-called winning group. The winning group consisted of 5 people (one small group), 

whose cumulative returns for the entire duration of the experiment reached the highest value. The ratio in which 

the winners were paid out at the end of the game was as follows: 1 experimental money= 0,3€.  

In the second experiment, our participants were students of the University of Economics in Bratislava. We assumed 

that gaining additional point for evaluation could be motivating enough for students, so we decided to use a model 

that reward everyone for participating in the experiment and members of the winning group received an extra 

point. All students received 2 points for participating in the experiment and members of the winning group received 

3 points for the preliminary evaluation.  

After reading the instructions, the first, the so-called quiz round started. We chose the quiz in order to differentiate 

the participants of the game in term of income, but also so that the participants perceive the experimental money 

as earnings. In the quiz, the participants have the opportunity to gain certain amount of experimental money, which 

they later divided into different accounts in public goods game. The following table shows the exchange ratio of 

corrects answers in the quiz and the amount of experimental money.   

 

Table 1 – The exchange ratio of correct answers and experimental money  

Source: Author’s own 

The number of correct answers 0-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 

The amount of experimental 

money  

10 20 30 40 
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After the quiz, each participant can see how much experimental money he/she received. This was followed by the 

investment game rounds.  

In the first treatment, the participants were randomly divided into small groups (5 people). Each participant had to 

decided how much of the experimental money he/she invest to the two types of accounts– private account and 

group account. The private account is only an individual’s account and the payoff from this account is equal to the 

investment on it. In the group account 1 5 people participated (1 small group). Investments to this account were 

multiplied by the multiplier 1,2 and then distributed among individuals, regardless of whether and how much the 

member has contributed. An individual’s payoff consists of two partial payoffs – the payoff from the private 

account and the payoff from the group account.  

In the second treatment, we added the provision point mechanism. This means, that the revenue from the group 

account was conditional on the collection of 20 experimental money on this account. All other attributes of the 

game have been preserved.  

In the third treatment, we added the modification in the form of a new group account – group account 2. 

Investments to group account 2 were multiplied by 1.3. No provision point was added in this treatment. There was 

a situation where one participant was a member of two groups at a time – small and large group. There were 10 

participants in the large group (one large group = two small groups).  

In the last treatment, we used the provision points on both group accounts. The threshold for group account 1 was 

20 experimental money, the threshold for group account 2 was 30 experimental money.  

In the first experiment, there were 40 subjects, which allowed the creation of 8 small group of 5 people and 4 large 

groups of 10 people. In the second experiment, there were 60 subjects, which allowed the creation of 12 small 

groups and 6 large groups.  

 

RESULTS  

 

In the following table, we show the average contributions in each treatment for the both experiments. The data of 

average investments are given as a percentage of experimental income, as the participants in both experiments 

were income differentiated.   

 

Table 2 – Average contributions 

 Treatme

nt 

Account Low 

experimental 

income (10) 

Middle-low 

experimental 

income (20) 

Middle-high 

experimental 

income (30) 

High 

experimental 

income (40) 

F
ir

st
 e

x
p

er
im

en
t 

First  Private   57,0 % 65,0 % 51,58 % 47,66 % 

Group 1 43,0 % 35,0 % 37,42 % 52,34 % 

Second  Private  49,0 % 55,0 % 58,5 % 53,4 % 

Group 1 51,0 % 45,0 % 25,0 % 75,0 % 

Third  

Private  49,0 % 75,0 % 61,5 % 55,3 % 

Group 1 34,0 % 15,0 % 15,7 % 13,9 % 

Group 2 17,0 % 10,0 % 22,9 % 24,5 % 

Fourth  

Private  54,9 % 60,0 % 51,5 % 67,5 % 

Group 1 34,0 % 20,0 % 27,8 % 11,1 % 

Group 2 12,0 % 20,0 % 20,7 % 15,2 % 

The number of 

observations 
9 6 12 13 

S
ec

o
n

d
 e

x
p
er

im
en

t 

First  Private   50,0 % 60,0 % 50,4 % 53,9 % 

Group 1 37,5 % 40,0 % 45,6 % 42,1 % 

Second  Private  55,0 % 25,0 % 54,7 % 66,1 % 

Group 1 45,0 % 75,0 % 42,0 % 33,9 % 

Third  Private  41,3 % 25,0 % 52,4 % 60,6 % 
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Group 1 32,5 % 25,0 % 24,0 % 15,3 % 

Group 2 26,3 % 50,0 % 19,6 % 20,1 % 

Fourth  

Private  43,75 % 11,2 % 41,1 % 65,1 % 

Group 1 27,5 % 50,0 % 28,4 % 14,7 % 

Group 2 30,0 % 39,5 % 26,5 % 20,2 % 

The number of 

observations 
16 17 11 16 

Source: Author’s own 

 

In the first experiment in the first treatment the participants with higher experimental income contributed higher 

percentages of their income to the group account 1. The middle-high and high-income participants decided to 

increase the contributions to the group account in the second treatment, with high-income participants investing 

on average up to 75% of experimental money to the group account 1. In the third treatment, the provision point 

was removed, but at the same time the new group account was added. The addition of new group account resulted 

in the redistribution of contributions previously invested in one group account between the two group accounts. 

This fact is obvious when we compare the average contributions to the private account in the second and third 

treatment. It can be stated that low-income and middle-low income participants contributed higher percentages of 

income in group account 1 and middle-high and high- income participants invested higher percentages of income 

to the group account 2.  

In the second treatment, where our subject were students, we found that all subjects gave approximately the same 

percentage of their income to the group account 1, i.e.  40% in the first treatment. In the second treatment, low-

income and middle-low income increased their contributions to the group account 1, while middle-high and high-

income participants reduced their investment to this account. In the third treatment, there was similarly behavior 

as in the previous experiment. The contributions to the private account did not change significantly and the 

percentage of income contributed in one group account was redistributed to two group accounts. An interesting 

finding is that during the experiment decreased significantly, compared to the beginning of the experiment, private 

account contributions. The middle-low income participants invested 65% of their income in the first treatment to 

the private account and only 11,2% of their income in the last, fourth treatment.  

In the next part of the results we use the Wilcoxon test, which can calculate how many subjects have changed their 

behavior i.e. increased or decreased contributions or how many subjects did not change their behavior. We first 

compare group account contributions between the first treatment and all other treatments (2t vs. 1t, 3t vs. 1t, 4t vs. 

1t) and then we compare the third treatment with the second treatment (3t vs. 2t) and the fourth treatment with the 

third treatment (4t vs. 3t).  

 

Table 3 – Wilcoxon test – the contributions to the group account 1 

  The number of 

subjects who 

increased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

decreased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

contributed the 

same amount of 

experimental 

money  

p- value 

First 

experiment 

Group 

account 1 

(2t vs. 1t) 

11 13 16 0,0581 

Group 

account 1 

(3t vs. 1t) 

5 28 7 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 1t) 

6 26 8 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(3t vs. 2t) 
3 28 9 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 3t) 

13 7 20 0,0209 
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Second 

experiment  

Group 

account 1 

(2t vs. 1t) 

27 26 7 0,0831 

Group 

account 1 

(3t vs. 1t) 

7 44 9 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 1t) 

11 40 9 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(3t vs. 2t) 

6 42 12 0,0000 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 3t) 

17 20 23 0,0957 

Source: Author’s own 

 

The Wilcoxon test results show that a statistically significant proportion of subjects reduced group account 1 

contributions during the both experiments. In both experiments, the strategy of reducing investments to the group 

account 1 was chosen by most subjects in the third treatment, when there was a modification – another group 

account.  

To further examine how subjects behaved when a provision point was added, in the following table we compare 

contributions to the group account 1 in the first and second treatment (2t vs. 1t), contributions to the group account 

1 in the third and fourth treatment (4t vs. 3t) and contributions to the group account 2 in the third and fourth 

treatment (4t vs. 3t).  

 

Table 4 – Wilcoxon test – provision point mechanism  

  The number of 

subjects who 

increased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

decreased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

contributed the 

same amount of 

experimental 

money  

p- value 

First 

experiment 

Group 

account 1 

(2t vs. 1t) 

11 13 16 0,0581 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 3t) 
13 7 20 0,0209 

Group 

account 2 

(4t vs. 3t) 

11 10 19 0,0886 

Second 

experiment 

Group 

account 1 

(2t vs. 1t) 

27 26 7 0,0831 

Group 

account 1 

(4t vs. 3t) 

17 20 23 0,0957 

Group 

account 2 

(4t vs. 3t) 

26 10 24 0,0027 

Source: Author’s own 

 

In the first experiment, in the second treatment compared to the first treatment, most subject decided not to change 

their strategy and at the same time it can be stated that the modification did not bring about a statistically significant 

change in individual behavior. It was similar when comparing the third and fourth treatments. Nevertheless, in this 

experiment, the provision point was overcome in the second treatment by six small groups out of a total of eight 

groups, and in the fourth treatment, the provision point was overcome in three out of the four large groups.  

In the second experiment, in the second treatment, most subjects increased group account contributions, but this 

change is not statistically significant. A more statistically significant change in contributions to the group account 
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2 was in the fourth treatment. It means, that the provision point has a statistically significant effect on the increase 

in contributions in group account 2. In this experiment, nine groups out of total of twelve groups overcome the 

provision point in the second treatment and in the fourth treatment the provision point overcome five large groups 

out of total of six large groups.  

In other to make the view of individual behavior of participants comprehensive, we present the results of Wilcoxon 

test also for the private account. Again, we compare each experiment separately. We first compare all treatments 

with the first treatment (2t vs. 1t, 3t vs. 1t, 4t vs. 1t) and then the remaining treatment with each other (3t vs. 2t 

and 4t vs. 3t). 

 

Table 5 – Wilcoxon test – the contributions to the private account  

  The number of 

subjects who 

increased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

decreased 

contributions  

The number of 

subjects who 

contributed the 

same amount of 

experimental 

money  

p- value 

First 

experiment 

 

Private 

account (2t 

vs. 1t) 

13 11 16 0,0596 

Private 

account (3t 

vs. 1t) 

15 16 9 0,0818 

Private 

account (4t 

vs. 1t) 

18 14 8 0,0351 

Private 

account (3t 

vs. 2t) 

11 13 16 0,0836 

Private 

account (4t 

vs. 3t) 

7 15 18 0,0224 

Second 

experiment 

Private 

account (2t 

vs. 1t) 

28 25 7 0,0459 

Private 

account (3t 

vs. 1t) 

26 27 7 0,0960 

Private 

account (4t 

vs. 1t) 

24 28 8 0,06354 

Private 

account (3t 

vs. 2t) 

14 31 15 0,0677 

Private 

account (4t 

vs. 3t) 

17 25 18 0,1653 

Source: Author’s own 

 

Based on the data in the Table 5 it is clear that no treatment in both experiments has a statistically significant effect 

on changes in private account investments. In the first experiment, the most significant increase in private account 

investments occurred in the fourth treatment compared to the first treatment. In the second experiment, most 

subjects increased their private account investment in the second treatment compared to the first treatment.  

 

We continue the analysis with multiple linear regression. In our models, the dependent variable are the 

contributions to the group account 1. The independent variables are dummy variables for the treatments, the 

experimental income in the amount of experimental money obtained in the quiz at the beginning of the game, as 

well as age (dummy variable), gender (dummy variable) and university education (dummy variable).  
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Table 6 – The effect of treatment modifications, the effect of experimental income, education and gender   

Variables First experiment Second experiment 
First + second 

experiment 

Constant 
48,855*** 

(7,058) 

74,651*** 

(8,555) 

61,146*** 

(5,631) 

 

Second treatment 

-5,729** 

(5,572) 

-7,583** 

(5,941) 

-6,754** 

(4,267) 

Third treatment  
-25,791*** 

(5,572) 

-19,069*** 

(5,941) 

-21,679*** 

(4,267) 

Fourth treatment  
-23,208*** 

(5,572) 

-2,403*** 

(5,941) 

-10,638*** 

(4,627) 

Experimental income  
-0,284** 

(0,186) 

-1,041*** 

(0,222) 

-0,617*** 

(0,139) 

Woman  
5,937* 

(3,971) 

-2,206* 

(4,316) 

1,808* 

(3,061) 

Age (16-30) 
-0,339* 

(4,561) 

- -0,339* 

(0,941) 

University education  
2,329* 

(4,833) 

- -1,992* 

(3,311) 

R2 0,1956 0,1313 0,1956 

Source: Author’s own 
 

It is clear, that all modifications we used has a statistically significant effect on contributions to the group account 

1. In both experiments, however, due to these modifications, but probably also due to the learning factor of 

subjects, there was a decrease in contributions to the group account 1. Another possible explanation is the fact that 

the participants played the game online, which could be reflected in the perception of pro-social behavior. The 

most significant decrease in contributions was in the third treatment, when we added another group account. When 

we take a closer look at what happened on each account, looking at average investments and the Wilcoxon test 

and private account investments, we find that the reason why group account 1 contributions declined in the third 

and fourth treatment was not just the reluctance of subjects to invest in this account, but also the willingness of 

subjects to invest experimental money to the second group account and thus behave pro-socially even within a 

large group.  

 

CONCLUSIONS 

We have succeeded in proving that people are willing to participate voluntary in the financing of public goods. 

This willingness persisted regardless of whether they were members of a small or large group. Most subjects have 

decided to invest at least small part of their income in both group accounts. Our results show that some subjects 

were more willing to participate in the financing of public goods as a member of a large group. A statistically 

significant factor was individual income.  Low-income participants were also willing to participate voluntary in 

financing the public goods, even to a greater extent than high-income participants. Our findings point to the limited 

validity of the rationality of an individual’s actions. We have found that the free rider problem cannot be 

completely solved but can be largely eliminated.  

After a thorough analysis of individua’s contributions, we state that in both experiments the subject were willing 

to invest experimental money into the group account 2. However, we noticed several differences. In the first 

experiment, low-income participants were more willing to contribute to the group account 2, while in the second 

experiment the middle-high and high-income participants contributed more to the group account 2. The first 

experiment showed that group account investments in the third and fourth treatments were largely a redistribution 

of group account 1 investments, which private account contributions remaining approximately constant. In the 

second experiment, subjects in the third and fourth treatments showed that they were willing to invest more of 

their income to the both group accounts compared to the private account. In this experiment, there were more 

significant decreases in private account contributions in the last treatment of the experiment.  

Nowadays, none of the alternative mechanisms of providing public goods is universally accepted, so further 

scientific research is needed to help formulate alternative theories of financing and providing public goods. 

Behavioral economics, which examines human decision-making in real economic conditions, creates new 

possibilities in this direction.  

The possibility of alternative financing of public goods should bring competition to the provision of public goods 

and thus contribute to improving the quality of public goods and services.  
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Obviously, we cannot say with certainty which goods should be provided only by the state and which only by the 

private sector. Nor can be argued without restriction that the private sector is more efficient than the public sector, 

or vice versa. Rather, the research should focus on how to combine the two alternatives in the provision of public 

goods and services so that the citizen benefits the most. We see space for constant comparison of available 

alternatives and evaluation of the best possible solution for the citizens of the given county or citizens of the local 

municipality. The state should guarantee equal opportunities for all and promote the quality of public serviced 

provided. If the state cannot provide certain public good or service, citizens should have the information available 

so that they can choose the appropriate alternative if necessary. 
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DEVELOPING A GROWTH MODEL FOR FEMALE-OWNED MID-SCALE ENTERPRISES 

IN AFRICA 

Patricia Isabirye1 and Lia (Magda) Hewitt2  

 
Abstract:  

Mid-scale enterprises in Africa especially those owned by women, constantly fail to achieve successful 

entrepreneurship status. The study was aimed at exploring factors, which are essential in developing a growth 

model for female-owned mid-scale enterprises in Africa. A qualitative research approach was adopted that 

incorporated a comprehensive literature survey and three in-depth semi-structured interviews with prominent 

female mid-scale entrepreneurial leaders from East Africa. Findings reflected the multi-faceted nature of female 

entrepreneurial growth and highlighted motivation as a key aspect in business start-up and ultimate growth; the 

inclusivity of the wider external business context; significance of internal business dynamics; and the importance 

of a comprehensive growth trajectory; which are all crucial elements in a growth model for female-owned mid-

scale enterprises. 

 

Keywords: Female-Owned Mid-scale Enterprises, Growth Model, Female Entrepreneurship. 

 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 

The economic empowerment of women remains a major priority of the global socio-economic agenda (Odebrecht, 

2013). Women are critical in promoting household economy (Nesbitt-Ahmed, 2017) and improving their families’, 

communities’ and nations’ well-being. However, they face impediments, which hinder them from achieving their 

potential (AfDB, 2015; Ellis et al., 2007; Msila & Gumbo, 2016). Women own smaller, less dynamic enterprises, 

which potentially generate less income than their male counterparts (Potter et al., 2016). 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Women in Africa own a third of all existing companies (AfDB, 2015) in Africa and have played a major role in 

changing the face of African entrepreneurship (Odebrecht, 2013). The Companies to Inspire Africa (2019) report 

stated that compared to 2017 their figures indicate almost double the number of companies women are leading in 

Africa (LSEG, 2019). Promoting female entrepreneurship guarantees good citizenship and a strong economy due 

to its bearing on income equality, reduced household poverty and economic growth (Lain, 2016; Meyer, 2018; 

Nesbitt-Ahmed, 2017; Ramaswami & Mackiewicz, 2009).   

Female-owned enterprises in Sub-Saharan Africa tend to focus on low growth sectors, which register low 

performance and a higher failure rate compared to male-owned enterprises (Cirera & Qursum, 2014; Hallward-

Driemeier, 2013; Nesbitt-Ahmed, 2017; Odebrecht, 2013). Studies indicate that due to external business 

environmental challenges, women are opting for less profitable businesses for survival reasons (Chimucheka & 

Mandipaka, 2015; Gedion et al., 2015; Singer et al., 2018). They mostly focus on necessity entrepreneurship, 

partly because they lack the skills and motivation to build large progressive enterprises while men generally engage 

in entrepreneurship for opportunity reasons with profit and growth-related goals (Cirera et al., 2014; Irene, 2017; 

Odebrecht, 2013; Potter, et al., 2016; The World Bank, 2019).  

The external business environment is a fundamental variable in the growth of business enterprises (Dragnić, 2014; 

Halmaghi et al., 2017; Hewitt & Roodt, 2017) and presents a range of challenges, which impact the 

entrepreneurship sector tremendously (Gupta et al., 2013; Ungerer et al., 2016; Seo & Lee, 2019). The external 

environment is an integrated sum of various components including industry features, socio-cultural, technological, 

economic, physical environmental, political and legal trends plus local and global risks, which directly impact how 

enterprises function (Arshed et al., 2016; Gupta et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2017; Ungerer et al., 2016). Therefore, 

appropriate internal strategies are required to deal with these trends (Booysen, 2015; Hewitt et al., 2017; 

Nieuwenhuizen, 2014; Pártlová, 2017).  

Integrating within the external business environment reflects an adequate relationship between internal and 

external factors, which drives enterprises to manifest dynamics of their internal business environment (Booysen, 

2015; Halmaghi et al., 2017; Hewitt et al., 2017; Nieuwenhuizen, 2014). Internal dynamics refer to an enterprise’s 

corporate architecture, which is shaped by the external business environment (Booysen, 2015; Nieuwenhuizen, 

2014; Pártlová, 2017; Rasheed et al., 2015) and streamlined internally to determine success (Arshed et al., 2016; 

Gupta et al., 2013). 

Growth is usually manifested by internal finances, increased sales, number of employees, an enterprise’s assets, 

profits and available strategies (Achtenhagen et al., 2017; Gupta et al., 2013; Mateev & Anastasov, 2010). 

                                                 
1 University of Johannesburg, South Africa 
2 University of Johannesburg, South Africa 
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Successful market penetration, customer focus, the business founder’s gender and level of commitment, capital 

requirements during business start-up, internal growth strategy and available resources also determine growth 

(Heikkilä et al., 2018; Gilbert et al., 2006; Korunka et al., 2011; Mazzarol, 2014). 

Jaques’ Stratified System Theory (Jaques, 2002; Jaques & Clement, 1991) is useful in exploring the internal 

business environment by explaining the ability to perceive and analyse complex phenomena through cognitive 

complexity (Hewitt & van Rensburg, 2018). This leads entrepreneurs to entrepreneurial leadership status. 

Acquiring and using knowledge to promote positive change by identifying entrepreneurial opportunities, dealing 

with external challenges and creating products are critical female entrepreneurial capabilities (Arshed et al., 2016; 

Unger et al., 2009), which can be applied to promote growth of female-owned mid-scale enterprises. 

The Nodal Governance theory maintains that a group of individuals bears a range of complexities, which may be 

incomprehensible. Appropriate governance methods are usually developed to understand and strategically adapt 

to these complexities (Hayek, 1960). The theory describes how knowledge, capacity and resources are utilised to 

deal with situations like the external business environment by shaping how events unfold (Burris et al., 2005; 

Wood & Shearing, 2007; van Berlo, 2017) and can impact on the growth of female-owned mid-scale enterprises. 

The relational theory portrays how communal tendencies manifest within the business sector (Van Den, 2008), 

specifically, how effective coordination across products, functions and geographical lines is essential for growth 

(Sniukas et al., 2016). Leadership builds and sustains relationships (Kezar, 2004), which paves way for decisions 

and actions, based on connections between people and their social context (Qin, 2016). 

Models can be descriptive and are built using specific inputs making them useful in decision making 

(Bhattacherjee, 2012). Model building entails gathering information, determining a plan of action and evaluating 

a process using collected information (Rouwette et al., 2002). Models and model building are fundamental 

empirical phenomena representing complex situations using inter-linking factors that strategically explain reality 

(Solow, 1997). Models should be used for practical purposes, such as integrating internal and external factors in a 

cause-and-effect relationship (Yusoff et al., 2018).  

The study recognises the minimal academic studies on female entrepreneurship (Meyer, 2018; Gomes et al., 2014; 

Henry & Foss, 2015) and the limited design of adequate growth models that explain growth of their business 

enterprises. Strengthening mid-scale enterprises to enable them to attract customers and markets for long term 

value and how to balance internal strategic practices with entrepreneurial development also lacks sufficient 

empirical focus (Achtenhagen et al., 2017; Foss & Lyngsie, 2012; Lester & Parnell, 2005; Kyrgidou & Petridou, 

2011; Kyrgidou & Hughes, 2010; Kuratko & Audrestch, 2009; Schindehutte & Morris, 2009). 

Based on the background, the following research question was formulated: 

What essential factors should be considered when designing a growth model for female owned mid-scale 

enterprises in Africa? 

 

RESEARCH APPROACH AND METHOD 

 

A qualitative research approach was applied, which focused on exploring and understanding meaning of lived 

realities of female mid-scale entrepreneurs (Bauer & Gaskell, 2012; Creswell, 2014). A comprehensive literature 

review was conducted (Creswell, 2014), which was critical (Bryman, 2008; 2016) in generating existing 

knowledge (Kumar, 2014), unpacking existing ideas to detect various meanings and scope, relevant to the study 

(Bhattacherjee, 2012; Patten & Newhart, 2017; Shweta, 2016; Tranfield et al., 2003). Primary data were collected 

via in-depth semi-structured interviews (Haslam & McGarty, 2014; Howitt, 2019; Taylor et al., 2016).  

The population (Bhattacherjee, 2012; Rahi, 2017) included perceived successful female mid-scale entrepreneurial 

leaders from Kenya, Uganda and Tanzania (East Africa). Deliberate and judgemental sampling was applied, 

determined by the comprehensive, labour intensive and qualitative nature of this study. A sample of three female 

mid-scale entrepreneurial leaders from the communications, hospitality, and furniture industries, was purposively 

selected based on their detailed entrepreneurial experience and expertise (Howitt, 2019; Kothari, 2004; Mason, 

2010; O’Reilly & Parker, 2012; Panneerselvam, 2018; Uwe, 2015). The researchers applied Fusch and Ness 

(2015)’s notion of prioritising depth and volume of data over sample size while avoiding repetitive and redundant 

data, which comes with a large sample size (Mason, 2010). 

Data analysis was vigorous and creative (Taylor et al., 2016) to ensure that relevant data were collected and linked 

to the research question (Glaser & Laudel, 2013). The data were synthesised into more representative and abstract 

versions, giving them logic and re-organising them into more generalised formats using coding categories 

generated from the data (Creswell, 2013; Howitt; 2019; Kothari, 2004). 

Ethical procedures took note of the appropriate research behaviour in relation to participants’ rights and covered 

research design and access to data (Saunders et al., 2009). Ethical issues also covered consent to participate 

(Creswell, 2014), time allocated to the study, clarity on the research purpose, access requirements, contacts to be 

used and appropriateness of the research setting. Participants’ identity and their participation were kept private 

(Haslam et al., 2014; Howitt, 2019; Sutton & Austin, 2015). 
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FINDINGS 

 

Analysing the data, four principal themes manifested, which are inter-linked in a cause and effect dynamic 

(Yusoff et al., 2018) and were identified as essential factors in developing a growth model for female-owned mid-

scale enterprises. The study determines that a growth model should illustrate inter-dependent organisational 

elements (Dodge et al., 1994; Hanks, et al., 1994; Quinn & Cameron, 1988; Yusoff et al., 2018) described in 

stages during which the growth pattern should be unpacked (Lester et al., 2005). Each of the four principal themes 

are presented. 

The Motivation for start-up and growth is an overarching theme and a critical feature of the growth model, which 

characterises reasons for inception of female-owned mid-scale enterprises and how these impact on their growth 

and survival. Social constructivism is widely entrenched in the way participants detailed how behaviour and 

interest in female entrepreneurship was constructed in response to past and ongoing circumstances and 

expectations of the people in their social setting (Creswell, 2014; Sutton et al., 2015). In response to the interview 

question, “what was your motivation for starting your business?” one participant responded that her mother 

“started it for the pure and simple reason that she needed to feed her children.” Another participant, “was exposed 

to it at a micro level because my grandma used to sell farm produce in the local market.” Hence, the theme reflects 

how female entrepreneurs migrate into business issues at an early age, which translates into the drive, dedication, 

and determination useful for growth. Early exposure to entrepreneurship triggers interest in entrepreneurship 

issues, which consequently manifests into growth-related decision-making. Sustenance of families also drives 

motivation for start-up and subsequent growth, which re-emphasises the need to invest in female entrepreneurship 

and evidently contribute to an improved household economy (Nesbitt-Ahmed, 2017). Passion and love for the 

business is another key motivational element. Focusing on the bigger picture also contributes to motivation for 

business start-up and ultimate growth, which highlights the importance of opportunity versus necessity 

entrepreneurship (Irene, 2017; The World Bank, 2019). Personal ambition is equally necessary in driving business 

start-up and growth, while the presence of significant role models, motivates participants to engage in 

entrepreneurship and strive for growth, which echoes the relational theory (Qin, 2016). 

External threats and opportunities is another principal theme and critical ingredient of the growth model. The 

external environment comprises threats and opportunities, which directly influence growth. Therefore, these 

should be rigorously scanned (Arshed et al., 2016; Gupta et al., 2013; Ungerer et al., 2016) to gather useful 

information for the proper functioning of female-owned mid-scale enterprises (Booysen, 2015; Pártlová, 2017; 

Ungerer et al., 2016). One of the interview questions asked was, “when we talk about the external business 

environment in relation to your business are you able to take me through what affects your business externally?” 

and one response to this question was, “first of all I would say that there is no business that can operate 

independent of the external environment. The external environment impacts you because you are serving the 

external environment.” Another response was, “I will start by first mentioning some of the external issues for 

example we are on an island and being on an island means it’s very difficult to get resources. We depend on 

everything, I mean food, drinks, whatever from the mainland.” Social construction is depicted in how the wider 

business environment shapes the management of female-owned enterprises (Creswell, 2014; Sutton et al., 2015). 

 

The dynamic internal business environment theme highlights the importance of appropriate internal mechanisms, 

which are useful in dealing with external threats and opportunities (Halmaghi et al., 2017; Pártlová, 2017; 

Rasheed et al., 2015) and forms a critical component of the proposed growth model. These internal elements 

should be constantly streamlined and aligned with external threats and opportunities to promote growth. One of 

the interview questions asked was, “when I talk about the internal business environment, what does that mean?” 

and one participant responded that “I think what you mean by the internal business environment is how do we 

operate” while another response was, “it’s the culture, the structures, the value systems, the quality of talent, the 

vision, the mission, the adequacy in resources…the attitude of the leadership.” Another participant’s response to 

this question was, “I would say the systems must be kept simple, here I think I am looking at operations. I am 

looking at the systems in operations, the systems that you create must be kept simple, it must create accountability, 

it must be to curb fraud but whatever it is, it must work to make service delivery faster and better for the 

customers.” Hence, accurately understanding the internal business environment is among the initial steps in 

attempting to streamline internal practices and implementing growth actions. The ability to deal with complexities 

when scanning the external business environment provides mid-female entrepreneurs with knowledge to foresee 

future occurrences and determine the appropriate internal response mechanisms according to the Stratified Systems 

Theory (Arshed et al., 2016; Unger et al., 2009; Ungerer et al., 2016).  Adequate tangible and intangible resources 

(Gupta et al., 2013; Heikkilä et al., 2018; Sniukas et al., 2016), entrepreneurial leadership attributes and 

operational readiness were revealed as useful mechanisms in responding to external challenges. This depicts the 

nodal governance theory especially how knowledge, capacity and resources are streamlined to deliver an 

enterprise’s mandate (Burris et al., 2005; van Berlo, 2017). Practising inclusive and collaborative entrepreneurship 

in line with the relational theory (Qin, 2016) and adequate intellectual capital to gain competitive edge 
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(Achtenhagen et al., 2017; Shamailan, 2016) according to the Stratified Systems Theory (Hewitt et al., 2018) were 

also revealed. Market penetration while attracting and maintaining customers also forms a critical growth factor, 

therefore, innovative efforts should be dedicated to this (Arshed et al., 2016; Booysen, 2015; Nieuwenhuizen, 

2014; Seo et al., 2019). 

 

The comprehensive growth trajectory is the fourth principal theme, which features on the growth model and 

culminates from the internal practices highlighted under the dynamic internal business environment theme. One 

of the interview question asked was, “from your own perspective, what is a growth model?” and responses 

included “a process through which a business will engage or implement in order to grow revenue, grow reputation, 

grow profits, grow talent or human resources and grow return on investment” and “I can say where the growth 

strategy is involved, for example you need to have your marketing. How do you market your business? You are 

looking at the future, it’s not short term.” This component captures growth-focused actions such as embracing a 

growth attitude by acknowledging internal growth aspirations, determined through growth ambitions revealed by 

participants and their organisational profiles (Achtenhagen et al., 2017; Gupta et al., 2013; Mateev et al., 2010). 

The importance of adopting growth holistically is equally useful, including a systematic and structured approach 

to growth in the form of growth-focused strategies implemented and constantly updated internally. Instilling 

understanding of the meaning of a growth model and providing sufficient justification and clarification about the 

same is also critical in promoting ownership and managing a fulfilling growth process. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The study concludes that a growth model for female-owned mid-scale enterprises should incorporate key 

components, which need to be given substantial focus. These components are shaped from inception during which 

motivation for engaging in female entrepreneurship is moulded. This motivation, further integrates with the 

external business environment and corresponding internal mechanisms, which should be streamlined for the proper 

functioning of an enterprise. These internal dynamics should culminate into a comprehensive growth process with 

deliberate growth-focused actions, which if well implemented, may contribute effectively to the growth of female-

owned mid-scale enterprises. 
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INNOVATION AS ASSUMPTION OF DIGITISATION IN SLOVAKIA 

Alena Bašová1 

 
Abstract: 

In this paper, we will analyse two companies that belong to the category of small and medium-sized enterprises. 

By introducing innovative elements into their production, we will compare the amount of profit that resulted from 

their implementation.  Necessary condition was the implementation of digitisation. The company is currently 

working on an innovation that will be a complete novelty on the Slovak market. It is a system that can produce 

electricity only from the pressure loss on gas and cold lines. In this process, the excess energy that is in the pipes 

is used. As Kogabayev and Kazlauskas state innovations are systematically "manufactured". The main input factor 

is R&D expenditure (personnel, equipment, materials, etc.). The higher these inputs are, the higher the innovation 

yield is likely to be. We have to speak of probability because innovation involves degree of risk or uncertainty. 

Ultimately, the innovation process is driven by the prospect of profits.  However, innovation does not always have 

to be only positive. It can be a quantitative or qualitative change that also has a negative socio-economic impact. 

This means that a certain social change does not guarantee that an innovation will bring economic profit.  In the 

practical part of this paper, we will compare the amount of profit that resulted from implementation of innovation. 

Methodology and goal 

In this paper, we used several scientific methods, starting with collecting information, especially from scientific 

works from both foreign and domestic authors. Subsequently, we sorted them into individual chapters. From the 

scientific methods we mainly used paired methods such as induction and deduction, analysis and synthesis. By 

using the method of observing data in the analysed period, we summarised parts in short conclusions. For a better 

presentation of the obtained results, we used graphical and mathematical methods, which are mainly used for a 

clearer presentation of our results in tables and charts. The aim of the article is to calculate the amount of profit 

achieved by introducing innovations whose prerequisite was the introduction of elements of digitalization. The 

aim of the paper is to promote innovation and digitation in line with EU policy. 

Results 

We live in a world where technology is advancing at an incredible speed. Everything around us is changing and it 

is becoming more and more challenging for companies to enter the market. At the same time, the customer is also 

becoming more demanding. To enter on a profitable market today, companies must look to new growth 

opportunities. At the same time, to become the best, they also must learn to experiment and implement new 

innovations, digitisation of products and processes are necessary. Innovation is essential for the growth and 

continued success of companies and, as in any sector and in an important in the energy sector. The most recent 

trend of innovation in energy sector is to be ecology, as there is a very strong requirement for being “greener”. We 

can see this trend in the growing sale of electric cars; also, there are electric buses, the use of electrified railway 

lines, and electric bicycles. These developments are also applied to the use of “green” electricity in the home. 

However, what a company needs to do when entering the market is to choose the right innovative strategy. The 

competition in the market is very strong, so when the company wants to consider what method of digitation and 

innovations to use it has to select them to reach a competitive advantage over others. 

 

Keywords: digitisation, innovations, electricity energy, profit 

 

INTRODUCTION  

 

The word energy first appeared in Aristotle’s Metaphysics as "Energeia". He explained this word as an effective 

force that transforms the possible into the real. That is, if someone is sitting in a chair, they can get up and leave 

at any time, but in order to do it, they must do something necessary. This was his explanation of this word – that 

is, "Enérgeia" – "to make reality this possible". (Peager, Jürgen) The first references to electricity date back to the 

6th century BC, thanks to the famous Greek philosopher, astronomer and mathematician Thales of Miletus. He 

was the first to leave us reports of the manifestations of electricity and magnetism. By rubbing a piece of amber 

and animal hair or a dry cloth, he was able to attract light objects such as straw or feathers. At that time, he could 
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not yet fully explain this phenomenon and therefore did not pay much attention to it. It was not until 1,600 that the 

English physicist William Gilbert first used the word electricity. (https://www.sse.sk/aktuality/top-zaujimave-

fakty-o-elektrine-pobavia-a-prekvapia-aj-vas?page_id=10038) The word energy had come into common use until 

the late 19th century, but its definition began to take shape as early as the late 17th century. In 1686, Gottfried 

Wilhelm von Leibniz developed ideas that largely correspond to our current concepts of kinetic and potential 

mechanical energy. The word 'energy' was first introduced into physics in 1800 by Thomas Young. 

(https://home.uni-leipzig.de/energy/energie-grundlagen/01.html, 2019) 

In 1767, Swiss researcher Horace-Bénédict de Saussure built the first flat-plate solar collector, which was later 

perfected by John Herschel. In 1891, Danish meteorologist Poul la Cour built the world’s first wind turbine on the 

Jutland Peninsula, and almost 30 years later, 120 such systems were already covering 3% of the country’s 

electricity consumption. The first large hydroelectric power plant was commissioned at Niagara Falls in 1896. At 

the same time, the oil and gas were transported in China through bamboo pipelines for heating, cooking and 

lighting more than 2,000 years ago, when they were also first used industrially. French mathematician Augustin 

Mouchot, a promoter of pioneering work on the benefits of solar energy, proclaimed that fossil fuels had only a 

limited future. In 1879, on the occasion of the publication of his solar-powered steam engines, he warned that 

European industry would sooner or later run out of raw materials: “Coal will undoubtedly be exhausted. What will 

industry do then?” (Energie: Eine (sehr) kurze Geschichte der Energiewende. In geo)  

 

DEFINITIONS AND THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF INNOVATION 

 

Currently, the energy sector is more focused on new technologies and innovations that could facilitate doing 

business, and which are becoming more and more sustainable conditions. The Enterprises are developing new 

strategies that not only reduce carbon footprints and costs, too but also create long-term business benefits and a 

new perspective for the future.  Generally, the concept of innovation does not have a well-defined universal 

definition. The word comes from the Latin word inovare, which means restoration. (Hrašková, D). Schumpeter 

was considered the founder of the theory of innovative entrepreneurship. He defines innovation as both the 

economic impact of technological change and the use of new combinations of existing productive forces to solve 

current business problems. (Kogabayev, Maziliauskas, 2017) 

Economist Twiss defined innovation as a process, which combines science, technology, management, and 

economics to achieve novelty and contents from the origin of an idea to its commercialisation in the form of 

production, Exchange, and consumption. (Twiss, Goodridge, 1989) According to Urabe, innovation can be 

understood as an idea or invention that is successfully introduced to create a new wealth. Innovation is the creation 

of a new idea and its implementation into a new product, process or service, leading to dynamic growth in the 

national economy and to increased employment. As well as the creation of net profit for the innovating enterprise, 

Smeds reports, from the above definitions, we can say that all authors agree that innovation is a new change that 

improves or replaces something that already exists in society. (Smeds, 1994) 

Kogabayev and Maziliauskas state, that Innovations are systematically “produced”. The main inputs factor are 

R&D expenditures (personnel, equipment, materials, etc.). The higher these inputs, the higher the innovation profit 

from them. We speak about probability because innovation involves risk or uncertainty. Finally, the innovation 

process is driven by reached profits. (Hanekamp, Steger Hrsg., 2001). For businesses, they represent one of the 

most important driving forces of long-term success, since when companies wish to increase their competitiveness, 

they develop the differentiation strategy or try to achieve the price leadership, while in both cases it is the very 

innovations that are vitally important. However, innovations do not always have to be positive. They can be a 

quantitative or qualitative change, which also has a negative socio-economic impact. This means that a certain 

social change does not guarantee that an innovation will be economically efficient. (Hrašková, D.) 

Despite the possible negative consequences, innovation is very important in society. For companies, they are one 

of the most important drivers forces of long-term success, because if companies want to increase their 

competitiveness, they have to develop the differentiation strategy, or they can try to achieve price leadership, and 

in both cases innovation and digitisation. Innovations concern both products and processes. They can be classified 

as incremental or radical according to the nature of the change they bring to the enterprise. The typology of 

innovation is shown in Figure 1. 

 

 

https://www.sse.sk/aktuality/top-zaujimave-fakty-o-elektrine-pobavia-a-prekvapia-aj-vas?page_id=10038
https://www.sse.sk/aktuality/top-zaujimave-fakty-o-elektrine-pobavia-a-prekvapia-aj-vas?page_id=10038
https://home.uni-leipzig.de/energy/energie-grundlagen/01.html
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Figure 1. Typology of innovation 

 
Source: own processing according Ritta Smends. Available at: 

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/2461357_Managing_Change_towards_Lean_Enterprises 

 

From the figure we can note that incremental innovations improve an old product or process within an existing 

structure and strategy, while radical innovations create new business opportunities, new strategies and structures, 

but can also be the result of many innovations that reinforce each other in a common direction. (Smeds, year)  

 

RELATIONSHIPS IN THE INNOVATION CHAIN 

 

At the same time, it is essential to synchronize innovation with the product life cycle. The importance of different 

types of innovation varies depending on the maturity of the industry. In the next figure we can see the product life 

cycle, which can be used to measure the maturity of a company. 

 

Figure 2. Product lifecycle 

 
Source: own processing according: 

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/243461357_Managing_Change_towards_Lean_Enterprises 

 

The product lifecycle starts with the introduction of radical innovations. It continues until the selection of a 

dominant product design. Once selected, the product begins to grow through major process innovations that affect 

price, quality, and segmentation, and through incremental innovations try to improve and enhance the original 

product. In the maturity phase, only incremental innovations can be used, due the product is related with another 

processes. In the last phase, the product starts to decline as the market is quite reached saturation and some external 
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shocks in the market or in the technology may trigger a new wave of product innovation and the initial phase of a 

new substitute product starts. (Smeds, 1994) 

At this point, it is important to note that innovation is linked to the competitiveness and new strategy of the 

enterprise. In order to differentiate itself from its competitors, a company needs to have a strategic plan and for 

this, innovations are necessary. In less developed countries, enterprises must design and develop high-quality 

products and processes to remain competitive, which requires an appropriate space for innovative activity, 

financially supported by both the private and public sectors. In particular, sufficient additional investment in 

research and development as well as scientific research institutions and research cooperation between universities 

and industry is essential. (Schwab, 2009) 

Competitiveness can be defined as “the set of institutions, factors and policies that determine a country’s level of 

productivity.” This means that the more competitive an economy is, the more it tends to generate higher levels of 

income for its inhabitants.  But firms do not compete only in established markets. They seek to introduce previously 

unused goods or services and so they create entirely new markets. A firm’s ability to create such global markets is 

related to its innovative competitiveness. (Rouvinen, 2002) To find a way to achieve a sustainable competitive 

advantage over other competing products and companies in the market is a key strategic challenge for most 

entrepreneurs. (Riley, J. Porter’s Model of Generic Strategies for Competitive Advantage,2009) At the innovation-

driven stage, the ability to produce innovative products and services at the global technological frontier using the 

most advanced methods becomes a dominant source of competitive advantage. (Lopez-Claros, A.-Porter M.-

Xavier M.- Schwab K., 2007) A competitive advantage is an exceptional capability, for example, cutting-edge 

research and development, innovative flexibility, unique production facilities and others, which differentiates a 

company from its competitors. Where there is no scope and reason for differences to arise, competitive advantage 

does not arise and can therefore only arise under favourable conditions that cause differences between firms. 

(Riley, J, Slávik, 2009, 2002) In order to gain a competitive advantage, Porter said they could adopt the four 

general business strategies he suggested. 

 

Figure 1. General Porter’s strategies  

 
Source: own processing according: https://www.tutor2u.net/business/reference/porters-generic-strategies-for-

competitive-advantage?fbclid=IwAR2wDMH44JyAnkYWqK2nW55JC7T_O5X-

RRwRTQT8lTftDvk436zGpwuaIGY 

 
From Figure 3, we can see, that the cost leadership and differentiation strategies gain competitive advantage in a 

wide range of market segments, while the cost focus differentiation strategies are adopted in a narrow market. The 

cost leadership strategy aims at becoming the cheapest producer in the industry. This strategy is mostly associated 

with large enterprises and requires close cooperation between all functional areas of the business, whereas, the 

cost focus.  

As part of driving differentiation, the business focuses on differentiation across the industry. In this strategy, the 

firm charges a higher price for the product due to higher production costs and offers the consumer a product with 

extra added value. The firm may achieve differentiation through higher product quality, branding, industry-wide 

distribution through all major channels or promotion such as advertising, sponsors, etc. By contrast, in 

differentiation focus, as in the cost focus strategy, the firm focuses on differentiation in only one or a smaller  

https://www.tutor2u.net/business/reference/porters-generic-strategies-for-competitive-advantage?fbclid=IwAR2wDMH44JyAnkYWqK2nW55JC7T_O5X-RRwRTQT8lTftDvk436zGpwuaIGY
https://www.tutor2u.net/business/reference/porters-generic-strategies-for-competitive-advantage?fbclid=IwAR2wDMH44JyAnkYWqK2nW55JC7T_O5X-RRwRTQT8lTftDvk436zGpwuaIGY
https://www.tutor2u.net/business/reference/porters-generic-strategies-for-competitive-advantage?fbclid=IwAR2wDMH44JyAnkYWqK2nW55JC7T_O5X-RRwRTQT8lTftDvk436zGpwuaIGY
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The term open innovation was first defined in 2003 by H. Chesbrough as “the use of targeted inflows and outflows 

of knowledge to accelerate internal innovation processes as well as to expand into innovation markets”. The 

downside of such innovation is the possible loss of direct control over the innovation process due to concerns about 

the protection of intellectual property rights. The fact of continuously developing new capabilities and absorptive 

capacities as well as the ability to sell the value of their internal as well as external patents can provide some 

protection. 

 

Scheme 1. Open innovation 

 
Source: Chesbrough, H. W. (2011): Open Services Innovation: Rethinking Your Business to Grow and Compete 

in a New Era, p. 69.  

 

From point of view of the degree of openness of the innovation process, the following four types of open innovation 

can be distinguished: (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990): 

• pure outsourcing, the management the scientific research by external entities such as universities and 

contract research organisations, 

• licences and patents, technology transfers, venture capital financing, 

• collaborations and variants such as joint ventures companies, joint development,  

• open resources: sharing of technologies, skills, capabilities for improving production. 

 

Figure 4. Processed innovation 

 

 
Source: Cohen, W. M. - Levinthal, D. A. (1990): Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and 

Innovation. p. 128. 

 

Over the course of the Industrial Revolution, different kinds and types of innovations have gradually been 

identified. The original closed innovations, which were characterised by innovations only within the enterprise, in 

its scientific research department, were aimed only at improving product characteristics. Later on, research and 
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development was moved to the cooperation between the company and universities, specialised research institutes, 

and there were already significant process changes. 

 

Scheme 2. Closed and open innovation 

 
Source: Atte Isomäki:2018 Open Innovation – What It Is and How to Do It 

 

Merged companies may gain new market power; their new formal structures may increase labour productivity, 

reduce unnecessary investment, and corporate costs. They may be seen as an external corporate governance 

mechanism to “punish” inefficient managers, which results in a transfer of assets from inefficient to efficient 

management.  

 

Scheme 3. Synergy effect in the innovation process 

 
Source: Rashmi Pant (2015,): What’s driving mergers and acquisitions in pharma industry?  

 

Innovative business strategies involve new ways of competing that could bring great results. However, there are 

also certain structured practices that are used in the search for new ways of competing. One of such method is the 

value chain, which author is Porter.  The value chain is based on the idea of viewing a manufacturing or service 

organisation as a system that is made up of other subsystems. (Slávik,2002) Each of these has inputs, 

transformation processes and outputs that involve the acquisition and consumption of resources – money, 

materials, buildings, energies, labour, etc. Through the execution of value chain activities, costs are determined 

and affect profit. The activities in transforming inputs into outputs can be classified as primary and supporting. 

(Porter’s Value Chain) 
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Figure 5. Porter’s value chain    

 
Source: own processing according the University of Cambridge. Available at:  

https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/research/dstools/value-chain-

/?fbclid=IwAR2rjg6cPVuI3SMdIZ_kqZY0x5h4JLpPK9m7K5Oto5nb5WEJLG5kL-dsJdA 

 

Support activities include procurement (purchasing of inputs), human resource management (recruitment, training, 

development, etc.); enterprise infrastructure serves for the needs of the enterprise and consists of various functions 

or departments, such as accounting, finance, planning, general management, and technology development 

(improving and implementing technologies used in transforming inputs into outputs).  However, nowadays we can 

encounter with hyper competition. This means that new competitive advantages are constantly being created that 

can disturb the advantages of leading positions of enterprises and leave them an imbalance and in chaos. In hyper-

competitive markets, firms react quickly to the innovations of their competitors. Therefore, in hyper competition, 

firms must create many competitive advantages rather than just one (Daveni, 1998) 

As early as in 2005, the International Energy Agency (hereinafter IEA) identified a number of key technological 

challenges, in particular improving the performance of electricity energy storage, smart management of electricity 

grids to integrate distributed generation and generation intermittency, improving the performance of solar 

photovoltaic and bioenergy technologies, and improving the energy efficiency of buildings, transport and industry. 

(Rhodes, Skea, Hannon, 2014) Solving climate change and mitigating its damage at the time required, necessitates 

significant innovations in speed and scale. As with any innovation, the energy sector innovation reduces private 

incentives to invest, but the social benefits of clean energy associated with reduced pollution cannot be achieved 

without government intervention. (Popp, Pless, Haščič, Johnstone,2020) 

The state can support innovation by: 

• introducing new solutions to problems and thus, above all, speeding their diffusion, 

• increasing the cost of existing solutions to the problem (e.g. fossil fuel taxes) or prohibits the use them, 

• entering to the market as a pioneer in demand, which will set a higher purchase price (sometimes with 

lower quality) and thus create the conditions for the benefits of mass production and the learning effect. 

(Hanekamp, G.- Ulrich Steger, Hrsg. 2001)  

 

PRACTICAL APPLICATION OF INNOVATION IN SLOVAKIA 

 

Let us introduce company ESM-YZAMER, energy services and monitoring, s. r. o., is a small professional 

company, which is based at the outskirts of Trnava, which deals with services in the energy sector, and which has 

been operating on the European market for more than 20 years. The company was founded in 1998 by Emil 

Izakovic and currently employs 28 people. Its slogan is: "we save your heat". It provides adequate services in the 

energy sector using state-of-the-art technologies and, as a small company, it focuses primarily on the needs of its 

customers. The range of services and products offered by the company is characteristic of professionalism in the 

fields of energy, management of renewable energy, technology management, and consumption monitoring. The 

company also focuses on reducing energy consumption, which is very important, through heating and cooling 

systems that emphasize the use of renewable energy sources. 

Its partners, with whom it cooperates are: 

- Elesta – manufacturer of control systems and complex solutions for technology control, heating, cooling and 

building automation; 

https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/research/dstools/value-chain-/?fbclid=IwAR2rjg6cPVuI3SMdIZ_kqZY0x5h4JLpPK9m7K5Oto5nb5WEJLG5kL-dsJdA
https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/research/dstools/value-chain-/?fbclid=IwAR2rjg6cPVuI3SMdIZ_kqZY0x5h4JLpPK9m7K5Oto5nb5WEJLG5kL-dsJdA
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- Thermaflex – manufacturer and implementer of Flexalen plastic pre-insulated pipes for heating, hot, domestic 

and mineral water; 

- AISIN Toyota group – manufacturer of gas and heat pumps 

- mix systems – manufacturer of Metrix proportional distributors, water meters, impulse counters and heat meters 

with smart card read. (http://yzamer.sk/o-spolocnosti/obchodni-partneri) 

There is competition in all areas of service provision, including the energy sector.  ESM Yzamer's biggest 

competitors are: 

- Techem spol. s r. o., 

- Regena ES s. r. o. Strážske, 

- Ista Slovakia, s. r. o.. 

Based on market performance, regular research and years of experience, ESM Yzamer points to its two biggest 

competitive advantages: namely service comprehensiveness and software development. By service 

comprehensiveness we mean both the design and as well as the design solution. The solution starts with an analysis 

of the customer’s needs subsequental design and implementation. The individual steps of the solution are discussed 

with the customer, which leads to the subsequent in-house installation. Complexity can bring this system or 

technology to life using internal capabilities that are focused on the complexity of these systems.  

Highlights include monitoring services, operations, service calls, and 24-hour supervision. The company considers 

its biggest advantage the guarantee to start the solution in case of any malfunction. Software development includes 

the development of monitoring software that provides control over the installed equipment at all customer sites. 

This system is called machine to machine (hereinafter M2M) communication and ensures prompt repair in the 

event of a failure, in the case of an alarm triggered in the form of a call-out or repair of the technology remotely. 

ESM Yzamer is sought after in the Slovak market due to the current trend of monitoring energy consumption to 

save energy costs and reduce CO2 emissions. 

ESM Yzamer considers software development as an innovative strategy for gaining a competitive advantage. This 

advantage lies in the fact that many energy companies do not practise software development, so that they do not 

have sufficient capacity or know-how. The problems start with the issue of financing them, because paying 

developers is very costly. As an example, providing a heat pump to a customer brings with it services such as cloud 

software or an application that is used to control and also provides knowledge to the company in case of unexpected 

events. At the same time, the company provides analyses in the form of monthly or semi-annual output of 

efficiency analysis, efficiency improvement, or possibly software change of the equipment, etc. 

Synergies between the related companies can be manifested in different ways. These companies can gain market 

power as well as increase labour productivity, reduce unnecessary investments and corporate costs. They could be 

seen as an external mechanism of corporate management with aims to punish inefficient managers, resulting in the 

transfer of assets from inefficient to efficient management. 

 

Scheme 4. Synergy effect in innovative process  

 
Source: Rashmi Pant. (2015): What’s driving mergers and acquisitions in pharma industry? 
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Highlights include monitoring services, operations, service calls, and 24-hour supervision. The company considers 

as the biggest advantage to be the guarantee to start the solution in case of any failure. Software development 

includes the development of monitoring software that provides control over the installed equipment at all customer 

sites.  

This system is called machine-to-machine communication (hereinafter "M2M") and ensures quick repair in the 

event of a fault, in the event of an alarm being triggered in the form of a call-out or remote repair of the technology. 

 

Innovation on the Slovak energy market  

 

In recent years, Yzamer has implemented three major innovations. The first is the aforementioned complete smart 

metering system, which is aimed at collecting data on consumption of water, gas, electricity, heat and cold. It is 

installed in apartment buildings and office buildings, too. The complexity of this service puts this company at the 

forefront, as they have won many contracts thanks to it. Another innovation is the three-generation system that 

produces electricity and heat using gas microturbines. The product offered has been integrated into the market by 

Capstone. It is a system where a gas microturbine is installed to a building to produce heat and electricity. This 

system saves up to two thirds of (2/3) of the actual costs for the production of these energies. The advantage is that 

it is an economical and environmentally friendly solution, because it works with primary energy uses gas to 

produce energies, which, under normal conditions, need to be imported as the secondary ones.    In the case of 

production of electricity, the losses are considerably high, which can be reduced or completely minimised by 

innovation. 

The latest innovation is the integration of a gas heat pump. This technology has mainly helped office and buildings 

with higher heat and cold demand. The advantage of this equipment is that it produces both heat and cold; therefore, 

there is no need to purchase an air conditioner and a boiler, as you only need to have one device that provides both 

commodities. It saves both space and costs. The operation is more efficient and the costs are lower because one 

third (1/3) of the energy is produced by a chemical process that is enclosed in the heat pump in question. During 

operation, low potential heat from the surrounding environment is used by means of expansion. The company is 

currently working on an innovation that will be a complete novelty on the Slovak market. It is a system that can 

produce electricity only from the pressure losses on gas and cold lines. This process uses the excess energy, which 

is in the pipes. The company would like to use this surplus energy to supplement electricity generation for larger 

units. All the above-mentioned innovations implemented by the company have had a positive impact on the growth 

of profits. The more the innovation is invested, the more profitable the innovation becomes. Yzamer is aware of 

its strengths in software quality. 

Characteristics of the company Techem, s r. o. 

Techem, s r.o. is a leading certified company dealing with energy services, which are created as individually 

designed and tailor-made services of packages. It is a subsidiary of the German company Techem GmbH, and in 

Slovakia it has regional representation in Bratislava (headquarters), Nové Zámky, Banská Bystrica, and Košice. 

The company was established in Slovakia in 1993 and currently employs 42 people. It provides services in the 

field of supply, installation and servicing of heat and water consumption with measuring equipment, as well as 

their metering and budgeting. Its mission is to help to owners, managers and apartment users from high costs. 

Currently Techem has more than 930 thousand meters installed in Slovakia and is a recognized partner of housing 

management, administrators, homeowners and apartment users. The company also tries to protect the environment. 

Through the authorised organisation NATUR-PACK a. s.  the company is involved in the system of collection and 

recovery of packaging and packaging waste, electrical equipment, and portable batteries. 

Analysis of competitors  

The company has several competitive advantages as it has been operating on the Slovak market for almost 30 

years. But it does not mean that the company has not competitors. The company’s biggest competitors are also 

ESM Yzamer, Ista and Regena. The biggest advantage of Techem, s r.o. can be considered its origin. It is a 

subsidiary, and it leads to use own financial resources to enter the market and a well-chosen strategy that helped 

to differentiate itself from the competitors.  It owns the largest market share in Slovakia, which is another 

competitive advantage because the company’s reputation also influences the sales of products or services. The 

quality and reliability of the products and services offered by the company guarantees customer satisfaction and 

customer loyalty. 
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As its big innovative advantage, the Techem considers systematic quality control and it maintaining it at the highest 

possible level. It tries to meet delivery deadlines through the high professionalism of the team. It offers its 

employees various opportunities for systematic training, which can help to improve communication with the 

customer, decision-making and problem-solving skills, as well as the ability to solve the stressful situations.  

Employees will fulfil and develop their skills in their own interest, and the employer will increase productivity and 

quality of its work. Another innovative strategy of the company is pro-customer behaviour towards its clients. The 

company strives to meet the needs of the customer and in doing so, it uses innovative products and services. 

Despite a slower implementation of innovation in this firm, there have been some changes associated with 

innovation. A significant innovation is the GSM system, which is data collection, including steps towards 

communication through 5G networks, as assumption of digitalization. It is a project, which connects the equipment 

and people and is used in modern equipment for control mainly remotely using the internet (IoT Internet of Thing). 

This innovation has minimized the billing errors created by paper-based instrument readings and has made faster 

some processes. Its greatest advantage was that end-users were sufficiently informed about their consumption and 

users had more control of their consumption. These innovations are also associated with savings from primary 

energy resources. The company is currently working on improving this innovation. The electric power systems 

use a central architecture during construction that brings a new set of challenges to the industry. IoE addresses 

several of these challenges and offers greater efficiency and optimal design for building energy systems. The 

Internet of Energy implements intelligent distributed control through energy transactions between its users. This 

new energy generation paradigm develops a smart grid and improves coordination and optimization in this energy 

system. 

Science and research are mainly carried out at the headquarters in Germany, but Techem as a subsidiary pays its 

share to the parent company in the form of "intercompany charges". The research and development (hereinafter 

R&D) item are only up to a maximum of 5% of the holding company’s total costs. That means for the Slovak 

company invested €110,000 annually in the parent company’s innovation, which amounts to €550,000 over five 

years. Automation is the basis of our innovation is costly and we have been forced to reduce prices due to the 

competitive environment. 

 

The competitive environment – Comparison of the surveyed companies 

  

To compare the competition among the mentioned firms, we have selected firm-specific products provided by 

them. As the first one we will analyse the firm ESM Yzamer. Its specific technology it offers is Heat2Go. This is 

a generation of smart metering system that allows anyone to track, monitor and evaluate the consumption of heat, 

water, electricity and gas, regardless whether the subject is a homeowner, a property manager or an industrial unit 

owner. Heat2Go performs readings based on a smart card, which eliminates the mistakes which used to arise with 

conventional meters. It provides maximum privacy as there is no need to visit the apartment to take the reading its 

application of digitalisation in practice. It also provides an advantage for the customer as they do not have to be at 

the meter reading location on the day of the reading and are not restricted by the time interval.  In the application, 

an overview of the consumption for each single room is available in tables or graphs. Checks can be made for 

different time periods.  (http://yzamer.sk/o-spolocnosti/obchodni-partneri) 

The Techem company systematically monitors energy and water consumption, applies Smart metering and saves 

around 10% of heating energy. The system makes sure that the amount of heat actually needed for the building is 

produced, considering the needs of the apartment occupants and will not disturb them their thermal comfort. It 

optimises the supply of heating, thus avoiding unnecessary heat production and delivery. The customers use an 

online adaptor cockpit, which is available for daily updates on the operation of the heating system and the 

efficiency of the system. (https://www.techem.sk/techem/prehlad.html ) 

In the table below, we analysed three competing companies providing a service of metering of household’s 

consumption monitoring, whereby the consumer can control his consumption himself. Yzamer is in a leading 

position due to several advanced services it provides to its customers. The competitive advantage of this company 

clearly visible in this table.  

http://yzamer.sk/o-spolocnosti/obchodni-partneri
https://www.techem.sk/techem/prehlad.html
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Table 1. Comparison of Smart systems of individual companies 

Source: own processing according web sites of analysed companies 

 

ESM Yzamer and Techem have significant competitive advantages, but only ESM Yzamer focuses on monitoring 

the consumption of heat, water, gas and electricity not only in households but also for private companies, heat 

suppliers and government institutions. Examples include primary and kindergartens, hospitals, municipal 

authorities, and so on. But competing companies only focus on metering heat and water consumption in 

households.  Techem also provides the regulation of the required heat, and it is with the Adapterm system. 

The competition is important not only for consumers but also for companies as a whole. We can say that it is the 

driving force of companies, thanks to which they are constantly evolving and increasing their presence on the 

market. This is an incentive to create innovations that are much more acceptable to the consumer from a financial 

or consumer point of view. To compare profitability, we have chosen two competitors in the energy sector in 

addition to the firms under study. As Kantor (Kantor, J. 2007) states, an important feature of competition is its 

profitability. He states that in a competitive market, the main goal of firms is to achieve the highest profit, while 

consumers want to achieve the highest utility. (Kantor, J.2007) 

 ESM Yzamer Ista Slovakia Techem 

System Heat2Go Smart system Ista Techem Smart system  

Access to consumption  Application, web sites  Web sites ista24 
Web sites – Adapterm 

cockpit 

Metering of water Yes Yes Yes 

Metering of heating  Yes  Yes  Yes  

Metering of electricy Yes No No 

Metering of gas  Yes  No No 

Customers  

Apartments, non-

residential premises, 

private and state 

institutions, heat suppliers    

Apartments and non-

residential premises 

Apartment and non-

residential premises 

Monitoring 
Total building, separate 

rooms 
Total building 

Total building, separate 

rooms 

E-mail notifications Yes  No No 

Evidence of over – 

consumption  
Yes  No 

Yes, according to average 

consumption 

Regulation of heating No No 
Yes, according to 

Adapterm system 
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Chart 1. Profits of analysed companies  

 
Source: own processing according web sites of analysed companies. Available at: 

https://www.registeruz.sk/cruz-public/domain/accountingentity/simplesearch 

 

It is clear from the chart that the profit development of individual firms over the period under review shows 

different economic results.  This is due to their different sizes and the length of time they have been on the market. 

From the chart we can observe that Ista’s profits are growing linearly, and its profits are steadily increasing. The 

firm’s revenues are also increasing despite rising costs, especially revenues from the sale of services, which are 

making the firm thrive. Techem was the leading firm in profitability, but the change came in 2018 when the firm’s 

profits started to decline gradually. For the year 2020, Techem made a profit of € 680,882. This means that 

compared to the previous – 2019 year, its profits increased by around 3%. 

From the above chart for ESM Yzamer, we can observe the significant decline of profit since 2016, reaching a loss 

of up to € 94,617.   This was due to the high increase of approximately 19% in the cost of economic activity, these 

were mainly service costs. A possible reason for the increase in this part of the costs could be outsourcing. 

However, since 2016, the company’s profits have gradually increased, and for 2020 it reported a profit of €1,175. 

It is more probable that the company would have done better results if it were not for the situation regarding the 

Covid pandemic 19. Yzamer created only one innovative strategy, however, and that is software development, 

which its cloud-based heat pump software also offers. Despite numerous Techem’ s strategies that the company 

considers innovative, we think that only the systematic training provided for employees could be described as 

innovative. We think that the other strategies that the company has mentioned could be considered as classic 

strategies that fit into a classic strategy structure. 

Techem is a larger company than Yzamer; and its maternity company supports it financially, and the name of this 

company is really well-known and therefore has the largest market share. Yzamer has a competitive advantage in 

that it provides the complete turnkey heat source technology at its own cost from the beginning of the 

implementation to the final approval. Similar services are provided by competing companies for a fee. The product 

portfolio is also a competitive advantage. Techem offers its own products, under its own brand name, such as water 

meters and heat meters. Yzamer does not have its own brand of products and offers a range of products from 

companies it works with, for example heat pumps and microturbines. 

 

CONCLUSION  

 

Both companies invest in R&D, with Yzamer having its own R&D department but Techem not having its own 

R&D department. Over the last five years, Yzamer has invested 72% more money than its competitors.  Yzamer 

is a small company and has to try to move forward with innovative technologies. It has introduced three major 

innovations that it has already implemented and one that will be a complete novelty in the market. Its competitor 
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- € 

200 000,00 € 
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Techem has only implemented one innovation, which it continues to work on and improve. It can be noted that 

large companies such as Techem have succeeded after launching a single innovation and are making significantly 

higher profits than ESM-Yzamer. Both companies agree that the innovations they have implemented have had a 

positive impact on their profits. The situation caused by the Covid-19 pandemic has had a negative impact not 

only on the local but also on the global economy. It has significantly affected the behaviour of people, the 

profitability of businesses, companies, as well as the development of trade and services in the country and the 

world. It has also had a negative impact on ESM-Yzamer. The consequences are felt by the company in reduced 

turnover, as a number of development projects have been suspended or their sophisticated character has been 

reduced. Approximately 20-25% of customers have chosen cheaper projects that do not offer the same profit. 

However, Techem was not so negatively affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. Despite the pandemic, the company 

made high profits and its charging services were not affected at all. However, the most affected area was the 

installation area, due the visits to apartment buildings for major installations were not possible in this situation. 
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ASSESSING THE ROLE OF THE PRIVATE SECTOR IN THE COUNTRY’S EU 

INTEGRATION PROCESS: EVIDENCES FROM ALBANIA 

Elena Polo1 

 
Abstract: 

Acknowledging the private sector as a key interest group for the EU poliymaking level, little importance is given 

to the role of this sector during one country’s EU negotiation and membership processes. At the candidate country 

level, this role is articulated implicitily, but insufficiently. There are in general few evidences on the private sector 

interest and contribution to the EU integration process, although they remain country specific. Additionally, key 

connecting linkages between the private sector and EU processes relate to the impact the latter have on the private 

sector, regarding all internal transformation processes and adaptation to the "new market rules".  

Regarding Albania, there is currently: (1) no analysis on the private sector level of information on the EU, reforms, 

costs/benefits, together with the role and contribution that may come to the negotiation stages by the sector; (2) no 

assessment of the sector's perceptions of difficulties and potentials, as well as expectations at national/European 

level; and (3) no assessment of the current capacity to face the challenges and benefit from the potentials within 

EU, as a larger market.  

An evidence-based analysis on these issues will be conducted for the Albanian case, conducting a questionnaire 

that targets 65 top companies by sectors that will be previously selected based on a prioritization methodology. 

Starting a comprehensive public discussion on connecting linkages between the EU integration process and the 

private sector is necessary in this “momentum” of the country, aiming at helping the policy-making with practical 

evidences on the current capacities and expectations of the sector, as well as spaces/instruments for further 

involvement and contribution. 

 

Keywords: private sector, EU integration process, involvement, contribution, public discussion 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The private sector is a very important non-state actor to be involved in the negotiation process and it is practically 

the real momentum for Albania as it is expecting to formally start the negotiation talks. Being a very important 

interest group at the EU level, at the candidate country level to this sector is given a practical little importance, due 

to several factors related to the workload of the process, its bureaucratic and technical nature, but also due to the 

weak linkages between public-private sectors in Albania, while being exclusively a central government-driven 

process.  

To the moment, in Albania the role and contribution coming from this sector is articulated quite implicitly and 

insufficiently, so even for the other similar countries there are few evidences (and mixed practices) in place on the 

private sector’s interest and contribution (both practical and effective) to the country negotiation process. In all 

cases, level and quality of involvement of this issue remains country-specific, having a direct impact on the EU 

integration process length, dynamics and transitory phases.  

The second motivation relates to the key connecting linkages between the private sector and the EU integration 

process in terms of all required reforms and all required internal transformation processes that are going to happen 

in the country and are going to have a direct impact on the private sector in terms of its adaptation to the “new 

market rules” and the new requirements related to standardization.  

Currently, Albania lacks of: (1) an analysis on the private sector level of information on the EU, the reforms, the 

costs and benefits from integration and as a result, an analysis on the role and contribution by the sector that may 

come to the negotiation stages; (2) an assessment on the sector’s perception of difficulties, potentials and 

expectations; and (3) an assessment of current capacities of the sector in facing the EU negotiation and membership 

processes while also benefiting from the higher potentials within EU, as a larger market.  

The private sector is not simply a non-state actor, it has its internal dynamics and challenges, as well as its focus 

on the economic activity. As such, it should be seen carefully in terms of sharing information and expertise, getting 

involved and contributing, through effective instruments and consistently in time.  

 

OBJECTIVES  

 

Specific objective of this paper is to conduct an evidence-based analysis on these issues, on the basis of key primary 

data collected for the Albanian private sector. These findings aim at helping the policymaking authorities with 

practical evidences on the sector’s information, capacities, expectations and type of contribution.  

 

                                                 
1 University of Tirana, Albania 
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Serious information can help to work against biased information coming from certain groups and gives companies 

the opportunity to prepare themselves early on for the new possibilities and challenges which accession will bring. 

Where there are strong business organizations, the work of dissemination can sometimes be done better (Mayhew, 

2005).  

Cooperation with all interested partners requires an efficient coordination mechanism that is stable, functional and 

adaptable to national political system, administrative culture and institutional capacity (Gordana & Nikola, 2013).  

Although state and non-state actors often shared incentives to cooperate, non-state actors hardly got involved in 

public policymaking. Hungary, Poland and Romania give only limited evidence for the emergence of sustained 

cooperation with state authorities in the accession period (Borzella & Buzoga A., 2010).  

One of the advantages of the Croatian Negotiation Framework was the wide negotiation approach. The principle 

that the EU project is the project of the entire society was applied. It was necessary to use the expertise and 

knowledge of professionals both within and outside the administration (Lazarević, Engelman, Ristevska-

Jordanova, & Marovic, 2014).  

Adequate structures and mechanisms for cooperation with public institutions as well as free, clear and accessible 

flows of information on matters of public interest through structured durable mechanisms are of critical 

importance. Decentralization of the cooperation serves the diversity of needs and opportunities for collaboration 

(Jano, 2015).  

Albania has made some progress and has some level of preparation in terms of its private sector’ capacity to cope 

with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union (European Commission, 2020). Related to the 

institutional and regulatory framework for the EU negotiation, Albania has already established the negotiation 

structures and intensively works in updating the approved National Plan for the EU Integration (NPEI) and in 

promoting the Partnership Platform for the EU (PPEI) Integration to the non-state actors that wish to get involved 

and contribute to the integration process of the country.  

 

METHODOLOGY 

 

A questionnaire has been prepared and sent to top 100 companies of the private sector. For the purposes of the 

questionnaire design, several standard models are consulted (such as the Euro barometer) and adoption is made to 

the Albanian context. A previous prioritization and selection of the sectors and subsectors for the companies 

sample is done on the basis of the following criteria: (1) priority sectors for the Albanian economy to the moment 

(current strengths); (2) potential sectors to support the economic growth and development for the next 10 years 

(emerging strengths); (3) key sectors to promote and boost for the EU level competitiveness; (4) large sectors in 

terms of total number of companies; and (5) sectors with low level of regulation (expected to have the highest 

impact due to the Acquis). List of companies is taken from the Albanian Institute of Statistics and a total number 

of 65 companies have responded, with a response rate of 65%.  

 

KEY FINDINGS AND RESULTS 

 

From a total of 29 questions developed, key findings are summarized in the below provided tables.  

When asked on the key informing tools on the EU issues, majority part of the companies state that they get 

information on TV news and through Google/formal websites.  

 

Where do you mostly get informed on the EU 

issues? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid Google/ web sites 17 26.2 

Written media 5 7.7 

Social media 14 21.5 

Not interested 1 1.5 

All the above 1 1.5 

TV programs 7 10.8 

TV news 20 30.8 

Total 65 100.0 
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Related to how much information they have on the EU economic criteria to accomplish by the country before 

accession, 56.9% state that they have modest information, while 18.5% has stated to have little information. More 

than 70% of the companies have expanded or modest information, and only around 8% have to the moment, no 

information at all.  

 

How much information do you have on the EU economic 

criteria to accomplish? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid Modest information 37 56.9 

Little information 12 18.5 

Expanded information 11 16.9 

No information at all 5 7.7 

Total 65 100.0 

 

To the moment, around 82% of the interviewed companies have never been invited nor participated in any 

discussion or meeting on EU issues. Less than one fifth of the companies have been invited by the state authorities 

to discuss on EU integration and this means that central government has not been sufficiently active in 

communicating with the private sector, as stated in the NPEI.  

 

In the last 12 months, have you been invited and 

participated in any discussion/meeting on EU issues? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid I have been invited and have 

participated  

9 13.8 

I have been invited, but have not 

participated 

1 1.5 

Do not know / no interest 2 3.1 

Never invited 53 81.5 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Even though central government states that the Partnership Platform for the EU Integration (PPEI) is very 

important for providing a widely inclusive approach of the EU integration process, there is a high percentage of 

the interviewed companies (70.8%) stating that they have no information on the PPEI as they are not aware of the 

existence of such a Platform.     

 

Are you aware of the Partnership Platform for the 

EI? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   1 1.5 

No 46 70.8 

Do not know / no interest 3 4.6 

Yes 15 23.1 

Total 65 100.0 

 

More than half of the companies state that they are very much interested in receiving information on the EU 

processes of the country and about 30% of the companies state that they are somewhat interested, so majority part 

of the companies are very much interested or somewhat interested in receiving information on the EU processes. 
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Are you interested in receiving information on the EU 

processes of the country? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   1 1.5 

Not interested at all 1 1.5 

Somewhat interested 18 27.7 

Do not know 1 1.5 

Little interested 9 13.8 

Interested for general knowledge, but it 

will not affect my business 

1 1.5 

Very much interested 33 50.8 

Extremely interested 1 1.5 

Total 65 100.0 

 

More than half of the companies state that there is not continuous and satisfactory information on the EU issues 

and in the EU processes of the country. This is an important finding that needs to be addressed from the state actors 

in the near future, as level of information supports overall involvement and effective contribution.  

 

Do you think that there is continuous and satisfactory 

information on EU? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   1 1.5 

There is enough 

information 

14 21.5 

There is little information 38 58.5 

There is a lot of 

information  

3 4.6 

Do not know / no interest 2 3.1 

There is no information 7 10.8 

Total 65 100.0 

 

More than 60% of the asked companies have stated to be sufficiently informed or little informed on the rules for 

exporting to the region and within the region. As the EU integration consists in internalization of domestic 

companies and trade openness, this finding is quite important and positive for the private sector’s perspective 

within a larger market.  

 

Are you informed on the rules for exporting to the region 

and within the region? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid Sufficiently informed 23 35.4 

Little informed 20 30.8 

Very much informed 11 16.9 

Do not know / no interest 5 7.7 

Not at all informed 6 9.2 

Total 65 100.0 
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Additionally, more than 60% of the companies declare to have full capacities or enough capacities to fulfill the 

exporting standards. This finding must be further detailed and re-validated during the process. 

    

Do you have capacities to fulfill the exporting standards? Frequency Percent 

Valid Have enough capacities 21 32.3 

Have full capacities 23 35.4 

Have little capacities 12 18.5 

Do not know / not my case / not 

available for my company 

7 10.8 

No capacities 1 1.5 

Will have capacities 1 1.5 

Total 65 100.0 

 

When asked on the practical obstacles and weaknesses resulting in low levels of involvement and contribution by 

the private sector to the EU processes of the country, majority part of the companies state that it is not an issue of 

lack of time, neither a lack of expertise, nor a lack of desire. Around 65% of the companies state that they do not 

engage and contribute as a result of lack of information. As a practical obstacle and weakness, this concern should 

be addressed by the state actors as soon as possible.  

 

 
After that, companies are asked to agree or disagree with few statements linked to the EU integration process and 

positively affecting the EU integration process of the county.  

More than 45% of the companies state that “the rules and laws affecting the company are clear enough, do not 

change quite often and there is satisfactory information from the public authorities”. On the contrary, 43% of the 

interviewed companies disagree.  

 

The rules and laws affecting my company are clear, do 

not change often and there is satisfactory information 

from public authorities. 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   3 4.6 

Totally disagree 28 43.1 

Agree 24 36.9 

Do not know / no 

information 

4 6.2 

Totally agree 6 9.2 

Total 65 100.0 

 

One fifth of the companies declare that they are not satisfied with the manner and level of consultation and 

involvement of the private sector on laws and regulations affecting economic activity. This finding is in line with 
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the overall public-private consultation processes that happen in the country, experiencing an improvement in the 

general consultation climate between the two sectors, also in terms of good governance.  

 

My company is satisfied with the manner and level of 

consultation and involvement of the private sector on laws 

and regulations affecting economic activity 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   5 7.7 

Totally disagree 13 20.0 

Agree 37 56.9 

Do not know / no 

information 

1 1.5 

Totally agree 9 13.8 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Approximately 50% of the companies state that they have not benefited from the free trade agreements. As other 

studies have analyzed, this is also due to the low level of preparation and involvement of the private sector into 

the country’s previous trade agreements. Learning from this experience is useful when preparing for the trade 

openness.  

 

My company has benefited from free trade agreements. Frequency Percent 

Valid   6 9.2 

Totally disagree 30 46.2 

Agree 11 16.9 

Do not know / no 

information 

8 12.3 

Totally agree 10 15.4 

Total 65 100.0 

 

More than 70% of the companies state that their goods and services are able to compete with their peers at the 

regional or European level. Again, this finding must be further detailed and re-validated during the process.  

 

The company's goods and services are able to compete 

with their peers at the regional or European level. 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   3 4.6 

Totally disagree 5 7.7 

Agree 25 38.5 

Do not know / no 

information 

2 3.1 

Totally agree 30 46.2 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Majority part of the companies (more than 70%) state that the private sector has practically the capacity to 

contribute to the country’s integration processes. As such, their capacities and expertise should support the 

integration process.  
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The private sector has practically the capacity to contribute 

to the country's integration processes. 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   3 4.6 

Totally disagree 8 12.3 

Agree 24 36.9 

Do not know / no 

information 

4 6.2 

Totally agree 26 40.0 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Approximately 50% of the interviewed companies state that the country accession to the EU will happen in 

between the next 5-10 years. Based on this perception, the private sector seems to preparing itself for the EU 

accession, as it seems to be an imminent event.  

 

When do you expect the country to integrate into the EU? Frequency Percent 

Valid   3 4.6 

Within the next 5 years 10 15.4 

Between the next 5 - 10 

years  

30 46.2 

Do not know, cannot predict 

it based on the info I have 

7 10.8 

After 10 years  15 23.1 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Around 70% of the companies state that they will somehow or a lot benefit from the country’s EU membership. 

This positive perception is in line with an overall positive expectation the Albanian society has on the country’s 

EU accession and potential benefits, in terms of improvement of both the economic and political systems.  

 

In your perception, will your company benefit from EU 

membership? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid   2 3.1 

Will not benefit 6 9.2 

Will somehow benefit 25 38.5 

Will benefit a little bit 10 15.4 

Will benefit a lot 20 30.8 

Do not know / no 

information 

2 3.1 

Total 65 100.0 

 

Lastly, more than half of the companies declare that they would want or have a lot of desire to directly contribute 

to the EU integration processes of the country. The public authorities should more actively target these companies 

and involve them in the negotiation processes step by step. 
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Would you want to contribute to the EU integration processes 

of the country? 

Frequency Percent 

Valid I am indifferent 4 6.2 

I would want 23 35.4 

I have little desire 10 15.4 

I have a lot of desire  18 27.7 

Do not know 10 15.4 

Total 65 100.0 

 

CONCLUSIONS  

 

At the candidate country level, little importance is given to the private, due to several factors related to the 

workload of the process, its bureaucratic and technical nature, but also due to the weak linkages between public-

private sectors. 

Having its internal dynamics and focus, the private sector should be seen carefully in terms of sharing information 

and expertise, getting involved and contributing, through effective instruments.  

To the moment, in Albania the role and contribution coming from this sector is articulated quite implicitly and 

insufficiently. 

Around 82% of the interviewed companies have never been invited nor participated in any discussion or meeting 

on EU issues. More than half of companies state that they are very much interested in receiving information on 

the EU processes of the country, but there is not continuous and satisfactory information from the state authorities. 

Majority part of the companies (more than 70%) state that the private sector has practically the capacity to 

contribute to the country’s integration processes.  

Around 70% of the companies state that they will somehow or a lot benefit from the country’s EU membership, 

which is going to happen between the next 5-10 years.  
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MANAGERIAL ECONOMIC SPECIFICS OF BANKING SECTOR IN REPUBLIC OF 

CROATIA 

Martina Sopta1, Vlatka Bilas2  and Darjan Car3 

 

Abstract: 

This paper presents the characteristics and application of models that have influenced the design and operation of 

the banking system of the Republic of Croatia. The importance of the banking system within the economy is based 

on its intermediary role between the monetary surplus and deficit units, which defines its main role as the manager 

of most of the national savings. In the recent past, the focus of bank owners, shareholders and managers has been 

on maximizing profits, while today bank management is geared towards proactive risk management, whereby they 

are fulfilling their new role of risk allocator. To avoid the high social and private costs of bank failures, a sound 

banking system should be based on adequately capitalized and profitable banks. The paper presents the market in 

which banks in Croatia operate through its development, structure and main determinants, describes the 

consolidation process, the reasons for mergers and the role of small banks, and gives a description of the market 

through the SCP paradigm. The last chapter is dedicated to the economics of interest margins, assumptions and 

definitions of efficiency while the conclusion on business performance is based on ROA and ROE indicators of 

profitability and comparison with the corporate sector. 

 

Keywords: managerial economics, banking sector, efficiency, profitability 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

In the economy of the Republic of Croatia, banks have a crucial role as managers of the largest part of national 

savings, which is achieved through their intermediary role between monetary surplus and deficit units. By 

accepting deposits and placing loans, they maintain liquidity and stability at the national level, from which their 

next role of simplifying the execution of payments in transactions is derived. As all these activities are related to 

money, this means that banks are almost the main actors in the implementation of monetary policy through the 

impact on supply or the amount of money in circulation. 

The subject of this paper is an explanation of the characteristics and presentation of the application of the 

managerial economics model that contributed to determining the functioning and operation of the banking system 

of the Republic of Croatia and how they direct its work today and the work of modern domestic banks. Managerial 

economics defines the application of the regularity and legality of economic theory in managerial decision-making 

within the company. In doing so, it must fulfill its two tasks, which are the proper evaluation of the current 

allocation of resources and respond appropriately to signals from the economic environment, wanting to make a 

profit. The basis of any healthy banking system are adequately capitalized and profitable banks. Profit as a 

fundamental determinant of successful business was the primary focus of owners and shareholders of banks 

focused on traditional business, but today proactive crisis management is becoming increasingly important, which 

gives modern banks a new role of risk allocator. In doing so, within the corporate governance process, each 

participant is differently responsible for certain components of financial and operational risk management.  

Due to the high social and private costs of bank failure, they require special regulation, but today's external 

regulation increasingly relies on internal models of bank management, which may be insufficient. The design of 

the offer of banking products and services and the method of determining their prices are also based on internal 

systems for measuring business performance. 

Although the role of banks in developed countries differs from the role of banks in developing countries, there is 

no universally applicable model of bank governance but banks in developing countries mostly share similar 

problems such as insufficient professional staff, cost inefficiencies and lack of capital. Due to all the above, the 

aim of this paper will be to determine the success factors of similar banks and specific management models that 

have shaped the Croatian banking sector and explain how they have influenced the success of its operations. The 

expected professional contribution of this paper is the expansion of domestic literature on the managerial 

economics of the banking system, which will be achieved by researching the development, structure and 

advantages and disadvantages of identified management models and their correlation with bank profitability, 

market concentration, loan placement structure and bank efficiency. 
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BUSINESS ANALYSIS OF BANKING SECTOR OF REPUBLIC OF CROATIA 

 

Determination of interest margins 

 

Banks are profit-oriented institutions that base their earnings on net interest margins and administrative fees for 

the provision of banking services. While passive operations bring interest expenses to banks, active commercial 

credit brings interest income to banks. For banks to be able to approve loans (and generate interest and other 

income), they must first raise sources of funds. The most important form of source of bank funds are deposits. In 

addition to deposits, significant sources of bank funds are capital and loans received from other banks or the central 

bank.  This way, the bank acquires the basic foundations for starting its business, and  knows how to shape its 

business. Earnings from interest-bearing transactions are the result of lending to deficit units at a rate higher than 

what they pay for borrowing these funds from surplus units, i.e. this difference is their earnings. When the 

advantages for the companies that make their existence conditional on bank loans are added, this can be a profitable 

way of doing business for banks. In the context of interest rates, the state of interest rates in the market directly 

affects the bank's credit policy. 

Low interest rates stimulate growth in investment and personal consumption, while reducing interest in savings. 

Therefore, a policy of low interest rates can be a suitable instrument to stimulate production and employment 

growth. The decrease in market interest rates is reflected in the increase in the volume of approved loans, so 

indirectly through the action of the financial accelerator it stimulates the growth of investments, household 

consumption and government consumption. The rise of the financial cycle related to the growth of assets of the 

financial sector and the price of assets (shares, real estate) follows the synchronized rise of the business cycle, 

which is reflected in higher rates of economic growth.  The policy of maintaining low interest rates thus ultimately 

aims to increase gross domestic product and increase social welfare, and all these factors are indirect factors by 

which it seeks to achieve this. The main role in this is played by banks, for which cheaper interest rates mean 

greater opportunities in the context of more loans, in which way it is possible to achieve the effects of economies 

of scale, but the threat of interest rate fluctuations at the expense of the bank is eliminated. a more uncertain factor. 

Assisted credit policy to banks can thus transfer positive effects to the real sector, which is now in a better position 

to start entrepreneurial activities.  

Important determinants of interest margins for the Croatian banking sector are the following : 

the interest margin contains four key components related to costs, risk, and profit, and depends on the 

characteristics of the credit market, credit intermediation and the deposit market 

for an interest margin picture for the overall banking system, an aggregate of interest margin measures is required 

If we include components based on the cost of regulation, operating credit costs, risk coverage costs and the cost 

of capital employed, we can say that the interest margin is equal to the difference between the interest rate the 

bank pays on deposits and other sources of funds and these components. It can also be said that the amount of 

interest margin depends on changes and is subject to the influence of credit markets, deposit markets and 

interactions among financial intermediaries. The interest margin showing the total business operations of banks is 

measured by the difference between the percentages of actual interest income divided by assets representing 

interest income and actual interest expenses divided by liabilities representing interest paid by banks on received 

funds. Such a margin is shown in the following figure.  
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Figure 1. Net interest margin 

Source: HUB Analize (2017) KAMATNA MARŽA HRVATSKIH BANAKA: mjerenje, usporedbe, trendovi i 

uzroci promjena, No. 62, pp. 9. 

 

The A curve shows the movement of lending interest rates, the interest income of the bank, the P curve shows the 

interest expense divided by the liabilities of banks, the interest expense of the bank, while the NIM curve is their 

difference, net interest income. The figure shows, for a period of seventeen years, a declining trend in lending and 

deposit interest rates with a slight acceleration of declining deposit rates in the last five years of that period. It is 

also important to note that the interest margin has been growing slowly over the same five years.  

If we take into account the differences in interest margins between EU countries and determine Croatia's position 

in this comparison, we could conclude that the difference in interest margins is structurally determined and less 

dependent on GDP, monetary policy or similar economic variables.  First of all, it is important to take into account 

the most important factors and the magnitude of their impact and risk and for new banks entering whether there 

are sufficient profits and an understanding of banking regulation. It also requires the long-term nature of cost ratios 

and volumes that are affected by the characteristics of the tax system, technological changes, and other long-term 

development factors. A typical example of a structural problem for Croatia is the relatively high VAT rate that has 

been prevalent in the Croatian market for a long time, and it is difficult for the bank to transfer part of this burden 

to end consumers.  

The domestic state of interest (red) and placement (blue) is shown by the curves of the picture below. 
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Figure 2. Interest margin and placement growth 2000-2017 

 

Source: Ibid. 

 

The trend of movement of interest margins and bank loans is shown in Figure 2. This trend can be described as an 

annual trend of declining interest margins with a simultaneous increase in placements by almost a tenth, until the 

onset of the financial crisis in 2008. After that, there is a decline in interest margins and an increase in bank 

placements. By the end of this period, placements grew only in the years from 2009 to 2012 as a result of 

government lending. After the year in which the financial crisis appeared or, since then, long-term credit 

placements have been falling and the interest margin of Croatian banks has been growing accordingly. In such 

conditions, when there is a historically low interest rate, the control of margins can be acted upon spontaneously 

by encouraging competition. 

 

Internal and wider efficiency 

 

A dynamic and competitive environment, driven by growing market challenges, emphasizes the effectiveness of 

financial intermediation as an important determinant of success, both for banks and for supervisory authorities. 

Namely, banks strive to increase their market shares through efficiency, implicitly shaping the market structure 

(competition). Also, efficiency as an indicator of operational excellence is of equal interest to national and 

international supervisors.4 

By proactively controlling the dynamics of banks' efficiency, supervisors can much better prevent collusion 

between banks and illegal collusion within the industry, and ultimately prevent bank failures. Any major indicator 

of weakening efficiency can mean a big problem for the system if it is part of an upcoming trend or soon leads to 

the collapse of a bank that will transfer the negative effects to the rest of the banking market. It is therefore 

necessary for regulators to prevent any excessive risk-taking with their policies and to encourage healthy 

competition. If, on the other hand, excessive competitive conditions in the market were to occur, some of the banks 

could again strive to take too much risk as compensation, which in turn leads to crises and failures, so it is necessary 

to find the optimal level between these factors. 

Efficiency in the banking system can be briefly divided into internal and external efficiency, which means that a 

bank can strive for improvements inside and outside its organizational form. The drive for improvement within 

the bank is driven by competitive behavior and technology development, while institutional frameworks and the 

reach of socio-economic development can lead to improved efficiency gains. This division is summarized in the 

table below. 

 

                                                 
4 Ibid., pp. 26. 
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Table 1. Areas of internal and wider efficiency of banks 

INTERNAL (TECHNICAL) EFFICIENCY WIDER EFFICIENCY 

• Competition 

• technology 

• socio-economic development 

• institucije (naplata, stečaj) 

- transformation of inputs into outputs 

- internal knowledge and processes 

- good management in a bad framework 

- which outputs 

- how to combine inputs 

- institutional framework 

- macroeconomic (fiscal) framework 

- financial stability, etc. 

 

Source: Šonje, V. (2018.) Efikasnost bankarskih sustava u novim državama članicama EU i jugoistočnoj Europi, 

6. Konferencija guvernera regije, Rovinj, 26-27.3.2018., Zagreb: Arhivanalitika, pp. 3. 

 

The explanation of interest margin policy has so far not included an analysis of the efficiency and structure of the 

Croatian banking system, which is important to note because government and monetary policy are not sufficient 

to achieve suitable bank lending conditions and interest margins. The scope of their influence is limited, which 

means that attention should be paid to some other factors that guide banking operations, and in fact determine their 

structures within each industry. 

Measuring the efficiency of individual banks is a standard approach used in efficiency research in the banking 

system. In this analysis, the basic unit of analysis is not the bank, but the national banking system; it does not 

compare individual banks, but data for the banking systems of individual countries. Simply put, the efficiency of 

the transformation of input (measured, for example, by the ratio of deposits to GDP) into output (measured, for 

example, by the ratio of credit to GDP) is assessed within a framework defined for a number of countries, rather 

than individual banks. We can talk about the assessment of systemic efficiency - the efficiency of national banking 

systems.5 The same approach to analysis is particularly useful in determining the specifics of management models 

that have influenced the design of the Croatian banking system. By studying the efficiency of banks, it is possible 

to determine the competitive framework in which they operate, and the possible motivations of the participants in 

the banking market. It is interesting to compare with other countries because it may indicate weaknesses or 

strengths with that of the domestic banking sector, and it is possible to observe similar efficiency characteristics. 

The ratio is based on indicators that are long-term in nature and should not be affected by short-term oscillations. 

 

Figure 3. Ratio of domestic loans to the private sector and GDP in% 

 

                                                 
5 Hrvatska udruga banaka (2018) Efikasnost bankarskih sustava u novim državama članicama EU i jugoistočnoj europi, Zagreb: HUB 
Analize, pp. 1-29. 
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Source: Hrvatska udruga banaka (2018) Efikasnost bankarskih sustava u novim državama članicama EU i 

jugoistočnoj europi, Zagreb: HUB Analize, pp. 6. 

Figure 4. Deposit to GDP ratio in% 

 
Source: Hrvatska udruga banaka (2018) Op. cit., pp. 7. 

 

We can draw several conclusions from the above pictures. The first figure does not directly confirm the assumption 

that the level of economic development is due to higher percentages of credit and GDP, in which Croatia is closer 

to more developed countries such as Latvia and Slovenia ahead of neighboring countries such as B&H, Serbia, 

Montenegro and Hungary. 

Different structures and thus efficiencies here are related to different historical heritage in economic and financial 

frameworks, opportunities for corporate financing and bank client behavior and the like. Also, Figure 2 again 

shows that there is no direct correlation between the state of economic development and the deposit-to-GDP ratio, 

and the problem is that Croatia has the highest percentage here and is not the most developed country among those 

shown. Finally, we can conclude that these indicators in the case of the Croatian banking system are almost the 

same percentage, which is not the case with other countries compared here. 

 

Measuring bank profitability 

 

Profitability in the form of retained earnings is generally one of the key sources of capital creation. A sound 

banking system is based on profitable and adequately capitalized banks. Profitability is a useful indicator of a 

bank's competitive position in the banking market and the quality of its management.6 It evaluates the efficiency 

of its management, protects the bank from problems in the short term and shows its attitude towards risk. 

Profitability is therefore not only an indicator of the success of banks, but also an indicator of the health of one 

sector of the economy that can transfer these positive effects to other sectors. Accumulated earnings can certainly 

strengthen the banking sector, but it is also necessary to understand its source, in order to determine whether there 

is a positive and negative connection with the possible transfer of its risks to the sectors with which it does business. 

In this way, it would be determined whether higher profitability is at the same time the result of causing fragility 

in other sectors, and not the result of successful moves by its administration, management or regulation. With 

profitability, we can briefly determine the bank's ability to multiply its capital or determine the quality of its risk 

management. 

When explaining profitability, two variables are usually taken into account: return on assets (ROA) and return on 

equity (ROE).7 A higher value of ROA indicates greater efficiency in the use of company assets, while a higher 

value of ROE indicates a greater ability to generate results per unit of invested capital, so higher values of these 

indicators are indicators of positive developments.8 In the Croatian banking system, ROA is the value by which 

                                                 
6 Van Greuning, H., Brajović B., S. (2006):  Analiza i upravljanje bankovnim rizicima: Pristupi za ocjenu organizacije upravljanja rizicima i 

izloženosti financijskom riziku, Zagreb: MATE, pp. 81. 
7 Krivačić, D., Smederevac, S., Vujnović, P. (2012) PROFITABILNOST BANAKA U UVJETIMA GOSPODARSKE KRIZE – ANALIZA 

BANAKA U HRVATSKOJ, Zbornik Veleučilišta u Karlovcu, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 145-155. 
8 Periša, A., Kurnoga, N., Sopta, M. (2017) Multivariate Analysis of Profitability Indicators for Selected Companies of Croatian 
Market. UTMS Journal of Economics, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp. 231-242. 
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we show the ratio of profit after tax and the average total assets of a bank, or more simply, it explains how much 

the bank earns per unit of its average total assets. On the other hand, ROE is the expressed value in lipa which 

shows the ratio of profit expressed in kuna and equity or share capital of banks. With it, the owners of capital can 

find out how much profit they have made per unit of their invested capital. In the context of the banking system of 

the Republic of Croatia, aggregate banking profitability is measured and determined by ROA and ROE indicators.9 

That is, with these indicators we can briefly determine the profitability for the domestic banking system as a whole. 

The movement of ROA and ROE for the period from 2005 to 2019 is shown in the chart below. 

 

Graph 1. Profitability of average assets and average capital of banks 

Source: author's work according to data from the Hrvatska narodna banka: Godišnje izvješće (2007., 2019.) i Bilten 

o bankama (br. 32.). 

 

The rapid growth of loans, with interest rates and interest rate spreads above the rates and spreads in the euro area, 

enabled the successful operation of the banking sector in Croatia until the beginning of the global financial crisis.10 

With the beginning of the decline in economic activity, the deterioration of the real sector, especially companies, 

the return on capital and return on assets began to decrease, as a result of greater inability to collect bank 

receivables or reduced liabilities on loans. With the exception of extraordinary circumstances in 2015, these 

profitability indicators reached the bottom of 2013, after which there was a noticeable trend of their further growth 

until the end of the said period in 2019, which was marked by11: profitability growth, high capitalization and 

reduction of still high levels of non-performing loans. The exception to normal circumstances is 2015, when these 

indicators were negative, ie -8.8% for the profitability of average capital and -1.3% for the profitability of average 

assets, and this was primarily the result of increased costs of provisions and impairment and legal provisions 

relating to debtors of banks denominated in Swiss francs.12  

However, as early as next year, a positive trend in these profitability variables was noticeable. Based on the above 

trends in ROA and ROE, it is possible to conclude that the domestic banking system is at the beginning of the re-

growth of its profitability. 

                                                 
9 Pavković, A. (2004) Instrumenti vrednovanja uspješnosti poslovnih banaka, Zbornik Ekonomskog fakulteta u Zagrebu, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 

179-192. 
10 Krnić, B., Beljan, I. (2019) DINAMIKA PROMJENA FINANCIJSKOG POLOŽAJA I FINANCIJSKIH REZULTATA PODUZEĆA I 

BANAKA U HRVATSKOJ, Ekonomski pregled, Vol. 70, No. 6, pp. 869-894. 
11 HNB, annual report of the Croatian National Bank for the year 2019, pp. 52. 
12 HNB, Bilten o bankama, No. 29, pp. 20.-21. 
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Graph 2. Movement of net profit of companies and banks, in billions of kuna 

Source: author's work according to data from the Hrvatska narodna banka: Godišnje izvješće (2004. – 2019.), i 

Financijska agencija: Analiza financijskih rezultata poduzetnika Republike Hrvatske 

 

Managers analyze the companies and financial results of competing companies to assess the profitability and risk 

of competition. But if the company is viewed in isolation, without taking into account other competition in the 

context of a related part of the overall economy, the manager is very unlikely to understand changes in financial 

indicators.13 Looking at Chart 8, we can conclude that the decline in economic activity in the real sector of the 

company did not affect the performance of banks until 2013, when, if we exclude 2015 for the reasons already 

mentioned, the bank's net profit correlates slightly with the company's net profit. which means that favorable 

relations in the economy also have a favorable effect on banks' earnings, which can be seen especially at the time 

of the rise in the economic cycle. Also, it can be seen that the profit over the period was almost constant, and 

sufficient to cover the costs incurred in 2015, which means that the banking system maintained an adequate level 

of reserves for cases of adverse business events. Therefore, it can be determined that the whole banking system is 

stable because of that. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Based on the analysis aimed at determining the specifics of the management aspect of the Croatian banking sector, 

which is the subject of this paper, it is possible to draw several conclusions that briefly describe its current position 

and situation and can serve to explain the management models that shaped it. 

The formation of the first management model was the result of the transformation of the domestic banking sector 

in the 1990s, and the research of this period shows the important determinants that are attributed to the impact on 

the functioning of the same sector. The emergence of banking crises has indicated the need to transform the 

operations of banks according to market principles and the exit of the state from the ownership structure through 

the privatization process in favor of foreign investors. They became the majority owners of domestic banks by the 

end of the decade, which can be seen from the data on the decrease in the total number of banks in the market and 

the increase in the degree of concentration due to mergers of smaller and more unsuccessful banks with larger 

banks. It was also noted that due to the same consolidation, the number of banks fell over the next decade as the 

size of their assets increased by almost four times, in order to better position banks to undertake new business 

ventures but also to provide adequate reserves. Based on the S-C-P paradigm of the observed literature, a similarity 

of changes in the European banking market and the domestic banking market was observed. 

With the liberalization of interest rates, management models based on profit maximization were further developed, 

which was the desire of the new owners of domestic banks, whereby the state lost its influence as a dominant 

                                                 
13 Periša, A., Kurnoga, N., Sopta, M. (2017) Op. cit., pp. 236. 
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interest group influenced primarily by political motives. The research of the accompanying literature showed that 

in the period from 1996 to 2006 there was an expansion of banks' business activities through the expansion of 

available loans due to falling interest rates, and increasing exposure of banks to non-credit risks such as market 

and operational. As a new determinant of measuring the performance of banks, the management of these risks 

appears, and as one of these techniques, the strategy of transferring the exposure to currency risk to its clients, i.e. 

managing short and long foreign exchange positions, is presented. A review of data from the literature also found 

that by 2014, banking efficiency had increased as a result of the positive effects of banking market liberalization 

and privatization, taking into account variables such as cost-to-income ratio, CR5 market concentration indicator, 

deposits per unit used and bank assets. per employee. 

Finally, the determination of the latest management models is based on the analysis of the operations of the banking 

system of the Republic of Croatia by analyzing interest margins, efficiency and profitability of banks. As an 

aggregate measure of the margin for the banking system as a whole, data for lending and deposit interest rates and 

their difference were taken, and it was noticed that in the period from 2000 to 2017 the same rates decreased in 

the long run while net interest margin increased slightly due to slightly faster decline. deposit interest rates. 

Comparing the domestic banking system with those of the EU countries, the research also showed that they are 

more determined by structural market determinants, such as Croatia's high VAT rate, and less by various economic 

variables. A comparison with national banking systems is most often used to measure efficiency, and the results 

of efficiency research through the ratio of domestic loans to the private sector and deposits to GDP showed that 

the correlation of economic development with credit and GDP also correlates the same with deposit and GDP. The 

analysis of profitability based on ROA and ROE indicators showed that banks recorded their positive rates in the 

past fifteen years until the onset of the global financial crisis, after which they grow positively again, and that their 

profitability grows again. By reviewing the profitability based on the mutual movement of net profit of companies 

and banks, it is possible to determine that the decline in economic activity does not affect the operations of 

companies and banks equally, i.e. the banking system was healthy and stable, with business improvement in normal 

economic cycles and normal doing business in the conditions of its decline, which is not the same situation with 

the corporate sector. 
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THE VALUE OF FLEXIBILITY IN UNCERTAIN TIMES 

Lidija Dedi1  

 

Abstract: 

Today's market environment is characterized by constant change and uncertainty. It is difficult to assume that the 

management will not take certain actions related to the investment project in the event of unexpected unfavorable 

circumstances or in the event of unexpected favorable circumstances. In such conditions, management has the 

flexibility to postpone, expand, abandon or otherwise change the investment project at different stages of its life. 

In this way, flexibility emerges as an added value, and any project that increases flexibility also increases the actual 

net present value of a project. This paper studies the shortcomings of traditional capital budgeting methods and 

the possibilities for improvement by applying the real options approach. Given that traditional net present value 

does not take into account management flexibility, it is necessary to introduce extended or real net present value. 

For investment projects evaluation in turbulent and uncertain conditions, it is necessary to apply the real options 

approach. Real option valuation models can quantify elements of flexibility; which traditional net present value 

does not take into account. 

 

Keywords: flexibility, real options, capital budgeting methods, real net present value 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Traditionally, the financial efficiency of investment projects and financial analysis of the external growth of an 

enterprise is carried out by capital budgeting techniques (Peterson & Fabozzi 2008; Brigham & Ehrhardt 2020). 

However, in today’s turbulent market environment, flexibility is key to a firm’s long-term success that allows 

management or the entrepreneur to subsequently adjust and correct decisions in order to take advantage of 

favorable future opportunities or limit losses. Flexibility has its value that increases the traditionally determined 

economic value of the business or net present value of the project (Guthrie 2009; Mun 2016). Given that traditional 

capital budgeting techniques do not take into account or cannot capture the value of flexibility, such traditional 

financial analysis needs to be extended by the real options approach.  

Critics of traditional financial decision-making criteria have argued, among other things, that discounted cash flow 

methods have certain limitations in valuing strategic projects, neglect flexibility and underestimate investment 

opportunities. For example, back in 1964. Hertz, and Magee as cited by Trigeorgis (1996) proposed the use of 

simulation and the decision tree in the traditional capital budgeting process to encompass the flexibility of an 

investment project.  

This paper studies the shortcomings of traditional capital budgeting methods and the possibilities for improvement 

by applying the real options approach. Given that traditional net present value does not take into account 

management flexibility, it is necessary to introduce extended or real net present value. Using Real Option Analysis 

Toolkit software, a simple example of valuing external growth with a binomial model is presented. 

The rest of the paper is structured as follow. After the introduction, a review of the literature is given first, followed 

by shortcomings of traditional capital budgeting methods. Flexibility as an option and the value of flexibility are 

presented next followed by simple example of valuing growth / expansion option. Paper ends with the conclusion. 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

For many years the traditional criteria of financial decision-making have been the subject of various criticisms. 

Hayes & Abernathy (1980) and Hayes & Garvin (1982) recognized that standard financial decision-making criteria 

based on discounted cash flow often underestimate investment projects, lead to short-sighted decisions, insufficient 

investment, and possible loss of competitive market position. Myers (1984) argued that certain problems of 

traditional valuation arise due to misapplication of the theory, that the discounted cash flow method has certain 

limitations when it comes to valuing projects with embedded options, and that such projects should be valued 

using the real options approach. Black (1988) showed that net present value as a fundamental criterion of financial 

decision-making cannot be applied in many cases, especially for projects with options or when project acceptance 

changes the optimal capital structure of the firm. The flexibility option is valuable for the company, which is 

confirmed by numerous published papers. Kulatilaka & Marcus (1988) have shown that most real options can be 

considered as special cases of the general flexibility option, Copeland & Weiner (1990), Copeland & Keenan 

(1998) and Amram & Howe (2002) consider the value of flexibility, in general. Tamayo-Torresa, Ruiz-Moreno & 

Verdú, A.J. (2010) analyzed the impact of real options to strategic flexibility from perspective of managerial 

capacity. About the shortcomings of traditional methods of capital budgeting and the use of real-options approach 

in Canadian companies can be found in Baker, Dutta & Saadi (2010). Zeng & Zhang (2011) presented literature 
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review on real options and all the limitation of traditional capital budgeting methods. Rigopoulos (2014) presented 

a comprehensive literature review of empirical survey on capital budgeting methods with a focus on real options.  

 

SHORTCOMINGS OF TRADITIONAL CAPITAL BUDGETING METHODS 

 

In traditional capital budgeting, the input parameters of the project analysis are given by the lifetime defined for 

the expected scenario, i.e. for the one that exists the highest probability of realization. In this sense, traditional 

capital budgeting can be applied only in traditional industries, for "cash cow" projects that have a significant 

market share, constantly generate cash flows without additional investment and do not have the opportunity for 

successive investments (Myers, 1984.; Amram & Kulatilaka 1999). 

Traditional capital budgeting assumes that once set the expected scenario does not change over the life of the 

investment project. In the real world, characterized by changes and uncertainty, the realized cash flows of the 

project are likely to differ from those expected. Traditional discounted cash flow analysis does not take into 

account changes in cash flows over the life of the investment project that will occur as a result of management's 

or entrepreneur’s reaction to the project. Traditional discounted cash flow analysis assumes passive management 

of investment projects. Traditional capital budgeting does not allow for the possibility of having choices after 

investment decisions have already been made (see for example Zeng & Zhang, 2011; Rigopoulos, 2014). 

Traditional net present value or traditional discounted cash flow analysis deals only with expected cash flows that 

are discounted at a constant discount rate or cost of capital. Traditional discounted cash flow analysis assumes that 

expected cash flows are predictable and deterministic. However, in the “real world” it is difficult to estimate 

expected cash flows, especially for long-term investment projects, as they are often stochastic and risky (Mun, 

2016). Traditional discounted cash flow analysis assumes constant risk over the life of the project and does not 

include the ability to manage risk throughout the life of the investment project. However, enterprise risk and project 

risk may change over the life of the project. Risk management is a prerequisite for rational management of an 

enterprise in an uncertain environment. Risk management reduces the enterprise's exposure to various hazards and 

good risk management must result in added value for business owners.  

In that sense, there is a logical assumption that traditional discounted cash flow analysis underestimates the net 

present value of the project, because traditional financial decision-making criteria do not take into account the 

flexibility that allows management to adjust and change decisions over the life of the investment project in a 

changing and uncertain market environment. 

Investing in new projects often brings the potential for growth of the firm’s future opportunities. Opportunities are 

in fact options, "rights", chances, but not obligations to take certain actions in the future (Brigham & Ehrhardt, 

2020). As noted earlier, in today’s turbulent market environment, characterized by constant change and 

uncertainty, flexibility is important to management. However, traditional capital budgeting methods cannot capture 

the value of this flexibility. 

 

FLEXIBILITY AS AN OPTION 

 

Flexibility can be defined as a set of options related to investment opportunities that allow management to delay, 

expand, abandon or otherwise change the course of action of a project at different stages of its life (Trigeorgis, 

1988). Therefore, most real options can be viewed as special cases of the flexibility option. The flexibility option 

reflects the value of strategic or real options with active management. Flexibility allows management to react to 

unexpected events. The phrase "leave your options open" describes one of the flexibility creation strategies that 

allows management to deal with uncertainty in an intuitive way (Copeland & Weiner, 1990). The flexibility option 

itself has a certain value for both the enterprise and the investment project 

The flexibility option reflects the value of strategic or real options with active management. The flexibility option 

is assessed by real option valuation models. An investment project that contains a flexibility option is more 

valuable to the company than a project that does not contain a flexibility option. Similar to financial options, real 

options should be exercised in the event of favorable circumstances or allowed to expire in the event of unfavorable 

circumstances. 

Flexibility is most valuable when there is great uncertainty and when managers have the flexibility to respond to 

it. Therefore, the value of flexibility should be included in the traditionally calculated net present value of the 

project. Compared to traditional net present value, the value of the flexibility option and other real options is high 

when the traditional net present value of the project is close to the marginal (Copeland & Antikarov, 2003 p13). 

When the traditional net present value of a project is very high, most options that allow for additional flexibility 

will have a low probability of execution, and thus a low value of the option itself. When the traditional net present 

value of a project is very negative, not even the most valuable flexibility option can save a project. Therefore, if a 

project increases the flexibility of an enterprise's operations, it will be underestimated by applying traditional 

capital budgeting. On the other hand, a project that reduces business flexibility will be overestimated by traditional 
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financial analysis, because incremental cash flow analysis does not include the loss of value of the flexibility 

option, and thus the loss of value due to reduced business flexibility (see for details in Mun, 2016). 

 

THE VALUE OF FLEXIBILITY  

 

For the long-term success of the company in an uncertain and changing market environment, flexibility is crucial. 

It allows management to subsequently adjust and correct investment project decisions in order to take advantage 

of favorable future opportunities or limit losses. Various investment projects have built-in flexibility that allows 

management to respond to changing circumstances (see for details, for example, in Kasanen & Trigeorgis 1993; 

Pivorienė 2015,). Over time, uncertainty is resolved, so the project can be delayed, abandoned, expanded, reduced, 

or otherwise modified. Such options immanent to investment projects are a source of added value of the project in 

unpredictable and changing market conditions. 

In the presence of such flexibility, an investment project cannot be assessed only by traditional capital budgeting 

procedures due to asymmetry caused by a series of rights but without associated symmetrical obligations. In such 

a case, the investment project needs to be assessed with the real or expanded or strategic net present value. The 

real net present value of an investment project includes both the traditional net present value and the value of the 

option (Smit & Trigeorgis, 2017). Real net present value includes both components of the value of the investment 

project, the traditional net present value of the project and the value of strategic or real options. In other words, it 

is the traditional net present value adjusted for the value of the real options, which can be written as  

XCTS SSS ;00 +=  

where SS0 denotes real net present value of the project, TS0 traditional net present value of the project, and SC;X 

denotes the value of real option (see for details in Mun, 2016). Investment project is acceptable if real net present 

value is positive. 

Investing in new investment projects represents the growth of business activities of the firm. As noted earlier, to 

evaluate such growth in uncertain times it is better to apply the real options approach. A simple example of 

evaluation external growth with a binomial model is shown below. It is assumed an entrepreneur has a growth / 

expansion option that will allow him to double his business operations by entering a new business segment for 

50.000 € at any time over the next year. The present value of expected cash flows (discounted at a risk-adjusted 

discount rate) is estimated at 80.000 €. Using Monte Carlo simulation, the implied volatility of projected future 

cash flows is 35%. The risk-free rate in the upcoming year is estimated at 2%. We want to calculate the total value 

of the entrepreneurial business which includes the value of the growth / expansion option. The results were 

obtained using Real Option Analysis Toolkit software and Crystal Ball® Monte Carlo simulation software.  

For simplicity, the time to expiration of the option is divided into 2 equal intervals, so it gives 5,0/ == NTt . The 

parameters of the binomial tree were determined by the CRR (1979) approach: 
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Figure 1 presents Binomial tree with present value of the expected cash flows of the enterprise at each node of 

binomial tree. 

 

Figure 1. Binomial tree – present value of the expected cash flows (Real Option Analysis Toolkit software. 
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The present value of the entrepreneur’s existing business operations is 80.000 €. If he enters a new business 

segment today, its value is 110.000 €. Value of 110.000 € represent traditional net present value. 

 
(80.000€ × 2) − 50.000€ = 110.000€ 

 

In Figure 2, theoretical values of the option in each node are shown below the present value of cash flows. 

 

Figure 2. Theoretical values of the option in each node calculated by the binomial model 

 

 
 

After calculating the theoretical value of the option in each node of the binomial tree, the real value of the enterprise 

in each node can be estimated, which consists of the traditional net present value and the value of the real options 

in the amount of the premium.  

𝑃𝑟𝑒𝑚𝑖𝑢𝑚 𝑎𝑏𝑜𝑣𝑒 𝑖𝑛𝑡𝑟𝑖𝑛𝑠𝑖𝑐 𝑣𝑎𝑙𝑢𝑒
= 𝑇ℎ𝑒𝑜𝑟𝑒𝑡𝑖𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑜𝑝𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛 𝑣𝑎𝑙𝑢𝑒 + 𝐸𝑥𝑐𝑒𝑟𝑐𝑖𝑠𝑒 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒 − 𝑈𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑟𝑙𝑦𝑖𝑛𝑔 𝑎𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒 

In the initial node (A) of the binomial tree the option premium is 2.030 € (theoretical option value is 32.030; 

exercise price is 50.000 and underlying asset price (PV of cash flows) is 80.000. 

 

32.030 + 50.000 − 80.000 = 2.030 

 

So the value of leaving option open in the initial node (A) is 112.030 €. This is the real net present value of the 

enterprise. 

 

 

or 

110.000 + 2.030 = 112.030 

 

It can be seen that the value of leaving the option open in node A (112.030) is bigger than the value through 

expanding (110.000). The enterprise values that include the value of real options are shown in Figure 3. 

 

Figure 3. Enterprise values that include the value of real options 
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This simple example confirms that an enterprise that has a strategic option to expand existing business operations 

has to use real option approach, otherwise its value would be underestimated by traditional discounted cash flow 

analysis. 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

This paper seeks to emphasize the importance of application the real options approach in an uncertain market 

environment in which traditional methods of financial decision-making show certain shortcomings. The main 

disadvantage of traditional capital budgeting methods in a changing and turbulent market environment is that they 

do not take into account the flexibility that allows management to adapt and change decisions over the life of the 

investment project. Using the real options approach to assess investment in a new business segment or investment 

in external growth, it is possible to quantify elements of flexibility that traditional valuation models do not take 

into account. The presented hypothetical example of valuing external growth proves that the traditional financial 

analysis should be extended by the real options approach for making better business decisions. 
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CULTURE FORMATION IN VIRTUAL ORGANISATIONS 

Margaret Zvobgo Chitondo1 and Teresa Carmichael2 

 

Abstract: 

This research focused on the formation of organisational culture in virtual work teams within the context of a 

virtual organisation. Virtual organisations have become commonplace in the 21st century, and their key 

characteristics are technological enablement and geographic and spatial distribution. A constructivist grounded 

theory study was carried out using 18 respondents working as part of a virtual team within a virtual organisation. 

Five sets of archival records were collected and analysed theoretically. The study results indicated that 

organisational culture developed through managing the core theme of virtuality while maintaining organisational 

effectiveness and facilitating interpersonal relationships. The findings from this research are expected to inform 

stakeholders of virtual organisations to anticipate, facilitate and respond to organisational culture development 

within a virtual working context. 

 

Keywords: Culture formation, organisational culture, organizational culture, virtual organisation, virtual team, 

virtuality, process theory, dynamic evolution, grounded theory.  

 

STUDY BACKGROUND, CONTEXT, AND RESEARCH PROBLEM  

 

Organisations have been transforming over time, while technology and globalisation have enabled firms to operate 

in a somewhat geographically borderless fashion in the form of virtual organisations (Newton, 2017). The number 

of employees working in virtual organisations – a feature of the 21st century – has also been steadily increasing. A 

study from a few years ago found that 85% of respondents from over 1000 businesses were part of a virtual work 

team (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017). Most recently, between March 2020 and May 2021, millions of workers globally 

were forced to work from their homes on account of the Covid-19 pandemic. Many countries imposed strict 

lockdown regulations on their economically active populations, and millions of workers around the world were 

compelled to work virtually – forcing organisations to rethink the office working environment and whether more 

employees ought to be allowed to work remotely more frequently and consistently. 

Extant literature theorises about the formation of organisational culture, the characteristics of virtual organisations 

and teams, and the effects of dynamic evolution. Virtual teams (VTs) are a distinct organisational form, grounded 

in technology and delivering on organisational objectives through a spatially (geographically different) and 

temporally (time different) distributed organisational structure (Kozlowski & Bell, 2013; Maynard, Gilson, Young, 

& Vartiainen, 2017). In virtual organisations, employees seldom meet and rely on technological tools to engage 

with their work and interact with one another daily (Gilson, Maynard, Jones Young, Vartiainen, & Hakonen, 2015; 

Maynard et al., 2017). In the context of this study, virtual teams were conceptualised as work teams delivering 

their work through the use of technology within a virtual organisation context. 

Factors influencing organisational processes within traditional brick and mortar organisations in which team 

members are co-located within the same geographical space have also been extensively studied (Martins, Gilson, 

& Maynard, 2004). However, there has been limited research on organisational processes within virtual 

organisations, where team members are in different geographical locations and rely primarily on technological 

solutions to engage with their work, as well as with one another (Bell & Kozlowski, 2002; Gilson, Maynard, & 

Bergiel, 2013; Gilson et al., 2015; Kozlowski & Bell, 2013; Maynard et al., 2017). It may be argued that because 

of their borderless qualities, virtual organisations (VOs) do not require execution strategies to transfer core 

competencies and capabilities across different geographical locations to operate effectively and maintain a 

competitive advantage by overcoming ‘Liability of Foreignness’ (Zaheer, 1995). Figure 1 below conceptualises 

virtuality, the foundational characteristic of virtual organisations (Kozlowski & Bell, 2013), as a function of 

temporal distribution, spatial distribution and technology dependence. 
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Figure 1. A representation of virtuality – the essential characteristic of virtual organisations – constructed for the 

present study, as conceptualised by Kozlowski and Bell (2013) 

 

 
 

This study investigated the effect that ‘virtuality’ had upon culture formation within virtual organisations. The 

findings illuminated the impact of virtuality, extending the understanding of culture formation in the context of a 

virtual team operating within a virtual organisation.      

The following research questions were presented: 

i. How does culture form within the context of virtuality (a context of technology, temporal distribution and 

spatial distribution)?  

ii. How do stakeholders within a virtual team and virtual organisation effectively manage organisational 

culture? 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Organisational culture as a term developed from that of culture and entered the field of study in the late 1970s 

(Pettigrew, 1979). Since then, organisational culture has been studied extensively to the point of paradigm wars, 

resulting in disinterest in the concept within organisation studies since the 1990s.  Paradoxically, the concept has 

been a fast-growing concept of interest in other fields, such as “strategy-as-practice”; the “signature processes” 

behind “strategic capabilities”,…” materiality and artefacts in science and technology studies; … consumer 

cultures in marketing; and … corporate branding” according to Costas and Kunda in Schein et al. (2015, p. 118).  

Despite the difficulty of defining the concept, the most enduring conceptualisations of organisational culture are 

those of collective sentiment or ideological orientation – common language, artefacts and enduring patterns of 

behaviour (Harris, 1994; Reigle, 2001; Schein et al., 2015; Westbrook, 1993; Zakaria, Amelinckx, & Wilemon, 

2004), evolving from organisations as some representation of society, or societies writ small (Silverman, 1971). 

This infers that organisational culture is a concept that is rooted in the broader construct of culture itself and that 

sociologically, it is a representation of social systems consisting of socialisation processes: norms and structures 

that give rise to specific values, beliefs, stories, rituals and ceremonies within the little defined society or 

organisation (Allaire & Firsirotu, 1984, pp. 193-194). To retain organisational culture as a meaningful construct 

in sociological and organisational psychology studies, Schein et al. (2015) argued that both the multi-level 

complexities and dynamic qualities of the concept need to be guarded, thus giving rise to the dynamic evolution 

of organisational culture as presented in the current study.  

Beugelsdijk, Kostova, and Roth (2017) argued that it was difficult for an organisational field (in the neo-

institutional sense) to develop in a context of insufficient spatial, language, cultural and organisational interactions, 

hence the restriction on structuration and field formation, which are important for the emergence of shared patterns 

and meanings. That is to say that restrictions in physical and social interactions would inhibit the formation and 

understanding of those shared patterns of behaviour that determine the appreciation of a shared cultural context. 

This would mean that organisational culture could not possibly exist in a virtual work context because the 

environment lacked the mechanisms to enable and physically demonstrate this. However, Plavin-Masterman 

(2015) ’s study revealed that walls were indeed ‘just walls’ and while artefacts, rituals and symbols might differ, 

shared meaning could be construed outside of a traditional organisational context, thus challenging the requirement 

for face-to-face interaction or co-location of team members as antecedents to the formation of corporate culture.  
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METHODOLOGY  

 

This study was a grounded theory study undertaken within a social constructivist philosophy, capturing individual 

perspectives, understanding the world in which people live and work, and giving subjective meaning to individual 

experiences (Charmaz, 2014, 2017). The population for the study was individuals of all genders, working in 

different countries, as part of a virtual team within a virtual organisation whose business operations were 

geographically and temporally dispersed. A theoretical sample was obtained of participants who, at the time of the 

study, had worked in a virtual organisation for one year or more and were part of a virtual technical or functional 

team with two or more members within that organisation. 

Three data types were collected and analysed during the study and included numerous personal reflexive memos 

(written notes and voice notes), 18 interview recordings, and five archival data records (printed company 

documentation). Triangulation of these multiple sources resulted in the convergence of data and greater credibility 

(Denzin & Lincoln, 2011) from data analysis and reflexivity, thus addressing the area of concern within an 

interpretive, constructivist paradigm of grounded theory (Charmaz, 2014; Lowenberg, 1993; Strauss & Corbin, 

1994) or through what Locke (2001, p. 13) referred to as a “wholly interpretive” lens. 

 

RESEARCH FINDINGS 

 

Organisational culture within the virtual context 

 

Plavin-Masterman (2015) found that employees in a small virtual company identified shared language and 

communication norms that relied on computer-mediated communication to shape their interactions in their virtual 

world. However, it was expected that the unique influences of a distributed organisational structure (temporal and 

spatial) and technology mediation would inform how organisational culture is learned and shaped in the VO 

context since there was no road map of how virtual organisations drive successful culture formation. Although 

expression of shared meaning takes a different form to that of a traditional organisation’s artefacts, symbols, 

patterns of behaviour, rites and rituals (Schein, 2015; Zakaria et al., 2012), it does not mean that it is absent. 

However, this expression is different from the traditional expression owing to the distinctly different virtual 

context.  

Respondent 11 described the common understanding of the company strategy with other team members within a 

virtual work setting:  

“So I kind of think that this should just be the future for most organisations because ... and especially if you have 

clear deliverables, your clarity of what you need to be doing, it just works perfectly.”  

Socialisation in virtual teams (VTs) has been demonstrated as a more complex process than in a traditional context 

due to its informal and ambiguous nature (Finholt, Sproull, & Kiesler, 1990; Morrison, 1993). Consequently, it 

was expected that the formation of organisational culture in VTs would be complicated because learning, which 

is integral to cultural transmission within VO environment (Ahuja & Galvin, 2003; Boyd, Richerson, & Henrich, 

2013; Schein, 2015; Van Oorschot, Akkermans, Sengupta, & Van Wassenhove, 2013) is a complex phenomenon. 

Respondents evaluated the opportunities available for giving and receiving feedback in written form and 

deciphering how a person felt from words and verbal tone. Respondents thus had to rely on digital artefacts alone 

without the benefit of non-verbal physical cues in order to learn, as remarked by Respondent 7: 

“You can feedback either by writing it, by putting in an emoji or by just meet, and you speak. When you speak, 

through the tone of your voice, someone can feel if you’re happy or not, other than what you say, and that’s also, 

when we touch into context, depending on cultural differences, because now the world is becoming global, you’re 

working, and you have people of high context culture versus low context culture…I think the tone of the voice, 

from my perspective, is universal. When someone is happy, I can’t explain the science behind that, but you can 

feel it in the vibration of the voice. If someone is angry, when they speak … sometimes … and that’s where now 

the issue of not seeing face to face, sometimes stress, when someone is stressed, they can sound like they’re angry 

whereas they are just stressed.” 

The reliance on technology thus enables virtual teams to operate across spatial and temporal boundaries (Bell & 

Kozlowski, 2002; Martins et al., 2004) through achieving temporal binding (Lippert & Dulewicz, 2018) 

asynchronous team members. Some researchers have argued that the greater the interdependencies or complexity 

of the tasks, the higher the perceived need for collaboration and real-time communication (Kirkman, Gibson, & 

Kim, 2012). While interdependency and complexity of functions may influence the need for synchronicity, it may 

also be argued that the time available to complete tasks and the flexibility of working hours within the virtual work 

context would also influence whether real-time collaboration and communication takes place. In addition, virtual 

teams may be temporarily created only to solve a particular problem (Gibson & Cohen, 2003) or to fulfil a specific 

purpose without the intention of continuity. Such organisations follow a particular life cycle and comprise a 

dynamic team membership whose composition changes continuously, based on members coming into and leaving 

the team, affecting the total team time spent together and everyday team experiences (Cummings & Haas, 2012).  
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On the other hand, because VOs and VTs can span space, time and cultural boundaries, some may operate with 

relative consistency in somewhat similar organisational contexts as traditional organisations and work teams. In 

such cases, VOs and VTs benefit from team member stability and a more continuous lifecycle while leveraging 

the diversity of skills available from the pool of workers available at a particular time and the nature of the task on 

hand (Maynard et al., 2017). This study focused its investigation within stable virtual teams in virtual 

organisations, who, except for its reliance on technology, had its team members working interdependently on tasks, 

with limited face-to-face contact, across space, time, and organisational boundaries, using technology and 

maintaining a shared purpose to achieve specific, predetermined or planned goals (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017). 

Despite the stability of organisation and shared purpose, the virtual workplace was also described as distracting, 

potentially impacting one’s productivity and interpersonal behaviour negatively. Accordingly, Respondent 8 

expressed the need for digital discipline in the virtual work environment in the following statements: 

“to operate effectively, you have to have digital discipline.” 

“Team members say and do things by email that they wouldn’t say face to face.” 

“One needs to be “digitally disciplined” so that they can be productive and distribute their work tasks 

appropriately.” 

At the same time, respondents described the difficulties of distinguishing the work and personal environments 

when working virtually from the home environment, with Respondent 9 explaining just how easily she could end 

up over-working herself: 

“…if it was somebody working from a home office, you have to have your space, you have to be digitally organised, 

you have to be able to cut work off and shut the door, you have a physical space for work, and I’m kind of the pot 

calling the kettle black because I don’t really have an office, but it’s really conducive right now, but I think that 

makes a huge difference, from a productivity standpoint, not necessarily a relational and cultural one, I think that 

can be tough for people who are naturally motivated in that way, like me. If you have any sort of ADD, I don’t 

have it, but I do get distracted often, but if that is in any sort of way a ... not a discipline, then you have to make 

yourself disciplined.” 

The findings were that trust was built over time, and this occurred as team members became accustomed to each 

other’s virtual working habits. Developing trusting relationships and understanding how team members worked 

best would thus facilitate a productive work environment. Respondent 9 added the following evaluation to what 

this would entail: 

“So I think it’s just a matter of setting up accountability systems and measures and creating that trusting 

environment, but each person’s going to be different, I think because the style’s going to be different. I have a 

friend, she’s in sales, but she works from home, she gets up, walks the dog, gets showered every morning before 

she sits down, gets dressed, but that’s what they say to do, is like pretend like you’re going to the office. I can’t 

tell you the last time I’ve done that, but what works for some might not work for others.” 

Besides the behavioural and relationship issues, respondents also articulated the shortcomings of technology from 

an infrastructural and connectivity perspective. Respondent 17 laughed off statistics that referred to average world 

numbers of 2 or 3 mobile phones per person, arguing that the amount of technology alone did not reflect how 

effective and usable the technology was: 

“People always go into the stats, yes, but the stats say that in Africa people have got so many phones. I think, 

honestly, in the West where they develop some of these things, they don’t realise there is no connectivity, there’s 

no data.”  

Respondents expressed that their virtual work environment was primarily determined by the capability of available 

work tools. In addition to mobile connectivity, the prohibitive cost of data was also discussed. The speed and 

stability of Wi-Fi was highlighted as having a negative impact on the quality of communication when it prohibited 

online meetings from taking place due to poor connectivity. An underlying issue in dealing with virtuality was 

how it was ever-changing due to emerging technology and how understanding virtuality required adaptive 

mindsets and behaviours to be effective in the virtual work environment.  

The study findings can therefore be summarised as follows: 

Firstly, the study found that organisational culture in VOs occurs within a dynamic context that involves several 

players, all constituting an organisation’s meta-institutional field. At the macro-environment level, technology 

infrastructure and the cost of data affect the cultural development process. At the organisational level, reward and 

performance management mechanisms and technology capabilities influence culture formation. The corporate 

culture is also expressed through various technology-enabled behaviours and digital artefacts. At the team level, 

interpersonal relationships underpinned by trust are central to the team’s effectiveness and efficiency, with 

communication and feedback being central to the culture learning process. Finally, balancing work and other life 

priorities is essential at the individual level, together with leveraging technology efficiencies and exercising digital 

discipline. 

Secondly, the study found that for culture to develop within VOs and VTs, the various players within the meta-

institutional environment needed to focus on managing virtuality, ie effectively dealing with virtuality, maintaining 

organisational effectiveness and managing interpersonal relationships.      
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Thirdly, the study found that to build and maintain healthy interpersonal relationships, one had to manage the 

integration of their personal and professional lives carefully. The ability to establish some physical contact (albeit 

limited) with colleagues played a significant role in the time it took for establishing interpersonal relationships 

within a virtual team, working within a virtual organisation. Those individuals without early face-to-face 

opportunities for establishing interpersonal relationships could form relationships by establishing psychological 

connections using virtual work tools, such as telephony, internet calling, WhatsApp and email. Organisational 

leaders, their followers, business partners and other stakeholders had to move from merely dealing with virtuality 

to proactively anticipating the context and strategically handling the elements of virtuality within the global 

cultural context.  

Finally, in managing how to operate effectively, the research found that stakeholders interacting with the virtual 

work context needed to recognise that the meta-institutional environment of virtual operation transcended temporal 

distribution, spatial distribution and technology. In addition to these previously described foundational 

architectural characteristics of virtuality, the study found that the concept also encompasses factors that impact the 

ability to access digital resources and psychological factors associated with the level of digital engagement. 

Developments in virtual work 

There has been a renewed focus on virtual working, and studies have focused on various research aspects 

(Raghuram, Hill, Gibbs, & Maruping, 2019). One such aspect is virtual work efficacy, with different working 

arrangements like teleworking and telecommuting, fostering engagement (Panteli et al., 2019); online 

collaboration (Darics & Cristina Gatti, 2019); leadership action learning (Byrd, 2019) and virtual team wellbeing 

and identity (Gibbs, Hill, Kossek, & Nurmi, 2019; Shaik, Makhecha, & Gouda, 2020). As more and more 

organisations offer the option of virtual work to their employees, the area of the effectiveness of individuals in the 

virtual working environment is also growing as an area of investigation.  

 

The Covid-19 Pandemic 

 

The Covid-19 pandemic and resultant nationwide lockdowns forced millions of workers around the world to work 

virtually full time, or at least part-time, during 2020 and 2021. By October 2020, it was reported that 33% of all 

US workers were always, and 25% were occasionally, working virtually (Gallup, 2020). During the same period, 

maintaining strong organisational performance was possible through effective e-leadership skills, like trust and 

appropriate technology use, including the use of social media platforms (Mustajab et al.) It has also been 

demonstrated that leaders need to play an even more decisive role in maintaining the organisational mission and 

sense of shared meaning within virtual work teams and need to broker and foster effective work relationships 

amongst virtual team members (Levin & Kurtzberg, 2020). During this health pandemic, the role of human 

resources practitioners has been transformed to focus on continuous learning, engagement and retention of 

employees in virtual work contexts (Yawson, 2020). The Covid-19 pandemic has also placed a renewed focus on 

employee wellbeing, as part of employee engagement, through the need to provide social and emotional support 

for employees during prolonged periods of forced virtual work conditions. Antonello, Panzenhagen, Balanzá-

Martínez, and Shansis (2020) found that increased incidents of poor health and anxiety were associated with 

prolonged periods of social isolation, particularly for the elderly, who faced extended periods of reduced social 

contact due to their increased Covid-19 risk.  

The pandemic has also led to a rethinking of the conventional work environment and work cultures globally, 

meaning that the recommendations of this study become valuable and practical insofar as how organisations 

recognise what they need to do to strengthen organisational culture and manage virtuality within teams. Even 

though remote working opportunities have been commonplace over the past decade, employees were usually the 

ones who were requesting flexibility to work from outside the office. The Covid-19 pandemic created a context in 

which employees were compelled to work from home by governments and employers. The impact of a sudden and 

mandatory virtual working context created an environment for employees in which unexpected stressors (such as 

childcare and domestic responsibilities) were thrust upon them without warning. Recently, at a Reuter’s conference 

in January 2021, the Unilever chief indicated that the company’s office workforce would not be returning to a five-

day office week. This followed a Twitter announcement that all its employees would have a choice to work 

remotely “forever” (Guardian, 2021).     The impact of being required to work virtually, with additional domestic 

and childcare responsibilities, contrasted to the virtual work context in which the employee worked in optimal 

personal conditions from the onset, was outside the scope of the current research.  

 

SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH 

 

The study found that virtuality was when culture formation within virtual teams and virtual organisations occurs. 

The concept of virtuality extends beyond technology enablement, temporal distribution and spatial distribution to 

a meta-institutional environment that included digital access and digital engagement. Additionally, the research 

explained the process of virtual culture formation; culture formation within virtual teams occurred as stakeholders 
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managed virtuality, which involved maintaining effective work processes and a conducive work environment 

whilst simultaneously managing interpersonal relationships in and out of the work environment. 

In addition to explaining the dynamic process, it would be essential to test the impact of the various aspects of the 

framework, such as the extent and direction of how managing virtuality impacts organisational effectiveness and 

interpersonal relationships. An additional dimension might also be the impact of ‘unpredictable virtuality’ upon 

organisational effectiveness, working relationships and worker wellbeing, and how this differs from contexts of 

anticipated virtuality. It is likely that that the effect of unexpected “forced virtuality” upon workers in traditional 

bricks-and-mortar companies was different to the current study context, where participants were well prepared to 

work in a virtual work context from the onset.  

Additionally, communication and feedback were highlighted as key components of the culture formation process 

in this research. The extent of the impact of these two components on individual performance and organisational 

effectiveness could be investigated to guide approaches on individual and organisational learning within the virtual 

work context. Research carried out during the Covid-19 pandemic has indicated that virtuality can increase 

intergenerational communication breakdown (Urick, 2020). Research into what virtual team members need to 

learn in order to improve their relationships and experience in the virtual organisation would also provide insights 

for improving employee engagement within the virtual work context.  

Lastly, an investigation into the various types of informal communication within the virtual organisation and work 

team would test the efficacy and impact of different technology platforms. In particular, the role of the growing 

use of non-verbal and non-linguistic forms of communication such as emojis, emoticons, GIFs, and other visual 

representations of human feelings within a virtual work context. The extent of use and the appropriateness of use 

under different circumstances would also be an area of research that yields valuable insights for future work 

contexts. The findings of this study provide a basis for testing the nature and strength of the relationships between 

variables of interest within the virtual work context. Insights would help virtual organisations understand what 

type of management efforts during culture formation would yield the greatest return (and conversely, the 

corresponding detrimental impact that a lack of focus on components would have) upon their organisation. 
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